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Business Review

How we create value through our MAX Plan: 

Individuals, Homes and 
Businesses

Differentiated and Digital 
Unmatched Personalised 
Experience

World Class Effective and 
Efficient Organisation

Our Convergence Strategy

The Capitals We Utilise

Business Review Sections

M
MAXIS FOR ALL

A
ACHIEVE UPE

X
MAXIS WAY 

• Our Consumer Products
• Our Enterprise Solutions

• Our Customers
• Our Network and Systems

• Our People
• Our Community
• Our Environment

Note: 
Digitalisation and Fuel for Growth initiatives are infused in the Business Review sections.
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Providing A Complete Customer 
Lifetime Experience

Business Review

Elevating Experiences through Maxis Fibre and Prime 

Over the course of our 25 years in operation, Maxis has 
always strived to listen to our customers by not only 
designing solutions that meet their needs but also by 
introducing the best of technology to help our customer 
to always be ahead in a changing world.

In 2019, we provided our customers with a suite of high-
quality digital services in voice, video and data that were 
delivered with Unmatched Personalised Experience to 
consumers and businesses reliably and securely.

In 2020, we observed the clear trend of “Digitalisation” 
sweeping across Southeast Asian countries, a trend 
that is transforming societies in ways previously 
unimaginable. Personal, social and business digital 
footprints are growing at exponential rates as 
individuals, families and businesses make the most of 
the opportunities that a more connected world offers.

Today, Southeast Asia’s 260 million Internet users 
comprise the world’s fourth-largest Internet market. 
To ensure that Malaysia keeps pace with the adoption 
of digital technologies, the government outlined its 
plan to make affordable broadband connections easily 
available to all Malaysians. To support these national 
aspirations, Maxis has encouraged broadband take up 
through our Maxis Fibrenation campaign. On the back 
of a very successful campaign that began in 2018, we 
were able to focus on delivering even faster and higher 
quality broadband to our consumers. 

M

Our  
Consumer 
Products

Our success was due to the introduction of our new 
Superfast Broadband plans, offering customers speeds 
of up to 800Mbps of unlimited data. As a value-added  
service, our 500Mbps and 800Mbps plans were 
bundled with free Mesh WiFi devices, while our 
300Mbps subscribers were given the choice of opting 
in for a marginal sum. Mesh WiFi helps to maximise  
our customers’ WiFi coverage in their homes and 
offices, a technology that is superior to ordinary WiFi 
range extenders. 

Our MaxisONE Prime customers were able to enjoy 
unlimited mobile Internet at no extra cost for all family 
members. The product also features a 4G wireless 
Internet backup for an always-on home Internet for 
seamless connectivity. The value-added features we 
have integrated into our home fibre and MaxisONE 
Prime products provide our customers with an easy and 
affordable alternative to adopt high quality broadband 
that is unmatched in the market. The success of our 
converged mobile and fibre offerings has exceeded all 
expectations, a testament of the value Maxis has been 
able to create for our customers.

Not resting on our laurels, we took our offerings a 
notch higher with Home Zerolution. We offered our 
customers a 65” Samsung 4K TV from only RM1 per 
month with additional benefits such as unlimited home 
broadband and free Mesh WiFi. This is only one example 
of how we will continue to look at innovative ways to 
bring more home devices and services that are relevant 
to different segments of households in Malaysia that 
include security and surveillance, gaming and education.

Maxis Prime Truly unlimited converged offering

Ultra high-speed home broadband

Tailor-made mobile experience

Value rich entry level postpaid plan

Affordable prepaid plans with unlimited 
proposition 

Maxis Postpaid

Hotlink Postpaid

Maxis Fibre

Hotlink Prepaid
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In 2021, we plan to focus on leading innovations and 
being the first to launch a broadband with WiFi 6 
technology. This will ultimately deliver much higher 
WiFi speeds in the home and benefit more users. We 
believe that with many more connected devices and 
entertainment trends shifting back to the home, this 
will be crucial to ensure a good customer experience. 
We will also start our journey to get our products and 
services that are targeting the home to be 5G-ready, 
especially in areas including improving accessibility 
in non-fiberised last mile homes and providing more 
flexibility in our home broadband solutions. 

Enhancing Digital Lifestyles through Maxis  
Postpaid Mobile

Our core mobile plan, Maxis Postpaid continues to 
evolve. In 2020, we focused on the consolidation 
of accounts by running family-focused promotions 
centred on increasing penetration of shared lines 
through device offerings and propositions. We also 
remained relevant in a competitive and price-sensitive 
environment by enriching our Maxis Postpaid plans to 
cater for the increasing need for data and connectivity, 
especially when the country went through the 
Movement Control Order (MCO). Our timing for this 
was perfect and ensured keeping our customers in our 
franchise, which effectively protected our base. 

Our Maxis Postpaid mobile plans also focused on a 
tailor-made mobile experience to suit our individual 
customers’ needs. In 2020, we extended personalised 
offers for MaxisOne Prime customers across Mobile and 
Broadband seamlessly with So1 initiatives. 

Customers can enjoy the latest 5G phone upgrades 
merely with a RM1 device sale. Our aim is to continue 
to connect more devices and to allow our customers 
a seamless and worry-free digital experience with an 
eventual upgrade pathway to our upcoming 5G network.
 
Furthermore, we have a unified and connected 
ecosystem with Maxis Postpaid Tablet and Maxis 
Postpaid Watch. Customers can own an Apple iPad 
and Apple Watch with zero upfront fees via Maxis 
Zerolution. As our consumers become increasingly tech 
savvy and with working from home becoming the new 
norm, there is now an increased relevance of these 
products in the everyday life enjoyed by our customers. 
Coupled with the reliability of the Maxis network’s 
always-on connectivity, customers will truly enjoy a 
connected and digital lifestyle.

Creating Value via Hotlink Postpaid Flex 

For customers seeking greater flexibility and an entry 
level postpaid plan, we have our revamped Hotlink 
Postpaid plans which now offer users even more value 
for their money. Starting from RM30, our customers get 
unlimited calls and SMS to all networks, and up to 30GB 
high-speed data, and we continue to expand our range of 
latest devices via Hotlink Postpaid 60. Hotlink Postpaid 
customers also enjoyed new deals and rewards, including 
the availability of more exciting new Internet passes and 
value-added services such as Maxis TV.

Providing Affordable Mobile Services through  
Hotlink Prepaid 

For a large portion of consumers who prefer our prepaid 
option, we updated our product portfolio to ensure 
our customers enjoy a worry-free, high-speed Internet 
experience, while still enjoying great value for money, in the 
face of COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the economy. 

Recognising that there is an urgent demand for an 
unlimited proposition, we introduced the all new Hotlink 
Prepaid Unlimited plan. For the first time, it offered truly 
unlimited Internet and calls starting at only RM35 per 
month. 

At the same time, we enhanced our existing Hotlink 
Prepaid Video plan to provide more value, which now 
comes with an abundance of extra free data quotas 
for all popular video applications on Youtube, Viu, iflix, 
Astro Go and Tonton.

For both plans, customers can choose from a wide 
variety of add-on mobile Internet passes for their daily, 
weekly or monthly usage. Additionally, we offered great 
value through our personalised HotlinkMu Internet 
deals, which are customised specifically for each 
customer on a daily basis.

To further enrich our customers’ mobile digital 
experience, we provided innovative and relevant digital 
services such as Maxis TV, direct carrier billing for 
Google Play and Appstore, and the ability to purchase 
music streaming services using Hotlink credit.
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Driving Customer Engagement through Hotlink 
Rewards & Hotlink App

Everyone loves rewards. Knowing this, and with our 
focus firmly on our customers’ needs, we have put 
simplicity and convenience at the heart of our Hotlink 
Rewards proposition. This offers our customer easy 
ways to earn points via their daily interactions with the 
Hotlink App. In 2020, Hotlink Rewards continued to 
be popular and the usage of the Hotlink RED App rose 
such that more than half of our prepaid base are now 
active app users. While we continued to offer exclusive 
deals from over 200 brands, we also introduced 
exciting campaigns where lucky customers can walk 
away with free items such as smartphones, action 
cameras, gaming consoles, cash vouchers and more, 
on a daily basis. We will continue to augment more 
meaningful engagements and value for our Hotlink 
customers in the coming year. 

Staying Ahead of the Pandemic

To help our customers to cope while staying at home, 
we extended our support by revising postpaid plans 
with additional data during the MCO. We set up 

alternate channels to make it easy for our customers to 
shop, improve convenience and the variety of offerings 
in our Maxis Online Store. We also set up an official 
Maxis store on Lazada to support online orders. The 
launch of Maxis Buy Back Trade Up program in selected 
stores along with our trade-in app allowed customers to 
digitally value their old devices and help them decide if 
they want to upgrade to a new device.

With many being forced to work from home, we 
launched new broadband plans with unlimited 4G 
Home WiFi. For customers in red zones, where we were 
not able to install fibre equipment, we provided our 
customers with a complimentary 4G WiFi solution to 
keep them connected pending installations. This helped 
our customers to keep connected and helped us secure 
sales leads. With an increased demand for data, we 
provided daily free 1GB Internet to help our customers 
work from home.

We also accelerated the digitalisation of sales and 
support channels for Home and Broadband products 
by partnering with Lazada in the short term and 
redesigned the entire Maxis Online Store customer 
journey for the longer term.

Business Review
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We’ve Built A Complete 
Business Portfolio

Business Review

Our  
Enterprise 
Solutions

M

Maxis’ Enterprise division has grown from strength-to-
strength in 2020. In 2018, Maxis Business laid out an 
ambitious strategy to become Malaysia’s leading ICT 
converged solution provider. This journey has seen us 
accelerate our offerings and capabilities over the last  
2 years launching many ground-breaking and innovative 
new solutions for Enterprise customers across the entire 
ICT stack, building upon our market leading enterprise 
grade converged fixed and mobile networks.

In 2020, we also further extended this ambition through 
a major focus on partnerships to extend the best 
technologies and capabilities from both global and 
local technology organisations enabling us to bring 
the best of the best to Maxis Business customers. Our 
ambition has seen us significantly elevate our Enterprise 
capabilities in fibre, Internet of Things (IoT), cloud, 
modern workspace solutions and managed services. 
These new market leading capabilities and recognition 
has seen Maxis Business be selected as a strategic 
partner by both state Government and Commercial 
MNC’s to help drive the deployment and adoption of 
technology to help accelerate growth and efficiency 
even during these difficult times. 

Reinforcing Our Fibre Footprint 

The underpinnnings of any world class enterprise 
is a next generation reliable, fast, and low latency 
connectivity, so we continued to invest heavily in 

accelerating our fibre footprint throughout Malaysia 
in 2020. We continued to build momentum by 
expanding our offerings and capability through the 
right partnerships and new solutions, while investing 
in strengthening our operational excellence across our 
people, our processes and our systems.

In addition to our own fibre build program Maxis 
continued to expand our fibre footprint both in 
Peninsular and East Malaysia through collaboration 
with other access providers, signing fibre access 
agreements with TM, Sacofa, Allo and CT Sabah. We 
can now deliver the most extensive fibre connectivity 
across Malaysia covering some 4 million homes and 
commercial premises nationwide, more than any other 
provider.

To strengthen our fibre rollout further, we signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Celcom 
Axiata and Digi Telecommunications to explore joint 
fibre infrastructure development and to efficiently 
deploy and rollout fibre backhaul to base stations in 
Malaysia. Under the terms of the MoU, the three parties 
combined their expertise to design, build, commission, 
operate and maintain the fibre infrastructure 
nationwide. We also worked together to optimise the 
use of existing fibre infrastructure, using common 
sharing arrangements.

Digital Business

Cloud Solutions

Innovative digital solutions

Secure cloud infrastructure to 
enable scalability

Sophisticated IoT solutions

E2E management and protection  
of ICT set-up
Robust fixed connectivity, with  
best-in-class SLAs

World class mobile connectivity

IoT and More

Managed Services

Fixed Connectivity

Mobile Connectivity
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We continued to showcase 5G capabilities and use 
cases throughout the nation in Klang Valley, Langkawi, 
and Sarawak. These include virtual reality (VR) in 5G 
eKelas, augmented reality (AR) using 5G in Aquaria 
KLCC, and the Smart City Monitoring, validating Maxis 
as a trusted technology partner.

Journey Up the ICT stack 

Maxis is always evolving and consistent with our 
journey to be the leading Converged Solutions 
Company, we are moving beyond connectivity, be it 
fixed or wireless, into offering holistic solutions and 
best-in-class global capabilities and technologies to 
Malaysian businesses. 

In 2019, we began partnerships with renowned global 
players Amazon Web Services (AWS) and Cisco in 
our ongoing quest to drive digitalisation in Malaysian 
enterprises, the Government and small medium 
enterprises (SMEs). With the former, we became part 
of Amazon’s Partner Network (APN) to offer public 
cloud solutions. With the latter, we offered Malaysian 
businesses a range of managed Software-Defined Wide 
Area Network (SD-WAN) solutions.

Building upon these partnerships, we were pleased 
in 2020 to add three other global players to our fold: 
Apple, Google and Microsoft. 

Together with Apple and Cisco, Maxis launched the 
app and voice experience for corporate iOS users. Our 
business customers can now leverage WiFi optimisation 
and advanced analytics and priority network 
performance on iOS devices through Cisco Meraki 
Access Points on both wireless and wired networks, in 
a simple and secure manner. 

With Google, we adopted Google Cloud to accelerate 
data analytics, Artificial Intelligence (AI) and machine 
learning capabilities. These advanced features 
provide actionable insights that enable us to deliver 
more personalisation to customers and raise the bar 
on customer experience. With Microsoft, we further 
augmented converged Information and Communications 
Technology (ICT) propositions to the market in Unified 
Communications, public and hybrid cloud and IoT for 
Malaysian enterprises.

As far as boosting our resources and skill sets, we 
undertook two acqui-hire exercises. The first was 
with Infrastructure Consulting & Managed Services 
(ICMS), a Microsoft Gold Partner and cloud solutions 

Pioneering 5G and IoT Ecosystem 

As the leading Converged Solutions Company, Maxis 
has been in the forefront of adopting the latest 
technologies comprising 5G and IoT. As a testimony 
to our forwardness in 2020, we forged a partnership 
known as “TechCity” with our long-term partner Huawei 
Technologies Malaysia (Huawei).

The 5G TechCity programme aimed at fostering an 
ecosystem of smart solutions that will be key drivers 
for the nation's digital economy and elevate its 
competitiveness from an Industry 4.0 standpoint. This 
programme complemented our ambitions to deliver 
seamless digital connectivity for all Malaysians and will 
pave the way for a steady transition into 5G technology 
deployment in line with the aspirations outlined in 
Malaysia’s Jalinan Digital Negara Plan (JENDELA). 
This collaboration will eventually accelerate Maxis’ 
innovative service offerings to customers bringing the 
best network experience to its customers. 

We began this collaboration by selecting key areas in 
Kuala Lumpur with which to conduct trials with Huawei. 
Our focus was to increase 4G capacity, enhance user 
experience, and optimise network resources 

Besides preparing for 5G, Maxis collaborated with 
the Penang State Government to showcase Maxis’ 
5G-enabled Smart City IoT pilot project. This use 
case encompassed Smart Security, Smart Education, 
Smart Agriculture and Smart Pole. We supported the 
State by setting up an IoT Innovation Lab aimed at 
creating a conducive ecosystem for the development 
of IoT solutions, as well as sharing our resources and 
knowledge with Penang. 

Business Review
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company. The second was with Audeonet, a highly 
skilled company of certified Unified Communications 
professionals supporting end-to-end deployment, 
including installation, technical support, cabling works, 
training or extended maintenance services.

We continued to ensure that our employees were well 
equipped to advise Malaysian businesses on how to best 
embrace and maximise the benefits of digitalisation and 
to accelerate the impacts to their business, especially in 
the environment we live in today. 

Provider to help the Government accelerate access 
to funding and adopt digital technologies to aid their 
recovery. Through the Government’s RM500 million 
Digital Grant and partnering with Bank Simpanan 
Nasional, we co-facilitated the grant by offering 
connectivity, digital marketing, ePOS, remote working 
and e-Commerce solutions to SMEs. To date we have 
successfully assisted approximately 4,800 Malaysian 
small business’ to leverage this important lifeline to 
help them re-ignite growth and innovate during these 
challenging times.

Staying with small businesses, we announced a major 
partnership with AmBank with the launch of our new 
joint SME-in-a-Box offering. This solution combines 
innovative digital and communication services together 
with a range of very competitive and flexible financial 
products and services in a convenient one-stop 
package for SME customers. The offerings helped 
SMEs transform how they do business and provided 
them with tools to improve their competitiveness and 
productivity. 

Following up on a successful inaugural Spark Summit 
in 2019, we organised our 2020 Spark Summit virtually, 
due to the COVID-19 restrictions. Despite that, the 
event was hugely successfully with approximately 
1,200 attendees joining us digitally from all over 
Malaysia. The themes – “Embracing Forced Disruption” 
and “Agility Beyond Recovery” – were resoundingly 
positive, as they resonated with many Malaysian 
businesses during these times.

Building on the digital events theme and adapting to 
the new norm, we also hosted our first Maxis Right 
Cloud webinar series with our global technology 
partners, AWS and Microsoft. These events saw over 
400 delegates attend from across all of our business 
segments to learn about how they can adopt and 
leverage the benefits of an integrated cloud strategy 
to help them become more agile and nimble as they 
seek to re-ignite growth. Additionally, we launched a 
series of webinars and virtual workshops with more 
than 1,500 SME customers across Malaysia attending. 
We shared tips and strategies to help them digitise 
their operations and accelerate their move to embrace 
e-Commerce and maximising their web presence. 

New Conversations

In addition to partnering with MDEC, we were also 
pleased to announce a first in Malaysia with the soft 
launch of the Maxis Business Digital Readiness Index. 

Business Review

Helping Businesses Transform and Embrace Industry 4.0

2020 was unlike any other year. Globally the COVID-19 
pandemic was unpredictable, and its impact has been 
significant for all of humankind. While we didn’t expect it 
to be so severe, we experienced the best that Malaysians 
had to offer coming together to help each other get 
through the tough times. On our part, the Enterprise team 
laid out a clear plan to ensure that our customers were 
fully supported throughout these trying times.

During the lockdown known as the Movement Control 
Order (MCO), we launched our #KitaSapotKita campaign to 
encourage Malaysians to inspire each other. The campaign 
featured top key opinion leaders and business opinion 
leaders who shared hundreds of constructive tips through 
a series of 30 video clips with hacks on how to stay in 
business during these trying times. This campaign was 
hugely successful with 15.5 million impressions. From one 
business to another, #KitaSapotKita shared how businesses 
could stay connected through video and editorial content. 
It also helped them find the right answers, and sparked 
ideas which would enable them to adapt and even thrive 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond.

We also supported SMEs during the MCO as Maxis 
Business was chosen by the Malaysia Digital Economy 
Corporation (MDEC) as its Preferred Technology Service 
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An online, interactive self-assessment tool, this new 
digital adoption benchmarking suite was designed 
to further empower organisations to kickstart their 
digitalisation journey and allow businesses to assess 
themselves against global and local peers. It also sized-
up their digital adoption maturity and provided them 
with a personalised report and suggestions on how and 
where they could lift and accelerate their initiatives to 
realise the benefits of digitalisation. 

The Digital Readiness Index was a hit and over 1,600 
participants applied in just the first few weeks of 
implementation. About half (48%) of these were micro 
SMEs, which were clearly seeking guidance and advice 
on how to find and deploy the right digital solutions. 

Our quest to help SMEs did not negate our attention on 
larger corporations. In partnership with research firm 
IDC, we commissioned an extensive survey called the 
Maxis Business 2020 Digital Technology Assessment. 
This is the first-ever Malaysian overview of the 
corporate adoption of the transformative next wave and 
business critical technologies, with a specific focus on 
cloud, SDN, IoT and cybersecurity solutions. 

This extensive survey and resulting report revealed 
many respondents’ interesting insights, learnings as 
well as shortfalls in their respective digital journeys. 
With these key learnings in mind, we launched our 
“Retransformation Campaign” in the hopes of spurring 
Malaysian businesses to rethink and re-evaluate their 
digital transformation strategies and to always be 
ahead in the changing digital landscape. 

The Retransformation Campaign and market study 
also led us to launch a range of innovative new 
offerings in 2020. This included our Maxis Business 
Managed Cloud, Smart Manufacturing, Managed Unified 
Communications, Usage-based Internet and Bandwidth 
on Demand solutions. All these solutions deliver more 
flexibility, control and efficiency for customers whilst 
delivering significantly improved economics and total 
cost of ownership (TCO) compared to legacy services. 

Ramping Internal Capability and Capacity 

To support all these initiatives, we continue to invest 
heavily in skills and accreditations of our people. We 
are proud to announce that we have been appointed 

as AWS APN Authorised Solution Provider and is the 
first Malaysian telco to be on the AWS Solution Provider 
Programme. Combined with our broadening Microsoft 
credentials, this demonstrates our growing capabilities 
and expertise in delivering the latest converged 
solutions to our customers. 
 
2021, the Road Forward

In the coming year, our New Maxis Business brand 
will continue to target SMEs, large corporations, and 
Government and public sector segments of the market. 
Our Maxis Business brand purpose has been designed 
to shift the market perception that Maxis is not merely 
a mobile provider but a strategic business partner for 
digital solutions, with a complete business product and 
service portfolio. Our aim is to position Maxis as the 
“preferred ICT solution provider” in the marketplace.

For 2021, we continue to see an increasing growth in 
the market towards conversations with Maxis Business 
centred on their enterprise ICT requirements. We believe 
that these conversations and partnerships will translate 
to growth in customer acquisition and contracts for new 
and expanded services beyond our core connectivity 
solutions. This validates our confidence and commitment 
that our strategy is on point. 

We continue to make good progress in becoming 
the leading converged ICT solutions provider for all 
corporate, Government and SME organisations in 
Malaysia and are confident that Maxis Business can 
lead the industry and help our customers to unlock 
their full potential. 

Business Review
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Our Maxis Values places high emphasis on Customers, 
with Customer First and Being Obsessed with our 
Customers being our primary goals. This is why Maxis 
has been focusing on “Unmatched Personalised 
Experience (UPE),” which is about delivering a 
customer-focused experience that proactively 
anticipates our customers’ needs so that they have a 
worry-free experience.

We have worked very hard to ensure that UPE remains 
the mainstay of all our services and solutions so that 
our customers are able to obtain the best value through 
personalised offers, services and experiences.

In 2020, we added a new emphasis to our UPE 
philosophy. In line with our brand refresh to Always Be 
Ahead, we now empower our customers with digital-
first, self-serve fulfilment, personalised engagement 
and cross channel consistency with value creation in 
every contact we make, to help enable our customers 
to Always Be Ahead.

This emphasis is embodied in a three-prong approach, 
namely:

Our 
Customers

A consistent user experience across 
channels and seamless integration of 
the discovery and purchase journey; 

Unmatched 
Omnichannel 
Experience

Empowering customers through 
self-serve services via web, app and 
proactive care; and

Customer 
Empowerment 
Across the 
Journey

Insights-driven omnichannel 
personalisation and orchestrating offers 
for our customers according to their 
needs.

Value Creation 
in Every 
Engagement

A

Embedding the “Customer First” Culture 

Great culture is something that is built over time and 
becomes the positive energy that moves us to do great 
things, push limits, and see never-ending possibilities. 
At Maxis, Customer First is always at the forefront of 
what we do. We always strive to bring the best to our 
employees and our customers.

In 2020, we continued to embed and reinforce 
the Customer First culture focusing on three key 
pillars: building advocacy, reinforcing the new 
culture, recognising and rewarding through curated 
programmes for our employees nationwide to embrace 
and participate in. 

Accelerating Digital Care and Digital Engagement

While challenges existed in 2020, we remained 
focused in bringing together the best of technologies 
to help our customers, in line with our brand refresh 
built around our brand purpose, “Always Be Ahead”. 
By putting Customers First, we are committed to 
supporting our customers to be more digital so 
that they can adapt quickly to a rapidly changing 
environment.

With more customers exploring digital channels during 
MCO and post MCO, we equipped our customers with 
All-In-One app to access to account management, view 
and pay bills, data usage and mobile Internet purchase, 
amazing deals, reload and many more, that customers 
do not need to leave their home.

We also ramped up our go-to-market strategy, 
especially in the underserved segment, to promote 
digital channels and modern trade outlets for online 



OUR PERFORMANCEIntegrated Annual Report 2020

57

Business Review

Digital 
Payments

Self-
Registration

Digital 
Care

Educating customers to utilise digital 
payments resulted in growth in digital reloads 
and online payments;

Contactless activation of prepaid SIM packs; 
and

Accelerated digital care to empower 
customers to switch seamlessly to our multi-
lingual digital self-serve channels.

activities and transactions. This included top-ups and 
payments to help deliver an UPE to our customers. 
We also reinvented the way we serve by using digital 
tools to encourage our customers to serve themselves, 
thereby making their experience as simple as possible, 
creating delightful moments along the way. Some of our 
efforts included:

We were also agile to adapt with new ways of working 
and it was exciting to see everyone working together 
to help our customers be more digital. It was highly 
commendable to witness our people’s dedication in 
making sure our customers were always ahead from 
their own home.

Delivering Omnichannel Experience

Since launching our first Maxis Concept Store at 
The Gardens in 2019, we have embarked on a new 
customer experiential journey. This journey, which 
embodies our vision of becoming Malaysia’s leading 
Converged Solutions Company, is in line with our MAX 
Plan strategy of expanding and enhancing customer 
touch points. In 2020, we continued to focus on this 
by equipping our Maxis Concept Stores with Retail 3.0 
technologies across all Maxis Centres, which will be 
extended to key dealers (160 stores) to be completed 
by the first quarter of 2021.

Despite being challenged by the COVID-19 pandemic, 
we are pleased to have set benchmarks in our retail 
operations, namely:

Enhanced 
M.I.R.A.

Maxis Interactive Retail Assistant (M.I.R.A.), a 
web app using business intelligence to give 
customers a peek into Maxis promos, customised 
offers. M.I.R.A. has been integrated with Retail 3.0 
technologies enhancements, which suggest the 
next best offer to customers; 

Demo and 
Play

Introducing devices to our retail stores and into the 
hands of customers for them to play and discover;

Direct 
Delivery

Expanding retail delivery to customers, which 
started with SIM cards, now to include more 
products; and

Digital 
Engage

Localised digital engagement leveraging social 
media, WhatsApp and QR lead generation.

Our Response to COVID-19

We cannot review 2020 without talking about the 
pandemic, which has impacted all levels of our 
business but especially our customers. We are pleased 
to report that our agility in responding to COVID-19 and 

our commitment to protect the health of our employees, 
network and systems and our customers, has enabled 
us to perform well in this unique and challenging 
environment. 

To help us navigate through the crisis, we implemented a 
number of proactive measures that included the following:

• Closure of all Maxis Centres and Maxis Exclusive 
Partners, activating the Retail Telesales team 
working from home and assisting dealers with 
online sales through social media;

• Enabling Contact Centre staff to be trained via 
e-learning and to proceed to work from home;

• Driving digital care adoption by diverting customers 
towards our digital channels;

• Providing end-to-end solutions with “Always On” 
fibre proposition to ensure our customers have 
uninterrupted fibre service for all their work and 
study from home activities; and 

• Ensuring customers can still reach us for service 
and support via 24-hour self-serve kiosks, contact 
centre, website as well as via Maxis, Hotlink and 
Hotlink Postpaid apps - all of which have been fully 
equipped to conduct reloads and purchases via 
online banking, e-wallets or credit cards. 

We want to acknowledge our frontliners at our 
Contact Centre, Maxis Centres, Maxperts, the Network 
field staff, who have worked tirelessly to serve our 
customers during these unprecedented and challenging 
times. Our main priority during this time was to ensure 
the safety of our team members and following that, our 
service to our customers were not compromised.  
To achieve this, we took all necessary actions to 
minimise any risks and following strictly to Standard 
Operating Procedures (SOPs).

Through the COVID-19 crisis, our employees rallied 
together to ensure the continuity of service and 
support, accelerated our digital ambitions and launched 
innovations to support customer service and channel 
sales. Virtual platforms were introduced to maintain 
channel engagement, strengthen digital sales and self-
service capabilities. This accelerated business recovery 
post MCO.

We also weathered the breakdowns well and emerged 
stronger, more resilient and more competitive. Despite 
the challenges, we managed to maintain a high 
customer satisfaction with a Touchpoint Net Promoter 
Score of +57 in 2020. This reinforced our continued 
focus to build an insights-driven culture, heightened 
customer centricity awareness in our channels, as 
well as a company-wide feedback loop to provide an 
Unmatched Personalised Experience.

Going forward, we will continue to assess the COVID-19 
situation and impact on our operations, ensuring that 
the safety of our employees and customers remains 
our top priority, and that consumers and businesses 
will have uninterrupted connectivity and availability of 
services during this period.
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40-70% 
t raff ic  f rom off ices  
to resident ia l  areas

Home and Business 
f ibre subscr ibers 
grew to  

444k  in  2020

Streaming and video 
communicat ion 
appl icat ions grew by 

36%

Planned 

5,887  sites 
upgrades  in  2020

Maintained  

5  years 
consecutive mobi le 
qual i ty  leadership

Maintained network 
avai labi l i ty  for  more 

than 99.5% 
of  the t ime

Stabi l ised network 
despite more than 

37.4% 
t raf f ic  growth

Expanded our 
f ibre footpr int 
to more than 

17,000km

With our efforts, initiatives and consistency, 
we maintained our Mobile network quality and 
performance leadership. This has been attested 
by the Malaysian Communications and Multimedia 
Commission (MCMC) network performance report as 
well as several other third party and independent 
benchmarks on Mobile speed and performance. 

Business Review

Our  
Network  
and Systems

A

In 2020, consumers and businesses in Malaysia were 
compelled to adapt to the challenges from the COVID-19 
pandemic by embracing new norms while sustaining 
their lifestyles and businesses. As a leading Converged 
Solutions Company, Maxis continues to deliver to our 
promise for essential high-quality digital services in a 
reliable and secure manner. Realising this, we invested 
RM256 million of capex in 2020 to enhance and provide 
the best network experience and connectivity for our 
customers whilst delivering new service platforms and IT 
capabilities to meet the growing business demands.

Unmatched Network Experience

We saw a surge in data traffic and usage in 2020, 
mainly driven by video traffics as a result of higher 
usage concentration and intensity of work and study 
from home, such as web and online related productivity 
and collaboration apps, Netflix, YouTube, Zoom and 
Microsoft Teams. 

In addressing this sudden increase, Maxis accelerated 
the network capacity expansion up to 300% in 
monthly sites upgrade. Maxis also adopted various 
technologies to improve the effectiveness in network 
design and troubleshoot using capabilities such as 
Artificial Intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML), 
while continuously increasing coverage and retune 
the performance. One of the key highlights were the 
implementation of Voice over LTE (VoLTE), repurposing 
of 3G spectrum for 4G usage, expanding fibre footprint 
rollouts, and deploying advance antennae systems. 
Maxis is the frontrunner to realise the 3G network 
sunset directive by end of 2021.
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Supporting Businesses

In 2020, the Network team has delivered a whopping 
350% increase in service orders for business segments. 
Maxis Business supported large businesses and 
small-and-medium enterprises (SMEs) through a suite 
of connectivity and managed services solutions. 
These solutions encompassed Managed Cloud, Cloud 
Firewall, Private LTE Networks, Managed Unified 
Communications (UC), Software-defined Networks 
(SDN), Smart Security, Bandwidth-on-Demand and the 
Internet of Things (IoT).

For example, commercialisation of Private LTE Networks 
for Shell offshore complex is among the first in Asia; 
provided a secure, robust, high-quality coverage and 
low latency connectivity for businesses to connect to 
their data centres. On the other hand, our Managed UC 
solution consolidated various communication solutions 
into one secure platform that works on any devices.

We upgraded our transport network in more areas with 
resilient next-generation Internet Protocol (IP) so that our 
customers could enjoy a more robust and reliable network 
experience with over 36% reduction in fibre cuts in 2020. 
Our business fibre solution is backed up by our high 
speed 4G network in the event of fibre outages. All this 
translated to round the clock connectivity and seamless 
to enterprises grade network quality. 

Our Enterprise network also included a full suite 
of managed services for products and services, 
helpdesks, technical monitoring and surveillance 
support. While enabling self-serve and automation 
functionality for business empowerment, we have also 
expanded our managed services base to more than  
50 customers. In pursuit for continuous excellence,  
we are pleased to report that our service management 
Net Promoter Score (NPS) has increased to 74 in 2020 
from 60 in 2019.

Preparing for the 5G Wave

More than 40 countries worldwide have launched 
5G networks. Although Malaysia is not one of these 
countries, Maxis has been leading in gearing up 
to roll out 5G since 2018. 5G technology (with new 
spectrum) promises to deliver 10x higher speeds, 10x 
lower response time (latency), and 10x more connected 
devices compared to 4G technology. It is not only set 
to revolutionise on how industries, businesses and 
people may operate, but also has capability to realise 
the autonomous machines and self-organise robots’ 
technologies into reality.

We are also proud to be continuously leading 
the industry in technology with the signing of a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Huawei 
Technologies to explore and collaborate on the 
TechCity initiative in Kuala Lumpur in 2020. This 
involved setting up a 5G Innovation Lab, collaboration 
on 5G network design, discussions on deployment and 
operational plans aimed at delivering new use cases for 
commercialisation across various industries.

Maxis has been working on optimising our resources 
for seamless transition towards 5G. This includes rolling 
out our next-generation IP network that supports high 
inter-district or state transmission capacity, expanding 
our fibre footprint nationwide, and testing a variety of 5G 
devices to ensure they perform well when 5G becomes 
available. While waiting for 5G to arrive, we continued 
to showcase its capabilities and demonstrated business 
potential use cases throughout the nation in Klang 
Valley, Langkawi, Sarawak and Penang.

JENDELA and Industrial Collaboration

The Malaysian government, through its National Digital 
Infrastructure Lab (NDIL), has developed the Jalinan 
Digital Negara Plan (JENDELA) aimed to trigger an 
urgency for Malaysia to address the “new norm” by 
means of providing greater seamless national access to 
connectivity in a reliable manner for all Malaysians.

Maxis fully cooperated with the industry regulator 
and other Malaysian telcos to make connectivity a 
basic utility with enhanced coverage and quality of 
experience. We provided expertise on how to effectively 
deliver a comprehensive digital infrastructure plan that 
accelerates improvements in coverage and quality of 
service nationwide and optimised fixed, mobile and  
fit-for-purpose technologies. 

Business Review
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We also initiated a collaboration programme to explore 
the possibility of sharing capabilities and synergy in 
network infrastructure. One such success story was 
how Maxis and Celcom Axiata succeeded in conducting 
Southeast Asia’s first 5G Multi Operator Core Network 
(MOCN) trial, achieving peak speeds of more than 
1.1Gbps in an outdoor environment at a trial site in 
Langkawi.

Enhancing Advanced Capabilities

At Maxis, data analytics, Artificial Intelligence (AI) 
and Machine Learning (ML) capabilities are part of an 
ongoing digital transformation strategy that we have 
implemented over the past two years to help deliver an 
Unmatched Personalised Experience for our customers. 

We believe we need to offer our customers a relevant 
and competitive edge by providing real-time and data-
driven decisions to enhance our customer service and 
time-to-market with our products and services.

The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated these 
digitalisation programmes and advanced analytics 
initiatives. To support this acceleration, we engaged 
our in-house talents to help our customers implement 
these technologies, which were aimed at making them 
relevant to the new normal. Some of these initiatives 
were autonomous operating systems, robotic process 
automation, Artificial Intelligence (AI) and machine 
learning, business intelligence and agile methodology.

Business Review

New technologies will only take us so far as the other 
element needed for success is skill sets. At Maxis, we 
are committed to bolster our people’s capabilities by 
equipping them with digital skills and encouraging them 
to embrace agile ways of working. 

In 2020, we announced our partnership with Google 
Cloud Platform to accelerate our data analytics, AI and 
machine learning capabilities with a 100% data-on-cloud 
ambition. Working with Google Cloud, we integrated 
our data analytics into every facet of our business. 
We offloaded 100% of our business intelligence, data 
analytics and machine learning on-premise workloads 
to the cloud to deliver timely and secure insights. 
Maxis was one of the first Southeast Asian telcos to do 
this. Meanwhile, to expand our capabilities to provide 
cloud solutions, we also engaged in an “acqui-hire” of 
Infrastructure Consulting & Managed Services (ICMS) 
to strengthen our workforce with new expertise in 
Microsoft cloud solutions. 

Tying all this together is our emphasis on cyber 
security. We are constantly upgrading our capabilities 
by ensuring our security monitoring and data protection 
controls are always up to par and able to protect 
us from any vulnerabilities we may encounter. In 
terms of our people, we have increased our cyber 
security awareness by ensuring that 99% of them 
were compliant with our policy requirements. And to 
ensure we continue to be leaders in cyber security, we 
are actively participating in forums that develop the 
national cyber security standards. 
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Our People, Our Purpose 

The old adage, “Our people are our best assets” may 
sound cliché but it is nonetheless true. At Maxis, we 
have always recognised this and have strived to bring 
out the best in our people and ensure that they share a 
vision to always be ahead in all that we do.

In 2019, we embarked on a journey to reshape our 
company’s culture and values, in line with our vision 
of becoming a RM10 billion company and leading the 
way as Malaysia’s Converged Solutions Company. This 
culture and approach to realising our vision was called 
“The MaxisWay.”

For 2020, we started to change the way we conversed 
with each other by embedding the language of 
commitment, performance and possibilities that will 
embody our refreshed culture, the MaxisWay 2.0. The 
three core values that we focused on during the year 
were: “Customer First”, “What’s Possible” and “I am 
Maxis”. 

Simple Experiences

Delightful Moments

Down to the Details

Be Amazing

Find New Ways

Be Restless

I Don’t Know How 
(Yet) But I Commit

Breakdowns Fuel 
My Breakthroughs

It’s Not My Job,  
But I am Responsible

Our  
People
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Culture and Transformation

Over the course of 2020, we worked hard to imbue 
cultural shifts through a combination of proactive 
measures and some more subtle background 
influences. We are pleased to report that we are seeing 
the fruits of our labour at the end of the year through 
a survey we undertook. Through our “Voice of Maxis” 
poll, we achieved 93% of respondents saying that they 
“understand and embrace Maxis’ culture and values”.

Some of the highlights of the year included the launch 
of MaxisWay 2.0, where our top leadership articulated 
the vision and mission to create a world-class company 
culture by refreshing our values to become more 
aligned to our vision and transformation journey.

We created a comprehensive toolkit for managers 
to conduct interactive virtual MaxisWay 2.0 Connect 
sessions, aimed at cascading various value drivers 
and behavioural traits down to all employees. We also 
published internal videos of our employees who are our 
culture heroes, to tell their stories of how they bring 
our values and culture to the everyday work life. To 
complement this, we also developed various culture 
and brand collaterals to support the launch of our 
refreshed values such as the new Maxis logo, culture 
laptop stickers, glass door stickers, office and desktop 
wallpapers. These collaterals helped to reinforce 
MaxisWay 2.0 as a subtle reminder to our employees of 
the values and culture we are trying to embody. 

We also kicked-off a company-wide Transformational 
Leadership (TL) workshop with the first batch of 
ambassadors already fully certified and second batch 
of ambassadors in training. These ambassadors act 
as representatives to further embed the language of 
transformational leadership at various levels within Maxis. 

Enhancing Organisational Culture and Capabilities

Every organisation depends on its people to bring their 
best abilities to the table, both business and technical, to 
ensure that it becomes a successful one, and Maxis is no 
different. With this in mind, we accelerated our workforce 
capability in critical business and technology skills as 
well as redesigned our Maxis academy into the four main 
pillars - Leadership, Business, Technical and Compliance 
pillars. In all four areas, our goal was to enable talents 
to be ahead with critical skills, not only for today’s 
environment but also for tomorrow, with the emphasis on 
providing a personalised learning experience. 

We revamped our Maxis Academy portal to make it more 
intuitive and friendlier for users to look for learning 
opportunities and materials. And during the Movement 
Control Order (MCO), we provided the best tools available 
to ensure learning and development was not disrupted 
despite the situation, but was instead accelerated.

As a result of our structured and robust succession 
planning of our Maxis Management Team (MMT), we 
strengthened our leadership bench with the promotion 
of two internal employees to join the MMT, leading 
the Information Technology and Network Divisions. 
The succession planning exercise is also on-going for 
various Maxis top value roles. To ensure development 
of Maxis leaders, we designed and launched the Maxis 
Leadership Academy tracks that are more focused for 
leaders and Hi-Potential development programmes for 
future leaders.

By leveraging digital solutions and learner data, we 
also broadened the array and availability of company-
wide technology certification programmes, and made 
learning experiences more customisable across the 
board. In terms of young talents, we built partnerships 
with talent partners and higher education institutions, 
launching a new Maxis scholarship programme while 
enrolling a fresh cohort of fresh recruits onto targeted 
technology and division-based graduate programmes.

Retaining the Best Talent in their Fields

Due to the challenging times brought about by 
COVID-19, we changed the way we worked and spent 
more time engaging online with employees. The 
Employee Experience team created a digital solution 
to track engagement and to keep employees informed 
of ongoing activities and deals. We also gamified 
engagement and created a Leaderboard for the most 
engaged employees to inspire participation.
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Retaining the best also meant that our employees did 
not stay stagnant in their job roles. As such in 2020, 
our employees continued to grow in their jobs through 
job rotations and promotions. We recognised our 
employees’ capabilities and strived to further develop 
them to their maximum potential by encouraging them 
to consistently challenge their status quo and providing 
continuous development. 

Every year, we continue to roll out our “Voice of Maxis” 
survey where we measure engagement levels and find 
out ways to improve how we do things. We are pleased 
to report the following metrics in 2020:

This has resulted in a high engagement score of 86% 
which has been benchmarked highly against most 
global companies and above the norm for Malaysian 
companies. Meanwhile 95% of employees understand 
and embraced Maxis’ culture and values. 

While working from home in 2020, our employee’s 
health and wellness remains our priority. Maxis Pillar of 
Support Initiative (POSITIVE) was launched in May to 
provide a holistic approach to safeguard the wellbeing 
of all Maxis employees. We provided employees with 
a digital mobile application which helps employees to 
build healthy habits and manage mental health risks.

To ensure our benefits programme stays relevant, we 
introduced a Flexible Employee Benefits Programme 
which employees will get to enjoy from 2021. The 
refreshed program provides more flexibility and 
personalisation for each of our employees. We want 
to encourage employees to take ownership of their 
health and lifestyle, so in addition to existing benefits, 
we introduced new benefits such as yearly health 
screening, fitness management, purchase of health and 
ergonomic items and many more. 

Our survey showed that 
93% of respondents 
indicated that they are 
proud to work for Maxis.

93%

Voice of Maxis

By gender:

45%
Female 55%

Male

By location:

83% 5%

4% 2%

5%

East Coast Sabah and Sarawak
Central NorthernSouthern

2017 2018 2019 2020

Number of employees 3,102 3,211 3,559 3,748

Employee engagement 88% 87% 88% 86%

Women in Maxis 
Management Team 
(MMT)

0% 0% 29% 33%

Deepen Workplace Inclusivity and Transparency

At Maxis, we remain committed to diversity and inclusion. 
In 2020, we continue to cultivate inclusiveness in a 
diverse work environment through targeted Inclusion and 
Diversity initiatives to empower women and young talents. 
In 2020, we had our first ever International Women’s day 
celebration in Maxis, which was organised in partnership 
with our employee resource group, Women@Maxis and 
increasing the representation of female managers from 
34% to 38% in 2020. 

Besides championing the women agenda in Maxis, 
we also focused on young talents through various 
partnerships. In 2020, we fostered strong partnerships 
with nine talent partners and higher institutions, 
including INTI, HELP, Sunway, Taylors, APU, Monash, 
University of Warwick, as well as with our talent 
partners, GRADUAN & Lean in Youth. In the last quarter 
of 2020, we engaged with three other institutions 
namely, Quest International University, Nottingham 
University, University of Malaya.

Additionally, through our Maxis Scholarship Programme 
we have provided aid to selected individuals who are in 
need and have demonstrated potential. 
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Launched the Technology graduate programme 

•  Digital  Developer Programme -  3  graduates

• Data Analyt ics Programme -  4  graduates

Divis ion-based  
Graduate programmes for  other 
divis ions in planning.

Maxis Graduate Programme 

Technology 
scholarship 

534 
appl icants

Young Leaders 
scholarship 

325 
appl icants

Women in tech 
scholarship 

296 
appl icants

Our Maxis Scholarship Programme launched with a total of 

1,155 applications:

We have awarded 15 scholarships to bright young undergraduates. 

In our quest to enhance transparency, we ensured 
that we had a more robust compliance programme in 
2020. We refreshed our Code of Business Practice 
(CoBP) Assessment to make it more interactive and 
have achieved 100% completion rate. Besides that, we 
launched Maxis Code of Conduct (CoC) and rolled out 
quarterly CoBP campaigns.

Health, Safety and Environment

As part of our commitment to protect our people, 
Maxis continued to emphasise on strict compliance to 
policies and protocols in the area of Health, Safety and 
Environment (HSE). 

In 2019, we completed the first surveillance audit on 
our Occupational Safety and Health Management 
System (OSHMS) using Occupational Health and Safety 
Assessment Series (OHSAS) 18001 as well as the 
Malaysian Standard on Occupational Health and Safety 
Management Systems (MS 1722) certifications for our 
Menara Maxis corporate office. 

While we continue to be sensitive to the HSE needs 
of our people, the COVID-19 pandemic has confronted 
the world with an unprecedented way, which limited 
our face-to-face and physical assessment programmes 
in 2020. Nevertheless, we made it a point to adapt as 
best as we could.

Before the MCO came into force in March 2020, we 
ensured that all Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) 
were in line with the government’s and industry criteria 
in January 2020. We also activated our Maxis Business 
Continuity Plan (BCP). 

When MCO was enforced in March, we activated our 
BCP Red Code activation that required employees to 
work from home (WFH). When the government eased 
restrictions to become Recovery MCO (RMCO), we 
followed up with guidance from our BCP plan in June 
2020. At all times, our governance structure, comprising 
the Board, the C-level suite and the Maxis Management 
Team (MMT) were kept abreast with a selected scope of 
updates and approvals for any action needed.

As part of our BCP, we implemented an in-house Daily 
Health Checkpoint (DHC) whereby all employees and 
visitors were required to declare their health status 
prior to entering our premises. This was in-line with the 
established SOPs published by the government which 
required that body temperature measurement and 
symptom screening for employee, visitor and clients 
were verified daily prior to entry to the workplace. 

As a company involved in extensive field operations 
and operating in multiple locations, we trained 
designated employees in occupational first aid 
skills such as cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) 
and the use of the automated external defibrillator 
(AED). Additionally, designated employees at our 
premises were trained to conduct basic first aid 
response knowledge in order to manage emergencies 
until professional medical assistance arrived. For 
those working on towers and rooftops, we provided 
Working-At-Height (WAH) training, which covered 
safe work techniques using the safe climbing and 
work techniques practices. Apart from the general 
on-boarding HSE induction, we introduced a new 
specialised HSE induction programme for all field/
engineering work related matters.
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In today’s world, we realise we cannot do it alone, 
therefore our HSE policy also covers collaborations 
with our partners and contractors. Our initiatives in 
this area include work-safe training programmes, 
system and documentation audits of contractors, and 
half-yearly communication sessions with our main 
contractors’ safety and health officers.

HSE Performance

We take monitoring and work practice/condition compliance 
seriously and in 2020, the major non-compliance rate has 
improved based on HSE inspections conducted.

Fatality 
There were no fatalities reported with our employees 
and contractors in 2020. 

In our continuous pursuit to ensure the safety of our 
employees, we will continue to enhance our in-house 
built digitalised safety system, in the areas including:

• Drive Safe-Save: Realtime management of 
employee/contractor safety, whereabouts and fleet 
operational efficiency; and 

• Satellite Communicator: Realtime management 
of employee/contractor safety and whereabouts 
when working in places unreachable via terrestrial 
network, such as island sites in the East Sabah 
Security (ESSCOM) zone.

Employees - Lost Time Injury 
In 2020, there were six office or site accidents resulting 
in a Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)* of 0.54 as 
at December 2020. Below is the classification of such 
incidents:

• One employee sustained a back injury due to a slip 
and fall at pantry;

• One employee sustained a back injury due to a fall 
from a broken plastic chair at a customer’s house;

• One employee sustained a right ankle injury due to 
a slip and fall at an external office compound;

• One employee sustained a left index finger injury 
after a cut while manually handling items in the 
dealer shop;

• One employee sustained a leg injury due to a trip on 
a television cable and fall at a meeting room; and

• One employee sustained a back injury due to a fall 
from a broken plastic chair in the inventory room 
(Maxis Centre).

There were no road accidents involving Maxis’ 4WD 
company vehicles.

Contractor - Lost Time Injury
At our contractor’s office/site:

• One contractor sustained a back injury due to a fall 
from ladder while performing work at site; and

• One contractor sustained a left wrist injury due to a 
fall through a roof while performing work at site.

Vehicle/road related accident:

• One contractor sustained head and abdominal 
injury due to a road accident (motorcycle) while 
commuting to a customer’s house. 

Maxis focused on occupational health related issues 
and has continuously shared advisories and related 
information to all relevant parties. Maxis always considers 
any accident and LTI seriously. We will continue to 
educate and strive to enhance employees’ and partners’ 
skills, improve awareness in safe work practices.

* (A Lost-time Injury (LTI) is the term used when a Maxis employee 
is injured while conducting a work-related task and is unable to 
perform his or her regular duties for a period of time after the 
incident. Lost-time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) is the number of 
lost time injuries occurred while conducting work-related tasks for 
Maxis, per 1 million hours worked).

HSE Training 
Defensive Driving Training (DDT), WAH and CPR to Maxis 
Employees

Workforce Participation (WSC)/Awareness 
Programme  
(general and specialised induction during Culture Day, Safety 
and Security Day, planned and ad-hoc briefing for partners or 
vendors)

5  
sessions

54  
attendees

171  
sessions

2,852  
attendees

220  
sessions

80  
attendees

HSE Inspections/Investigations

12  
audits

Partners HSE System Audit
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We have a significant role in supporting the 
communities in which we operate. In a year that was 
marked by the COVID-19 pandemic, that role became 
even more critical during a period of uncertainty and 
change. Leveraging technology, our outreach initiatives 
emphasise on creating a positive, long lasting impact to 
communities that we serve. 

In line with our renewed brand purpose - bringing 
together the best of technologies to enable individuals, 
businesses and the nation to Always be Ahead in a 
changing world - we believe that the opportunities 
and promise of a better digital future should be 
accessible to all and that the vulnerable are not left 
behind. Empowering the community with digital skills 
and bringing digital learning closer to them is at the 
core of our Corporate Responsibility. Beyond this, we 
actively work with NGOs to make a difference through 
humanitarian relief efforts as well as touching the lives 
of communities in need with meaningful engagement 
and bringing joy especially during the festive seasons.

Education and Community Empowerment

Enabling greater access to Digital Learning 

Now in its fourth year, our flagship community 
programme, eKelas, has accelerated in impact and 
scale, with over 26,000 students now benefitting from 
access to exciting digital learning and content.

Our 
Community

In 2020, as learning in schools was halted by the 
various phases of movement restrictions, we reinforced 
the benefits of eKelas as an after school initiative by 
enabling students to continue learning from home with 
zero data charges for access to the eKelas portal. 

Maxis eKelas provides a fun, vibrant and blended 
learning experience through a combination of live 
tutorials, group learning, competitions as well as access 
to quality content through the eKelas portal, 

As a programme that is recognised by the Ministry of 
Education under its Highly Immersive Programme (HIP), we 
have expanded eKelas into even more schools in 2020. 

2018 2019 2020

Number of 
students 
impacted by 
eKelas

6,400 13,000 26,000

No. of Pusat 
Internet

55 72 82

No. of schools - 23 130

www.eKelas.com.my

X
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Supporting aspiring entrepreneurs to help grow their 
businesses

Committed to empowering local communities with 
digital capabilities, we have been positively impacting 
cottage industry entrepreneurs in various locations 
throughout the country since 2018 with our digital 
marketing workshops. These workshops are designed 
to equip micro SMEs and entrepreneurs with the right 
digital tools and marketing skills to optimise their 
businesses, using social media, content creation and 
photography. These workshops are supported by our 
Maxis volunteers, mSquad.

In 2020, we collaborated with Yayasan Pahang to 
bring our digital marketing workshop to benefit local 
entrepreneurs in Felda Sg. Koyan, Raub, Pahang. 

• eKelas weekly live tutorial sessions 
via Zoom and YouTube live. 

• Guided learning by a Community 
Manager, Mon-Fri, 9am-4pm

Learning from 
home

• National-level English speaking 
and essay writing competitions. 

• More than 2,000 students 
participated in eKelas HIP 
competitions.

Promoting 
English using 
a structured 
co-curricular 
activity

• Partnerships with Universiti 
Kebangsaan Malaysia and MDEC 

• 120 bite-sized learning videos, 24 
topics on Math, Science and English 

• Bite-sized videos on STEM modules 

Partnerships 
for new 
content  
co-creation

• Immersive learning for students in 
PI Kg Padang Wahid, Langkawi and 
Penang Digital Library through VR 
learning in eKelas, powered by 5G

• The only 5G use case in education 
piloted at MCMC’s 5GDP

Bringing 
digital 
learning to  
the next level  
with advanced  
technology

Rosna binti Sanah,  
Rosna & Dzihni Kuih Tradisional

“I didn’t know how to market my business 
outside my area before this, and was really 
happy to learnt how to use the digital  
tools and apps during the workshop  
which was really useful. This is the kind  
of programme that we need to help us 
expand our business, especially for us from 
the rural areas.”

Zainab biti Omar,  
Suze Enterprise

“Entrepreneurs especially those from the 
rural areas should be given the opportunity 
to attend these valuable digital marketing 
workshops by Maxis. They can help us in 
improving how we market our products. 
After participating in the workshop, I look 
forward to joining the next programme!”

Business Review

Key initiatives implemented in the eKelas programme 
for 2020 include:

Community engagement through festive charity and 
humanitarian relief efforts 

While we had some travel and movement restrictions, 
it did not stop us from engaging and bringing joy 
to the communities in need. For the major festive 
celebrations, we undertook the following initiatives:

• Chinese New Year: Bringing cheer to the elderly 
in Villa Harapan, Melaka by delivering household 
essentials and water filters as well as sprucing up 
their home. 

• Hari Raya: Distributed 300 food packages to 
families in need across eight towns in the East 
Coast, Central and Southern regions.

• Deepavali: Equipped SJK(T) Kuala Kubu Bharu and 
MySkills Foundation, Kalumpang with 15 desktops 
each and 1-year’s subscription of wireless Internet 
connectivity. 

• Christmas: In collaboration with Hope Place, 
distributed 200 boxes of Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE) to communities in Kuching, 
Sarawak in preparation for the 2021 school term.
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Where possible, we contributed devices and conducted 
digital marketing workshops for these communities. 
All initiatives during the MCO and CMCO periods were 
carried out under strict Standard Operating Procedures 
(SOPs) and social distancing, as well as use of third-
party delivery services if needed.

During natural disasters, we know how important 
connectivity is for impacted communities to stay 
connected with their loved ones. We continue to work 
extensively to prepare for severe weather conditions 
with a priority to ensure the safety of our people, to 
protect and maintain our network infrastructure, and 
to keep our customers including emergency services 
connected. Where necessary, we provide temporary 
mobile base stations to boost coverage for emergency 
services and relief centres. 

COVID-19 humanitarian aid to support the community

In support of Malaysians impacted by the COVID-19 
pandemic and responding to the call by the 
Government, Maxis focused its efforts towards helping 
the B40 group across the nation, frontliners and health 
care providers. 

Empowering our people to give back to the community

Our employees are always inspired to give back to 
the community and through our robust employee 
volunteerism programme, mSquad, we provide the 
opportunity for them to make a difference. During the 
year, on ground volunteering activities were scaled 
down to ensure compliance with social distancing and 
SOPs. Nonetheless, employees were also provided 
with the opportunity to be part of virtual volunteering 
where possible.

2018 2019 2020

Yearly volunteer 
hours

2,962 2,185 1,786

Volunteering value 
(RM)

- 100,000 80,441

* Total value of volunteer hours is calculated as follows:
 Volunteering value = Average Hourly Rate x Total Maxis 

Volunteering Hours

For 2021, we will build upon what we have learnt in an 
extraordinary year, to continue supporting communities 
and helping to drive digital adoption especially among 
entrepreneurs and micro SMEs from the B40 group. 
We will be enhancing our digital marketing programme 
content and approach to focus more on women 
entrepreneurs in helping them improve their digital 
capabilities, expand their businesses and reach out to 
even more customers. 

Business Review

As part of our post-flood initiative, we also helped 
impacted communities as well as our own Maxis dealers 
to bounce back on their feet. In December 2020, we 
collaborated with Yayasan Kebajikan Negara Malaysia, 
to distribute 3,300 food boxes in phases to those 
severely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic in Sabah 
and in flood-stricken areas of Pahang, Kelantan and 
Terengganu. 
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Our Environment

We are continuously looking into how we can mitigate 
our impact on the environment. Extreme weather events 
over the past year have starkly highlighted the growing 
reality and urgency of climate change. We have made 
concerted efforts in recent years to minimise our 
environmental impact and close monitoring of business 
operations against the effects of climate change 
on our business. Our key priorities are to improve 
energy efficiency and reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions across our network. We are also addressing 
the need to efficiently utilise resources in terms of 
effective office and mobile e-waste management. 

Energy Efficiency and GHG Emissions 

We continuously drive energy efficiency across our 
Network Services and Data Center by adopting innovative 
latest technology and energy efficient equipment. This 
was preliminary carried out at our Technical Operations 
Centers (TOC) and Base Stations (BTS).

Our 
Environment

X

• Optimisation the Cooling System by customising 
in design (introduce cool and hot isle) to 
maximise the cooling efficiency in Switch Rooms 
& Data Centers at nationwide TOCs.

• Use existing high precision air conditioning as 
standby unit and introduce in-row cooling system 
to cool our computer rooms with more energy-
efficient models.

• Installing Low Voltage Energy Optimise System 
(EOS) to modernise power system and leverage 
on new technology as well to minimise harmonic 
and energy losses.

Key initiatives at TOC include: 

• Enhance cooling energy with installation of 
Intelligent Inverter Air-conditioner (IIA) to reduce  
energy losses.

• Convert comfort (split-unit) Air-cond to free 
cooling unit (FCU) technology as to reduce 80% 
(average) of energy usage from cooling demand.

• Deploying hybrid solutions - a combination of 
diesel generators and batteries that reduced 
diesel usage.

• Installing Full and Hybrid Solar System in rural 
(T3) site to reduce high operational cost.

• Reduce Carrier Power for RAN share site.
• Swap existing RRU single band to Wide Band.
• Shutting down one 3G 2100 carrier for LTE 2100 

for non KMC & non RAN Share sites.

Key initiatives at BTS include: 

Business Review

The main consumption of energy stems from our base 
stations sites, extensive network capacity upgrades 
for core and transmission networks to address the 
exponential increase in demand for data from our 
customers. In tandem, our electricity consumption 
forms the largest contributor to our GHG emissions. 
The average energy consumption per base station and 
GHG emissions reduced by 0.01% compared to 2019. 
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Total Emissions (CO2 Tonnes)

Scope 1 - Direct emissions  
e.g. from fuel and gas usage 2019 2020

Network and Technology 9,092 5,080

Scope 2 - Indirect emissions  
e.g. from electricity consumption 2019 2020

Network and Technology 236,670 249,274

Building Electricity 
Consumption 2,171 1,593

Subtotal 238,841 250,867

Total Emissions (CO2 tonnes) 247,933 255,947

Building Energy Consumption 

Whilst decreasing equipment energy consumption 
directly reduces our impact on the environment, a 
more subtle but significant contribution comes from our 
employees. A significant reduction in energy consumption 
was recorded, largely from the Government’s MCO 
requirements in 2020, i.e. working from home 
arrangements, reduced employees at the office and 
closing of building operations for a certain period. 

Aside from this, we optimised our building energy 
consumption by consolidating working floors when we 
briefly returned to the office on rotational basis in 2020. 
Ongoing power optimisation initiatives contributed to the 
reduction as well. The main office buildings sustained a 
reduction of 26.6% compared to 2019. 

Paper Usage at Maxis

Similarly, our paper usage significantly decreased by 40% 
in 2020, due to the Government’s MCO requirements 
where most our operational processes went digital. 
We aim to continuously improve our efforts in waste 
management year-on-year as part of our commitment in 
reducing environmental impact from our operations.

Years 2019 2020

Total (Reams) 5,996 3,605

Business Review

Total Building Electricity Consumption 
(kWh & CO2)

kWh CO2

1,593,187

20202019

2,170,756

2,929,495

2,150,051

-26.6%

Total Waste Recyclable

442

20202019

1,600

2,200

515

-0.01%

24.424.7

20202019

Average Emission per BTS
(CO2 Tonnes)

Note: Combined figures for direct and indirect energy usage.
Green Up at Maxis

Waste management and disposal in Malaysia has 
sparked concerns among the public as waste 
is disposed into open dumping site and natural 
resources like rivers. As part of our commitment on 
waste management, we are now in our fifth year of 
partnership with the NGO, Pertubuhan Kebajikan 
Masyarakat Melalui Kitar Semula (CRC), in a bid to 
recycle our office waste. Funds collected from our 
recycling efforts are donated to charity. 

In 2020, the total waste collected through this 
initiative has reduced by 75%, largely due to the 
Government’s MCO requirements, i.e. working from 
home arrangements, reduced employees at the office 
and closing of building operations for a certain period. 
From the total waste collected, we were able to recycle 
almost 85%. This is largely attributed to our continuous 
green awareness initiatives.
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Sustainability at Maxis

As a leading converged solut ions provider in Malaysia,  we embrace our stakeholders’ 
increasing demands and requirements on sustainabi l i ty  matters relat ing to economic, 
environmental  and social  considerat ions. 

Our stakeholders place great importance to the 
way we balance our business priorities with our 
commitment towards good governance, societal 
contributions and environmental stewardship. 
As we progress on our sustainability journey, 
we remain focused on investing in our Six 
Capitals to ensure business continuity and 
deliver consistent returns to our shareholders 
while bringing positive changes to the 
communities we operate in. Aligning our 
existing sustainability programmes with the 
United Nations’ Sustainable Development 
Goals (UN SDGs) is the obvious next step and 
a transformational part in the next phase of our 
sustainability journey.

Guidance

This Sustainability Statement provides an 
overview of our materiality assessment and key 
concerns raised by our stakeholders through 
various means of communication. Further 
information on our economic, environment and 
social initiatives and outcomes can be found 
in the various Business Review section of this 
Integrated Report (IR). We are guided by Bursa 
Malaysia’s Sustainability Reporting Guide  
(2nd Edition) and references from GRI 
standards. 

Governance

Our CEO plays a leading role in overseeing the management of 
sustainability initiatives within the organisation. He reports the 
progress and key developments to the Board and is supported 
by appointed management representatives from key divisions 
in Maxis. This is to ensure material matters are addressed and 
integrated throughout our business operations. 
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Sustainability at Maxis

Materiality Matrix

We assess our material matters as part of continuous efforts to ensure our strategic intent remains relevant to the 
rapidly changing environment. During the year, a materiality prioritisation assessment was conducted based on the 
identified matters in 2020 with internal stakeholders. This approach aligns our sustainability matters with the MAX Plan.

Our materiality assessment process is outlined below: 

In FY2020, “Occupational Health and Safety” have increased in prominence given the severity of COVID-19’s 
implications to the health and safety of our employees, customers and community. “Empowering Digitalisation” has 
gained importance among stakeholders as governments are taking an unprecedented interest in vulnerable customers 
during the pandemic. The focus on “Local Community” has also heightened as part of our corporate responsibility 
efforts to support the needs of vulnerable groups during these tough times.

Material Assessment
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FY2020 Materiality Matrix

Economic Environmental Social

Waste

Local 
Communities

Indirect 
Economic 
Impact

Responsible 
Sourcing

Innovation

Ethical Business Practices
Technology

Sustainable 
Business

Occupational 
Safety & Health

Empowering 
Digitalisation

Employee 
Development

Equal Opportunity 
Workforce & 
Employment

Data Privacy 
& Protection

Regulatory & 
Compliance

Customer Experience & Satisfaction

Energy & Emission

High

HighLow

High priorityMedium priority

PrioritisationIdentification

Our starting point of identification 
is a review of matters reported 
in 2020, based on relevance 
during the year under review. 
Material matters were identified 
across the business, considering 
internal and external sources like 
our MAX plan, internal policies 
and procedures, industry and 
emerging global trends and 
concerns raised by our key 
stakeholders.

Management representatives 
from key divisions across 
Maxis contributed insights 
gained from their engagement 
with stakeholders and 
business operations. This 

assisted in prioritising our 
material matters based on 

the dimensions mentioned. 
The result of the prioritisation 

assessment is the materiality 
matrix shown above.

Validation of material matters

The material matters were 
deliberated and validated by 
our Management Team and our 
Board of Directors is cognisant 
of our material matters.



Integrated Annual Report 2020 SUSTAINABILITY AT MAXIS

73

Sustainability at Maxis

In line with our overall vision of becoming a leading 
converged solutions company, six material matters 
were renamed and redefined to reflect our business 
operations and stakeholder concerns. Based on the 
materiality prioritisation assessment, eight material 
matters were identified as high priority. These high-
priority matters form the focus of this report. 

Scope and boundaries of these matters can be found 
on page 3. 

Integrating Sustainability into our Business Strategy

We have embedded the four pillars of our Corporate 
Reporting framework into our business strategy to 
elevate Maxis as a highly reputable corporate citizen. 
By doing so, we are able to continue to create value for 
our stakeholders and the nation.

Contributing to the UN Sustainable Development Goals

This year, we enhanced our sustainability commitments 
by aligning our existing sustainability programmes to 
the UN SDGs. Through our core business of providing 
increased access to reliable mobile and technology 
solutions, we aim to make valuable contributions to 
meeting the national and global sustainability agenda. 
Achieving these Global Goals is essential for the good 
of society, the environment and sustainable economic 
growth. 

We identified six UN SDGs through mapping of our 
material matters and strategic initiatives under the 
MAX Plan where we believe we can have the most 
meaningful impact to our business and stakeholders.

Our four CR pillars are as follows: 

Sustainable 
Business Practices

Engaged  
Employees

Connecting the 
Unconnected

Environmental 
Consciousness

Strategy
Key Areas for 
FY2020 >> Double Down

Mapping of 
SDG (Top 6)

Relevant Material Matters 
Mapped for FY2020

Individuals, Homes 
and Businesses

• Win in consumer 
mobile

• Mainstream 
fibre and home 
connectivity

• Be #1 ICT 
Solutions 
Provider

Accelerate fibre 
penetration through 
Breakthrough Team 
approach

Enterprise as the 
digitalisation partner for 
Malaysian businesses 
starting with SMEs

• Customer Experience and 
Satisfaction

• Sustainable Business
• Empowering Digitalisation

Differentiated and 
Digital “Unmatched 
Personalised 
Experience” (UPE)

• Enhanced 
customer value 
and seamless 
omnichannel 
experience

• Maintain Network 
Leadership

• Digital and 
Mobile First

Expand Digital channels 
for sales, distribution and 
service

Maintain Leadership in 
Network and Technology

• Customer Experience and 
Satisfaction

• Technology
• Data Privacy & Protection
• Innovation
• Empowering Digitalisation

World Class 
Effective 
and Efficient 
Organisation

• Evolve the 
organisation

• XLR8 the velocity 
of change

• Elevate Maxis 
as a highly 
influential 
Corporate Citizen

XLR8 by building 
capabilities to ensure 
results are sustainable

• Innovation
• Regulatory & Compliance
• Employee Development
• Responsible Sourcing
• Occupational Safety & Health
• Equal Opportunity 

Workforce & Employment
• Local Communities
• Energy & emission
• Waste

M
MAXIS FOR ALL

A
ACHIEVE UPE

X
MAXIS WAY 
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Sustainability at Maxis

Stakeholder Engagement

Key 
Stakeholders Methods of Engagement Frequency Key Concerns and Interests Our Response

Customers • Customer service channels, 
e.g. online platforms,  
Maxis call centres, stores 
(post MCO), MyMaxis and 
Hotlink RED apps 

• Surveys, media and digital 
marketing 

• Touchpoint NPS

• Ongoing
• As required
• Ongoing

• Network quality & 
coverage

• Solutions offerings
• Customer experience
• Data security & privacy 

protection
• Pricing

• New technologies and 
partnerships

• Enhanced products and 
services

• Joint webinars for 
knowledge sharing

• Affordability of products 
and services/best value

• Converged solutions

Employees •  Online Engagement events 
•  Transformational Leadership 

programmes
•  Annual Voice of Maxis 

surveys
•  Internal communication 

channels including the 
intranet Squiggle, and 
internal social media Yammer

•  Ongoing
•  Quarterly
•  Annual
•  Ongoing

•  Vision and key priorities
•  Working culture
•  Training and development
•  Salaries, benefits and 

incentives
•  Performance review
•  Diversity and inclusion

•  Various engagement 
activities

•  Women at Maxis initiatives
•  Volunteer opportunities
•  Job-specific training

Shareholders & 
Investors

•  Annual Reports
•  Quarterly financial results 

announcements 
•  Annual General Meetings 
•  Analysts and investor virtual 

meetings and road shows 
•  Maxis Investor Relations 

webpage

•  Annual
•  Quarterly 
•  Annual
•  Ongoing

•  Business performance
•  COVID-19 responses and 

impacts 
•  Sustainable dividends
•  Strategy and vision

•  Timely updates on 
business performance 
and updates on COVID-19 
disclosure

•  Our MAX Plan - Maxis 
growth strategy

Government & 
Regulators

•  Regular reports
•  Formal meetings on progress 

and agenda 
•  Participation in industry 

forums, dialogues and 
events 

•  Participation in events and 
close engagement with 
regulators

•  Ongoing •  Spectrum & network 
management

•  Universal Service 
Provision (USP)

•  Strategic industry 
development 

•  Role in national digital 
agenda

•  Monitoring compliance 
through site 
implementation guidelines

•  Industry feedback and 
recommendations 

•  Collaboration in support 
of national agenda

Suppliers & 
Partners

•  Formal and informal virtual 
meetings

•  Product sharing sessions and 
networking 

•  Exchange of products and 
services

•  Ongoing
•  As required

•  Onboarding programme
•  Onboarding Relationship 

management 
•  Onboarding Business 

collaboration 
•  Onboarding Business 

expansion

•  Knowledge-sharing on 
technology, joint webinars

•  Enhanced solutions for 
partners

•  Digitalised procurement 
platform and workflow

Community •  Flagship community 
programmes e.g. eKelas, 
empowering local 
entrepreneurs

•  Community initiatives during 
major festivities

•  Ongoing •  Connectivity
•  Lack of access to the 

Internet
•  Digital literacy gap, tools 

and marketing skills for 
businesses

•  Humanitarian aid during a 
disaster

•  Community programmes 
- immediate term and 
periodic initiatives

•  Digital marketing 
workshops

•  Collaborate in MCMC’s 
initiative to provide 
connectivity to 
underserved areas
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Helping to

Build the  
Leaders 

of tomorrow
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Board At A Glance

Chairman Member

Board and Board Committees’ Memberships

ARC RC NC BIT GRAC SIC

Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad  
bin Raja Tun Uda

Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir

Robert Alan Nason

Dato’ Hamidah Naziadin

Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam

Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi

Mazen Ahmed M. Aljubeir

Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi

Lim Ghee Keong

Board Composition

4 
Non-Executive 

Directors

5
Independent 
Non-Executive 
Directors

6

3

3

5

3

Telecommunications and Media

Digital/New Technologies 

Investment and Venture Capital 

General Management

Consumer Related 

Skills and Experience 

Gender Diversity

1 
Female

8
Male

Tenure of Independent NED

1 
0-5 years

1
6-8 years

3 
>8 years
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Board At A Glance

Qualification and Specific Industry 

3 1 3 2
Finance & Accounting Law Engineering Business

3

5

1

Nationality

Age Group

1
30-39

1
40-49

3
>60

4
50-59

Length of Service (Tenure)

1
1-3 years

4
4-6 years

2
>9 years

2
7-9 years

Board and Board Committees’ Topics Discussed at 
the Meetings

40%

40%

10%
10%

Strategy, Regulatory, M&A, Funding

Human Capital Management

Others

Business Performance, Operations, Planning and 
Stakeholders Management

Governance



78

Corporate Governance Overview

The Board sets the tone at  the top for  Maxis’  corporate governance pract ices and appl icat ion 
to the Maxis Group.  A robust  standard of  corporate governance pract ices and appl icable 
pol ic ies and procedures within Maxis are fundamental  to sustain the Group as a leading 
converged solut ions provider in the ever changing regulatory and market  environment.  
The year 2020 was undoubtedly a chal lenging year with the COVID-19 pandemic which 
t r iggered a heal th cr is is ,  and consequent ia l ly  impacted the macro economic s i tuat ion in 
Malaysia and throughout the world.

The Board and Maxis’ commitment to upholding the 
highest standards of corporate governance and levels
of integrity in our organisation, and undertaking of 
our regulatory duty and commercial objectives as a 
responsible corporate citizen to our stakeholders is 
explained throughout this Annual Report.

The Board is pleased to provide an overview of 
the Group’s corporate governance practices, which 
summarises the Group’s application of the Principles 
and Recommendations of the MCCG 2017 during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020.

This statement is prepared in compliance with Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing 
Requirements (MMLR) and it is to be read together 
with the Corporate Governance Report 2020 of 
the Company (CG Report) which is available on the 
Company’s website. The CG Report provides the 
details of the Group’s application and departures, 
including alternative practices of the Principles and 
Recommendations of MCCG 2017. The Corporate 
Governance Report 2020 can be found at 

• Practice 7.2 - Maxis is of the view that disclosing 
the remuneration of senior management in bands of 
RM50,000 will affect the competitiveness of Maxis. 
Nevertheless, Maxis relies on its robust systems, 
processes and oversight to ensure remunerations 
remains competitive and is strongly linked to 
performance and potential. The Board will  
re-evaluate this disclosure from time to time.

• Practice 12.1 - the Notice of AGM was circulated 24 
days before the AGM which is in advance of the 21 
days notice period prescribed in the Companies Act 
2016, and Rule 88.1 of the Company’s Constitution. 
During the year 2020, the convening of the 
AGM was challenging as there were conditional 
movement control orders in place, and the Board 
was committed to adhering to the applicable 
legal requirements to ensure that shareholders 
were provided with an opportunity to participate 
at the AGM. The AGM was held on a fully virtual 
basis on 15 June 2020, with Notice of the AGM 
issued on 21 May 2020. Detailed assistance, 
guidelines and background information were 
posted to shareholders and also made available 
on the Company website to facilitate shareholders’ 
participation at the fully virtual AGM.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, 
Maxis’ Leadership and Governance structure was 
reviewed and enhanced. Key changes were as below:

• Members of the Board considered “What can 
the Board do to assist Management during the 
COVID-19 pandemic crisis - Board’s agility to 
provide guidance to Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and matters for approval”. The governance 
process and structure provides that the Board 
Charter, present Committees viz the Audit and 
Risk, Remuneration, Nomination, Business & IT 
Transformation, and Government and Regulatory 
Affairs have defined Terms of References, and 
scope for matters within the Board’s approval. The 
Board recognised that at the start of the Movement 
Control Order (MCO) when first imposed in March 
2020 that the CEO and Management would need 
swifter guidance or support from the Committees 

https://maxis.listedcompany.com/ar2020.html

As at 31 December 2020, Maxis has applied all the 
Practices contained within the MCCG 2017 except 
for Practice 4.5 (the Board has at least 30% women 
directors), Practice 7.2 (disclosure of remuneration 
of senior management in bands of RM50,000) and 
Practice 12.1 (at least 28 days notice for the AGM).

Maxis acknowledges the tenets of good governance 
and believes that its application of, and/or alternative 
practices assist in achieving the 12 Intended Outcomes 
of the MCCG 2017. An overview of the departures are 
detailed below:

• Practice 4.5 - To meet the 30% women director 
composition target, the Nomination Committee 
(NC) and the Board are always on the look out to 
expand the pool of potential women candidates for 
Board candidacy. The NC reviews and recommends 
the criteria for appointment of Directors based on 
the skills, composition and requirements of the 
Maxis operations’ and competitiveness, and growth 
strategy as a leading converged solutions provider.
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Corporate Governance Overview

and/or urgent approvals from the Board. The Board 
reviewed its processes and provided their full 
support and commitment with regards to matters 
put forward for review, guidance and approvals.

• The Board and its Committees regularly met on 
virtual platforms to ensure regular engagement 
between the Board members, between the Board 
and its Committees and Management, that provided 
agility and effective guidance and decision-making 
processes.

• The Board recognised the challenges faced during 
the MCO and COVID-19 Pandemic and provided 
the Group and Management with agile support and 
guidance in various forums such as 1-1 guidance 
to the CEO and members of Management, agile 
participation in virtual decision making and 
strategic discussions and review of matters put 
forward and discussed. Management provided the 
Board with the background information and details 
to support their requests.

• Integrity and Governance Unit headed by the 
Compliance Officer 

 The Maxis Group has a zero-tolerance policy 
against bribery and corruption. On 1 June 2020, the 
new provision on corporate liability for corruption 
offences under the Malaysian Anti-Corruption 
Commission (MACC) Act 2009 came into effect. 
In line with this, Maxis further strengthened its 
existing policies and procedures on anti-bribery 
and corruption by implementing the Maxis Anti-
Bribery and Corruption (MABC) system based on 
the Guidelines of Adequate Procedures published 
by the Prime Minister’s Department. The Integrity 
Governance Unit (IGU) was established as part of 
the implementation of the MABC system. The IGU is 
headed by an independent Compliance Officer who 
oversees the implementation of the MABC system. 

 The Compliance Officer is tasked to oversee 
the acculturation, institutionalisation and 
implementation of integrity within the Maxis 
Group and to ensure that continuous training, 
education and awareness programs are in place. 
The IGU strengthens and is responsible for the 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the 
governance, and anti-corruption controls of the 
MABC system. The governance structure of the IGU 
was set up along with key policies revisions and 

enhancement, as further detailed in the SORMIC 
Statement in this Annual Report. Maxis undertakes 
periodic reviews and assessments of bribery and 
corruption risks and ensures that the MABC system 
remains efficient and effective. The Enterprise Risk 
Management team collaborates with the Compliance 
Officer on the implementation of the MABC system 
for corruption risk assessment. Maxis is committed to 
comply with Para 15.29 of the MMLR and to ensure 
that the policies and procedures on anti-corruption 
are appropriately communicated to all stakeholders. 
Maxis Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy Statement, 
Code of Business Practice, Maxis Code of Business 
Practice for Third Parties, Third Party Integrity 
Pledge, Whistle Blowing Policy and No Gift Policy are 
published in the corporate website 

https://maxis.listedcompany.com/corporate_
governance.html.

 The Board has approved the MABC system 
and endorsed the Maxis Anti-Bribery Policy 
Statement which sets out Maxis stance against 
bribery and corruption, and each of the Maxis 
Directors have undertaken an Integrity Pledge. In 
supporting the general policy statements in the 
MABC system, Maxis has developed the Maxis 
Integrity Compliance Framework (MICF) to instill 
and ensure compliance to all elements related to 
the propagation of integrity and business ethics 
within the business activities of Maxis. In this 
regard, Maxis Integrity & Compliance Awareness 
Committee (MIAC) was established to coordinate, 
monitor and ensure programmes planned under 
MICF are implemented in an effective, integrated 
and structured manner. MIAC comprises of 
members from Compliance Officer (Head of 
Integrity and Governance Unit), Head of Legal 
and Chief Human Resource Officer. Both MICF 
and MIAC have been endorsed by the ARC and 
Board during the year 2020. The MABC system 
is subject to regular reviews. The Board has also 
delegated the responsibility over the MABC system 
to the ARC and changes were made to the ARC’s 
Terms of Reference to reflect the delegation. The 
Compliance Officer reports to the ARC, and also 
provides reports to the Board as part of the overall 
compliance reporting to the Board. 

Both this Overview and the Corporate Governance 
Report 2020 were approved by the Board on  
24 February 2021.
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The Board is collectively responsible for the direction 
and oversight of the Maxis Group to ensure its 
sustainability and ability to create long-term value 
for its shareholders and various stakeholders. The 
Board provides prudent leadership and strategic 
guidance within a framework of robust and effective 
controls ensuring Maxis’ resilience in the execution 
of its strategy within the markets that Maxis operates 
in. The Board is entrusted with ensuring that there is 
an adequate group wide framework for co-operation 
and communication between Maxis Berhad and its 
subsidiaries to enable it to discharge its responsibilities 
including oversight of the Maxis Group’s financial 
and non financial performance, business strategy and 
priorities, risk management that includes material 
sustainability risks, and corporate governance policies 
and practices. The Maxis Group has in place detailed 
policies as set out in page 79 of the statement, and 
which are also available on the Maxis website. 

Further details are set out in the SORMIC Statement in 
this Annual Report from pages 101 to 110.

Board Governance and Board Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for the management of 
the Company, with powers as defined in the Company’s 
Constitution, the Companies Act 2016 and applicable 
regulations. The Board’s Leadership and Governance 
structure is supported by the Board Charter, Board 
Committees, Limits of Authority (LOA) manual, which 
clearly outlines key matters reserved for the Board, 

Corporate Governance Overview

Governance Structure

Shareholders

Board of Directors Company Secretary

Board’s Authority specified in 
-  Board Charter
-  Company’s Constitution 
-  Terms of References of 

each Committee 
-  Companies Act 2016, 

MMLR and other 
applicable regulatory 
requirements 

CEO

Management

Limits of Authority Manual 
that sets out authorisation 

limits for CEO, Management 
and matters requiring 

Board approval

Board Committees

• Audit and Risk
• Business & IT 

Transformation
• Remuneration
• Nomination
• Government and 

Regulatory Affairs
• Share Issuance
• Ad hoc Board committees

Head of Internal Assurance 
and Compliance Officer

A. Board Leadership and Effectiveness CEO and Management, and the Board’s policies and 
procedures. Specific responsibilities of the Board 
are delegated to the Board Committees. The Board 
Committees operating with their respective chairman 
and members facilitate the Board’s efficiencies in 
getting the specific attention, scope and in accordance 
with clearly defined Terms of Reference (TOR) of 
each of the Committees. The Board as a whole 
retains collective responsibility for decisions on 
recommendations made by Committees. 

For further details, please see the ‘Board Committees’ 
section at page 82. 

The Board’s and each Committee’s decision making 
is collectively made in accordance with the provisions 
of the Company’s Constitution, Board Charter, Terms 
of References of each Committee, policies and 
procedures, and applicable laws. No single person 
can influence Maxis’ decision making and policies, as 
there are processes, approval matrices, compliance 
and governance requirements to adhere to. Specifically, 
each of the ARC, RC and NC have majority independent 
directors. As specified under Rule 150 of the Company’s 
Constitution, decisions or resolution of the Board shall 
be passed, if approved, by a majority of votes. All 
Directors must assent to Circular Resolutions unless he 
or she has abstained from voting.

During the year, the Board also conducted 
comprehensive reviews of the Governance structure 
with the view to enhance its effectiveness including the 
review of the Board Charter, Terms of References of the 
Committees and the policies and procedures.
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The Board Charter is a comprehensive reference document for Directors on matters relating to the Board and its 
processes. The Board Charter also sets out the roles and responsibilities of the Board, the individual Directors as 
well as the Senior Independent Director. The Board Charter entrenches key matters reserved for the Board, inter 
alia, financial results, dividends, approval of strategy, the annual operating plans, budgets, new major ventures, 
acquisitions and disposals, changes to management and control structure, appointments of Board members, 
Committee members, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Company Secretary. It further sets out the roles and 
responsibilities of the Board, the Chairman, CEO, Senior Independent Director and Company Secretary, and any 
material matters. The Board Charter is periodically reviewed to ensure it reflects the direction of the Group, and is 
made available on the Maxis website. The Board Charter was updated and approved in February 2021.

Directors regularly attend talks, briefings, workshops and utilise online learning tools and reading materials to 
keep apprised of operational, legal, regulatory and industry matters in the discharge of their duties.

Board Activities

In 2020, the Maxis Board met 5 times and reviewed, deliberated and approved (where specifically required), 
amongst others, the following:

Main Areas of Oversight Key Discussion Topics 

Strategy, Regulatory, M&A, 
Funding

• COVID-19 response plan
• Long Range Plan and Strategy
• Budget and Annual Operating Plan for 2021
• Regulatory policies
• Corporate sustainability
• Related party transactions 
• Strategic and Emerging issues
• Cashflow and funding requirements

Business Performance, 
Operations, Planning and 
Stakeholder Management

• Maxis’ detailed business performance and operations
• Business Continuity with the COVID-19 and MCO
• Customer service and consumer insights
• Network and Information Technology systems and security
• Risk management and internal controls
• Key performance indicators and scenario analysis
• Forecast and planning on business operations
• Key performance indicators
• Financial results
• Cashflows and funding matters
• Proposed dividends
• Investor relations briefing and feedback from investor engagements

Human Capital Management • Employee related matters and the policies and procedures for Work From Home, 
that was delegated to the ARC

• Employee wellbeing initiatives
• Organisational structure
• Appointment of key management positions (Chief Information Officer and Chief 

Network Officer)
• Updates on personnel movements
• Employee engagement
• Succession planning
• Talent and retention planning

Compliance and Others • Re-election of Directors
• Specific corporate and operational matters that required Board’s approval
• Corporate matters and policies
• The policies and procedures for the Maxis Anti-Bribery and Corruption

Corporate Governance Overview
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO

The roles of the Chairman and CEO are clearly separated, 
and the Chairman was not previously a CEO of the 
Company. The Chairman, Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad 
bin Raja Tun Uda is responsible for providing significant 
leadership to the Board by providing oversight so that the 
Board can carry out its responsibilities effectively while 
the CEO, Gokhan Ogut is primarily responsible for the 
management of day-to-day business operations in line 
with the strategy and key performance indicators set by 
the Board. The Chairman leads the Board by setting the 
tone at the top, and managing the Board effectiveness by 
focusing on strategy, governance and compliance. The 
Chairman promotes a transparent boardroom environment 
that allows constructive challenge to status quo, robust 
discussions and debates, effective communication and 
contribution from Directors to facilitate informed decision 
making at the Board Meetings. Specific duties of the 
Chairman and the CEO are available in the Board Charter.

Board Committees

The Board has established six Board Committees; the 
Audit and Risk, Remuneration, Nomination, Business & 
IT Transformation, Government and Regulatory Affairs 
and Share Issuance Committee. These Committees 
play a significant role in reviewing matters within 
their respective Terms of Reference and supports the 
Board’s discharge of its duties and responsibilities, 
and in keeping the Board efficient. Each of the 
Committees have specific Terms of Reference, scope 
and authority to review matters tabled before the 
Committee prior to decision-making by the Board as 
a whole. Membership of these Committees and their 
TORs are reviewed annually with specific emphasis on 
updates in governance requirements and efficiency 
of the Committees, including any feedback raised as 
part of the Board evaluation exercises. During the year 
there was no change in the Committees composition 
and each of the Committees discharged their duties in 
accordance with their respective Terms of Reference. 

The Audit and Risk, Remuneration and Nomination 
Committees comprise a majority of Independent 
Directors and are chaired by Independent Directors. The 
Business & IT Transformation Committee, Government 
and Regulatory Affairs Committee and Share Issuance 
Committee comprises a majority Non-Independent 
Directors. In addition, the Board is supported by ad hoc 
operational and governance committees with defined 
scopes formed from time to time to facilitate the Board 
in the discharge of their duties.

At every Board meeting, the Chairman of the respective 
Committees provide detailed summaries of the reports, 
deliberations and recommendations made at their 
respective meetings for the Board’s further deliberation 
and recommend matters that require decisions by the 
Board. Minutes of the Committee meetings are made 
available to all members of the Board.

Amongst the matters discussed at Board Committee 
meetings or via circular resolutions for approvals in 
between meetings were as follows:

Noted that the Committee members attended the Meetings/approved 
the Circular Resolutions.

Board Committee Key Discussion Topics

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

No. of meeting 
held during the 
year:  
5 meetings

Refer also to 
the Audit and 
Risk Committee 
Report

• Financial Performance Review, 
Reports on Provisions, 
Judgemental Items, Draft 
Announcement to Bursa 
Securities and Funding and 
Financial updates

• Enterprise Risk Management
• Internal Assurance reports, key 

findings, recommendations and 
investigations

• Business Continuity Plan for 
COVID-19

• Return to Office and Standard 
Operating Policies during the 
MCO

• Health and Safety Matters
• Employee related policies and 

procedures during COVID-19
• Code of Business Practice 
• Cyber Security and updates 

on Network and Systems and 
Security

• Data Privacy and Protection
• Internal and External Audit
• Quarterly updates on regulatory, 

legislation, material litigation, 
fraud

• Related party transactions and 
conflict of interests situations

• MABC system related matters 
• Appointment of a Compliance 

Officer 
Remuneration 
Committee

No. of meeting 
held during the 
year: 
5 meetings

• Annual Operating Plan for 
People and Organisation

• Organisation structure and new 
appointments

• Long-Term and Short-Term 
Incentives

• Culture change
• Resource costs review and 

actions to be taken in light 
of COVID-19 and Company 
performance measures for 
rewards

• Performance and remuneration 
including annual salary and 
bonus for employees and the 
Chief Executive Officer

• Key Talents, succession planning 
and overall diversity

• Learning and development 
• Scholarship scheme 
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Board Committee Key Discussion Topics

Nomination 
Committee

No. of meeting 
held during  
the year:  
4 meetings

• Board and Committees 
Composition

• Director’s Independence
• Director’s re-election and 

extension of independence
• Director’s fees and benefits
• Board, Committees and 

Directors Evaluation and 
Effectiveness Assessment

• Review of the ARC’s Terms of 
Office in accordance with Para 
15.20 of the MMLR

• MCCG 2017 and governance 
matters

Business & IT 
Transformation 
Committee

No. of meeting 
held during  
the year:  
5 meetings

• IT Transformation and 
Digitalisation

• Innovation
• Maxis’ Strategic Ventures and 

Services 
• Strategic and Structural Options
• Enterprise Business and M&As

Government 
and Regulatory 
Affairs 
Committee

No. of meeting 
held during  
the year:  
7 meetings

• Regulatory matters
• Strategy business matters
• Government engagement/ 

relations matters

Note:
The Share Issuance Committee scope is to review any issuance 
of shares pursuant to the Section 75 and 76 Companies Act 2016 
shareholders mandate as obtained at the AGM each year. The Share 
Issuance Committee did not meet as there were no issuance of shares 
during the year 2020.

Ethical Business Conduct and Whistle Blowing

The Board promotes good corporate governance 
culture to ensure that the Group conducts its business 
with integrity, in an ethical and transparent manner. 
To this end, the Board has established Maxis’ Code of 
Business Practice (CoBP). Maxis has zero tolerance 
on any conduct that constitutes a wrongdoing or 
malpractice which may include any breach of ethics 
as described in the CoBP, conflict of interests, bribery 
and corruption, anti-money laundering/combating the 
financing terrorism, and/or any fraudulent act as may 
be described in the MABC system and other relevant 
documents. The CoBP sets out the conduct expected 
of all directors, employees and third parties doing 
business with Maxis or acting on Maxis’ behalf. In 
addition to providing guidance, the CoBP outlines, inter 
alia, Group’s procedures relating to non-discrimination, 
whistleblowing, Group’s assets and properties, 
confidential information, personal data protection, 

insider trading, fraud, conflict of interests, bribery and 
anti-corruption. Maxis’ directors and employees affirm 
their commitment to the CoBP on an annual basis. These 
policies serve as control measures to address and 
manage the risk of fraud, bribery, corruption, misconduct 
and unethical practices for the benefit of long-term 
success of the Company.

In light of the requirements stipulated under the Bursa 
Malaysia’s Corporate Governance Guide and the 
Companies Act 2016, Maxis’ Whistleblowing Policy, 
established by the Board provides a secure reporting 
avenue via the Ethics Hotline for employees and third 
parties, who have knowledge or are aware of any 
improper conduct or unethical behavior including 
suspected fraud, bribery, corruption and criminal activity.

Dedicated channels for reporting are under the custody of 
the Internal Assurance Department as described below: 

(i) Ethics Hotline @ 03-2330 6678 or 017-200 3922 
(Call, WhatsApp, SMS)

(ii) Email: ethics@maxis.com.my
(iii) Letters/documents addressed to the Maxis Ethics 

Office c/o Internal Assurance Division, Level 21, 
Menara Maxis, Kuala Lumpur City Centre 

(iv) Senior Independent Director: mmokhza@mxis.com.my

Any malpractice or misconduct will be raised to 
Internal Assurance Division through the dedicated 
channels above. The whistleblower’s identity remains 
anonymous, ensuring protection from reprisal. The 
Defalcation Committee, consisting of members of 
Senior Management will deliberate on cases reported 
and update the ARC on the status and outcome of the 
reported cases from Internal Assurance. 

In the event that Senior Management is the subject 
reported, the establishment of a Special Defalcation 
Committee; an ad-hoc Board Committee is triggered 
to ensure that a fair investigation is conducted. If the 
claim of malpractice or misconduct is substantiated, 
appropriate disciplinary action will be taken, including 
but not limited to termination.

For further details, please refer to the Corporate 
Governance Report 2020, and the Material Matters 
section page 30.

Board Composition

The Maxis Board comprises nine Directors, of whom 
five are Independent Non-Executive Directors; four are 
Non-Executive Directors. The CEO is not a Director of 
the Maxis Board. The CEO is a Director of the operating 
subsidiaries of Maxis Berhad. The Chairman is an 
Independent Non-Executive Director. The Directors 
present a diverse mix of qualifications covering 
accounting, finance, engineering, human resources, 
business, IT and law whilst their collective skills and 
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expertise include general management, international 
venture capital, technology/digital/media, finance 
and treasury, marketing, telecommunications, human 
resources/people and regulatory/local affairs.

The profile of each Director can be found on pages 6 to 9 
of this Integrated Annual Report.

The Board is of the view that its composition and size 
are adequate for the effective discharge of its functions 
and responsibilities. With its diversity of qualifications, 
expertise and skills, and the governance structure of 
the Committees and Board, the Board has been able 
to provide clear and effective collective leadership to 
the Group and has delivered informed and independent 
judgment of the Group’s strategy and performance to 
ensure the highest standards of conduct and integrity 
are always at the core of the Group’s undertakings. 
None of the Non-Executive Directors participate in the 
day-to-day management of the Group.

The presence of Independent Non-Executive Directors 
on the Board and its Committees is essential, as they 
provide unbiased and impartial opinions and judgment 
to Board deliberations. This ensures the interests of 
not just the Group, but also its various stakeholders 
are taken into account and well-represented. The 
independence of the five (5) Independent Non-
Executive Directors was assessed three times during 
the year in self-assessment forms and the confirmation 
by the independent directors was that they each 
are, both in substance and form, independent of 
management and free of any business or other 
relationship that could materially interfere with or could 
be perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise 
of their unfettered and independent judgement. 
The assessment covers the regulatory definitions 
of independent directors under the MMLR, and an 
additional subjective element of independence in 
substance. This is additionally demonstrated by the 
conduct and discharge of his/her duties as a director.

Details of the independence assessment are available 
on page 93 of the Statement of the Nomination 
Committee.

As recommended by MCCG 2017 and in accordance 
with Maxis’ Board Charter, the tenure of directorship of 
not more than nine years was taken into consideration, 
and the specific tenures of Directors were duly 
reviewed by the NC and Board. The relevant processes 
and procedures have been provided in the Board 
Charter and Terms of Reference of the NC.

Appointments to the Board

The NC makes independent recommendations for 
selection and appointments to the Board, based on 
criteria which they develop, maintain and review 
based on applicable laws and regulations. The NC 
may consider the use of external consultants in the 
identification of potential directors.

In making these recommendations, the NC assesses 
the suitability of candidates, taking into account the 
Board’s required mix of skills, diversity, knowledge, 
industry exposure, expertise and experience, 
professionalism, integrity, competencies, time 
commitment and other relevant qualities of the 
candidates, before recommending their appointments 
to the Board for approval. There were no changes to 
the Board during the year.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises that diversity in its composition 
is critical in ensuring its effectiveness, competitiveness 
and good corporate governance. A truly diverse board 
will include and make use of differences in the age, 
skills, experience, cultural background, gender, ethnicity 
and nationality of its members to ensure effective 
governance and robust decision making by the Board. 
Underpinning Maxis Board Diversity Policy is Maxis’ 
commitment to ensuring that all directors are appointed 
on merit, in line with the standards as set out in Para 
2.20A of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Malaysia. The NC and Board regularly reviews the Board 
and Committees composition to improve its diversity 
including its gender diversity. 

The annual review of the Board composition determines 
if the Board has the right size and sufficient diversity 
with independence elements that fit the Company’s 
objectives and strategic goals. Based on its annual 
review in conjunction with the Board effectiveness 
evaluation exercise, the size of 9 directors enables 
effective oversight and delegation of responsibilities by 
the Board, taking into account the strategic objectives of 
Maxis Group.

The background of each Director can be found on 
pages 6 to 9, demonstrating the Board’s Diversity 
Policy as stated above. Maxis’ efforts in diversity 
is available on page 95 of the Statement of the 
Nomination Committee.
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The Company will also be seeking shareholders’ approval 
at the forthcoming Twelfth AGM for Alvin Michael Hew 
Thai Kheam who was appointed on 30 August 2012 to 
continue to act as Independent Non-Executive Directors 
from 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2022. 

Maxis’ shareholders had on 15 June 2020 approved 
the resolutions for the two Directors, Raja Tan Sri Dato’ 
Seri Arshad bin Raja Tun Uda (RA) and Tan Sri Mokhzani 
bin Mahathir (MM) to continue to act as Independent 
Directors from 18 October 2020 to 17 October 2021.  
RA and MM will not be seeking an extension to 
continue acting as Independent Directors beyond 17 
October 2021. At that point, they would each have 
served a cumulative 12-year tenure as Independent 
Director following which they will then revert to being  
Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Details of the re-election assessment and the suitability 
of the four Directors, are available in the Statement of 
Nomination Committee at page 94.

Meetings and Access to Information

Directors were given due notice of proposed meetings, 
allowing Directors to lock in their timings, and for 
advance planning. The detailed Agendas for each 
Meeting was shared at least 14 days before each 
meeting and the detailed Board/Committee meeting 
materials were shared and uploaded electronically 
for Board members, 7 days before the respective 
meetings. Directors participated in Board and 
Committee meetings via virtual platforms such as 
Teams or conference calls during the MCO, or in person 
during the recovery movement control order. Directors 
utilised digital means to participate in meetings that 
were effectively held taking into account the different 
time zones of the directors based overseas. Minutes 
of the meetings, together with a summary of the action 
items were circulated to all members of the Board. 
Board members are encouraged to ask clarifications, 
questions or additional information prior to or during 
the meetings to facilitate effective decision making. The 
Chairman schedules regular engagement with Board 
members at each meeting cycle, and these sessions are 
useful for feedback and clarifications required.

Additionally, throughout the year, the Board was 
furnished with the CEO’s report and updates to 
keep Directors apprised of key business, financial, 
operational, emerging issues, corporate, legal, 
regulatory and industry matters, as and when the need 
arose. The Board’s interaction with Management fosters 
a healthy, transparent, dynamic and aligned corporate 
culture. Members of Management gave their full support 

Re-election of Directors and Tenure of Independent 
Directors

Rule 131.1 of the Company’s Constitution provides that 
one-third (1/3) of the Directors of the Company for the 
time being or if their number is not a multiple of three 
(3), then the number nearest to one-third (1/3) shall retire 
by rotation at an AGM of the Company and be eligible 
for re-election. Out of the current Board size of nine (9) 
three (3) Directors are to retire in accordance with Rule 
131.1 of the Company’s Constitution. For the purpose of 
determining the eligibility of the Directors to stand for 
re-election at the Twelfth AGM, the Board through its 
Nomination Committee (NC) had assessed each of the 
retiring Directors, and considered the following:

(i) The Director’s performance and contribution based 
on the Self Assessment (SA) results of the Board 
Effectiveness Evaluation (BEE) 2020;

(ii) The Director’s level of contribution to the Board 
deliberations through his skills, experience and 
strength in qualities; and

(iii) The level of objectivity, impartiality and 
independence demonstrated by the Independent 
Director, and his ability to act in the best interests 
of the Company.

The NC and Board reviewed the suitability of the 
following Directors (retiring Directors) due for re-
election at the forthcoming Twelfth AGM:

(i) Robert Alan Nason
(ii) Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi
(iii) Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi

The retiring Directors met the performance criteria 
required of an effective and a high-performance Board 
based on the Directors’ SA results of the BEE 2020. 

The Nomination Committee and Board of Directors of the 
Company have considered the results of the assessment 
conducted on these Directors and collectively agree that 
they meet the criteria of character, experience, integrity, 
competence and time required to effectively discharge 
their respective roles as Directors, as prescribed by 
Paragraph 2.20A of the MMLR. The Board approved the 
NC’s recommendation that the Directors who retire in 
accordance with Rule 131.1 of the Company’s Constitution 
namely, Robert Alan Nason, Mohammed Abdullah K. 
Alharbi and Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi are eligible 
to stand for re-election. These three (3) retiring Directors 
had abstained from deliberations and decisions on their 
own eligibility and suitability to stand for re-election at 
the relevant Board meetings.
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information and time to prepare for Board and/or 
Committee meetings. To this, the meeting materials are 
made accessible to the Directors on their devices within 
reasonable periods prior to the meetings. The Company 
Secretary also prepare the minutes of meetings in a 
timely manner and informs management of the action 
items, and facilitates requests from the Board. 

The Company Secretary also facilitates the induction of 
new Directors and addresses the continuous training 
needs of Directors identified pursuant to the Board 
Effectiveness Evaluation each year. The Company 
Secretary is a Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and is a 
qualified lawyer, with postgraduate qualifications. 
She has over 27 years of company secretarial and 
governance experience. She attends trainings, 
seminars, and keeps herself up to date on applicable 
laws and governance matters.

Induction and Succession Planning

A comprehensive on-boarding programme has been 
established to ease new Directors into their new role 
and to assist them in understanding of the environment 
the Group operates in, the Group’s business strategy 
and operations. On appointment to the Board, all 
Directors will receive an induction which is tailored 
to the new Director’s individual requirement. All new 
Directors are required to attend the programme as 
soon as possible, once appointed. There were no 
induction programmes conducted within the year as 
there were no new appointments to the Board.

Maxis actively monitors and evaluates the tenure of 
Independent Directors to provide Board members the 
opportunity to reassess their membership as part of 
its succession planning. Succession planning is always 
a priority to ensure that there will be a steady pool of 
talent to fill vacancies in Board and Senior Management 
positions.

Board Effectiveness Evaluation 

In 2020, the Company had conducted the Board 
Effectiveness Evaluation (BEE) via self-assessment 
using detailed questionnaires that were conducted 
digitally. The BEE is carried out annually as 
recommended by Practice 5.1 of the MCCG 2017. The 
Chairman of the NC oversaw the overall evaluation 
process while the responses were reviewed and 
analysed by the NC, before the assessment was tabled 
and communicated to the Board. In addition, the 
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to the Board, and all additional requests for information 
and clarification were promptly attended to. The Board 
deliberated all matters put forward during the meetings. 
Management received the Board’s guidance, took note 
of the comments and feedbacks from the Directors and 
agreed with the Directors on proposed actions to be 
taken, including the decisions. Agility, working in the 
new normal with virtual meetings and digital means, and 
use of technology were implemented successfully during 
the year. 

The Board Charter as published on Maxis’ website 
 www.maxis.com.my/corp functions as the primary 

reference to aid the Board in upholding the highest 
standards of corporate governance throughout Maxis 
and specifies the respective roles and responsibilities 
of the Board and each of the Board Committees. 
The Board Charter also sets out the key values and 
principles of the Board and it is acknowledged that the 
duties and scope of Directors should remain unfettered. 
Each of the Committees have detailed Terms of 
References that sets out their scope and authority. 
The Maxis Group’s Limits of Authority Manual clearly 
outlines key matters reserved for the Board, CEO and 
Management and levels of accountability. 

Matters referred to the Board include decision making 
in accordance with matters set out in the Board Charter, 
Company’s Constitution, Maxis Group’s Limits of 
Authority and applicable law, matters for guidance and 
updates. All decisions must be made by majority of the 
Board or Committees as the case may be, and no single 
person can influence any decision as there are detailed 
processes and policies to adhere to. Each of the 
Chairs of the Board and Committees encourage active 
participation, constructive challenge and sufficient 
time for discussion and deliberation of issues, and the 
decisions and recommendations reflect the consensus 
in the best interests of Maxis. Directors are given the 
opportunity to ask for more information or supporting 
data if the Directors require additional justifications in 
order to reach a decision.

Company Secretary

The Board is supported by the Company Secretary who 
provides advisory services, particularly on applicable 
governance best practices, corporate administration and 
Board processes to facilitate overall compliance with 
the MMLR, Companies Act 2016 and applicable laws 
and regulations. The Board members have full access 
to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary 
ensures that the Directors are provided with sufficient 
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individual Directors also conducted self-assessments, 
the results of which were also shared with the NC and 
Board. The Board agreed on action points moving 
forward which were ongoing development of directors, 
the fine tuning of the format of the Board meetings on 
specific agendas reserved for Committees and Board, 
and to structure Board and Committee meetings with 
more discussions and Qs and As.

Details of the Board Evaluation and Effectiveness 
assessment are available in the Statement of 
Nomination Committee.

Training and Development of Directors 

The Board has taken steps to ensure that its members 
have ongoing access to appropriate continuing education 
programmes. Training includes talks, online tools, 
reading materials, briefings, workshops and seminars 
by subject matter experts. The NC and the Board assess 
the training needs of each Director on an ongoing basis, 
by determining areas that would best strengthen his/her 
contributions to the Board. Directors are also encouraged 
to attend talks, briefings, workshops and utilise online 
learning tools, reading materials and trainings on areas 
that would benefit them in their roles and responsibilities. 
In line with Paragraph 15.08 of the LR, the Directors 
recognise the importance of keeping apprised of 
operational, legal, regulatory and industry matters to 
assist in the discharge of their functions.

Amongst others, the Directors of the Company, 
attended various training programmes:

(i)  Cyber Security Data Privacy & Protection and Cyber 
Security Assessment

(ii)  Enterprise Risk Management and EY Resilient 
Enterprise COVID-19 Presentation

(iii)  MACC: Section 17A MACC Act at 2 separate 
sessions as conducted by external counsels and 
independent consultants

(iv)  Telco 2025: How Telcos can Regain Relevance and 
Growth by Bain & Co.

Directors have also on their own attended various 
webinars and talks on multitude subjects on 
governance, operational matters and business 
development.

In addition, online learning tools are made available 
to all Directors, and the external auditors share 
relevant publications with all the Directors. Members of 
Management regularly update the Board on Maxis and 
the industry related operational, technology, financial, 
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regulatory and governance developments. Prior to 
each Board Meeting, the Directors receive detailed 
pre-reads from Management that provide information 
and background relevant to matters on the Agenda. 
The Information includes details on the Group’s 
competitors, industry and technological developments 
and regulatory updates.

Remuneration of Directors and Maxis Management Team 

The Board has delegated to the Remuneration 
Committee the responsibility to oversee and 
recommend the structure of the remuneration 
policy and frameworks for the Directors and Maxis 
Management Team. Recommendations by the 
Remuneration Committee are considered, reviewed and 
if in order approved by the Board. Maxis’ remuneration 
policy and framework has been developed to attract 
and retain Directors and management of the calibre 
needed to run the Group successfully and create value 
for shareholders and various stakeholders.

The remuneration for Executive Directors is structured 
so as to link rewards to corporate and individual 
performance. The determination of the remuneration of 
the Executive Directors will be decided by the Board as 
a whole. In the case of Non-Executive Directors, the level 
of remuneration reflects the experience, expertise and 
level of responsibilities undertaken. Remuneration of the 
Non-Executive Directors is subject to annual approval by 
shareholders. Directors’ remuneration packages comprise 
fees and benefits in kind, while Executive Directors 
remuneration package comprise basic salaries, bonuses 
and benefits-in-kind and other benefits. There are 
presently no Executive Directors on the Board. The CEO’s 
Key Performance Indicators are reviewed and tracked by 
the Remuneration Committee on an annual basis.

During the year 2020, AON Hewitt was appointed to 
evaluate remuneration of the Maxis Management Team as 
follows:

(i)  salaries, allowances and incentives (short term 
bonuses and long-term incentives);

(ii)  preparation of a report taking into account of the 
roles and responsibilities, corporate objectives and 
strategy, market competitiveness; and

(iii)  benchmarks with companies in comparative 
environment and market capitalisation.

In the year 2019/2020, Willis Towers Watson (WTW) 
was appointed to undertake an independent 
benchmark on Directors and Committee members’ 
fees. WTW’s exercise took into account factors such 
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as the Directors’ existing remuneration structure and the demands, complexity, time commitment, accountability 
and responsibilities expected of the Directors. WTW’s assessment involved a benchmarking exercise carried out 
against remuneration structures adopted by local and regional companies (comparators).

Based on an assessment and review of the comparators, and in accordance with Section 230 of the Companies 
Act 2016, the Company will be requesting shareholders’ approval for the payment of Non-Executive Directors’ 
fees and benefits that includes a request for fees, for the Government and Regulatory Affairs Committee (that has 
not been remunerated since its formation in 2019), and additional fees for the Audit and Risk, and, the Business & 
IT Transformation Committees. The shareholders’ resolution for payment of directors’ fees and benefits is for the 
period commencing from the conclusion of the forthcoming Twelfth AGM up till the conclusion of the next AGM of 
the Company in 2022. The details are contained in the Notice of the forthcoming Twelfth AGM.

The aggregate emoluments received by the Directors of the Company during the financial year ended  
31 December 2020 are as stated on the following: 

Received or to be 
received from the 

Company Received or to be received from a subsidiary

Name of Directors
Fee
RM

Benefits 
in-Kind

RM
Salaries

RM

Bonus 
and 

Incentives
RM

Other 
Short-Term 

Benefits
RM

Benefits 
in-Kind

RM

Total 
Amount

RM

Raja Tan Sri Dato’  
Seri Arshad bin Raja Tun Uda 490,020 40,150 - - - - 530,170

Tan Sri Mokhzani  
bin Mahathir 390,024 - - - - - 390,024

Robert Alan Nason 320,016 - Please refer to pages 161 to 162 of the  
Integrated Annual Report 2020 320,016

Dato’ Hamidah Naziadin 340,020 - - - - - 340,020
Alvin Michael Hew  

Thai Kheam 290,016 - - - - - 290,016
Mohammed Abdullah  

K. Alharbi 270,012 - - - - - 270,012
Mazen Ahmed M. Aljubeir(1) 290,016 - - - - - 290,016
Abdulaziz Abdullah  

M. Alghamdi 270,012 - - - - - 270,012
Lim Ghee Keong 290,016 - - - - - 290,016

Notes:
Save as disclosed above, no other remuneration has been paid to the Directors by the Company and/or its subsidiaries.
(1) Re-designated from Non-Executive Director to Independent Non-Executive Director on 24 April 2020.

Corporate Governance Overview

B. Effective Audit and Risk Management

Audit and Risk Committee, Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) is chaired by Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir and comprises majority 
Independent Directors. The Chairman and members of the ARC are financially literate, have extensive business 
experience, and with each member having skill sets that allows the ARC to effectively discharge its duties and 
responsibilities in accordance with the Terms of Reference of the ARC. The Chairman Tan Sri Mokhzani bin 
Mahathir has more than 30 years of experience and is not the Chairperson of the Board. The separate Chairman 
of the respective Board and the ARC promotes robust and open deliberations by the Board on matters referred by 
and/or recommended by the ARC. The roles, responsibilities and activities of the ARC in respect of effective audit 
and risk management are explained in the ARC Report on pages 96 to 100 of the Integrated Annual Report. The 
terms of office and performance of the ARC are reviewed by the NC annually in accordance with Para 15.20 of the 
MMLR, and in addition the independence of each of its independent members were reviewed by the NC. 
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The Group has the following processes in place for 
effective audit and risk management.

(i) Accountability and Audit
 The Directors endeavour to present a clear, 

balanced and comprehensive assessment of the 
Maxis Group’s financial position, performance and 
prospects. This also applies to other price-sensitive 
public reports and reports to regulators.

 The ARC places great emphasis in the evaluation of 
the suitability, objectivity and independence of the 
external auditors in providing transparent reports 
to the shareholders. Accordingly, the ARC is guided 
by Maxis’ External Audit Independence Policy (EAIP) 
to assess the external auditors’ independence. The 
Committee also reviewed the annual assessment 
conducted on the effectiveness of the external 
auditors which covered eight categories, namely 
the audit firm’s calibre, quality process, audit team, 
scope, communication, governance, independence, 
and audit fees. The ARC is also guided by the 
requirements as set out in Para 15.21 of the 
MMLR in considering the annual assessment on 
the suitability, objectivity and independence of 
the external auditors. As specified in the Board 
Charter and Terms of Reference of the Nomination 
Committee, the ARC shall not appoint a former key 
audit partner as its member unless a cooling-off 
period of at least two years has been observed 
prior to the appointment.

(ii) Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction 
(RPT)

 The Group has in place procedures and guidelines 
and internal controls to ensure that related party 
transactions including recurrent related party 
transactions have been or will be entered into on 
normal commercial terms and on terms which are 
or will not be more favourable to the transacting 
parties than those generally available to third 
parties dealing at arm’s length and are not or will 
not be to the detriment of the Company’s non-
interested shareholders. The review and approval 
processes, policies and procedures for RPT ensure 
that the transaction prices, terms and conditions of 
agreements and the quality of products/services 
are comparable with those prevailing in the market. 
This is to ensure that the terms of the transactions 
are neither favourable to the related party nor 
detrimental to the Group’s minority shareholders. 
The Group tracks the status of mandated Recurrent 
RPTs monthly to ensure all transactions are within 
the limits and plan the compliance processes if 
required. In addition, the Group has a conflict of 
interest policy to ensure that the ARC reviews 
such situations, and to recommend to the Board 
accordingly: In the event that a member of ARC or 

Board has an interest and/or deemed interest in 
any particular RPT, he or she shall declare his or 
her interest in the RPT and will have to refrain from 
any deliberation and also abstain from voting on the 
matter at the ARC meeting and/or Board meeting 
in respect of that RPT. It is the Maxis Group’s policy 
to ensure that all of our transactions regardless of 
whether they are RPTs or not, must comply with our 
Group’s Procurement Policy and Standards (PPS) 
and the Manual of Limits of Authority (LOA). The 
purpose of the (PPS) and LOA is to ensure that all 
transactions are carried out in the best interests of 
the Group. The LOA sets out the levels of authority 
and guides internal management in their control 
over our Group’s capital and operating expenditure. 
The purpose of the PPS is to ensure that competitive 
bidding principles and transparent procedures are 
observed in the procurement of goods and services. 

(iii) Risk Management and Internal Control
 The Board of Maxis, is fully committed to 

articulating, implementing and reviewing a sound 
and effective risk management and internal control 
environment, in line with Intended Outcome 
9.0 MCCG 2017 that the Board is provided with 
reasonable assurance that adverse impact arising 
from a foreseeable future event or situation on the 
Group’s objectives is mitigated and managed. The 
ARC, supported by internal audit function, provides 
an independent assessment of the effectiveness 
of the Maxis Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 
framework and reports to the Board on yearly basis. 
Key elements of the Group’s control environment 
include Organisation Structure, Audit and Risk 
Committee, Internal Assurance, Code of Conduct 
and Code of Business Practice, Integrity and 
Compliance, Anti-Bribery and Corruption, Revenue 
Assurance, Subscriber Fraud Management, 
Business Continuity Planning, Regulatory, Legal, 
Company Secretary, Limits of Authority, Policies and 
Procedures, Financial and Operational Information, 
Data Privacy, Data Protection and Cybersecurity.

 Detailed reports on the Group’s Audit and Risk 
Management can be found on pages 96 to 100 and 
101 to 110 of this Integrated Annual Report.

Corporate Governance Overview

C. Integrity in Corporate Reporting and 
Meaningful Relationships with Stakeholders

Communication with Stakeholders

The Board recognises the importance of providing 
effective communication platforms to provide clear, 
accurate and valuable insights on the Group’s 
performance and position to its various stakeholders. 
This allows stakeholders to make informed decisions 
with respect to the business of the Group. The Board 
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recognises that our stakeholders have a legitimate right 
to know how the Company is doing and endeavours to 
provide timely and transparent disclosures, releasing 
all required/material announcements immediately when 
matters are triggered.

Other than to issue our Integrated Annual Report and 
release our financial results, Maxis has been promoting 
proactive engagement and communication with our 
shareholders and other stakeholders through media 
releases, an online Investor Relations section and 
online Newsroom which can be accessed at 

Conduct of AGM and General Meetings

A fully virtual AGM was held on 15 June 2020 that was 
held in accordance with the Guidance and Frequently 
Asked Questions on the Conduct of General Meetings 
for Listed Issuers, released by Securities Commission 
Malaysia and Maxis’ Constitution, and in adherence 
with the applicable Standard Operating Procedures for 
meetings. All 9 members of the Board were present 
at the AGM, with 4 directors attending physically and 
remaining 5 directors attending using remote platform. 
The Chairman, CEO, CFSO, Company Secretary, 
external auditors and key essential individuals were 
physically present at the AGM venue.
 
The AGM utilised technology and virtual platforms, that 
allowed the participation of shareholders at the AGM, 
and included answering questions from shareholders. 
The Chairman also read out responses to the questions 
raised by the Minority Shareholder Watch Group 
(MSWG). Maxis posted the summary of the AGM and 
the Questions and Answers (Key Matters Discussed) 
including the responses to MSWG at the Maxis website 
in accordance with Paragraph 9.21(2)(b) of Main Market 
Listing Requirement (MMLR). Shareholders are welcome 
to raise queries by contacting Maxis at any time.

The Board has taken reasonable steps to encourage 
shareholder participation at general meetings as follows:

(i) Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the 
Question-and-Answer sessions.

(ii) Written answers will be provided to any significant 
questions that cannot be readily answered during 
the AGM.

(iii) Shareholders are welcome to raise queries by 
contacting Maxis at any time.

(iv) Maxis issues adequate notice of our AGM, which 
exceeds the 21 days Companies Act 2016 and 
MMLR prescribed notice period.

(v) Queries from shareholders pertaining to the 
Integrated Annual Report may be directed to this 
email: ir@maxis.com.my.

Sustainability Management

The Board is committed to ensuring that our 
strategic plans support long-term value creation 
and incorporates the key principles of Economic, 
Environmental and Social (EES) in underpinning 
sustainability. In 2020, this was done through a 
review of Maxis’ material matters by key business 
representation of key divisions in Maxis and was 
thereafter validated by the CEO and Management 
Team. The material matters are detailed on page 30. 
The material matters were deliberated and validated 
by our Management Team and our Board of Directors is 
cognisant of our material matters.

Corporate Governance Overview

www.maxis.com.my.

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) and General 
Meetings are also the primary platforms for direct two- 
way interaction between the shareholders, Board and 
Management of the Company.

Please also refer to the Key Stakeholder Engagement 
section on page 74 of this Integrated Annual Report. 
Maxis has provided the relevant contact details for 
queries and/or concerns regarding the Group under the 
Corporate Information Section.

Our Commitment to Communicating with Our 
Shareholders including investors and stakeholders 

Maxis is committed to maintaining high standards of 
corporate disclosure and transparency. Our disclosure 
policy is based on the following three key principles:

(i) Maintain open and regular communication with all 
shareholders and stakeholders;

(ii) Disseminate financial and strategic updates in a 
timely and transparent manner; and

(iii) Ensure equal treatment and protection of 
shareholders’ interests.

Maxis has embarked on a three-year integrated 
reporting journey to provide comprehensive and 
transparent disclosure of our objectives, strategies and 
performance while demonstrating our commitment to 
create long-term value for all stakeholders. This year, 
we enhanced our Value Creation Model to provide 
our stakeholders with a clear understanding on how 
Maxis, through our strategic endeavors, maintains 
our competitive advantage while creating value for all 
stakeholders. Also, we reassessed and updated our 
material matters and mapped our risk and opportunities 
to our identified top 9 material matters. We disclosed 
Maxis’ management of the impacts arising from the 
COVID-19 crisis, and Maxis’ demonstration of its focus 
on the wellbeing of our employees, managing the 
health of our business, and delivering great customer 
experience. We have further enhanced our ESG 
reporting with the mapping of the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs) to the 
Material Matters underpinned by our Convergence. 
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https://maxis.listedcompany.com/ar2020.html

Our sustainability strategy is currently led and driven  
by the CEO, with progress and key developments 
escalated to the Board. The CEO, together with the 
Management Team meets with key divisions and 
project teams on a weekly and monthly basis to ensure 
oversight of execution of strategies, initiatives and 
achievement of targets.

To further institutionalise sustainability within our 
business processes and operations, we are in the 
process of formalising a Sustainability Steering 
Committee. This committee will comprise members of 
key business units and will also look towards integrating 
sustainability within the business operations.

Additionally, we are enhancing our internal processes 
and policy to consolidate and monitor EES data that is 
reported within the Company in line with our ambition 
to get external assurance on non-financial information.

Always Be Ahead

The Board is fully committed to compliance with 
regulatory requirements under the MMLR, MCCG 2017, 
the applicable rules and regulations, and in steering the 
Maxis vision as a leading converged solutions provider.

The Board’s processes, proceedings and governance 
structure are constantly assessed and benchmarked to 
remain competitive, refreshed and agile with a continued 
focus on strategy, governance and compliance.

Key focus areas in 2021 include intensifying efforts 
to enhance the Board’s composition, dynamics 
and succession planning of Board members and 
Management. The Board has put in place an Integrity 
Governance Unit, and implemented the MABC system 
that include amongst others continued emphasis on 
anti-bribery and corruption training, integrity pledges 
and communication of the updated CoBP to Directors, 
employees and third parties.

Further, during the new normal to continue fostering 
positive interaction between the Board and Management 
at all levels, while supporting a growth and innovative 
mindset, there will be virtual engagements with 
Management, interactive workshops, training 
sessions, encompassing areas such as operations, 
risk management, cybersecurity and anti-bribery and 
corruption. The Board is committed to providing oversight, 
and working together with Management beyond internal 
Board and management interactions, but also considering 
Group strategy and value creation (for wider stakeholders) 
and strategic opportunities. As an ongoing effort for 
the next few financial years, the Board will continue to 
benchmark itself against other comparable international 
digital and technology companies.

Group wide framework of Corporate Governance Policies 

The directors had put in place and communicated to the 
Company and subsidiaries (the Maxis Group) a group wide 
framework on corporate governance include a code of 
conduct and business practice, policies and procedures 
on anti-bribery and corruption, whistleblowing, managing 
conflict of interest, managing material sustainability risks 
and board diversity. The Company and its directors have 
complied with the Guidelines on Conduct of Directors 
of Listed Corporation and their Subsidiaries issued by 
Securities Commission Malaysia. The Directors are also 
responsible to oversee the implementation of policies 
and procedures for Corporate Governance from time to 
time to ensure it is up-to-date. The following items can be 
downloaded from Maxis’ corporate website at

Corporate Governance Overview

(1)  Integrated Annual Report 2020
(2)  Corporate Governance Report 2020
(3)  Circular to Shareholders for Recurrent Related 

Party Transactions 2021/2022
(4)  NED Fees, Expenses and Reimbursement Policy
(5)  Board Charter
(6)  Terms of Reference of the Audit and Risk 

Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination 
Committee, Business & IT Transformation 
Committee and Government and Regulatory Affairs 
Committee

(7)  Board Diversity Policy
(8)  Conflicts of Interests and Related Party 

Transactions Procedures and Guidelines
(9)  Policy in Dealings in Securities by Directors and 

Principal Officers
(10)  Policy on Conflicts of Interest 
(11)  Code of Business Practice (CoBP)
(12)  Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy Statement
(13)  No Gift Policy
(14)  CoBP for 3rd Party
(15)  Maxis Third Party Integrity Pledge
(16)  Cybersecurity Compliance Requirement
(17)  Whistle Blowing Policy
(18)  Company’s Constitution
(19)  Summary of 11th AGM Minutes
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The NC comprises members who are all Independent 
Non-Executive Directors as follows:

(i) Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad bin Raja Tun Uda 
(Chairman)

(ii) Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir
(iii) Dato’ Hamidah Naziadin
(iv) Mazen Ahmed M. AlJubeir
(v) Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam

Roles and Activities of the NC in 2020

The NC met four times during the financial year, with 
full attendance. The activities or area of focus for the 
year are as below:

Statement of the Nomination Committee

• Review of the independence and tenure of 
Independent Directors including an assessment 
of the directors in accordance with the MMLR and 
their objectivity in discharging their responsibilities 
as an Independent Director.

 Note: The independence of the five (5) Independent Non-
Executive Directors was assessed three times during the year in 
self-assessment forms and the confirmation by the independent 
directors was that they each are, both in substance and form, 
independent of management and free of any business or other 
relationship that could materially interfere with or could be 
perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise of their 
unfettered and independent judgement. The assessment covers 
the regulatory definitions of independent directors under the 
MMLR, and an additional subjective element of independence in 
substance. This is additionally demonstrated by the conduct and 
discharge of his/her duties as a director.

Roles

Key Activities During the Year Under Review

Board Effectiveness Evaluation (BEE)

The NC assists the Board with the following matters in 
undertaking its roles and responsibilities, to sustain the 
Group as a leading converged solutions provider in the 
ever changing regulatory and market environment:

• Oversee the composition and performance of the 
Board, and each of the Committees including Board 
skills, experience and diversity.

• Director’s independence in accordance with the 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing 
Requirements (MMLR), in substance and form.

• Director’s time commitment to the Board and 
Committees.

• Assessment of Directors on an ongoing basis, 
including any training or development needs. 

• Recruitment, selection and succession planning 
of the CEO, members of the Board and Board 
Committees.

• Facilitating board induction for new directors, and 
members of Committees.

• Reviewing the training requirements for the directors. 

Board and Committees Composition

• Reviewed Board and each of the Board Committees 
compositions, skills, experience, strength, quality 
and diversity, and time commitment of each Director 
and member in fulfilling their responsibilities.

• Reviewed the performance of Directors including 
director standing for re-election in accordance 
with the requirements of Para 2.20A of the Listing 
Requirements that each of its directors, has the 
character, experience, integrity, competence and 
time to effectively discharge his role as a director.

• Reviewed the terms of office and performance of ARC 
members in accordance with Para 15.20 of the MMLR 
and that the ARC members carried out their scope in 
accordance with the Terms of Reference of ARC.

• Benchmarking study on the Board size and general 
review of size of comparable Boards and Committees.

• Reviewed the independence of directors including 
the re-designation of Mazen Aljubeir as an 
independent director in accordance with the 
MMLR based on the outcome of the assessment of 
independence.

• Reviewed the composition on the Share Issuance 
Committee and Terms of Reference. This Committee 
was formed to review any issuance of shares pursuant 
to the Section 75 and 76 Companies Act 2016.

• Oversight of the process of the BEE for 2020 which 
includes the Board, Board Committees and individual 
Director’s Assessment.

• Reviewed the BEE methodology and assessments that 
included additional questions on Maxis Anti-Bribery 
and Corruption (MABC) and Fit and Proper criteria as 
per Bank Negara Malaysia guidelines as a benchmark, 
and the recent update on Securities Commission’s 
Policy and Guidelines on Conduct of Directors of 
Listed Corporation and their subsidiaries.

• Review of the assessment process for the BEE and 
the scope of the evaluation and report.

• Evaluated the feedback, areas for implementation and 
training requirements arising from the BEE in 2020.

• Communicated with the Board and Management 
on the key areas arising from the BEE that included 
structure of Committee and Board meetings 
and pre-reads, that was applied during virtual 
meetings, ongoing development of directors, and to 
structure Board and Committee meetings with more 
discussions and Qs and As. 

Further details on the BEE is set out in the CG Overview 
Statement on page 86 of this report.

Directors Independence 
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Statement of the Nomination Committee

Board, Board Committees and Individual Director’s 
Effectiveness Evaluation

The NC assesses the effectiveness of the Board, Board 
Committees and the contribution of each Director on an 
annual basis to enhance efficiency, identify strengths 
and potential improvements areas.

Self-Assessment by Maxis’ Directors

Each Director also undertook a self-assessment of 
their individual performance and independence during 
the financial year based on the criteria as prescribed 
under Para 2.20A of MMLR that include factors such as 
character, experience, integrity, competence and time 
committed in order to discharge their respective roles 
as Directors of Maxis. These criteria are also used prior 
to the selection and consideration of Directors, the 
CEO and CFSO, and also as an assessment to consider 
the suitability of the re-election of Directors.

Assessment Outcome

The BEE report outlined the assessment of the 
conduct of the Board and Committees, including their 
procedures and decision-making processes. The 
strengths, improvement areas, and proposed training 
areas of the Board, Board Committees and individual 
Directors were presented for the NC and Board's 
consideration. The outcome of the assessment of the 
Independent Directors were that they are independent 
of management and free of any business or other 
relationship that could materially interfere with or could 
be perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise 
of their unfettered and independent judgment.

The BEE findings are outlined below:

Directors’ Remuneration 

Governance

• Reviewed the tenure of the independence of one 
Director, Mr Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam (AMH) 
whose tenure exceeds 9 years in 2021.

 Directors’ due to retire under Rule 131.1 of the 
Company’s Constitution and Re-appointment at the 
forthcoming AGM

• Considered the re-appointments and re-election of 
Directors (Robert Alan Nason, Mohammed Abdullah 
K. Alharbi and Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi) 
who were due to retire at the forthcoming AGM on 
22 April 2021, based on the assessment of  
the Directors.

• Considered the significant changes in the way of 
working using virtual and digital platforms during the 
Movement Control Order (MCO) and supports, and 
revisited the Board’s processes and decision making 
to provide support and guidance to Management.

• Review of the governance applications of 
Companies Act 2016 and Malaysian Code on 
Corporate Governance 2017 (MCCG 2017), and 
compliance thereto.

• Review of the departures from MCCG 2017 and 
recommended actions including the review of the 
requirements of independent and Woman Directors, 
including the next steps that included search for 
directors with digital skills.

• Review Directors’ duties, responsibilities, benefits 
and fees in relation to the respective Board 
Committee TORs.

• Review of the Board Committees’ TOR, and that the 
Committees have discharged their functions under 
the respective TORs including the requirement to 
include any further amendments.

• Reviewed the Policy on Non-Executive Directors’ 
Remuneration, Expenses and Reimbursement and 
Mobile Device Policy.

• Reviewed the Directors’ Fees for Board and 
Committees, including Ad hoc Board Committees 
in relation to the skill sets and time spent based 
by each director at the respective Committees 
and number of meetings with reference to the 
independent study undertaken by Willis Towers 
Watson. 

 Note: The NC reviews Directors’ fee and other benefits for 
alignment on the time spent before making recommendations 
to the Board. The RC is authorised to oversee the entire 
remuneration structure in order to ensure alignment with the 
Company’s policy. 

Key Strengths of the Board

• Collective strength of the Board in challenging 
status quo, and having robust discussions in 
reaching decisions that reflect the Board’s 
consensus in the best interests of Maxis.

• There is healthy and respectful dynamics between 
the Board, CEO and Management.

• Good camaraderie and respect among the 
Directors. 

Findings from the BEE on format and contents of 
Board papers and pre-reads were communicated to 
management for immediate implementation.
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• Board size and composition.
• Succession planning for Board and Maxis 

Management Team.
• Directors ongoing training and development 

programmes.
• Continuing dynamic relationship between the 

Board, CEO and Management.
• Alignment between Board and Board Committee 

agendas for continued efficiency of all meetings.

5.  The ARC reviewed related party transactions and 
conflict of interest situations, including the quarterly 
review of the Recurrent Related Party Transactions 
Mandate for 2020/2021.

6.  The ARC Chairman presented a formal detailed 
report to the Board about the proceedings of the 
ARC.

7.  The ARC is committed and has the competence, 
integrity, sufficient skills, experience, time and 
resources to undertake their duties.

8.  The ARC was satisfied that appropriate internal and 
external support and resources are available to the 
ARC.

Assessment of Directors standing for re-election at the 
forthcoming Twelfth AGM

The NC is responsible for recommending to the Board, 
Directors who are retiring and are standing for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting.

1. Directors Retiring by Rotation pursuant to Rule 13.1 
of the Constitution 

 The NC and the Board also considered the 
assessment of the following three Directors (the 
retiring Directors) standing for re-election at the 
forthcoming Twelfth AGM pursuant to Rule 131.1 of 
the Company’s Constitution, and collectively agreed 
that they meet the criteria regarding their character, 
experience, integrity, competence and time 
committed to effectively discharge their respective 
roles as Directors as prescribed by Para 2.20A of 
the MMLR:

 (i) Robert Alan Nason
 (ii) Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi
 (iii) Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi

 The NC and Board had assessed each of the 
retiring Directors, and also considered the 
following:

(i) performance and contribution based on the 
Self-Assessment (SA) results of the Board 
Effectiveness Evaluation (BEE) 2020;

(ii) level of contribution to the Board and 
deliberations through their skills, experience 
and strength in qualities; and

(iii) level of objectivity, impartiality and their 
abilities to act in the best interests of the 
Company.

 The retiring Directors met the performance 
criteria required of an effective and a high-
performance Board based on the Directors’ SA 
results of the BEE 2020 The Board approved 
the NC’s recommendation that the Directors 

Statement of the Nomination Committee

Key Priorities in FY2021

Review and assessment of the Terms of Office of the 
Audit and Risk Committee of Maxis Berhad pursuant 
to Para 15.20 of the MMLR

During the year, the NC and Board reviewed terms of 
office, assessment and performance of the Audit and 
Risk Committee (ARC), each of the members and the 
discharge of the ARC’s duties in compliance with the 
Terms of Reference of the ARC in accordance with Para 
15.20 of the MMLR. The NC and Board were satisfied 
that the ARC and its members had carried out their 
duties in accordance with the ARC’s terms of reference.

The results of the NC’s assessment of the ARC were as 
follows:

1.  The ARC’s independence is satisfactory. The 
Committee’s actions reflect independent from 
Management or any related parties and act freely 
from any conflict of interests.

2.  The ARC demonstrated confidence in dealing with 
difficult and complex matters brought before the ARC. 

3.  The ARC reviewed and reported to the Board, the 
quarterly and year end financial results and year 
end financial statements, before approval of the 
Board, focusing particularly on:
(a)  Changes in or implementation of major 

accounting policies;
(b) Going concern assumption and ability of the 

company;
(c) Significant and unusual events; 
(d) Reports from the external auditors; and 
(e) Compliance with applicable approved 

financial reporting standards and other legal 
requirements

4.  ARC reviewed and report to the Board, the 
adequacy of the:
(a) External auditors (fees, quality of audit function, 

competence, resources including key audit 
partner and knowledge)

(b) Internal auditors (scope, methodology, 
competence, resources and quality of functions)

(c) Maxis’ accounting and finance staff
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who retire in accordance with Rule 131.1 of the 
Company’s Constitution namely, Robert Alan Nason, 
Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi and Abdulaziz 
Abdullah M. Alghamdi are eligible to stand for  
re-election. The profiles of these retiring Directors 
are set out on pages 7 and 9 of the Company’s 
Integrated Annual Report for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020. These retiring Directors 
do not hold any shares in Maxis Berhad, have no 
family relationship with any Director and/or major 
shareholder of Maxis Berhad, have no conflict of 
interests with Maxis Berhad and have not been 
convicted of any offence within the past five years 
and have not been imposed with any penalty by the 
relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year 
ended 2020.

2. Extension of independence pursuant to MCCG 2017
 AMH was appointed as Independent Director on 

30 August 2012, thus exceeding the tenure of 
nine years after 30 August 2021. In conforming 
to the MCCG 2017, if the Board intends to retain 
an Independent Non-Executive Director beyond 
nine (9) years, it shall justify and seek annual 
shareholders’ approval.

 In accordance with MCCG 2017, the Board through 
the NC has undertaken relevant assessments and 
recommended for the Director to continue to serve 
as Independent Non-Executive Director based on 
the following justifications:

(a) AMH has fulfilled the criteria of an Independent 
Director as stated in the MMLR.

(b) AMH has demonstrated his objectivity and 
independence when providing his contribution 
as member of the Board in considering 
Board-related matters and in discharging his 
responsibilities as Director.

(c) The length of time that he has remained in 
office does not interfere with his abilities to 
exercise independent judgment as Independent 
Director.

(d) AMH, together with the other Independent 
Directors, each function as a check and balance 
to the Board and exercise objectivity as 
Directors.

(e) AMH has vast experience, knowledge and skills 
in a diverse range of businesses and therefore 
provides constructive opinion, counsel, 
oversight and guidance as Director. His insights 
and guidance provide impartiality to matters 
considered at Board and Committee levels.

(f ) AMH has devoted sufficient time and attention 
to his professional obligations to Maxis for 
informed and balanced decision making.

The NC and the Board are satisfied that AMH is able 
to exercise independent judgment and has the ability 
to act in the best interests of the Company. AMH has 
continued to exercise his independence and due care 
during his tenure as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director and has contributed in the role as a member of 
NC and Business & IT Transformation Committee.

Each of the interested Directors above have abstained 
in the deliberations at the NC and/or Board Meetings 
relating to their respective appointments.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises that diversity in its composition is 
critical in ensuring its effectiveness and good corporate 
governance. A truly diverse board will include and 
make use of the variation in the age, skills, experience, 
cultural background, gender, ethnicity and nationality 
of its members to ensure effective governance and 
robust decision making by the Board. The NC and 
Board regularly reviews the composition of the Board 
to ensure the proper discharge of its functions and 
obligations.

Underpinning the Maxis Board Diversity Policy is Maxis’ 
commitment to ensuring that all Directors are appointed 
on merit, in line with the standards as set out in Para 
2.20A of the MMLR. The background of each Director 
can be found on pages 6 to 9 which demonstrates the 
Board’s Diversity Policy. The Board regularly reviews its 
composition to improve its diversity including gender 
diversity.

The search for the additional women and Independent 
Director candidates are in progress. The review and 
selections are aligned with Maxis’ requirements for 
skills diversity, and for candidates with the experience 
and caliber who can contribute to Maxis’ growth 
strategy to be a leading converged solutions provider.

The present Board composition is cognisant of the 
diversity requirements and the measures to meet 
the 30% women Directors targets by 2023. The NC’s 
exercise to expand the pool of potential candidates 
with profiles of women professionals in the country 
having the combination of skills, experience and 
strength in qualities which are relevant to Maxis is 
underway which includes utilisation of independent 
sources.

This Statement should be read together with Corporate 
Governance Overview and Corporate Governance 
Report 2020.

Statement of the Nomination Committee
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Audit and Risk Committee Report
As at 31 December 2020

The ARC’s Skills at a Glance

• All members are financially literate.
• All members are able to read, analyse, interpret and 

understand financial statements.
• All members have extensive business experience.
• Each member has skill sets which make the 

ARC effective as a team, lending it the ability to 
effectively discharge its duties and responsibilities. 

• Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad bin Raja Tun Uda,  
a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales, and Robert Alan Nason, 
a fellow of CPA Australia, meet the Main Market 
Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities (MMLR) for 
Audit Committees to have at least one member of 
an association of accountants specified in Part II of 
the First Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967.

 
Summary of Activities of the Committee

During the financial year, the Committee reviewed and 
updated its Terms of Reference to be in line with the 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Controls. 
An annual review was also performed to ensure all 
requirements were complied with. 

A total of five ARC meetings were held in 2020. At 
these meetings, the Committee focused on Maxis’ 
financial results, announcements to Bursa Securities 
for Q4 2019 and full-year 2019, Q1 2020, Q2 2020 and 
Q3 2020, the provisions and judgmental accounting 
items for the respective financial quarters, reports from 
both the external and internal auditors, regulatory and 
legal updates, enterprise risk management matters, 
related party transactions, revenue assurance, business 
and continuity planning, capital raising, systems and 
security information and other internal control matters. 
In addition, there were seven Circular Resolutions in 
between the ARC Meetings (passed by unanimous 
consent in accordance with Clause 6.3 of the ARC‘s 
Terms of Reference), which were principally related 
to the return to office procedures and policies based 
on the MCO, RMCO, CMCO announcements by the 
Government.

The ARC Chairman reported the outcomes and 
decisions of the ARC proceedings in detail to the Board 
the soonest practicable after each meeting. Members 
of Management, the Group’s external auditors and 
external legal counsel also attended the meetings as 
and when invited. In the discharge of its duties and 
responsibilities, the Committee undertook the following 
major activities during the year:

The Board of Maxis is pleased to present the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) Report for the financial year ended 
31 December 2020.

The Audit Committee at a Glance

No. of Members 5, all Non-Executive 

No. of Independent Members Chairman + 2 Others

No. of Meetings 5 in 2020

Attendance Rate See below

Who We Are

No. Name Status Appointment
Meetings 
Attended

Full Profile  
on page

1 Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir* NE, IN Appointed as Chairman on 
02/03/2018 
(ARC member since 16/10/2009)

5/5 7

2 Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad bin 
Raja Tun Uda

NE, IN 02/03/2018 5/5 7

3 Dato’ Hamidah Naziadin NE, IN 01/02/2014 5/5 8

4 Robert Alan Nason NE 01/05/2019 5/5 7

5 Mohammed Abdullah Alharbi NE 13/10/2015 4/5 9

1. NE - Non-Executive, IN - Independent, * - Chairman
2.  Meetings attended refers to attendance as ARC members
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Audit and Risk Committee Report

Risk Management and Internal Control

• The Committee reviewed the quarterly status reports 
on Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) activities 
within the Group presented by the Management, 
which includes overall risk profile, changes and 
updates on the number of key risks, and the 
corresponding mitigating actions. The Committee 
also reviewed the risk appetite statement and risk 
methodology adopted in ensuring that key and high 
risks were identified and tracked.

• Through the Internal Audit’s reports on key 
internal audit findings and the external auditor’s 
reports on work performed presented at the ARC 
meetings, as well as through discussions with key 
Senior Management, the Committee evaluated 
the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
system of internal controls including information 
technology and network controls; the Group’s 
financial, auditing and accounting organisations and 
personnel; and the Group’s policies and compliance 
procedures with respect to business practices.

• During its meetings and discussions with key Senior 
Management, the Committee consistently emphasised 
the importance of information security and the 
Group’s readiness to prevent and respond to cyber-
attacks and online fraud. Cyber security updates 
were provided to the Committee on a quarterly basis 
due to the Committee’s emphasis on this area and 
recognition as a material matter to the Group.

• In continuing to promote ethical business practices, 
the Committee also reviewed the summary of 
defalcation cases investigated in 2020 and, where 
relevant, requested Management to carry out 
the necessary disciplinary actions. These actions 
reflect the Board’s non-tolerance of fraud as well 
as to further improve the control environment in 
preventing further recurrences. 

• In strengthening anti-bribery and anti-corruption 
governance framework as per the requirements 
of the MACC Act, the Committee deliberated 
with Management on the implementation of the 
MABC system on a quarterly basis. In relation to 
this initiative, the Committee has also approved 
the creation and appointment of an independent 
Compliance Officer to oversee the implementation 
of the MABC system.

• ARC was also updated on the emerging risks in 
the company's risk landscape as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic situation and deliberated the 
corresponding plans to mitigate the impacts to 
overall business. In addition, the Committee has 
also stressed on the importance of Management to 
continuously provide necessary steps to protect the 
safety and wellbeing of the employees.

Financial Reporting

• In overseeing the Group’s financial reporting, the 
Committee together with appropriate officers of the 
Group reviewed the quarterly financial results and 
annual audited financial statements of the Group, 
including the reports on provisions, significant 
judgmental accounting matters, impact of new 
accounting standards and related announcements, 
before approving the release of the Group’s 
financial results to Bursa Securities. The quarterly 
financial results for Q1, Q2 and Q3 of 2020, which 
were prepared in compliance with the Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS), were 
reviewed at the quarterly Committee meetings. 
During its first quarterly meeting, the Committee 
reviewed the draft audited financial statements for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and the 
quarterly financial results for Q4, 2019.

• In reviewing the integrity of financial information, 
the Committee deliberated with Management to 
ensure that all matters set out in Section 5 of the 
Audit and Risk Committee Terms of Reference 
(“Responsibilities” under the heading “Financial 
Reporting”) as well as the following areas, where 
relevant, had been complied with:

i. the MMLR;
ii. provisions of the Companies Act 2016 and other 

legal and regulatory requirements; and
iii. MFRS issued by the Malaysian Accounting 

Standards Board.

• On a quarterly basis, Management gave its 
assurance to the Committee that related party 
transactions and the mandate for recurrent related 
party transactions (RRPT) were in compliance with 
MMLR and the Group’s policies and procedures. 
In addition, Internal Audit presented the results 
of its quarterly independent reviews of the RRPT 
confirming that all RRPTs complied with the said 
policies and procedures.
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Overall Governance, Regulatory and Other Updates 

• The Management and Company Secretary 
presented to the Committee, for its review, the 
status and changes in material litigation, law and 
regulations, compliance with loan covenants and 
regulatory updates on the Group’s business on a 
quarterly basis.

Internal Assurance

• The Group’s internal audit function (internally 
referred to as the Internal Assurance Division) 
carried out its activities based on the risk-based 
Annual Audit Plan approved by the Committee, 
covering scopes under the governance, risk 
management and internal control processes, 
including regulatory compliance such as related 
party transactions. Based on the approved Annual 
Audit Plan for 2020, a total of 48 engagements 
were conducted as at year-end covering the 
following key areas:

i. Accounting & Financial Activities (16%)
ii. Key Projects Implementation (19%)
iii. Network and Information Technology (10%)
iv. Regulatory Compliance (17%)
v. Sales Operations (13%)
vi. Contracts Management (8%)
vii. Investigative (17%)

• At the Committee’s quarterly meetings, Internal 
Assurance presented updates of its Annual Audit 
Plan 2020, including the status of engagements, 
key findings from audit reports and the 
corresponding audit conclusion opinions, audit 
recommendations by the internal auditors, results 
of investigations performed by the internal auditors 
and the representations made, as well as status of 
corrective actions taken by Management to address 
and resolve issues, ensuring these were adequately 
addressed on a timely basis. 

• Starting from its July meeting, the ARC was also 
updated by Internal Assurance on the progress of 
its audit automation initiative as well as the results 
generated from the automated reports. The Committee 
also reviewed improvements that the digitalisation 
initiative has shown on the overall assurance coverage 
and company’s vigilance over risks and controls across 
more critical business processes.

• During its July meeting, the Committee 
deliberated the revised Internal Audit Plan for 
2020, subsequent to a risk assessment exercise 
conducted by the internal audit function on the 
shifting risk landscape of the Group due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic situation. The updated Audit 
Plan also aligns with the revised company’s 
business plans to mitigate emerging business risks 
due to the unprecedented COVID-19 outbreak.

• During its last quarterly meeting for the year, the 
Committee reviewed and approved the Annual 
Audit Plan 2021, which reflects the changing risk 
landscape of the organisation and industry, as 
well as the company’s new strategic direction. 
A total of 34 audits have been planned for 
2020 focusing on key strategic areas, finance 
and business operations, technology as well as 
advisory services. The Committee also reviewed 
the scope and coverage of the planned activities 
and ensured principal risk areas and key processes 
of the business (identified by the Enterprise Risk 
Management department and the internal audit 
function) were adequately addressed. In line with 
the digital aspiration of the function as approved 
by the Committee, Internal Assurance will heighten 
its focus on audit automation activities for 2021, 
while exploring process improvement initiatives via 
adoption of Agile Auditing methodology.

• During the same meeting, the internal audit 
function presented for the Committee’s approval 
the divisional KPIs for 2020 covering four strategic 
focus areas: Operations, Customers, Innovation and 
Learning & Development. The KPIs were updated 
to be in line with the progress of the three-year 
digitalisation roadmap with emphasis on measures 
that drive the continuous assurance capability of 
the function using automation technologies, and 
adoption of Agile processes.

• The Committee also reviewed the adequacy of the 
Internal Audit Charter and approved the internal audit 
function’s proposal to enhance the charter in line with 
the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) Standards and 
latest updates in the ARC Terms of Reference.

External Audit

• During its first quarterly meeting, the Committee 
reviewed the external auditor’s report for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019 and 
recommended for the Board’s approval.
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• At the same meeting, the Committee undertook 
an annual assessment of the suitability and 
independence of the external auditors and 
reviewed their compliance with Maxis’ External 
Audit Independence Policy (EAIP) for work carried 
out in the previous financial year (2019). This was 
to determine whether the services rendered would 
impair the external auditors’ independence and 
objectivity.

• The compliance status was presented by 
Management to the Committee for its deliberation. 
Internal Audit also presented its independent 
review of the external auditors’ independence to 
the Committee, confirming the assessment results 
by Management. The Committee deliberated on the 
reports and concluded that the auditors complied 
with the EAIP.

• The Committee reviewed the audit services and 
non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors and their corresponding incurred fees, 
which included tax related services, due diligence 
and advisory services. The Committee concluded 
that the auditors had remained independent during 
the year.

• At its quarterly meetings, the Committee 
deliberated on the results and issues arising from 
the external auditors’ review of the 2020 quarterly 
financial results, Q4 2019 financial results and audit 
of the 2019 year-end financial statements as well as 
the resolution of issues highlighted in their report 
to the Committee. The Committee also deliberated 
on key audit matters highlighted by the auditors, 
the Internal Control Recommendations (ICRs) raised 
by them, and monitored their closure status.

• The Committee reviewed the external auditors’ 
2020 Audit Plan outlining their strategy, approach 
and proposed fees for the current financial year’s 
statutory audit. The proposed Audit Plan and fees 
reviewed include non-recurring assurance related 
work for the financial year. The Committee noted 
the proposed plan and approved it for the current 
financial year.

• The Committee reviewed the annual assessment 
conducted on the effectiveness of the external 
auditors. The assessment covered eight categories, 

namely the audit firm’s calibre, quality process, 
audit team, scope, communication, governance, 
independence, and audit fees.

Integrity and Governance Unit

• The Integrity and Governance Unit (IGU) formation 
had been approved by ARC in 2020 and was 
established as part of the implementation of 
the MABC system. The IGU is headed by an 
independent Compliance Officer, who is tasked to 
oversee the acculturation, institutionalisation and 
implementation of integrity within the Maxis Group 
and to ensure that continuous training, education 
and awareness programmes are in place.

• As part of the initiatives, the Committee had 
deliberated and endorsed the formation of Maxis 
Integrity Compliance Framework (MICF) during its 
October meeting to instill and ensure compliance to 
all elements related to the propagation of integrity 
and business ethics within the business activities 
of Maxis. During the same meeting, the Committee 
had also endorsed the creation of Maxis Integrity 
& Compliance Awareness Committee (MIAC) to 
coordinate, monitor and ensure programmes 
planned under MICF are implemented in an 
effective, integrated and structured manner.

• The Committee had also deliberated reports 
and updates from the Compliance Officer on 
the progress of the initiatives and programs 
which includes compliance awareness progress; 
anti-bribery and anti-corruption internal control 
enhancements; MABC updates, effectiveness, 
related activities, and areas of concerns; as well as 
on the status of ongoing/completed investigations 
related to bribery and corruption. Since the 
inception of MABC, the Committee has deliberated 
100% commitment by the Board of Directors 
and employees with signed Integrity Pledges, 
100% completion of MABC e-learning module for 
employees, third party awareness program and 
online due diligence compliance screening to 
assess bribery risk and corruption to ensure the 
highest level of integrity is observed and practised.

Audit and Risk Committee Report
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Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

• The internal audit on LTIP grants for the financial 
year was performed in September 2020. In ensuring 
that the allocation for employees was as per 
approved criteria, disclosed pursuant to LTIP, the 
Committee deliberated the review results presented 
by Internal Audit during its October meeting.

Proceedings of the ARC Meetings 

The Group’s internal and external auditors and 
certain members of Senior Management attended the 
Committee meetings by invitation.

The Committee also held a total of 5 separate private 
sessions with the internal and external auditors without 
the presence of Management. Both the internal and 
external auditors have unfettered access to members of 
the Audit Committee, including the Chairman, any time 
during the year. 

Deliberations during the Committee meetings were 
minuted. The Chairman of the Committee reported the 
proceedings of the Committee to the Board after every 
Committee meeting. Minutes of the meetings were 
circulated to all members of the Board and significant 
issues were brought up and discussed at Board meetings.

Training

Training attended by the Committee members during 
the financial year is reported under the Corporate 
Governance Overview on page 87.

Internal Assurance Division

The Group has an in-house independent internal audit 
function (internally referred to as the Internal Assurance 
Division) that reports directly to the Committee.  

Its primary responsibility is to provide independent 
and objective assessment of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the risk management, internal control 
and governance processes established by Management 
and/or the Board within the Group.

The Internal Assurance Division comprises of 20 
auditors and is headed by Shafik Azlee Mashar, who 
has extensive experience in managing internal audit 
functions within telecommunications, FMCG and banking 
organisations. Shafik holds a Bachelor’s degree in 
Information Systems Engineering from Imperial College 
of Science Technology & Medicine, London and is a 
Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA), Certified 
PRINCE2 Project Management Professional and Certified 
ScrumMaster (CSM) for Agile.

The Head of the Internal Assurance Division reports 
directly to the Chairman of the Committee, and is 
responsible for enhancing the quality assurance and 
improvement programme of the internal audit function. 
Its effectiveness is monitored through continuous 
internal and external quality assessments and the 
results are communicated to the Committee.

The total costs incurred for the internal audit function 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 
amounted to RM6.3 million (2019: RM6.3 million).

The internal audit function fully abides by the 
provisions of its charter. The Internal Audit Charter is 
reviewed and approved by the Committee annually. 
The internal audit function’s activities conform to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practices of 
Internal Auditing set forth by the IIA.

The Audit and Risk Committee has regular dialogues and 
sessions with the Head of Internal Assurance and team.

Audit and Risk Committee Report
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Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control

Introduction

The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the 
Group’s system of internal control and risk management 
and for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the system. The Board is pleased to share the main 
features of the Group’s risk management and internal 
control system in respect of the financial year ended 31 
December 2020. 

In discharging its stewardship responsibilities, the 
Group has established a sound risk management 
framework and procedures of internal control. 
These procedures, which are embedded into the 
culture, processes and structures of the Group are 
subject to regular review by the Board, and provide 
an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing significant risks that may affect the Group’s 
achievement of its business objectives and strategies. 

In 2020, the Board has chosen for Maxis to Always 
be Ahead in having employees to go far beyond the 
ordinary by always putting Customers First, striving for 
What's Possible and embracing the fact that We Are 
Maxis. To align with this vision, we are refreshing our 
company culture with MaxisWay 2.0 and our business 
strategy to achieve organisational excellence, and that 
includes the Group’s system of risk management and 
internal controls.

The Group’s risk management framework and internal 
control procedures, in all material aspects, are 
consistent with the guidance provided to Directors as set 
out in the “Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers”.

Board Responsibility

The Board of Maxis, in discharging its responsibilities, 
is fully committed to articulating, implementing and 
reviewing a sound risk management and internal 
control environment. The Board is responsible for 
determining the Group’s risk appetite and risk tolerance 
level within which the Board expects Management to 
operate, and has approved the following risk appetite 
statements:

• The Group is committed to delivering value to our 
shareholders through sustaining profitable growth, 
maintaining market leadership and meeting our 
dividend payout policy. At the same time, the 
Group will not compromise our integrity, values 
or reputation by risking brand damage, service 
delivery standards or regulatory non-compliance.

• The Group is prepared to take measured risks to 
achieve our ambition to be a leading converged 
communications and digital services organisation. 

The Management has primary responsibility for 
identifying, assessing, monitoring and reporting key 
business risks to the Board in order to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. Risk 
management and internal control systems are designed 
to identify, assess and manage risks that may impede 
the achievement of the Group’s business objectives and 
strategies rather than to eliminate these risks entirely. 
They can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against fraud, material misstatement or 
loss, and this is achieved through a combination of 
preventive, detective and corrective measures.

Risk Management

The Board regards risk management as an integral part 
of the Group’s business operations and has oversight 
over this critical area through the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Audit and Risk Committee, supported 
by the internal audit function, provides an independent 
assurance on the effectiveness of the Maxis Enterprise 
Risk Management (ERM) framework and reports to the 
Board on a yearly basis.

The Maxis ERM framework is broadly based on the 
ERM framework of the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) 
and ISO 31000. The Maxis ERM framework involves 
systematically identifying, analysing, measuring, 
responding, monitoring and reporting on risks that 
may affect the achievement of its business objectives. 
In addition, close monitoring and control processes, 
including the use of appropriate key risk and key 
performance indicators, are implemented to ensure 
the risk levels are managed within policy limits. This 
framework helps Maxis to respond adequately to 
uncertainties surrounding the Group’s internal and 
external environment, allowing Maxis to maximise 
opportunities and minimise adverse impact that may 
arise. For major risks which the Group is exposed to, 
refer to Business Model section on pages 31 to 37.
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Maxis’ Enterprise Risk Management Framework There is an ERM function that administers the ERM 
Framework implementation to ensure risks that may 
affect the achievement of Maxis’ business objectives 
are identified, evaluated and managed. A structured 
process has been established where ERM discussions 
are held on a regular basis between units within 
departments/sections to identify potential risks that 
might deter the department/section from achieving 
its current and new business objectives, both short 
and long term. In addition, the ERM team participates 
in strategic and operational discussions regularly. 
Changes to risk information and newly identified risks 
are then reported, reviewed and discussed with the 
Maxis Management Team (MMT) collectively and with 
Audit and Risk Committee on a quarterly basis to 
ensure significant risks are identified, analysed and 
monitored while risk response plan is coordinated and 
implemented in a timely manner.

All identified risks are displayed on a five-by-five risk 
matrix based on their risk ranking to assist Management 
to prioritise their efforts and appropriately manage the 
different level of risks.

Risk Rating Scale

IMPACT

CRITICAL 

MAJOR

MODERATE

MINOR

INSIGNIFICANT

LIKELIHOOD OF  
OCCURRENCE

UNLIKELY LOW PROBABILITY POSSIBLE HIGH PROBABILITY ALMOST CERTAIN

High Key Medium Low

Identify and Analyse

Respond

Monitor and Report

Objective

Control Risk

ALIGNMENT
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In driving a proactive risk management culture, the Board 
and Management ensure regular risk awareness and 
coaching sessions are held for the Group’s employees so 
they have a good understanding of risk management and 
are able to apply the relevant principles.

The ERM team also works closely with the Group’s 
operational managers to continuously strengthen the 
Group’s risk management initiatives, carry out risk 
management workshops and create awareness program 
to enable effective response to the constantly changing 
business environment, thus to protect and enhance 
shareholder value. 

During the financial year, ERM function made a 
significant enhancement by implementing an Integrated 
Risk Management solution into Maxis as part of its 
transformation agenda and further improved the ERM 
maturity level. ERM also created bribery and corruption 
risks awareness, conducted online training and 
performed bribery and corruption risk assessments 
across the Group in light of the new provision on 
corporate liability for corruption offences under the 
MACC Act that came into effect on 1 June 2020. In 
accordance with the MABC system, a comprehensive 
risk assessment is done every three years with 
intermittent assessments conducted when necessary. 
The ERM team collaborates with the Compliance 
Officer on the implementation of the MABC system for 
corruption risk assessment.

Control Environment and Structure

The Board and Management have established 
numerous processes and introduced tools for 
identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks 
faced by the Group. These include periodic testing 
of the effectiveness and efficiency of the internal 
control procedures and updating the system of internal 
controls when there are changes to the business 
environment or regulatory guidelines. These processes 
have been in place for the financial year ended  
31 December 2020 and up to the date of approval 
of this Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control for inclusion in the Integrated Annual Report.

The key elements of the Group’s control environment 
include: 

1. Organisation Structure

 The business of the Group is overseen by the 
Board, which provides direction and oversight 
to the Group and CEO, who is supported by 
Management. The Board is supported by a number 
of established Committees, namely the Audit 
and Risk, Nomination, Remuneration, Business & 
IT Transformation, Government and Regulatory 
Affairs Committees, and ad-hoc operational and 
governance committees formed from time to time, 
all of which facilitate the Board in the discharge 
of its duties. Each Committee has clearly defined 
terms of reference and responsibilities, and reports 
back to the Board on its activities to keep the Board 
updated and to assist in decision-making where 
relevant (please refer to the Statement of Corporate 
Governance for further details).

 Responsibility for implementing the Group’s 
strategies, operations and day-to-day businesses, 
including implementing the system of risk 
management and internal control, is delegated 
to the CEO. The organisation structure sets out a 
clear segregation of roles and responsibilities, lines 
of accountability and limits of authority to ensure 
effective and independent stewardship.

2. Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)

 The ARC consists of five non-executive members of 
the Board, the majority of whom are Independent 
Directors. Its members bring with them knowledge, 
expertise and experience from different industries 
and backgrounds such as telecommunications 
and media, engineering, auditing, finance and 
treasury, human resources, regulatory and general 
management. The ARC reviews the Group’s 
financial reporting process, the system of internal 
controls, the implementation and management 
of enterprise risk management framework and 
practices, the process and reports from both 
internal and external auditors and the Group’s 
process for monitoring ethics and whistleblowing, 
compliance with laws and regulations, and its 
own code of business practice, as well as other 
matters which may be specifically delegated to 
the Committee by the Board from time to time. 
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During the financial year, the Board expanded 
the terms of reference of ARC to review the 
sufficiency, adequacy and comprehensiveness 
of the Maxis Anti-Bribery and Corruption (MABC) 
system in line with the need to mitigate bribery and 
corruption risks and advise the Board on issues of 
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, 
directives and guidelines. The ARC also reviews 
the independence and determines the authority 
and area of responsibility of the Integrity and 
Governance Unit which is further described in the 
following section on Integrity and Compliance,  
Anti-Bribery and Corruption.

 Throughout the financial year, ARC members are 
briefed on corporate governance practices, updates 
to legal and regulatory requirements as well as  
key matters affecting the financial statements of  
the Group.

 The ARC also reviews and reports to the Board 
on the independence of the external auditors 
and their audit plan, nature, approach, scope and 
other examinations of external audit matters. It 
also reviews the effectiveness of the internal audit 
function which is further described in the following 
section on internal audit.

 The ARC continues to meet regularly and has 
full and unimpeded access to the internal and 
external auditors and all employees of the Group. 
The Chairman of the ARC provides the Board with 
reports on all meetings held. Further details of the 
activities undertaken by the ARC are set out in the 
ARC Report on pages 96 to 100.

3. Internal Assurance

 The internal audit function (internally known as 
the Internal Assurance Division) continues to 
independently, objectively and regularly review 
key processes, evaluate the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal control, risk management 
and governance processes established by 
Management and/or the Board within the Group.  
It is also responsible to investigate all real and/or 
 suspected bribery and corruption incidents or 
MABC non-compliance that is received or detected 
internally or externally.

 The Internal Assurance division highlights 
significant findings and corrective measures in 
respect of effectiveness of risk management, 

control and governance processes to members 
of the MMT and ARC on a timely basis. Its work 
practices are governed by the Internal Assurance 
Charter, which is subject to revision on an annual 
basis. The annual audit plan, established on a 
risk-based approach, is reviewed and approved 
by the ARC annually and an update is given to the 
ARC every quarter. The internal audit function has 
also implemented technology-driven automated 
checks over a number of selected internal control 
areas on top of the annually planned engagements, 
which allows ARC and Management to have 
broader assurance visibility on a continuous basis. 
The ARC oversees the internal audit function, 
its independence, scope of work and resources. 
The internal audit function also maintains quality 
assurance and improvement programme and 
continuously monitors its overall effectiveness 
through internal self-assessments and external 
quality assurance review.

 The internal audit function follows the requirements 
of the latest International Standards for the 
Professional Practices of Internal Auditing of the 
Institute of Internal Auditors Inc. Further details of 
the function and its activities are set out in the  
ARC Report on pages 96 to 100.

4.  Code of Conduct and Code of Business Practice

 The Group is committed to conducting business 
fairly, impartially and ethically and in full 
compliance with all laws and regulations. The 
Maxis Code of Conduct (CoC) and Code of 
Business Practice (CoBP) stipulate how Directors 
and employees as well as external parties such 
as third-party employees, contractors, consultants 
and/or personnel positioned in Maxis’ premises 
and acting on Maxis’ behalf, including all parties or 
entities doing business with Maxis, should conduct 
themselves in all business matters. 

 The CoC sets out practices and behaviors for all 
Maxis employees to emulate. Maxis is grounded in 
our commitment to lawful and ethical conduct which 
is reflected in our ‘I am MaxisWay 2.0’ cultural 
values that was launched during the financial 
year. Being Maxis, we restlessly look at ‘What’s 
Possible’ by putting our ‘Customer First’ mindset in 
driving success. The CoC also helps to build trust, 
commitment and empowers Maxis to make more 
effective decisions with greater confidence.
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 The CoBP, on the other hand, encompasses 
compliance and governance of its embedded 
policies surrounding business practices such as 
MABC, data privacy and protection, insider trading 
etc. Together, the CoC, CoBP and our MaxisWay 2.0 
culture values, provide an overview of the legal and 
ethical standards we are each expected to follow 
and live, every day. 

 All Directors, employees and third-party employees 
are required to declare their compliance with the 
CoBP upon joining the Group. Communications on 
the CoC and CoBP are sent out to all employees 
and third-party employees regularly throughout 
the year to ensure they understand what is 
expected of them. In addition, they are required 
to complete an annual mandatory assessment and 
acknowledgement of the CoC and CoBP. 

 External parties, including suppliers, who conduct 
business with the Group have to formally declare 
that they have read and will adhere to the CoBP 
upon beginning of work with the Group. In 
addition, a Vendor Integrity Programme is regularly 
conducted to raise the bribery and corruption 
awareness of these external parties. 

 Maxis is committed to respect the privacy and 
safeguard the confidential data of our customers, as 
we are governed by the Personal Data Protection 
Act 2010. We have a responsibility to protect 
any Maxis property and assets that are under 
our control. We also emphasise the importance 
of adhering to our information security related 
policies that govern the networks, systems and 
the information it holds as part of the foundations 
of our business. Protection of these entities and 
confidential information, whether belonging to 
Maxis or to others who have entrusted such 
information to us, is essential to our reputation and 
our business.

 Maxis upholds ethical procurement practices with its 
suppliers at all times, providing a level “playing field” 
which is guided by suppliers’ compliance to technical 
and commercial requirements forming the basis of 
evaluation and selection of suppliers. This includes 
our commitment to open and transparent competition 
based on suppliers’ capability and experience and 
not just on size and maturity, to help new businesses 
flourish and ensure that our suppliers meet minimum 
standards of social responsibility.

 To ensure the CoC and CoBP is adhered to, the 
Chief Human Resource Officer together with 
Compliance personnel provide policy guidance 
and to facilitate compliance. They look at ways 
to continuously enhance the Group’s standards 
of business conduct and ethics, and benchmark 
these against best practices. Our Ethics Hotline 
also serves as a safe and effective channel for 
employees or parties dealing with Maxis to report 
any incidence or occurrence which is not in 
accordance with the CoC and CoBP.

 For more details on the Ethics Hotlines please refer 
to Corporate Governance Statement on page 83.

5.  Integrity and Compliance, Anti-Bribery and 
Corruption

 During the financial year, the Group set up an 
Integrity Governance Unit (IGU) was established 
as part of the implementation of the MABC system. 
The IGU is headed by an independent Compliance 
Officer who oversees the implementation of the 
MABC system. 

 The Compliance Officer is tasked to oversee 
the acculturation, institutionalisation and 
implementation of integrity within the Maxis 
Group and to ensure that continuous training, 
education and awareness programs are in place. 
The IGU strengthens and is responsible for the 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the 
governance, and anti-corruption controls of the 
MABC system.

 In developing and implementing Group wide 
policies, Maxis refers to and complies with all 
applicable laws and regulations including the 
requirements of the MACC Act. In addition, we 
regularly benchmark our policies and procedures 
against prevailing international standards as we 
believe it is essential for Maxis to adopt industry 
best practices in corporate governance given 
Maxis’ strong corporate orientation and the growing 
expectations of stakeholders for good corporate 
citizenship.
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 Maxis has a zero-tolerance policy against bribery and corruption, a reflection of our strong commitment to 
high ethical standards and compliance to anti-corruption laws. In line with this, Maxis further strengthened its 
existing policies and procedures on anti-bribery and corruption by implementing the MABC system which sets 
out the expected behaviour and ethical conduct of all directors, employees and third parties who represent or 
act for or on behalf of Maxis. The MABC system, amongst others, explicitly prohibits the giving and acceptance 
of bribes by Maxis employees, sponsorship and donations activities including the giving and receiving of 
facilitation payments in all its business dealings.

 
 Since its launch in May 2020, Maxis has communicated the MABC System to all employees and third parties 

through a series of training programs, including the onboarding program for new executives and Vendor 
Integrity programs (VIP) for third parties. For the current financial year, 100% Directors and Maxis employees 
and 63% external parties have undergone online training and webinar series on the MABC.

 In supporting the general policy statements in the MABC System, the ARC approved the implementation of 
Maxis Integrity Compliance Framework (MICF) to instill and ensure compliance to all elements related to the 
propagation of integrity and business ethics within the business activities of Maxis.

• Anti-Corruption Guideline for 
Internal and External Parties
- Code of Business Practice
- MABC
- AML/CFT
- No Gift
- General Claim
- Sponsorship and 

Endorsement
- Whistleblowing

Policy and Procedure

• Internal Control Mechanism on 
Anti-Corruption and AML/CFT 
Policy/Guidelines
- Consequence Management
- Risk Management
- Performance Management
- Finance Control
- Monitoring and Reporting
- eKYC
- Fraud Detection
- Due Diligence
- Risk Screening

System, Process and Technology

• Creating Zero Tolerance 
Culture
- Corporate Values
- Compliance Champion
- Communication
- Training
- Integrity Pledge/ 

Declaration

People and Culture

MAXIS 2.0

MABC FRAMEWORK

GUIDED BY THE PRINCIPLES OF “ADEQUATE PROCEDURES”

Maxis Integrity and Compliance Framework

6.  Revenue Assurance

 The Revenue Assurance function is responsible for the monitoring of potential revenue leakage arising from 
day-to-day operations. This includes performance and examination of regular test calls, reconciliations of 
chargeable transactions from network and IT systems to the billing systems, and independent rating of key 
services via automated tools. Processes and controls within the revenue cycle are also reviewed regularly to 
ensure they function effectively and efficiently. The Revenue Assurance department meets key stakeholders on 
an ongoing basis to address key revenue assurance issues and drive revenue assurance initiatives across the 
Group. Key issues and mitigation actions are reported to the Management and the ARC on a monthly and half-
yearly basis respectively. 



EMBEDDING TRUSTIntegrated Annual Report 2020

107

Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control

7.  Subscriber Fraud Management

 The Subscriber Fraud Management (SFM) function 
complements the Revenue Assurance function. 
While the Revenue Assurance function monitors 
and reviews controls within the revenue cycle 
as indicated above, the SFM function monitors 
daily subscriber calls/events on a near realtime 
basis. Immediate action is taken to manage 
suspected fraudulent calls/events, using an industry 
developed system to monitor call patterns on a 
24/7 basis throughout the year in addition to other 
manual reporting investigations. SFM also reviews 
key new services and products for possible fraud 
risk and recommends counter-measures. Instances 
of fraud, along with the remedial actions taken, are 
reported to the Management on a monthly basis 
and presented half-yearly to the ARC.

8.  Business Continuity Planning

 Maxis’ business continuity management systems 
are certified under ISO 22301, an international 
standard of business continuity. The Business 
Continuity Planning (BCP) team is responsible for 
identifying activities and operations that are critical 
to sustain business operations in the event of a 
disaster. These include facilitating the building of 
additional redundancies in network infrastructure, 
establishing alternate sites where key operational 
activities can be resumed, and mitigating the risk 
of high-impact loss through appropriate insurance 
coverage. A risk-based approach is applied in 
identifying the key initiatives and their levels of 
importance by reviewing critical systems and 
single-point of failures as well as their impact on 
the Group’s business. 

 During the financial year, critical areas as 
identified by risk priority were tested to assess 
the effectiveness of BCP. Progress on the initiative 
was presented to the BCP Steering Committee on 
a yearly basis. In addition, in light of COVID-19, a 
robust BCP was put in place with various measures 
undertaken to mitigate the spread and impact of 
COVID-19 and to protect our employees, maintain 
network quality and reliability, serve our customers, 
supporting communities and the Government to 
stay connected in this unprecedented times. Safety 
and health measures that were put in place includes 
supplying staff with face masks, daily temperature 
checks and health declaration via QR code prior to 
entering the workplace, implementation of Return to 
Office/Work From Home cycles in order to practice 

physical distancing in the workplace, encouraging 
external and business meeting to be held digitally 
unless business critical and deferment of company 
events until further notice. The Group will continue 
to closely monitor the situation.

9.  Regulatory

 The Regulatory function ensures compliance with 
the Communications and Multimedia Act 1998 
(CMA) and its applicable rules and regulations 
which govern the Group’s core business in 
the communications and multimedia sector in 
Malaysia. As a licensee under the CMA, the 
Group adheres to its licensing conditions, as well 
as economic, technical, social and consumer 
protection regulations embedded in the CMA 
and its subsidiary legislation. The Group actively 
participates in new regulatory and industry 
development consultations initiated by MCMC.

 The Regulatory function also frequently engages 
MCMC and the Ministry of Communications and 
Multimedia Malaysia in discussions on pertinent 
industry issues.

10.  Legal

 The Legal function plays a pivotal role in ensuring 
that the interests of the Group are preserved and 
safeguarded from a legal perspective. It ensures 
that the Group’s operations and transactions with 
third parties comply with all relevant laws. It plays 
a key role in advising the Board and Management 
on legal and strategic matters. The Board is also 
briefed through reports to the ARC on material 
litigation and any changes in law that would affect 
the Group’s operations.

11.  Company Secretary

 Please refer to page 86 of the Statement on Corporate 
Governance in this Integrated Annual Report.

12.  Limits of Authority

 A Limits of Authority (LOA) manual sets out 
the authorisation limits for various levels of 
Maxis’ Management and staff as well as matters 
requiring Board approval to ensure accountability, 
segregation of duties and control over the Group’s 
financial commitments. The LOA manual is reviewed 
and updated periodically to align with business, 
operational and structural changes.
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13.  Policies and Procedures

 There is extensive documentation of policies, 
procedures, guidelines and service level agreements 
on the Group’s intranet site including those relating 
to finance, contract management, marketing, 
procurement, human resources, information systems, 
network operations, legal, system and information 
security controls. Continuous control enhancements 
are made to cater for business environment changes 
and to align with Maxis’ new and growth-driven 
business strategy.

14.  Financial and Operational Information

 Budgets are prepared by the operating units and 
presented to the Board before the commencement 
of a new financial year. Upon approval of the 
budget, the Group’s performance is tracked and 
measured against the budget on a monthly basis. 
Reporting systems which highlight significant 
variances against budget are in place to track and 
monitor performance. The variances in financial 
as well as operational performance indices are 
incorporated in monthly management reports. On a 
quarterly basis, actual results and a rolling forecast 
are reviewed by the Board to enable the Directors 
to evaluate the Group’s performance compared to 
the budget and prior periods.

 In addition, a 5-year Long Range Plan (LRP) is 
prepared and updated on an annual basis to 
identify financial challenges and opportunities in 
the near future. The LRP aims to stimulate long-
term and strategic thinking among the operating 
units and thereby devising strategies to deliver 
long term financial sustainability. The LRP which 
provides internal consensus on Maxis’ long-term 
financial direction is presented to the Board for 
approval on an annual basis.

15.  Data Privacy, Data Protection and Cybersecurity

 Compliance to Personal Data Protection Act 2010 
(PDPA) are supported by Data Privacy & Data 
Protection functions. Data Privacy is about Maxis as 
a Data User has lawfully collected the personal data 
of its customers, employees, Directors, vendors 
and partners, what it can and should do with the 
personal data and what control Maxis has over 
the retention and use of such personal data. Data 
Protection on the other hand ensures that those 
personal data is safeguarded from unlawful access 
by unauthorised parties.

 Both Data Privacy and Cybersecurity and Data 
Protection teams form part of the Central 
Governance Committee overseeing the Data 
Privacy and Data Protection strategy, processes, 
governance and compliance for the Group. The 
following details out the roles and responsibilities 
of each team as per the Group’s umbrella Data 
Privacy & Protection Policy.

15.1  Data Privacy 

 Data Privacy unit is responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s Data Privacy strategy and 
implementation and ensures that the Group 
comply with applicable PDPA requirements. 
Their responsibilities include:

• training Maxis employees and relevant third 
parties on PDPA compliance requirements;

• conducting regular divisional attestations 
and risk assessment to ensure 
compliance to PDPA and all of Maxis 
Data Privacy and Protection policies, 
procedures and guidelines;

• serving as the point of contact between 
Maxis and the supervisory authority, 
Personal Data Protection Commission;

• reviewing, assessing and providing 
relevant Data Privacy advice to relevant 
internal stakeholders;

• creating a culture of Data Privacy & 
Protection in the design of products, 
services and processes in Maxis as part 
of Maxis’ drive to build and uphold its 
lifelong customer trust commitment; and

• providing regular reporting on the Data 
Privacy & Protection status via Enterprise 
Risk Management to MMT and ARC.

15.2  Cybersecurity and Data Protection

 Cybersecurity Management department 
(CM), together with its various functions 
including Cybersecurity Governance, Risk 
and Compliance, Cybersecurity Architecture, 
Cyber-Defense and Cybersecurity Operations 
are accountable for monitoring, detecting 
and resolving both internal and external 
cybersecurity threats to the Group as 
well as Data Protection operations of the 
Group. The accountabilities of CM includes 
operating and managing a 24x7 Security 
Operation Centre to identify, detect, prevent 
and respond to threats, conducting security 
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awareness programs, undertaking vulnerability 
assessments and penetration tests, performing 
compliance reviews on IT systems and 
networks of Maxis to reduce the impact of 
a service interruption, reducing the risk of 
system misuse and minimising the risk of data 
theft due to malicious activities, cyber-attacks, 
negligence and/or malware.

 Apart from the internal security compliance 
programmes, CM also maintains and assists 
in the compliance of relevant regulatory and 
industry security programmes such as the 
MS/ISO27001:2013, Payment Card Industry 
Data Security Standard and the Personal Data 
Protection Act 2010.

 Cybersecurity within Maxis is governed by 
members of MMT who meet periodically to 
direct and approve the corporate security 
policies and standards set by the department 
and security projects undertaken by the 
department. The effectiveness of the security 
programme is assessed by external and 
internal auditors as part of their annual 
reviews. CM reports quarterly to the ARC on 
the Group’s cybersecurity status. 

 During the financial year, a focused 
cybersecurity enhancement program 
was undertaken to further enhance the 
cybersecurity compliance of critical systems 
and assets within Maxis. Data privacy and 
protection continued to be a key focus.

 As a result of COVID-19, Maxis introduced 
additional measures to reduce and mitigate 
cyber security risks arising from employees 
working remotely. Several initiatives were 
implemented to minimise cyber security 
incidents and reduce potential leakage of 
sensitive data. Employees were migrated to 
Microsoft Office 365 with stricter security 
configurations. Applicable policies and 
procedures were enhanced and reviewed. 
Multiple cyber security awareness sessions 
were conducted for all employees and 
applicable vendors covering data protection, 
phishing and access management. Remote 
access tools were also upgraded with specific 
policies to control access to the Maxis 
enterprise network. Access to personal cloud, 
USB drives and transfer of sensitive data were 
restricted. 

Monitoring and Review

Processes that monitor and review the effectiveness of the 
system of risk management and internal controls include:

1.  Management Representations made to the Board 
by the CEO and Chief Financial & Strategy Officer 
(CFSO), based on representations made to them by 
Management on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Group’s risk management and internal control 
system in their respective areas. Any material 
exceptions identified are highlighted to the Board.

2.  Internal Assurance function, in its quarterly report 
to the ARC and members of MMT, continues 
to highlight significant issues and exceptions 
identified during the course of compliance reviews 
of processes and controls and together with the 
Integrity and Governance Unit, report to ARC on 
a quarterly basis on any bribery and corruption 
related incidents and MABC non-compliance.

3.  Fraud Working Group (FW”), comprising 
representatives from business units, Revenue 
Assurance and SFM, Legal, People and 
Organisation (P&O) and Internal Assurance 
departments. FWG establishes and monitors fraud 
related policies and regularly reviews and agrees 
on actions to be taken on identified instances of 
fraud. 

4.  The Defalcation Committee (including Special 
Defalcation Committee which deals with matters 
where senior management is involved) meets 
regularly to deal with matters pertaining to fraud 
and unethical practices including bribery and 
corruption related incidents and MABC non-
compliance. All issues arising from work carried 
out by the investigation team within the Internal 
Assurance division and matters reviewed by FWG 
are channelled to this committee for deliberation. 
Based on the findings, the committee decides on 
appropriate actions to be taken. The committee 
also reviews and monitors the status of the actions 
taken on a regular basis. 

Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control
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5.  Maxis Integrity and Compliance Awareness 
Committee, comprising the Compliance Officer and 
representatives from Legal and P&O meets on a 
monthly basis to co-ordinate and monitor programs 
planned and developed under the MICF and 
ensures that they are implemented in an effective, 
integrated and structured manner. On a quarterly 
basis or as and when requested, the Compliance 
Officer reports on the activities, deliverables and 
implementation of MICF to the ARC.

6.  The Central Governance Committee, comprising 
the Data Privacy, Cybersecurity and Data Protection 
teams oversee the Data Privacy and Data Protection 
strategy, processes, governance and compliance 
for the Group, including annual review of Data 
Privacy & Protection policy, relevant divisional 
compliance attestations, process improvements 
or gaps remediations. Data Privacy team regularly 
reports on the Data Privacy & Protection status 
via Enterprise Risk Management to MMT and ARC. 
Cybersecurity Management reports quarterly to the 
ARC on the Group’s cybersecurity status. 

7.  Incident Management Committee, comprising 
representatives from Cybersecurity Management, 
Legal, P&O, Data Privacy and impacted departments 
reviews security incidents. The committee is 
responsible to assess the data breach, recommend 
appropriate course of action, co-ordinate and 
execute the communication plan with internal and 
external parties including regulatory bodies and 
media and assist in execution of approved course 
of action. 

8.  Enterprise Risk Management department reports 
to the Board on a quarterly basis through the ARC 
on the risk profile of the Group and the progress of 
action plans to manage and mitigate the risks.

 Management has taken the necessary actions to 
remediate weaknesses identified for the period 
under review. The Board and Management will 
continue to monitor the effectiveness and take 
measures to strengthen the risk management and 
internal control environment.

Conclusion

For the financial year under review and up to the date 
of issuance of the financial statements, the Board is 
satisfied with the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s system of risk management and internal control 
to safeguard the interest of shareholders. No material 
losses, contingencies or uncertainties have arisen from 
any inadequacy or failure of the Group’s system of 
internal control that would require separate disclosure 
in the Group’s Integrated Annual Report. The CEO and 
CFSO have provided assurance to the Board that the
Group’s risk management and internal control system, 
in all material aspects, is operating adequately and 
effectively.

Review of the Statement by External Auditors

As required by paragraph 15.23 of the Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad Main Market Listing Requirement, 
the external auditors have reviewed this Statement on 
Risk Management and Internal Control. Their limited 
assurance review was performed in accordance with 
Audit and Assurance Practice Guide 3 (AAPG 3): 
Guidance for Auditors on Engagements to Report on 
the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control 
included in the Integrated Annual Report, issued by the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. AAPG 3 does not 
require the external auditors to form an opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management 
and internal control systems of the Group. 

Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control
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The Companies Act 2016 (the Act) requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year 
in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards 
Board, and the provisions of the Act and the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia, and to lay these 
before the Company at its Annual General Meeting. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements provide a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2020 and of their financial performance and cash flows 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

The Act also requires the Directors to keep such accounting and other records in a manner that enables them to 
sufficiently explain the transactions and financial position of the Company and the Group and to prepare true and 
fair financial statements and any documents required to be attached, as well as to enable such accounting records 
to be audited conveniently and properly.

In undertaking the responsibility placed upon them by law, the Directors have relied upon the Group’s system of 
internal control to provide them with reasonable grounds to believe that the Group’s accounting records, as well 
as other relevant records, have been maintained by the Group in a manner that enables them to sufficiently explain 
the transactions and financial position of the Group. This also enables the Directors to ensure that true and fair 
financial statements and documents required by the Act to be attached are prepared for the financial year to which 
these financial statements relate.

Incorporated on pages 118 to 225 of this Integrated Annual Report are the financial statements of the Group and 
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
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The Directors hereby submit their Report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, whilst the principal activities of the Group, comprising 
the Company and its subsidiaries, are to offer a full suite of converged telecommunications, digital and related 
services and solutions, and corporate support and services functions for the Group. Details of the principal activities 
of the subsidiaries are shown in Note 18(a) to the financial statements. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities of the Group and the Company during 
the financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Group 
RM’million

Company 
RM’million

Profit for the financial year 1,382 1,330

DIVIDENDS 

The dividends paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year were as follows:

RM’million

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2019:

Fourth interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of 5.0 sen per ordinary share, paid on 16 April 
2020 391

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2020:

First interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of 4.0 sen per ordinary share, paid on 25 June 2020 313

Second interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of 4.0 sen per ordinary share, paid on  
24 September 2020 313

Third interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of 4.0 sen per ordinary share, paid on  
23 December 2020 313

1,330

Subsequent to the financial year, on 26 February 2021, the Directors declared a fourth and special interim  
single-tier tax-exempt dividend of 4.0 sen and 1.0 sen respectively per ordinary share in respect of the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020 which will be paid on 31 March 2021. The financial statements for the financial year ended  
31 December 2020 do not reflect these dividends. Upon declaration, the cash dividend payment will be accounted 
for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings during the financial year ending 31 December 2021.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the financial year ended  
31 December 2020. 

Directors’ Report
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RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

All material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year have been disclosed in the financial 
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the financial year, the issued share capital of the Company was increased from 7,820,498,910 ordinary shares 
to 7,823,037,410 ordinary shares by the issuance of 2,538,500 new ordinary shares arising from the vesting of shares 
under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”).

These new ordinary shares issued during the financial year ranked pari passu in all respects with the existing 
ordinary shares of the Company. 

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (“LTIP”)

The Company’s LTIP is governed by the By-Laws which were approved by the shareholders on 28 April 2015 and 
is administered by the Remuneration Committee which is appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company, in 
accordance with the By-Laws. The Remuneration Committee may from time to time, offer LTIP to eligible employees 
(including executive director) of the Group and includes any person who is proposed to be employed as an employee 
(including executive director) of the Group.

The maximum number of new shares which may be made available under the LTIP and/or allotted and issued upon 
vesting of the new shares under the LTIP shall not, when aggregated with the total number of new shares allotted 
and issued under Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”), exceed 250,000,000 shares at any point of time during 
the duration of the LTIP. The ESOS has since expired in 2019.

The LTIP comprises a Performance Share Grant (“PS Grant”) and a Restricted Share Grant (“RS Grant”) which shall 
be in force for a period of 10 years commencing from the effective date of the implementation of the LTIP. The LTIP 
took effect on 31 July 2015.

Details of the LTIP are disclosed in Note 31(a) to the financial statements.

During the financial year, 8,877,300 PS Grant under the LTIP were granted to the eligible employees of the Group. 
Subject to the terms and conditions of the By-Laws governing the LTIP, the employees shall be entitled to receive 
new ordinary shares in the Company, to be allotted and issued pursuant to the LTIP (“new shares”), upon meeting 
the vesting conditions as set out in the letter of offer for the new shares. The vesting conditions comprise, amongst 
others, the performance targets and/or conditions for the period commencing from 1 January 2020 and ending on 
31 December 2022, as stipulated by the Remuneration Committee. The vesting date is on 30 June 2023, subject to 
meeting such performance targets. 
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LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (“LTIP”) (CONTINUED)

The movement of the PS Grant under the LTIP is as follows:

Quantity
’million

Total outstanding as at 1 January 2020 20

Total granted 9

Total vested (3)

Total forfeited (4)

Total outstanding as at 31 December 2020 22

The Directors have not been granted any shares since LTIP implementation.

DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of the financial year to the date 
of the Report are:

Non-Executive Directors

Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad bin Raja Tun Uda
Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir
Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam
Lim Ghee Keong
Dato’ Hamidah Naziadin
Robert Alan Nason
Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi 
Mazen Ahmed M. AlJubeir
Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi

LIST OF DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES 

Pursuant to Section 253 of the Companies Act 2016, the list of Directors of the subsidiaries (excluding Directors 
who are also Directors of the Company) in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of the 
financial year to the date of the Report is as follows:

Gokhan Ogut
Norman Wayne Treeby
Su Puay Leng

Directors’ Report
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
are a party, being arrangements with the object or objects of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire benefits 
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. 

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other 
than remuneration received or due and receivable by the Directors as shown in Note 8 to the financial statements) 
by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which he/
she is a member, or with a company in which he/she has a substantial financial interest. 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings required to be kept under Section 59 of the Companies 
Act 2016, particulars of interests of the Directors who held office at the end of the financial year in shares in the 
Company are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares in the Company

At 1.1.2020 Acquired Sold At 31.12.2020

Direct Interest

Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad bin Raja Tun Uda 750,000 - - 750,000

Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir 750,000 - - 750,000

Indirect Interest

Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir  1,000(1) - -  1,000(1)

Note:
(1) Deemed interest in 1,000 shares in the Company held by spouse pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Companies 

Act 2016.

Other than those disclosed above, according to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, none of the Directors in 
office at the end of the financial year held any interest in shares in the Company and its related corporations during 
the financial year.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COSTS

The Directors of the Group and of the Company were insured against certain liabilities under a Directors’ and 
Officers’ liability insurance policy maintained as a group basis under Binariang GSM Sdn. Bhd. (“BGSM”), the ultimate 
holding company, for up to a maximum of RM210 million for any one claim and in aggregate. During the financial 
year, the Group and the Company paid an aggregate of RM0.5 million and RM0.1 million respectively based on the 
apportioned premium in respect of such policy. 

IMMEDIATE HOLDING, PENULTIMATE HOLDING AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANIES

The Directors of the Company regard BGSM Equity Holdings Sdn. Bhd. as the immediate holding company, BGSM 
Management Sdn. Bhd. as the penultimate holding company and BGSM as the ultimate holding company. All these 
companies are incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia.
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STATUTORY INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Before the statements of profit or loss, statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of 
the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(a) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 
allowance for impairment and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that 
adequate allowance had been made for impairment; and

(b) to ensure that any current assets, other than debts, which were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of 
business, their values as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company, had been written 
down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this Report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(a) which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for impairment in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(b) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company misleading; or

(c) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the 
Group and of the Company, misleading or inappropriate.

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of 12 
months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may affect the ability of the 
Group or of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due.

At the date of this Report, there does not exist:

(a) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liability of any other person; or

(b) any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

At the date of this Report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this Report 
or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading.

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the results of the Group’s and of the Company’s operations during the financial year were not substantially 
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature, other than as disclosed in Note 36 
to the financial statements; and

(b) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this Report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations 
of the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this Report is made, other than as disclosed in 
Note 38 to the financial statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries are set out in Note 18(a) to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

Details of auditors’ remuneration are set out in Note 11 to the financial statements.

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (LLP0014401–LCA & AF 1146), have expressed their willingness to 
continue in office. 

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution dated 26 February 2021.

RAJA TAN SRI DATO’ SERI ARSHAD BIN RAJA TUN UDA TAN SRI MOKHZANI BIN MAHATHIR 
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Kuala Lumpur
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Group Company

Note

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million
 (Restated)

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million

Revenue 6 8,966 9,313 1,329 179

Traffic, device, commissions and other 
direct costs (3,147) (3,483) - -

Spectrum licence fees (267) (255) - -

Network costs (473) (530) - -

Staff and resource costs 7 (670) (651) - -

Operation and maintenance costs (448) (357) - -

Marketing costs (142) (173) - -

Impairment of receivables and deposits, 
net (268) (120) - -

Government grant and other income 274 191 * 1

Other operating expenses (93) (77) (9) (10)

Depreciation and amortisation 9 (1,475) (1,379) - -

Finance income 10(a) 84 70 13 10

Finance costs 10(b) (489) (522) * -

Profit before tax 11 1,852 2,027 1,333 180

Tax expenses 12 (470) (515) (3) (2)

Profit for the financial year 1,382 1,512 1,330 178

Attributable to equity holders of the 
Company 1,382 1,512

Earnings per share for profit attributable 
to the equity holders of the Company:

 - basic (sen) 13(a) 17.7 19.3

 - diluted (sen) 13(b) 17.7 19.3

* Less than RM1 million.

Statements of Profit or Loss
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 

Note

Group Company

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million 
(Restated)

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million

Profit for the financial year 1,382 1,512 1,330 178

Other comprehensive expenses

Item that will be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss: 

 - net change in cash flow hedge 32(c) (11) (10) - -

Total comprehensive income for the 
financial year 1,371 1,502 1,330 178

Attributable to equity holders of the 
Company 1,371 1,502

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2020 

Note

Group Company

31.12.2020 
RM’million

31.12.2019 
RM’million 
(Restated)

1.1.2019 
RM’million 
(Restated)

31.12.2020 
RM’million

31.12.2019 
RM’million

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 15 4,931 4,922 5,184 - -

Intangible assets 16 11,461 11,310 10,926 - -

Right-of-use assets 17 1,767 1,918 1,881 - -

Investments in subsidiaries 18 - - - 25,118 25,115

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 20 4 4 4 4 4

Receivables, deposits and prepayments 21 947 1,183 1,018 - -

Derivative financial instruments - - 1 - -

Deferred tax assets 23 * * * - -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19,110 19,337 19,014 25,122 25,119

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 24 3 3 16 - -

Receivables, deposits and prepayments 21 2,073 2,390 2,056 5 5

Amounts due from related parties 25 11 10 30 - -

Loans due from a subsidiary 18 - - - 227 222

Derivative financial instruments 22 - * - - -

Tax recoverable * 1 4 - -

Deposits, cash and bank balances 27 735 582 560 20 10

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,822 2,986 2,666 252 237

TOTAL ASSETS 21,932 22,323 21,680 25,374 25,356

* Less than RM1 million.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2020

Note

Group Company

31.12.2020 
RM’million

31.12.2019 
RM’million 
(Restated)

1.1.2019 
RM’million 
(Restated)

31.12.2020 
RM’million

31.12.2019 
RM’million

LESS: CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions for liabilities and charges 28 130 127 116 - -

Payables and accruals 29 3,997 4,323 4,020 1 1

Amount due to a subsidiary 18 - - - * *

Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 26 - * * - -

Amounts due to related parties 25 17 25 5 - -

Borrowings 30 255 1,156 426 - -

Derivative financial instruments 22 5 3 * - -

Taxation 57 126 199 1 1

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,461 5,760 4,766 2 2

NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (1,639) (2,774) (2,100) 250 235

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions for liabilities and charges 28 326 311 312 - -

Payables and accruals 29 188 278 155 - -

Borrowings 30 9,508 8,768 9,241 - -

Derivative financial instruments 22 17 6 - - -

Deferred tax liabilities 23 382 199 161 - -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 10,421 9,562 9,869 - -

NET ASSETS 7,050 7,001 7,045 25,372 25,354

EQUITY

Share capital 31 2,547 2,532 2,509 2,547 2,532

Reserves 32 4,503 4,469 4,536 22,825 22,822

TOTAL EQUITY 7,050 7,001 7,045 25,372 25,354

* Less than RM1 million.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 

<-------------------------Attributable to equity holders of the Company------------------------->

Issued and fully paid 
ordinary shares

Group Note

Number 
of shares

’million

Share 
capital 

RM’million

Merger 
relief 

(Note 32(a))
 RM’million

Reserve 
arising 

from 
reverse 

acquisition 
(Note 32(b))
 RM’million

Other 
reserves 

(Note 32(c)) 
RM’million

Retained 
earnings 

RM’million

Total 
equity 

RM’million

At 31 December 2019,  
as previously reported 7,820 2,532 22,729 (22,729) 67 4,471 7,070

Opening balance 
adjustments from 
adoption of IFRIC 
Agenda Decision - Lease 
(“IFRIC AD - Lease”) 36(a) - - - - - (69) (69)

Restated at 1 January 2020 7,820 2,532 22,729 (22,729) 67 4,402 7,001

Profit for the financial year - - - - - 1,382 1,382

Other comprehensive 
expense for the financial 
year - - - - (11) - (11)

Total comprehensive 
(expense)/income for the 
financial year - - - - (11) 1,382 1,371

Dividends provided for or 
paid 14 - - - - - (1,330) (1,330)

LTIP and incentive 
arrangement 32(c) 3 15 - - (7) - 8

Total transactions with 
owners, recognised 
directly in equity 3 15 - - (7) (1,330) (1,322)

At 31 December 2020 7,823 2,547 22,729 (22,729) 49 4,454 7,050

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020

<-------------------------Attributable to equity holders of the Company------------------------->

Issued and fully paid 
ordinary shares

Group Note

Number 
of shares

’million

Share 
capital 

RM’million

Merger 
relief 

(Note 32(a))
 RM’million

Reserve 
arising 

from 
reverse 

acquisition 
(Note 32(b))
 RM’million

Other 
reserves 

(Note 32(c)) 
RM’million

Retained 
earnings 

RM’million

Total 
equity 

RM’million

At 1 January 2019,  
as previously reported 7,817 2,509 22,729 (22,729) 119 4,479 7,107

Opening balance 
adjustments from 
adoption of IFRIC AD - 
Lease 36(a) - - - - - (62) (62)

Restated at 1 January 2019 7,817 2,509 22,729 (22,729) 119 4,417 7,045

Profit for the financial year - - - - - 1,512 1,512

Other comprehensive 
expense for the financial 
year - - - - (10) - (10)

Total comprehensive 
(expense)/income for the 
financial year - - - - (10) 1,512 1,502

Dividends provided for or 
paid 14 - - - - -  (1,564) (1,564)

ESOS and LTIP 32(c) 3 23 - - (42) 37 18

Total transactions with 
owners, recognised 
directly in equity 3 23 - - (42) (1,527) (1,546)

At 31 December 2019 7,820 2,532 22,729 (22,729) 67 4,402 7,001

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020

Issued and fully paid 
ordinary shares

Company Note

Number 
of shares 

’million

Share 
capital 

RM’million

Merger 
relief 

(Note 32(a)) 
RM’million

Other 
reserves 

(Note 32(c))
 RM’million

Retained 
earnings 

RM’million

Total 
equity 

RM’million

At 1 January 2020 7,820 2,532 22,729 76 17 25,354

Total profit/comprehensive 
income for the financial 
year - - - - 1,330 1,330

Dividends provided for or 
paid 14 - - - - (1,330) (1,330)

LTIP 32(c) 3 15 - 3 - 18

Total transactions with 
owners, recognised directly 
in equity 3 15 - 3 (1,330) (1,312)

At 31 December 2020 7,823 2,547 22,729 79 17 25,372

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020

Issued and fully paid 
ordinary shares

Company Note

Number 
of shares 

’million

Share 
capital 

RM’million

Merger 
relief 

(Note 32(a)) 
RM’million

Other 
reserves 

(Note 32(c))
 RM’million

Retained 
earnings 

RM’million

Total 
equity 

RM’million

At 1 January 2019 7,817 2,509 22,729 118 1,401 26,757

Total profit/comprehensive 
income for the financial 
year - - - - 178 178

Dividends provided for or 
paid 14 - - - - (1,564) (1,564)

ESOS and LTIP 32(c) 3 23 - (42) 2 (17)

Total transactions with 
owners, recognised directly 
in equity 3 23 - (42) (1,562) (1,581)

At 31 December 2019 7,820 2,532 22,729 76 17 25,354

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note

Group Company

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million 
(Restated)

2020 
RM’million

2019
RM’million

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the financial year 1,382 1,512 1,330 178

Adjustments for:

Impairment of receivables and deposits (net) 33(b) 307 147 - -

Reversal of inventories obsolescence (net) * * - -

Amortisation of:

- contract cost assets 21(e) 146 110 - -

- intangible assets 16 62 25 - -

Bad debts recovered (39) (27) - -

Dividend income 6 - - (1,329) (179)

Unrealised fair value losses on forward foreign 
exchange contracts 1 1 - -

Finance costs 10 489 522 * -

Finance income 10 (84) (70) (13) (10)

Depreciation of:

- property, plant and equipment 15 1,131 1,075 - -

- right-of-use assets 17 282 279 - -

Property, plant and equipment:

- loss/(gain) on disposal * * - -

- net allowance for impairment 15 2 1 - -

- write-offs 15 29 32 - -

Provision for/(write-back of ) (net):

- site rectification and decommissioning works 28 * (10) - -

- staff incentive scheme 28 102 105 - -

Share-based payments 7 20 18 - -

Tax expenses 12 470 515 3 2

Termination of right-of-use assets (3) - - -

Unrealised gains on foreign exchange (6) (26) - -

4,291 4,209 (9) (9)

Payments for:

- site rectification and decommissioning works 28 (2) (1) - -

- staff incentive scheme 28 (105) (93) - -

Operating cash flows before working capital 
changes 4,184 4,115 (9) (9)

* Less than RM1 million.

Statements of Cash Flows
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note

Group Company

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million 
(Restated)

2020 
RM’million

2019
RM’million

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
(continued)

Changes in working capital:

Inventories * 13 - -

Receivables 168 (186) - *

Payables (366) 48 * *

Balances with:

- related parties (9) 41 - -

- fellow subsidiaries * - - -

- subsidiaries - - 15 23

Cash flows from operations 3,977 4,031 6 14

Dividends received - - 1,329 179

Interest received 17 27 8 8

Tax paid (356) (549) (3) (1)

Tax refund 1 2 - -

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,639 3,511 1,340 200

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Loans granted to a subsidiary - - (313) (934)

Loan repayments from a subsidiary - - 313 714

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets:

 - purchase (1,396) (1,371) - -

 - disposal proceeds 1 1 - -

Consideration paid for business combinations 16 (18) - - -

Dividends received 18(a) - - - 479

Capital repaid by a subsidiary 18(a) - - - 1,100

Placement of deposits with maturity of more than 
three months * (6) - -

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities (1,413) (1,376) - 1,359

* Less than RM1 million.

Statements of Cash Flows
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note

Group Company

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million 
(Restated)

2020 
RM’million

2019
RM’million

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of shares pursuant to 
ESOS - * - *

Shares acquired pursuant to incentive 
arrangement (12) - - -

Drawdown of borrowings 1,200 200 - -

Repayments of:

- borrowings (1,200) - - -

- lease liabilities 17(iii) (241) (233) - -

Payments of finance costs (490) (522) * -

Ordinary share dividends paid 14 (1,330) (1,564) (1,330) (1,564)

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (2,073) (2,119) (1,330) (1,564)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS 153 16 10 (5)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 552 536 10 15

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 27 705 552 20 10

* Less than RM1 million.

Statements of Cash Flows
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2020

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2020 

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the 
Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, whilst the principal activities of the Group, 
comprising the Company and its subsidiaries, are to offer a full suite of converged telecommunications, digital 
and related services and solutions, and corporate support and services functions for the Group. Details of the 
principal activities of the subsidiaries are shown in Note 18(a) to the financial statements. 

 There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities of the Group and of the Company 
during the financial year. 

 The Directors regard BGSM Equity Holdings Sdn. Bhd. as the immediate holding company, BGSM Management 
Sdn. Bhd. as the penultimate holding company and Binariang GSM Sdn. Bhd. (“BGSM”) as the ultimate holding 
company. All these companies are incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia.

 The address of the registered office of business of the Company is as follows:

Level 21, Menara Maxis
Kuala Lumpur City Centre
Off Jalan Ampang
50088 Kuala Lumpur

 The address of the principal place of business of the Company is as follows:

Level 5 - 9, 11, 14 - 25, 29 & 30 Menara Maxis
Kuala Lumpur City Centre
Off Jalan Ampang
50088 Kuala Lumpur

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention except as disclosed in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 3 to the financial 
statements.

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reported financial year. It also requires the Directors to exercise their judgment in 
the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies. Although these estimates and 
judgments are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ. 

 The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Amendments to published standards and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”) Agenda Decision that are effective and applicable to the Group and the Company 

 The Group and the Company have applied the following amendments to published standards and IFRIC 
Agenda Decision for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2020:

• The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Revised 2018)
• Amendments to MFRS 101 and MFRS 108 “Definition of Material”
• Amendments to MFRS 3 “Definition of a Business” 
• Amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 139 and MFRS 7 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform”
• IFRIC November 2019 Agenda Decision on “Lease Term and Useful Life of Leasehold Improvements” 
• Amendments to MFRS 16 “COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions”

 The adoption of the above amendments to published standards and IFRIC Agenda Decision did not have 
any significant effect on the consolidated and separate financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company respectively upon their initial application, except for changes arising from the adoption of the 
IFRIC Agenda Decision as described in Note 36. 

(b) Amendments to published standards that are applicable to the Group and the Company but not yet 
effective 

 The amendments below to published standards are effective for the financial year beginning after  
1 January 2020. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of the Group and Company respectively. 

• Amendments to MFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual Framework”
• Amendment to MFRS 116 “Proceeds before Intended Use”
• Amendments to MFRS 137 “Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract”
• Amendments to MFRS 101 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
• Annual improvements to MFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items that are considered 
material in relation to the financial statements. 

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries 

 Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the 
relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(i)  Subsidiaries (continued)

 The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the 
liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from 
a contingent consideration arrangement and fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the 
subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised 
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

 Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date and any gains or 
losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed 
to be an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

 Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any 
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. 
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held 
interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, in the case 
of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss. See 
accounting policy Note 3(d)(ii) on goodwill.

 Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated. 

 Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of financial position respectively.

 All earnings and losses of the subsidiary are attributed to the parent and the non-controlling 
interests, even if the attribution of losses to the non-controlling interests results in a debit balance in 
the shareholders’ equity. Profit or loss attributable to non-controlling interests for prior years is not 
restated.
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(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(ii) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

 Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as 
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment 
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative 
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling 
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in equity attributable to owners of  
the Group.

(b) Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

 Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group 
entities using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions.

 Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the 
functional currency at exchange rates ruling at the date.

 Exchange differences arising from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and the translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end are recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss. However, exchange differences are deferred in other comprehensive 
income when they arise from qualifying cash flow or net investment hedges or are attributable to 
items that form part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

(c) Property, plant and equipment 

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditure (including borrowing and staff costs) that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of property, plant and equipment and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
The cost of certain property, plant and equipment items include the costs of dismantling and removing  
the item and restoring the sites on which these items are located. These costs are due to obligations 
incurred either when the items were installed or as a consequence of having used these items during a 
particular period. 

 Certain telecommunications assets are stated at the amount of cash or cash equivalent that would have to 
be paid if the same or an equivalent asset was acquired. Included in telecommunications equipment are 
purchased software costs which are integral to such equipment.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the 
financial year in which they are incurred. 

 Freehold land is not depreciated as it has an indefinite life.

 All other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line method to write-off the cost 
of each category of assets to its residual value over its estimated useful life, summarised as follows:

Buildings 44 – 50 years

Telecommunications equipment 2 – 25 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Office furniture, fittings and equipment 3 – 7 years

 Capital work-in-progress and capital inventories comprise mainly telecommunications equipment, 
information technology equipment and renovations. They are reclassified to the respective categories of 
property, plant and equipment and depreciated when they are ready for their intended use. 

 Residual values and useful lives are reassessed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date.

 At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. Where an 
indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the asset is assessed and written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount. See accounting policy Note 3(g) on impairment of non-financial assets.

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are 
included in the statement of profit or loss. 

 Leased assets (including leasehold land) are presented as “right-of-use assets” in a separate line item in 
the statement of financial position.

(d) Intangible assets

 The Group acquires intangible assets either as part of a business combination or through separate 
acquisition. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recorded at their fair value at the 
date of acquisition and recognised separately from goodwill. On initial acquisition, management judgment 
is applied to determine the appropriate allocation of purchase consideration to the assets being acquired, 
including goodwill and identifiable intangible assets.
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(d) Intangible assets (continued)

(i) Spectrum rights

 The Group’s spectrum rights consist of telecommunications licences with allocated spectrum rights 
which were acquired as part of a business combination and other spectrum rights.

 Spectrum rights with fixed term are considered to have indefinite useful lives if they can be renewed 
indefinitely without significant costs in comparison to the expected future economic benefits and 
there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash 
inflow for the Group. Spectrum rights that are considered to have an indefinite economic useful 
life are not amortised but tested for impairment on an annual basis, and where an indication of 
impairment exists. Costs to renew such spectrum rights upon the expiry of their licence periods are 
charged to the statement of profit or loss during the licence periods.

 Spectrum rights that are considered to have a finite life are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the period of expected benefit and assessed at each reporting date for any indication of impairment. 

 See accounting policy Note 3(g) on impairment of non-financial assets.

 The estimated useful lives of the spectrum rights of the Group are as follows:

Telecommunications licences with allocated spectrum rights Indefinite life

Other spectrum rights 4 years

 Management assesses the indefinite economic useful life assumption applied to the acquired 
intangible assets annually.

(ii) Goodwill

 Goodwill arises from a business combination and represents the excess of the aggregation of 
the consideration transferred for purchase of subsidiaries or businesses, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

 Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Negative goodwill is 
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

 Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 
entity sold.

 Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of impairment testing. 
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. See accounting policy Note 3(g) on 
impairment of non-financial assets. Each CGU or a group of CGUs represents the lowest level within 
the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and which is expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Intangible assets (continued)

(iii) Software

 Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 
Group and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are 
recognised as intangible assets. 

 Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmes beyond 
their original specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of 
the software. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as 
an expense when incurred. 

 Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Other development 
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 
costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

 Software recognised as assets are amortised using the straight line method over their estimated 
useful economic lives of 3 - 8 years.

 No amortisation is calculated on software development until the software is completed and is ready 
for its intended use.

(iv) Customer relationships

 Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. It has a finite useful life of 4 years and are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the expected benefits and assessed at each reporting date whether any indication of 
impairment exists. See accounting policy Note 3(g) on impairment of non-financial assets.

(e) Investments in subsidiaries 

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses plus the fair value of share options, share grants and shares acquired, 
over the Company’s equity instruments for employees (including full-time executive directors) of the 
subsidiaries during the vesting period, deemed as capital contribution. See accounting policy Note 3(t)
(iii) on share-based compensation benefits. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount 
of the investment is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. See accounting 
policy Note 3(g) on impairment of non-financial assets.

(f ) Financial instruments

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.
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(f) Financial instruments (continued)

 A financial asset is any asset that is cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset 
from another enterprise, a contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise 
under conditions that are potentially favourable, or an equity instrument of another enterprise.

 A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset 
to another enterprise, or to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under conditions that 
are potentially unfavourable.

Financial assets

(i) Classification

 The Group and the Company classify their financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income 
(“OCI”) or through profit or loss); and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

 The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows.

 For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group 
and the Company have made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for 
the equity investment at FVOCI.

 The Group and the Company reclassify debt investments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

 Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which 
the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred 
and the Group and the Company have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

 At initial recognition, the Group and the Company measure a financial asset at its fair value plus, in 
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets 
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

 Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iii) Measurement (continued)

 Debt instruments

 Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s and the Company’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three 
measurement categories into which the Group and the Company classify their debt instruments: 

• Amortised cost: 

 Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from 
these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented 
in other operating expenses together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment 
losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

• FVOCI:

 Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, 
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured 
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition 
of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are 
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other 
operating expenses. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income 
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 
other operating expenses and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the 
statement of profit or loss.

• FVPL:

 Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain 
or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or 
loss and presented net within other operating expenses in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

 The Group and the Company subsequently measure all equity instruments at fair value. Where the 
Group’s and the Company’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit 
or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue 
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is 
established.

 Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised within other operating expenses 
in the statement of profit or loss as applicable. 
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(f) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Subsequent measurement – impairment 

 The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit loss (“ECL”) associated with 
its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and at FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied 
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

 The Group has five types of financial instruments that are subject to the ECL model:

• Trade receivables
• Finance lease receivables 
• Contract assets
• Other receivables and deposits
• Amounts due from related parties

 While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of MFRS 9 “Financial 
Instruments”, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

 ECL represents a probability-weighted estimate of the difference between present value of cash 
flows according to contract and present value of cash flows the Group expects to receive, over the 
remaining life of the financial instrument. 

 The measurement of ECL reflects:

• an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of 
possible outcomes;

• the time value of money; and 
• reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at 

the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions.

(a) General 3-stage approach for other receivables, deposits and loans to subsidiaries

 At each reporting date, the Group measures ECL through loss allowance at an amount equal 
to 12-month ECL if credit risk on a financial instrument or a group of financial instruments has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, a loss 
allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL is required. 

(b) Simplified approach for trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets

 The Group applies the MFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL 
for all trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets. 
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Subsequent measurement – impairment (continued)

 Significant increase in credit risk

 The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. 
To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial 
recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.

 The following indicators are incorporated: 

• internal credit rating; and
• actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions 

that are expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations.

 Macroeconomic information (such as market interest rates or growth rates) is incorporated as part of 
the internal rating model. 

 A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30 days past due in making 
contractual payment.

 Definition of default and credit-impaired financial assets

 The Group defines a financial instrument as default, when counterparty fails to make contractual 
payment more than 90 days after they fall due or the debtor is insolvent or has significant financial 
difficulties.

 Financial instruments that are credit-impaired are assessed on individual basis.

 For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, finance lease receivables 
and contract assets, balances that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently 
assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. 

 Groupings of instruments for ECL measured on collective basis

(a) Collective assessment

 To measure ECL, trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets have been 
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics of customer’s behaviour and the days 
past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled amounts and have substantially the same risk 
characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore 
concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of 
the loss rates for the contract assets.
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(f) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Subsequent measurement – impairment (continued)

 Groupings of instruments for ECL measured on collective basis (continued)

(b) Individual assessment

 Trade receivables, finance lease receivables, contract assets, other receivables and deposits, 
related parties’ owings that are in default or credit-impaired are assessed individually.

Write-off

(a) Trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets

 Trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets are written off when there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the 
Group. 

 Impairment losses on trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets are 
presented within ‘Impairment of receivables and deposits, net’ in the statements of profit or 
loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same 
line item in the statements of profit or loss.

(b) Other receivables and deposits, related parties’ owings

 The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical 
recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The 
assessment of no reasonable expectation of recovery is based on unavailability of debtor’s 
sources of income or assets to generate sufficient future cash flows to repay the amount. The 
Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. These are 
presented as net impairment losses within ‘Impairment of receivables and deposits, net’ in 
the statements of profit or loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the same line item.

Financial liabilities

(i) Classification and measurement 

 The Group and the Company classify their financial liabilities in the following categories: at fair 
value through profit or loss, other financial liabilities and financial guarantee contracts. Management 
determines the classification of financial liabilities at initial recognition.

 The Group and the Company do not hold any financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit 
or loss (except for derivative financial instruments and deferred contingent consideration arising 
from business combinations) and financial guarantee contracts. See accounting policy Note 3(h) on 
derivative financial instruments and hedging activities.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

(i) Classification and measurement (continued)

 Other financial liabilities are non-derivative financial liabilities. Other financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial liability and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Changes in the carrying value of these liabilities are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

 The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities comprise payables (including inter-
companies and related parties’ balances) and borrowings in the statement of financial position. 
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities; except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the reporting date, in which case they are classified as non-current liabilities.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

 Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group and the Company become party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

 Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is either discharged, cancelled, expired or 
has been restructured with substantially different terms.

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally 
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course 
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets

 Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that have a finite economic useful life are subject to amortisation and are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and value-in-use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows which are largely independent of the 
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (“CGUs”). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 Any impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on goodwill are not 
reversed. In respect of other assets, any subsequent increase in recoverable amount is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.
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(h) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each reporting date. 

 A derivative financial instrument is carried as an asset when the fair value is positive and as a liability 
when the fair value is negative.

 The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. Derivative that does not qualify 
for hedge accounting are classified as “held for trading” and accounted for at fair value through profit 
and loss. Changes in fair value of any derivative financial instrument that does not qualify for hedge 
accounting are recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. 

 Derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting are designated as either:

• Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);
• Hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 

transaction (cash flow hedge); or
• Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

 The Group documents at the inception of the hedge relationship, the economic relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging 
instruments are expected to offset changes in the cash flows of hedged items. The Group documents its 
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions. 

 The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 22. 
Movements on the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in Note 32(c). The full fair value 
of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the 
hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the 
hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

 Cash flow hedge

 The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in reserves within equity. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. 

 Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item 
affects profit or loss. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging 
variable rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within ‘finance costs’.

 When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, the accounting of any cumulative deferred gain or loss and deferred cost 
of hedging included in equity depends on the nature of the underlying hedged transaction. For cash flow 
hedge which resulted in the recognition of a non-financial asset, the cumulative amount in equity shall 
be included in the initial cost of the asset. For other cash flow hedges, the cumulative amount in equity 
is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss. When 
hedged future cash flows or forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss and deferred cost of hedging that was reported in equity is immediately reclassified to the statement 
of profit or loss.
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(h) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

 Cash flow hedge (continued)

 The Group and the Company do not have any fair value hedges and net investment hedges.

(i) Fair value estimates

 The fair value of the financial assets, financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments is estimated 
for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

 In assessing the fair value of financial instruments, the Group makes certain assumptions and applies the 
estimated discounted value of future cash flows to determine the fair value of financial instruments. The 
fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are estimated by discounting future cash flows at the 
current interest rate available to the respective companies.

 The face values for financial assets and financial liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are 
assumed to be approximately equal to their fair values.

 For derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair value, the fair values are determined using 
a valuation technique which utilises data from recognised financial information sources. Assumptions are 
based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. The fair values of interest rate swaps are 
calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flow using an appropriate market-based yield 
curve. The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts are determined using the forward exchange 
rates as at each reporting date.

( j) Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the actual cost of 
materials and incidentals in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, and is 
determined on a weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

(k) Trade and other receivables

 Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in 
the ordinary course of business. Other receivables generally arise from transactions outside the usual 
operating activities of the Group. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current 
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

 Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they 
contain significant financing components, where they are recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs. 

 After recognition, trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method, less loss allowance. See Note 3(f )(iv) for the impairment policy on 
receivables.
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(l) Leases

 Accounting as lessee

 Leases are recognised as right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a corresponding liability at the date on which the 
leased asset is available for use by the Group (i.e. the commencement date). 

 Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in 
the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. 

(i)  Lease term 

 In determining the lease term, the Group considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension options 
(or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably 
certain to be extended (or not to be terminated). 

 From 1 January 2020, following the adoption of IFRIC AD - Lease, in determining the enforceable 
period of the lease, the Group considers the following:

• the broader economics of the contract, and not only contractual termination payments. If either 
party has an economic incentive not to terminate the lease such that it would incur a penalty on 
termination that is more than insignificant, the contract is deemed enforceable beyond the date 
on which the contract can be terminated; and 

• whether each of the parties has the right to terminate the lease without permission from the 
other party with no more than an insignificant penalty. A lease is no longer enforceable only 
when both parties have such a right. Consequently, if only one party has the right to terminate 
the lease without permission from the other party with no more than an insignificant penalty, 
the contract is deemed enforceable beyond the date on which the contract can be terminated 
by that party.

 The Group reassesses the lease term upon the occurrence of a significant event or change in 
circumstances that is within the control of the Group and affects whether the Group is reasonably 
certain to exercise an option not previously included in the determination of lease term, or not to 
exercise an option previously included in the determination of lease term. A revision in lease term 
results in remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

(ii)  ROU assets

 ROU assets are initially measured at cost comprising the following: 

• The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 
• Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentive 

received;
• Any initial direct costs; and
• Decommissioning or restoration costs.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(l) Leases (continued)

 Accounting as lessee (continued)

(ii)  ROU assets (continued)

 ROU assets are subsequently measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
loss, if any. The ROU assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life 
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. In addition, the ROU assets are adjusted for certain 
remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

(iii)  Lease liabilities

 Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
that date. The lease payments include the following: 

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentive receivable; 
• The exercise price of extension options if the group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 

and 
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising 

that option. 

 The Group presents the lease liabilities within borrowings in the statement of financial position. Interest 
expense on the lease liability is presented within the finance cost in the statement of profit or loss.

 Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be 
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used. This is the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the ROU in a similar economic environment 
with similar term, security and conditions. 

 Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

(iv)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

 Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Payments associated with short-
term leases of equipment, land and buildings, and network cell sites and all leases of low-value 
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. 

 Accounting as a lessor 

 As a lessor, the Group determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating 
lease. To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee. As 
part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major 
part of the economic life of the asset. 
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(l) Leases (continued)

 Accounting as a lessor (continued)

(i)  Finance leases

 The Group classifies a lease as a finance lease if the lease transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee. 

 The Group derecognises the underlying asset and recognises a receivable at an amount equal to the 
net investment in a finance lease. Net investment in a finance lease is measured at an amount equal 
to the sum of the present value of lease payments from the lessee and the unguaranteed residual 
value of the underlying asset. Initial direct costs are also included in the initial measurement of the 
net investment. 

 Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method so as to 
reflect a constant periodic rate of return. The Group revises the lease income allocation if there is a 
reduction in the estimated unguaranteed residual value. 

 
(ii)  Operating leases 

 The Group classifies a lease as an operating lease if the lease does not transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee. 

 The Group recognises lease payments received under an operating lease as lease income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(iii)  Separating lease and non-lease components 

 If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration 
in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on the stand-alone selling prices in 
accordance with the principles in MFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. 

(m) Loans to subsidiaries

 Loans to subsidiaries are recognised initially at fair value. If there are any difference between cash 
disbursed and fair value on initial recognition, the difference would be accounted as additional investment 
in the subsidiary as it reflects the substance of the transaction. 

 Loans to subsidiaries are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less loss allowance. See Note 3(f )(iv) for the impairment policy on receivables.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement 
of financial position. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are 
presented net of deposits with maturity more than three months.

(o) Share capital

(i) Classification

 Ordinary shares and redeemable preference shares with discretionary dividends are classified as 
equity. Other shares are classified as equity and/or liability according to the economic substance 
of the particular instrument. Distributions to holders of a financial instrument classified as an equity 
instrument are charged directly to equity.

(ii) Share issue costs

 External costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are deducted, net of tax, against 
proceeds and shown in equity. 

(iii) Dividends to shareholders of the Company

 Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the period they 
are approved by the Directors except for the final dividend which is subject to approval by the 
Company’s shareholders. 

(p) Payables

 Payables, including accruals, represent liabilities for goods received and services rendered to the Group 
and the Company prior to the end of the financial year and which remain unpaid. Payables are classified 
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current 
liabilities.

 Payables are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred, which include transfer 
taxes and duties. Payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

(q) Borrowings

 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are capitalised as part of the cost of the assets. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 
in the statement of profit or loss when incurred.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q) Borrowings (continued)

 Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the 
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred 
until the drawdown occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the 
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over 
the period of the facility to which it relates.

 Interest expense, losses and gains relating to a financial instrument, or a component part, classified as a 
liability is reported within finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

 Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
within finance costs.

 Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

(i) Borrowings in a designated hedging relationship 

 Borrowings subject to cash flow hedges are recognised initially at fair value based on the applicable 
interest rate plus any transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of borrowing. These 
borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised costs. Any difference between the final amount 
paid to discharge the borrowing and the initial proceeds is recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss over the borrowing period using the effective interest method.

 Interest expense on the borrowings are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, along with the 
associated gains or losses on the hedging instrument, which have been reclassified from the cash 
flow hedging reserve to the statement of profit or loss.

(ii) Borrowings not in a designated hedging relationship

 Borrowings not in a designated hedging relationship are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of borrowing. These borrowings are 
subsequently carried at amortised costs. Any difference between the final amount paid to discharge 
the borrowing and the initial proceeds is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the 
borrowing period using the effective interest method.

(r) Provisions for liabilities and charges

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are measured at the present value 
of management’s best estimate of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r) Provisions for liabilities and charges (continued)

(i) Site rectification and decommissioning works

 Provision for site rectification works is based on management’s best estimate and the past trend of 
costs for rectification works to be carried out to fulfil new regulatory guidelines and requirements 
imposed after network cell sites were built. 

 Provision for decommissioning works is the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the 
structures on identified sites and restoring these sites. This obligation is incurred either when the 
items are installed or as a consequence of having used the items during a particular period. 

 The estimated amount is determined after taking into consideration the time value of money, risk 
specific to the provision and the current conditions of the sites. The initial estimated amount is 
capitalised as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment. Where the provision is discounted, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

(ii) Staff incentive scheme

 Provision for staff incentive scheme is based on management’s best estimate of the total employee 
benefits payable as at reporting date based on the service and/or performance conditions of 
individual employees and/or financial performance of the Group.

(s) Income taxes

 The tax expenses for the period comprise current and deferred tax. The income tax expense or credit 
for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income 
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and to unused tax losses. Tax is recognised in the statement of profit or loss except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this 
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

 Current tax expenses are determined according to the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which the Group 
operates and include all taxes based upon the taxable profits, and real property gains taxes payable on 
disposal of properties.

 Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
amounts attributed to assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of 
goodwill. Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, investment tax allowance or unused tax 
losses can be utilised.

 Deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the 
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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(s) Income taxes (continued)

 Deferred tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments 
in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable the temporary 
difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the 
deductible temporary difference can be utilised.

 Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the 
deferred tax liability is settled.

 The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets shall reflect the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which the entity expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

 Deferred and current tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority or either the taxable entity or different taxable entities when 
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 

(t) Employee benefits
 
(i)  Short-term employee benefits

 Wages, salaries, paid annual leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits that are expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period 
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The Group 
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created 
a constructive obligation.

 
(ii) Post-employment benefits

 Defined contribution plans 

 A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into 
a separate entity on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis, and the Group has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay 
all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 

 
 The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the statement of profit or loss 

in the period to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further 
payment obligations. The Group recognises a provision when an employee has provided services in 
exchange for employee benefits to be paid in the future. When contributions to a defined contribution 
plan are not expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the reporting period in 
which the employees render the related service, they shall be discounted to present value. 
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(t) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)  Share-based compensation benefits 

 The Group and the Company operate equity-settled, share-based compensation plans for eligible 
employees (including full-time executive directors) of the Group and of the Company, pursuant 
to the Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”), Long-term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and incentive 
arrangement. Where the Group and the Company pay for services of employees using the share 
options, the fair value of the share options and share grants are recognised as an employee benefit 
expense in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting periods, with a corresponding increase in 
equity.

 The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value 
of the share options and shares at the grant date and the number of share options and shares to be 
vested by the vesting date. At each reporting date, the Group and the Company revise their estimates 
of the number of share options and shares that are expected to be vested by the vesting date. Any 
revision of this estimate is included in the statement of profit or loss and with the corresponding 
adjustment in equity.

 The fair value of share options was measured using a modified Black Scholes model. Measurement 
inputs included share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility 
(based on weighted average historical volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly 
available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on maturity of the 
share options), expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate (based on data from recognised 
financial information sources). The fair value of share grants for employees for nil consideration 
under the LTIP and incentive arrangement respectively, are measured using the observable market 
price of the shares at the grant date. 

 Non-market vesting conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining 
fair value. Non-market vesting and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number 
of options or shares that are expected to vest. 

 When share options are exercised, the proceeds received, if any, from the exercise of the share 
options together with the corresponding share-based payments reserve, net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are transferred to equity. If the share options or share grants expire or 
lapse, the corresponding share-based payments reserve attributable to the share options or share 
grants are transferred to retained earnings.

 When share options or share grants are forfeited due to failure by the employee to satisfy the 
service and/or performance conditions, any expenses previously recognised in relation to such share 
options or share grants are reversed effective on the date of the forfeiture.

 When shares of the Company are acquired from the open market at market price using cash incentive 
payable to employees, the transactions are recorded in share-based payments reserve.

 In the separate financial statements of the Company, the share options, share grants and shares 
acquired, over the Company’s equity instruments for the employees of subsidiary undertakings in 
the Group, are treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of the share options, share grants and 
shares acquired for employees of the subsidiary in exchange for the services of employees to the 
subsidiary are recognised as investment in subsidiary, with a corresponding credit to equity.
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(u) Revenue recognition

(i) Revenue from contract with customers

 Telecommunications revenue

 Revenue from prepaid services is recognised when services are rendered. Consideration from the 
sale of prepaid sim cards and reload vouchers to customers where services have not been rendered 
at the reporting date is deferred as contract liability until actual usage or when the cards, vouchers 
or reloaded amounts are expired or forfeited.

 Postpaid services are provided in postpaid packages which consist of a series of promised services 
including voice, data, text, digital and other converged telecommunications services. As the services 
are separately identifiable and the customers can benefit from each of the services on its own, each 
service is accounted for as a separate performance obligation. 

 For postpaid usage-based plans, revenue is recognised when the customers use the services and is 
measured at the consideration specified in the contract.

 Fixed fee postpaid service plans may include services which provide customers with limited and 
unlimited usage for the respective services within the plan. For services with unlimited usage, 
revenue is recognised proportionately over the fixed fee billing period based on the consideration 
allocated for the service. For services with limited usage, revenue is recognised when the customer 
utilises their entitled usage and is measured based on the consideration allocated for the service. 
Services with limited usage can be utilised up to the end of the fixed fee period. At the end of the 
fixed fee period, the remaining consideration allocated for the service which has not been utilised is 
recognised as revenue in full. 

 The consideration specified in the contract is adjusted for expected discounts and rebates for 
contracts which offer discounted rates when certain volume commitments are met, to the extent 
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. Accumulated experience is used 
to estimate and provide for the discounts, using the expected value method. As the amount billed to 
customer is higher than the transaction price, a contract liability is recognised.

 Postpaid packages are either sold separately or bundled together with the sale of a mobile device to 
a customer. Mobile devices can also be obtained separately from other mobile device retailers and 
can be used together with the postpaid packages provided by the Group. As postpaid packages and 
mobile devices are capable of being distinct and separately identifiable, there are two performance 
obligations within a bundled transaction. Accordingly, the Group allocates the transaction price 
based on the relative stand-alone selling prices (“RSSP”) of the postpaid packages and device.

 Stand-alone selling price are based on observable sales prices; however, where stand-alone selling 
prices are not directly observable, estimates will be made maximising the use of observable inputs.

 



FINANCIAL STATEMENTSIntegrated Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements

153

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

 Sale of device

 Revenue from sale of device is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred 
to the customer, usually on delivery and acceptance of the device.

 Payment for the transaction price of the mobile device is typically collected at the point the customer 
signs up for the bundled contract, except for bundled packages that have a payment structure allowing 
customers to pay for the mobile device over a period of 12 to 24 months. For these arrangements, the 
Group discounts the transaction price using the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing 
transaction between the Group and its customers at contract inception, to take into consideration the 
significant financing component.

 A contract asset is recognised when the Group delivers the devices before the payment is due. If 
the payment happens before the delivery of device then a contract liability is recognised. Contract 
assets and contract liabilities are presented within receivables and payables respectively in the 
statement of financial position.

 Devices and equipment that are transferred as part of a fixed line telecommunications services 
bundled package which can only be used together with the services provided by the Group, are 
considered as a single performance obligation in telecommunications services revenue. 

 The contract for sale of devices does not give the customers a right of return nor responsibilities 
within the ambit of device manufacturer’s warranty.

 When another party is involved in providing devices to a customer, the Group is a principal in such 
arrangements when it controls the devices before they are transferred to the customers. As the 
principal, the Group recognises revenue on the gross consideration allocated to the devices with the 
corresponding direct costs of satisfying the contract.

 Customer loyalty programme

 The Group operates a loyalty programme which may provide the customers a material right to acquire 
future products and services from the Group or selected partner vendors of the Group for free or at 
a discount. 

 Where there is a material right to the customer, a portion of the consideration specified in the 
contract is allocated to the material right on a RSSP basis. The consideration allocated is recognised 
as a contract liability. Revenue is only recognised when the material rights such as free goods or 
discounts are redeemed or expired.
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(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii) Contract assets

 A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to 
the customer. If the Group transfers goods or services to a customer before the customer pays 
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration 
that is conditional. Contract assets are presented within “Receivables, deposits, and prepayments” 
of the statement of financial position.

(iii) Contract liabilities

 Contract liability is the unsatisfied obligation by the Group to transfer goods or services to customer 
for which the Group has received the consideration in advance or has billed the customer. Contract 
liabilities are presented within “Payables and accruals” of the statement of financial position.

(iv) Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s and the Company’s right to receive payment is 
established. 

(v) Interest income

 Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding 
and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income will 
accrue to the Group and the Company.

(v)  Incremental costs incurred to acquire a contract

 The direct and incremental costs of acquiring a contract including, for example, sales commissions are 
recognised as contract cost assets as these are incremental costs that would not have been incurred by 
the Group if the respective contracts had not been obtained. The Group expects to recover these costs in 
the future through telecommunications services revenue earned from the customer. These are amortised 
consistently over the term of the specific contract to which the cost relates to. 

 Where the costs incurred to acquire a contract are in respect of contracts with amortisation period of less 
than one year, these are recognised as an expense when incurred in line with the practical expedient 
elected by the Group.

 Amortisation of contract acquisition costs is presented within traffic, commissions and other direct costs 
within the statement of profit or loss.

 An impairment loss is recognised to profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract 
cost asset recognised exceeds the remaining amount of considerations that the Group expects to receive 
for the specific contract that the cost relate to less additional costs required to complete the specific 
contract.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(w) Government grants

 As a Universal Service Provider, the Group is entitled to claim certain qualified expenses from the relevant 
authorities in relation to Universal Service Provider projects. The claim qualifies as a government grant 
and is recognised at its fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.

 Government grants relating to costs are recognised as income in the statement of profit or loss to match 
them with the expenses they are intended to compensate in the period they are incurred.

 Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are included in payables and accruals as government 
grant and are credited to the statement of profit or loss as income on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful lives of the related assets.

(x) Contingent liabilities

 The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements. 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed 
by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group or a present 
obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in the extremely rare circumstance where there 
is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably.

(y) Segment reporting

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision-makers comprising the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial and 
Strategy Officer. The chief operating decision-makers are responsible for allocating resources, assessing 
performance of the operating segments and making strategic decisions.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

 Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated by the Directors and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

 The Group and the Company make estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. To enhance the information content of 
the estimates, certain key variables that are anticipated to have a material impact on the Group’s and the 
Company’s results and financial position are tested for sensitivity to changes in the underlying parameters. The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below.

 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions – Group

(a) Intangible assets - telecommunications licenses with allocated spectrum rights

 The telecommunications licences with allocated spectrum rights are not subject to amortisation and are 
tested annually for impairment as the Directors are of the opinion that although the licences are issued for 
a fixed period, they can be renewed in perpetuity, at negligible cost in comparison to the expected future 
economic benefits that the rights can generate. 

 The estimated useful life reflects the Group’s expectation of the period over which the Group will continue 
to recover benefits from the licence. 

 The useful life is periodically reviewed, taking into consideration such factors as changes in technology 
and the regulatory environment. See Note 16 to the financial statements for the key assumptions on the 
impairment assessment of intangible assets.

(b) Estimated useful lives and impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets - software

 The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives and assesses for indicators of impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and software within the intangible assets based on factors such as business plans 
and strategies, historical sector and industry trends, general market and economic conditions, regulatory 
landscape, expected level of usage, future technological developments and other available information. 
It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates 
brought about by changes in the factors mentioned. Any impairment or reduction in the estimated useful 
lives would increase charges to the statement of profit or loss and decrease their carrying value. See Note 
15 to the financial statements for the impact of the changes in the estimated useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment.

(c) Provisions for liabilities and charges

 The Group recognises provisions for liabilities and charges when it has a present legal or constructive 
obligation arising as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. The recording of provision requires 
the application of judgments about the ultimate resolution of these obligations. As a result, provisions are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the Group’s current best estimate. See Note 28 to 
the financial statements for the impact on changes in estimates.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions – Group (continued)

(d) Revenue recognition for contracts with customers

 Identification of performance obligation

 Certain contracts with customers are bundled packages that may include sale of products and 
telecommunications services that comprise voice, data and other converged telecommunications and 
solutions services. The Group accounts for individual products and services separately as separate 
performance obligations if they are distinct promised goods and services, i.e. if a product or service 
is separately identifiable from other items in the bundled package and if a customer can benefit from 
it separately. The Group exercises judgments to identify if products and services within the bundled 
package are distinct as a separate promised products and services. This determination will affect the 
allocation of consideration specified in the contract and the revenue recognised for each performance 
obligation.

 Principal versus agent

 The Group is a principal for sale of device as the Group controls the device before it is transferred to the 
customer. In making such an assessment, the Group takes into consideration both the legal form of the 
contract with its customer and supplier. Revenue from sale of device is recognised on a gross basis and 
payment to the supplier for device cost is recorded as a direct cost.

 Determining stand-alone selling price (“SSP”)

 The Group has assessed that there are two performance obligations for bundled contracts where the 
Group needs to allocate the transaction price between the postpaid service and mobile device based on 
their relative SSP.

 SSP for postpaid packages and mobile devices are based on observable sales prices; however, where 
certain SSP are not directly observable, estimates will be made maximising the use of observable inputs.

 The estimation of SSP is a significant estimate as it will directly determine the amount of revenue to be 
recognised up front (sale of device) and amount of revenue to be recognised over time (telecommunication 
revenue). For example, a lower SSP for mobile device will result in a lower amount of revenue recognised 
upfront and higher amount of revenue recognised over the contract period.

(e)  Income taxes

 Significant estimation is involved in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes as there are 
certain transactions and computations for which the final tax determination is uncertain at the reporting 
date.

 Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made.

 Determination of the treatment of contingent liabilities in relation to tax matters is based on the Group’s 
view of the expected outcome of the contingencies after consultation with legal counsel. Details of the 
contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 37.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions – Group (continued)

(f) Determining the lease term where the Group acts as a lessee

 In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period of a lease, the 
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. 
However, for leases of certain telecommunication network sites, the contract contains an exit clause 
that is exercisable by both the lessee and lessor with a short notification period. For such contracts, the 
Group considers whether the lessee and lessor each has the right to terminate the lease without the 
permission from the other party with no more than an insignificant penalty, in determining the lease term. 
In determining a penalty, the Group assesses monetary and non-monetary considerations which include 
amongst others, network cell site relocation effort.

 The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which 
affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee. 

 The determination of the lease term is a significant judgment as it will directly affect the recognition of 
a lease as a short term lease or a right-of-use asset with a corresponding lease liability. For example, a 
short term lease is recognised as an expense in the profit or loss throughout the lease term while a lease 
recognised as a right-of-use asset is capitalised and depreciated on a straight line basis over the lease 
term with a corresponding lease liability measured at the present value of the lease payments.

(g)  Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets 

 The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs for trade receivables, finance lease receivables 
and contract assets. To measure the expected loss rates, trade receivables and contract assets have been 
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. These historical loss rates 
are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the 
customers to settle the receivables such as unemployment rate, interest rate and economic outlook. 
At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

 The Group estimates the relationship between historical loss rates and forward-looking information on 
macroeconomic factors and ECL which may not be representative of customer’s actual default in the 
future. 

 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions – Company

(a) Investments in subsidiaries

 During the year, the net asset position of an investment in a subsidiary was lower than the carrying amount 
of the investment. Thus, the Company performed an impairment assessment on the carrying amount of its 
investment against its recoverable amount which was determined based on value-in-use calculations as 
disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements. No impairment charge was recognised as the recoverable 
amount exceeded its carrying amount.

 The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are most likely to be sensitive to changes in 
compounded revenue and EBITDA (i.e. profit before finance income, finance costs, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and allowance for write down of identified network costs) annual growth rates in the projection 
period. 
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5 SEGMENT REPORTING

 Segment reporting is not presented as the Group is primarily engaged in providing converged telecommunications 
services and solutions in Malaysia, whereby the measurement of profit or loss including EBITDA that is used by 
the chief operating decision-makers is on a Group basis. 

 The Group’s operations are mainly in Malaysia. In determining the geographical segments of the Group, 
revenues are based on the country in which the customer or international operator is located. Non-current 
assets by geographical segments are not disclosed as all operations of the Group are based in Malaysia. 

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million
(Restated)

Malaysia 8,586 9,070

Other countries(1) 380 243

Total revenue 8,966 9,313

EBITDA 3,759 3,891

Note:
(1) Represents revenue from roaming partners and hubbing revenue.

6 REVENUE 

Note

Group Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Revenue comprises the following:

Revenue from contracts with 
customers (a) 8,966 9,313 - -

Dividend income from subsidiaries - - 1,329 179

8,966 9,313 1,329 179
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6 REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

  - Telecommunications services and solutions

   - postpaid 3,881 3,939

   - prepaid 2,813 3,166

   - others 1,119 779

7,813 7,884

  - Devices and related services 1,153 1,429

8,966 9,313

(ii) Timing of revenue recognition:

  - at a point in time 2,753 3,380

  - over time 6,213 5,933

8,966 9,313

(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations

 The following table shows the revenue expected to be recognised in the next financial year in relation to 
performance obligations that are unsatisfied as at the reporting date.

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Telecommunications services 1,804 1,947

 Management expects that approximately all of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance 
obligations as at the end of the financial year will be recognised as revenue within the next 24 months 
(2019: 24 months).
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7 STAFF AND RESOURCE COSTS

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Wages, salaries and bonuses 507 490

Defined contribution plan 71 56

Other short-term employee benefits 72 87

ESOS, LTIP and incentive arrangement 20 18

670 651
 

Staff and resource costs include the following:

(a) Director’s salaries and other short-term employee benefits as disclosed in Note 8(a); and

(b) Key management personnel salaries and other short-term employee benefits, defined contribution plan 
and share-based payments as disclosed in Note 8(b).

8 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

(a) Directors’ remuneration
 
 The aggregate amount of emoluments received/receivable by Directors of the Company during the 

financial year is as follows:
 

Group Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Non-Executive Directors

Fees 3 3 3 3

Estimated monetary value of benefits-
in-kind * * * *

3 3 3 3

Executive Director

Salaries and other short-term 
employee benefits - 16 - -

Estimated monetary value of benefits-
in-kind - * - -

- 16 - -

Total Directors’ remuneration 3 19 3 3

* Less than RM1 million.
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8 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (CONTINUED)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

 Key management personnel comprise persons including Directors of the Company, having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group entities either directly or 
indirectly.

 The aggregate amount of emoluments received/receivable by key management personnel excluding 
Directors of the Company during the financial year is as follows:

 

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 30 29

Defined contribution plan 1 1

Share-based payments 7 6

Estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind 1 1

39 37

 Total key management personnel remuneration of the Group and of the Company for the financial year is 
RM42 million (2019: RM56 million) and RM3 million (2019: RM3 million) respectively. 

9 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Note

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million
(Restated)

Depreciation of:

- property, plant and equipment 15 1,131 1,075

- right-of-use assets 17 282 279

Amortisation of intangible assets 16 62 25

1,475 1,379
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10 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Note

Group Company

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million
(Restated)

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million

(a) Finance income

  Interest income on:

  - deposits with licensed banks 17 27 * *

  - loans due from a subsidiary - - 13 10

  - receivables 67 43 - -

84 70 13 10

(b) Finance costs

  Accretion of site rectification  
  and decommissioning works  
  costs and changes in costs  
  estimate on provision (net) 28 11 13 - -

  Interest expense on:

  - borrowings 343 357 - -

  - deferred payment creditors 28 32 - -

  - lease liabilities 17 106 120 - -

  - others 1 * * -

  Net fair value loss on interest  
  rate swap (“IRS”):  
  - cash flow hedge,  
   reclassified from equity 32(c) * * - -

489 522 * -

* Less than RM1 million.
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11 PROFIT BEFORE TAX

 The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at the profit before tax:

Note

Group Company

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million
(Restated)

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million

Impairment of receivables and 
deposits (net) 33(b) 307 147 - -

Amortisation of:

- contract cost assets 21(e) 146 110 - -

- intangible assets 16 62 25 - -

Auditors’ remuneration:

- fees for statutory audits:

 - auditors of the Group 1 1 * *

- fees for audit related services:

 - auditors of the Group(1) 1 1 * *

 - others * * - -

- fees for other services:

 - member firms of PwC Malaysia(2) 5 6 * *

Bad debts recovered (39) (27) - -

Commissions and incentives 340 360 - -

Depreciation of:

- property, plant and equipment 15 1,131 1,075 - -

- right-of-use assets 17 282 279 - -

Device expenses 1,272 1,696 - -

Fair value losses/(gain) on forward 
foreign exchange contracts

 - realised 2 (3) - -

 - unrealised 1 1 - -

Government grant (255) (177) - -

Inter-operator traffic expenses 625 620 - -

Licences and Universal Service 
Provision (“USP”) contributions 
under the Communications 
and Multimedia Act, 1998 and 
subsidiary legislation 370 422 - -

Notes:
(1) Fees incurred in connection with performance of quarter reviews, agreed-upon procedures and regulatory 

compliance reporting paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (LLP0014401–LCA & AF 1146) (“PwC 
Malaysia”), auditors of the Group and of the Company. 

(2) Fees incurred for assisting the Group in connection with tax compliance, due diligence and advisory 
services paid or payable to member firms of PwC Malaysia.

*  Less than RM1 million.
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11 PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

 The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at the profit before tax: (continued)

Note

Group Company

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million
(Restated)

2020 
RM’million

2019 
RM’million

Losses/(gains) on foreign exchange:

- realised 8 25 * *

- unrealised (6) (26) - -

Management fees charged by a 
subsidiary - - 3 4

Property, plant and equipment:

- loss/(gain) on disposal * * - -

- net allowance for impairment 15 2 1 - -

- write-offs 15 29 32 - -

Provision for/(write-back of ) (net):

- site rectification and  
 decommissioning works 28 * (10) - -

- staff incentive scheme (included  
 in staff and resource costs) 28 102 105 - -

Rental of: 17

- equipment 14 22 - -

- land and buildings 12 17 - -

- network cell sites 40 51 - -

Termination of right-of-use assets (3) - - -

* Less than RM1 million.
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12 TAX EXPENSES

Note

Group Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million
(Restated)

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Current tax:

- current year 300 491 3 2

- over accruals in prior year (13) (14) * *

287 477 3 2

Deferred tax:

- origination and reversal of  
 temporary differences 173 27 - -

- recognition and reversal of prior  
 years’ temporary differences 10 11 - -

23 183 38 - -

Tax expenses 470 515 3 2

* Less than RM1 million.

 The explanation of the relationship between the tax expenses and profit before tax is as follows:

Group Company

2020
%

2019
%

2020
%

2019
%

Numerical reconciliation between the 
Malaysian tax rate and average effective 
tax rate

Malaysian tax rate 24 24 24 24

Tax effects of:

- expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2 1 1 1

- reversal of deductible temporary 
 difference previously recognised - 1 - -

- over accruals in prior years (1) (1) - -

- income not subject to tax - - (24) (24)

Average effective tax rate 25 25 1 1
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13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

Group

2020 2019
(Restated)

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company (RM’million) 1,382 1,512

Weighted average number of issued ordinary shares (’million) 7,822 7,819

Basic earnings per share (sen) 17.7 19.3

(b) Diluted earnings per share 

 For the diluted earnings per share calculation, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issuance 
of the Company is adjusted to assume full conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares to be issued 
by the Company. 

 Share grants are treated as contingently issuable shares because their issuance is contingent upon 
satisfying specified vesting conditions comprising, amongst others, performance targets and/or conditions, 
as disclosed in Note 31(a) to the financial statements, in addition to the passage of time. They are excluded 
from the computation of diluted earnings per share where the vesting conditions would not have been 
satisfied as at the end of the financial year.

Group

2020 2019
(Restated)

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company (RM’million) 1,382 1,512

Weighted average number of issued ordinary shares (’million) 7,822 7,819

Adjustment for LTIP (’million) 3 3

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted 
earnings per share (’million) 7,825 7,822

Diluted earnings per share (sen) 17.7 19.3
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14 DIVIDENDS 

Group and Company

2020 2019

Sen RM’million Sen RM’million

Single-tier tax-exempt ordinary dividends 

- In respect of previous financial year

 - fourth interim 5.0 391 5.0 391

- In respect of current financial year

 - first interim 4.0 313 5.0 391

 - second interim 4.0 313 5.0 391

 - third interim 4.0 313 5.0 391

17.0 1,330 20.0 1,564
 
 Subsequent to the financial year, on 26 February 2021, the Directors declared a fourth and special interim 

single-tier tax-exempt dividend of 4.0 sen and 1.0 sen respectively per ordinary share in respect of the financial 
year ended 31 December 2020 which will be paid on 31 March 2021.

 The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 
December 2020. 
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group Note

Freehold 
land

RM’million
Buildings

RM’million

Telecom-
munications 

equipment
RM’million

Motor 
vehicles

RM’million

Office 
furniture, 

fittings and 
equipment
RM’million

Capital 
work-in-

progress
RM’million

Capital 
inventories
RM’million

Total
RM’million

2020

Net book value

At 1 January 11 55 3,992 6 362 408 88 4,922

Additions - - - 1 1 906 264 1,172

Changes in cost 
estimates 28 - - * - - - - *

Depreciation - (2) (950) (4) (175) - - (1,131)

Impairment - - - - - - (2) (2)

Transfers - - 1,110 - 115 (989) (236) -

Disposal - - - - - - (1) (1)

Write offs - - (28) - (1) - - (29)

At 31 December 11 53 4,124 3 302 325 113 4,931

At 31 December 
2020

Cost 11 75 10,298 19 1,682 325 119 12,529

Accumulated 
depreciation - (22) (6,174) (16) (1,380) - - (7,592)

Accumulated 
impairment - - - - - - (6) (6)

Net book value 11 53 4,124 3 302 325 113 4,931

* Less than RM1 million.
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Group Note

Freehold 
land

RM’million
Buildings

RM’million

Telecom-
munications 

equipment
RM’million

Motor 
vehicles

RM’million

Office 
furniture, 

fittings and 
equipment
RM’million

Capital 
work-in-

progress
RM’million

Capital 
inventories
RM’million

Total
RM’million

2019

Net book value

At 1 January 11 56 3,877 10 350 870 10 5,184 

Additions - - - - 39 961 178 1,178

Changes in cost 
estimates 28 - - (31) - - - - (31)

Depreciation - (1) (894) (4) (176) - - (1,075)

Impairment - - - - - - (1) (1)

Transfers - - 1,069 - 152 (1,122) (99) -

Reclassification 
to intangible 
assets 16 - - - - - (301) - (301)

Write offs - - (29) - (3) - - (32)

At 31 December 11 55 3,992 6 362 408 88 4,922

At 31 December 
2019

Cost 11 75 9,411 20 1,718 408 93 11,736

Accumulated 
depreciation - (20)  (5,419) (14) (1,356) - - (6,809)

Accumulated 
impairment - - - - - - (5) (5)

Net book value 11 55 3,992 6 362 408 88 4,922

 During the financial year, the Group revised the useful lives of certain telecommunications equipment ranging 
from 4 to 20 years (2019: 5 to 10 years), to remaining useful lives ranging from 1 month to 10 years (2019: 1 month 
to 7 years). The revision was accounted for as a change in accounting estimate and as a result, the depreciation 
charge for the financial year has decreased by RM25 million (2019: increased by RM8 million).
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group
Goodwill

RM’million

Spectrum rights

Customer 
relationships

RM’million
Software

RM’million

Software 
development 

RM’million
Total 

RM’million

Telecom-
munications 

licences 
with 

allocated 
spectrum

RM’million

Other 
spectrum 

rights
RM’million

2020

Net book value

At 1 January 219 10,707 - - 290 94 11,310

Additions 35 - 18 * 52 108 213

Transfers - - - - 163 (163) -

Amortisation 
charge - - (9) * (53) - (62)

At 31 December 254 10,707 9 * 452 39 11,461

At 31 December

Cost 254 10,707 55 * 532 39 11,587

Accumulated 
amortisation - - (46)  * (80) - (126)

Net book value 254 10,707 9 * 452 39 11,461

* Less than RM1 million.
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Group Note
Goodwill

RM’million

Spectrum rights

Software
RM’million

Software 
development

RM’million 
Total

RM’million

Telecom-
munications 

licences 
with 

allocated 
spectrum

RM’million

Other 
spectrum 

rights
RM’million

2019

Net book value

At 1 January 219 10,707 - - - 10,926

Reclassification from 
property, plant and 
equipment 15 - - - - 301 301

Additions - - - - 108 108

Transfers - - - 315 (315) -

Amortisation charge - - - (25) - (25)

At 31 December 219 10,707 - 290 94 11,310

At 31 December 

Cost 219 10,707 37 315 94 11,372

Accumulated 
amortisation - - (37) (25) - (62)

Net book value 219 10,707 - 290 94 11,310

 Telecommunications licences with allocated spectrum

 The assets consist of spectrum bands previously acquired as part of a business combination which includes 
the frequency band of 900MHz, 1800MHz and 2100MHz. As disclosed in Note 21(d) to the financial statements, 
these spectrums were reissued to the Group in the form of Spectrum Assignment (“SA”) with some upfront price 
component fees for which the Group has paid in full (“SA fee paid”).

 In accordance with the requirements of MFRS 138 “Intangible Assets”, the Directors have assessed that the SA 
fee paid is a renewal cost to the Group for the continuing use of the allocated bands and are of the view that the 
Group can renew the spectrum rights indefinitely without significant costs in comparison to the expected future 
economic benefits that the spectrum rights can generate, and there is no foreseeable limit to the period over 
which the spectrum rights are expected to generate net cash inflows for the Group. Therefore, the spectrum 
rights have been assessed to carry an indefinite useful life. The expected net cash inflows for the Group are 
determined using the similar key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the impairment testing. 
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

 Goodwill

 The goodwill of RM219 million (2019: RM219 million) arose from the Company’s acquisition of the entire issued 
and paid-up share capital of the subsidiaries previously held by Maxis Communication Berhad pursuant to a 
restructuring exercise to consolidate the telecommunications operations in Malaysia under the Company.

 During the financial year, the Group completed its acqui-hire of specialist professionals from two Malaysian 
based companies that provide unified communication and cloud solutioning services to enhance the Group’s 
capacity and capabilities to support the Group’s corporate customers. These acqui-hires are accounted for as 
business combinations under MFRS 3. 

 The Group paid RM18 million in cash for the abovementioned acqui-hires with the remaining purchase 
consideration recognised as deferred contingent consideration as disclosed in Note 29. The Group recognised 
RM35 million goodwill for the acqui-hires and allocated it to the converged telecommunications services and 
solutions CGU as the acqui-hires provides synergy to the Group’s existing business. 

 
 Impairment testing for CGU containing goodwill and telecommunications licences with allocated spectrum 

rights

 For the purpose of impairment testing, carrying amounts of goodwill and telecommunications licences with 
allocated spectrum rights are allocated to the converged telecommunications services and solutions CGU. The 
recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre-
tax cash flow projections based on internally approved financial budgets covering a five-year (2019: five-year) 
period. 

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are as follows:

(a)  compounded revenue and EBITDA annual growth rates of 8% and 4% (2019: 8% and 4%) respectively for 
five years financial budget period which reflect management’s expectations based on past experience 
and future expectations of business performance; 

(b) post-tax discount rate of 7.8% (2019: 8.1%). In accordance with the requirements of MFRS 136 “Impairment 
of Assets”, this translates into a pre-tax discount rate of 13.4% (2019: 13.5%). The discount rates used 
reflect specific risks relating to the converged telecommunications services and solutions CGU; and

(c) terminal growth rate of 2.7% (2019: 3.0%) represents the growth rate applied to extrapolate pre-tax cash 
flow beyond the five (2019: five) year financial budget period. This growth rate is based on management’s 
assessment of future trends in the mobile telecommunications industry, new growth opportunities in fixed 
broadband and enterprise business, using both external and internal sources.

 Based on the sensitivity analysis performed, the Directors have concluded that any variation of 10% (2019: 
10%) in the base case assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable 
amount.
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17 RIGHT-OF-USE (“ROU”) ASSETS 

(i) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

Group Note

Land and 
network 

infrastructure
RM’million

Offices and 
customer 

service centers
RM’million

Total
RM’million

2020

At 1 January, as previously reported 868 164 1,032

Adoption of IFRIC AD - Lease 36(a) 886 - 886

Restated at 1 January 1,754 164 1,918

Additions 145 8 153

Terminations (34) - (34)

Depreciation 9 (245) (37) (282)

Remeasurement(1) 12 * 12

At 31 December 1,632 135 1,767

2019

At 1 January, as previously reported 872 174 1,046

Adoption of IFRIC AD - Lease 36(a) 835 * 835

Restated at 1 January 1,707 174 1,881

Additions 296 20 316

Depreciation 9 (250) (29) (279)

Remeasurement(1) 1 (1) *

At 31 December 1,754 164 1,918

 Adjustments recognised on adoption of IFRIC Agenda Decision - Lease on 1 January 2020 are disclosed 
in Note 36.

Notes:
(1) Remeasurement due to revision in lease term and lease payments.
*  Less than RM1 million.

(ii) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss

Note

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million
(Restated)

Interest expense 10(b) 106 120

Rental expenses relating to short-term leases 11 66 90

172 210
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17 RIGHT-OF-USE (“ROU”) ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(iii) Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million
(Restated)

Payments of finance costs 106 120

Repayment of lease liabilities 241 233

Total cash outflows for leases 347 353

18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Note

Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Non-current asset:

- investments in subsidiaries (a) 25,118 25,115

Current asset:

- loans due from a subsidiary (b) 227 222

Current liability:

- amount due to a subsidiary (c) * *

25,345 25,337

* Less than RM1 million.

(a) Investments in subsidiaries

Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Unquoted shares, at carrying value

At 1 January 25,115 26,734

Less:

- recovery of cost of investment through dividend income - (479)

- capital repayment by a subsidiary - (1,100)

25,115 25,155

Fair value of share grants, over the Company’s equity instruments for 
employees of a subsidiary, net of shares issued 3 (40)

25,118 25,115
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18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

 During the current financial year, the net asset position of an investment in a subsidiary was lower than 
the carrying amount of the investment. Thus, the Company performed an impairment assessment on the 
carrying amount of its investment against its recoverable amount which was determined based on value-in-
use calculations as disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements. No impairment charge was recognised 
as the recoverable amount exceeded its carrying amount. Based on the sensitivity analysis performed, the 
Directors have concluded that any variation of 10% (2019: 10%) in the base case assumptions would not 
cause the carrying amount of the investment to exceed its recoverable amount.

 During the previous financial year, RM479 million dividends that were received from the Company’s 
wholly owned subsidiaries, i.e. Maxis Mobile Services Sdn Bhd (“MMSSB”), Maxis Mobile Sdn. Bhd., Maxis 
Collections Sdn. Bhd. and Advanced Wireless Technologies Sdn. Bhd. were recognised as return of capital 
thereby reducing the cost of investments as the distributions were made subsequent to the Group’s 
internal reorganisation that was completed on 1 April 2016 where the business and undertakings including 
relevant assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries were sold. In addition, the Company received RM1,100 
million from MMSSB arising from its capital reduction exercise which was made in relation to the same 
internal reorganisation.

 Information on the subsidiaries is as follows:

Name

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 
business Principal activities

Proportion of 
ownership interests 

held by the 
Group

2020 2019

Advanced Wireless 
Technologies Sdn. Bhd. 
(“AWTSB”) (Registration No. 
200001014945 (517551-U))

Malaysia Provider of wireless multimedia 
related services.

100% 100%

Maxis Broadband Sdn. 
Bhd. (Registration No. 
199201002549  
(234053-D))

Malaysia Provider of a full suite of converged 
telecommunications, digital and 
related services and solutions, and 
corporate support and services 
functions to its holding companies, 
fellow subsidiaries and related 
parties.

100% 100%

Maxis Collections Sdn. 
Bhd. (Registration No. 
199601010926 (383275-M))

Malaysia Dormant. 100% 100%

Maxis International Sdn. 
Bhd. (Registration No. 
199201008568 (240071-T))

Malaysia Provision of telecommunications 
services.

100% 100%
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18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

 Information on the subsidiaries is as follows: (continued)

Name

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 
business Principal activities

Proportion of 
ownership interests 

held by the 
Group

2020 2019

Maxis Mobile Sdn. Bhd. 
(“MMSB”) (Registration 
No. 199101019555 
(229892-M))

Malaysia Operator of mobile 
telecommunications services for 
special niche projects such as USP.

100% 100%

Maxis Mobile Services 
Sdn. Bhd. (“MMSSB”) 
(Registration No. 
198101007199 (73315-V))

Malaysia Provision of mobile 
telecommunications services for 
special niche projects such as USP.

100% 100%

Subsidiary of AWTSB

UMTS (Malaysia) Sdn. 
Bhd. (Registration No. 
200001017815  
(520422-D))

Malaysia Dormant. 100% 100%

Subsidiary of MMSB

Maxis Mobile (L) Ltd  
(LL-01709)(1)

Malaysia Holder of investments. 100% 100%

Note:
(1) Maxis Mobile (L) Ltd is a company registered under the Labuan Companies Act, 1990, with shares 

issued in USD.

(b) Loans due from a subsidiary – Interest bearing

 At the end of the financial year, the loans due from a subsidiary were unsecured, carried interests between 
4.18% to 4.25% (2019: 4.54% to 4.67%) per annum and maturing on 9 April 2021 (2019: range from 24 March 
2020 to 9 April 2020). 

 Management has assessed the loans due from a subsidiary on an individual basis for ECL measurement 
and the identified impairment loss as at 31 December 2020 was immaterial.

(c) Amount due to a subsidiary – Non-interest bearing

 The amount due to subsidiary was unsecured and with 30 days’ credit period (2019: 30 days).
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Note

Group Company
31.12.2020
RM’million

31.12.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

1.1.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

31.12.2020
RM’million

31.12.2019
RM’million

Financial assets:
Loans due from a subsidiary 18 - - - 227 222
Receivables and deposits 1,710 2,271 1,737 * *
Amounts due from related parties 25 11 10 30 - -
Deposits, cash and bank balances 27 735 582 560 20 10
Financial assets at amortised costs 2,456 2,863 2,327 247 232

Financial assets at FVOCI 20 4 4 4 4 4

Derivative financial instruments 
used for hedging 22 - * 1 - -

Financial liabilities:
Payables and accruals 2,982 3,066 2,558 * 1
Amount due to a subsidiary 18 - - - * *
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 26 - * * - -
Amounts due to related parties 25 17 25 5 - -
Borrowings 30 9,763 9,924 9,667 - -
Financial liabilities at amortised costs 12,762 13,015 12,230 * 1

Other payables and accruals 19 - - - -
Derivative financial instruments 

used for hedging 22 22 9 - - -
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss 41 9 - - -

* Less than RM1 million.

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group and Company
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

Unquoted shares 4 4
Less: Accumulated impairment losses * -

4 4

* Less than RM1 million.

 The Group and the Company have 10% interests in Bridge Mobile Pte. Ltd. (“Bridge Mobile”). Bridge Mobile 
manages a mobile alliance of various operators and coordinates its activities amongst its shareholders, other 
mobile operators in the Asia Pacific region and technology vendors.

 The Group has one-twenty fourth (1/24th) interests in Konsortium Rangkaian Serantau Sdn. Bhd. (“KRSSB”). This 
entity was formed for the purpose of implementing one of the entry point projects to lower the costs of Internet 
Protocol transit and domestic bandwidths by aggregating capacity of its shareholders to secure lower prices 
from suppliers. The investment had been fully impaired. 
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21 RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Note

Group Company
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

Non-current

Trade receivables (a) 108 288 - -
Finance lease receivables (b) 6 15 - -
Contract assets (c) 60 44 - -
Prepayments (d) 662 724 - -
Contract cost assets, net of 

amortisation (e) 116 118 - -
952 1,189 - -

Impairment: 33(b)
- trade receivables (3) (6) - -
- finance lease receivables * * - -
- contract assets (2) * - -

(5) (6) - -
947 1,183 - -

Current

Trade receivables (a) 1,273 1,345 - -
Other receivables 281 587 5 5
Deposits 218 192 * *
Finance lease receivables (b) 24 25 - -
Contract assets (c) 147 158 - -
Prepayments (d) 190 157 - -
Contract cost assets, net of 

amortisation (e) 144 104 - -
2,277 2,568 5 5

Impairment: 33(b)
- trade receivables (168) (138) - -
- other receivables (2) (23) - -
- deposits (26) (13) - -
- finance lease receivables (1) (1) - -
- contract assets (7) (3) - -

(204) (178) - -
2,073 2,390 5 5
3,020 3,573 5 5

* Less than RM1 million.
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21 RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Trade receivables

 Gross trade receivables include receivables on deferred payment terms amounting to RM611 million 
(2019: RM800 million), which allow eligible customers to purchase mobile devices with up to 24 monthly 
instalment payments. Other than that, the Group’s credit policy provides trade receivables with credit 
periods of up to 60 days (2019: up to 60 days). 

 Trade receivables are secured by customers’ deposits and bank guarantees of RM26 million (2019: RM22 
million) and RM32 million (2019: RM41 million) respectively.

 Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s exposure to credit risk is disclosed 
in Note 33(b) to the financial statements.

(b)  Finance lease receivables

 The following table sets out maturity analysis of lease receivables, showing the undiscounted lease 
payments to be received after the reporting date.

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Less than 1 year 26 28

1 to 2 years 6 15

Total undiscounted lease payment receivables 32 43

Unearned finance income (2) (3)

30 40

(c) Contract assets
   

At 1 January 202 277

Transfer to receivables (420) (461)

Additions due to revenue recognised during the year 425 386

Net increase/(decrease) during the year 5 (75)

207 202

Less: Impairment (9) (3)

At 31 December 198 199

(d) Prepayments

 The Group’s prepayments include the SA fee paid for 900 MHz, 1800 MHz and 2100 MHz SA which are 
amortised over their underlying SA periods between 15 to 16 years (2019: 15 to 16 years). 
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21 RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Contract cost assets

Note

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

At 1 January 222 121

Capitalisation 184 211

Amortisation charge 11 (146) (110)

At 31 December 260 222

22 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Note

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Current assets

Derivatives not designated in hedging relationship

 Forward foreign exchange contracts - *

Current liabilities

Derivatives designated in hedging relationship

 Forward foreign exchange contracts: (b) 

 - cash flow hedge on USD forecast transactions (3) (2)

Derivatives not designated in hedging relationship

 Forward foreign exchange contracts (b) (2) (1)

(5) (3)

Non-current liabilities

Derivative designated in hedging relationship

 IRS: (a)

 - cash flow hedge on RM denominated borrowings (17) (6)

(22) (9)

* Less than RM1 million.
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22 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
 

(a) IRS contract

The Group has entered into an IRS contract to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk on borrowings. 

The details of the open IRS contract is set out below:

Group

2020 2019

Notional principal (RM’million equivalent) 500 500

Fixed interest rate 4.69% 4.70%

(b) Forward foreign exchange contracts

 The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge against USD/RM exchange 
rate fluctuations on certain payable balances and forecast transactions. The details of the open forward 
foreign exchange contracts are set out below:

Group

2020 2019

Notional principal (RM’million equivalent) 169 171

Contract value in foreign currency (USD’million) 41 41

 The Group pays RM in exchange for receiving USD at predetermined exchange rates that range from 
RM4.07/USD to RM4.21/USD (2019: RM4.14/USD to RM4.20/USD) on the notional amounts at their respective 
maturity dates.

23 DEFERRED TAXATION 

 The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statements of financial 
position:

 

Group

31.12.2020
RM’million

31.12.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

1.1.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

Deferred tax assets * * *

Deferred tax liabilities (382) (199) (161)

(382) (199) (161)

* Less than RM1 million.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTSIntegrated Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements

183

23 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

 The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the financial year comprise the following:

Group Note

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
RM’million

Intangible
assets

RM’million
Receivables

RM’million

Contract 
cost 

assets
RM’million

Contract 
liabilities

RM’million
Provisions
RM’million

Investment 
allowance
RM’million

Lease 
liabilities

RM’million

Right- 
of-use 
asset

RM’million
Others

RM’million
Total

RM’million

2020

At 31 December, 
as previously 
reported (509) (24) (51) (53) 93 319 3 266 (247) (18) (221)

Adoption of IFRIC 
AD - Lease 36 - - - - - - - 235 (213) - 22

Restated at  
1 January (509) (24) (51) (53) 93 319 3 501 (460) (18) (199)

(Charged)/credited 
to statement of 
profit or loss:

 - relating to  
 origination  
 and reversal  
 of temporary  
 differences 12 (59) (34) * (9) 5 (81) (3) (35) 36 (3) (183)

At 31 December (568) (58) (51) (62) 98 238 - 466 (424) (21) (382)

* Less than RM1 million.
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23 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the financial year comprise the following: (continued)

Group Note

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
RM’million

Intangible 
assets

RM’million
Receivables

RM’million

Contract 
cost 

assets
RM’million

Contract 
liabilities

RM’million
Provisions
RM’million

Investment 
allowance
RM’million

Lease
liabilities

RM’million

Right-
of-use
asset

RM’million
Others

RM’million
Total

RM’million

2019

At 1 January, as 
previously 
reported (584) - (64) (29) 94 376 8 267 (250) 1 (181)

Adoption of IFRIC 
AD - Lease 36 - - - - - - - 220 (200) - 20

Restated at 1 
January (584) - (64) (29) 94 376 8 487 (450) 1 (161)

Credited/(charged) 
to statement of 
profit or loss:

 - relating to  
 origination  
 and reversal  
 of temporary  
 differences 12 75 (24) 13 (24) (1) (57) (5) 14 (10) (19) (38)

At 31 December (509) (24) (51) (53) 93 319 3 501 (460) (18) (199)
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23 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Group

31.12.2020
RM’million

31.12.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

1.1.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

Deferred tax assets (before offsetting):

- lease liabilities 466 501 487

- contract liabilities 98 93 94

- provisions 238 319 376

- investment allowance - 3 8

- others - - 1

802 916 966

Offsetting (802) (916) (966)

Deferred tax assets (after offsetting) * * *

Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting):

- right-of-use asset (424) (460) (450)

- property, plant and equipment (568) (509) (584)

- intangible assets (58) (24) -

- receivables (51) (51) (64)

- contract cost assets (62) (53) (29)

- others (21) (18) -

(1,184) (1,115) (1,127)

Offsetting 802 916 966

Deferred tax liabilities (after offsetting) (382) (199) (161)

* Less than RM1 million.

24 INVENTORIES

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Telecommunications materials and supplies 2 2

Devices and equipment 1 1

3 3
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25 RELATED PARTIES BALANCES

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Current asset:

- amounts due from related parties 11 10

Current liability:

- amounts due to related parties (17) (25)

 The amounts due from/(to) related parties are trade in nature, unsecured, interest free and with credit periods 
of up to 60 days (2019: up to 60 days).

26 AMOUNT DUE TO A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

 There was no outstanding balance in the current financial year. In the previous financial year, the amount due 
to a fellow subsidiary was unsecured, non-interest bearing and with 30 days’ credit period. 

27 DEPOSITS, CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Deposits with licensed banks 547 445 14 8

Cash and bank balances 188 137 6 2

Deposits, cash and bank balances 735 582 20 10

Less: Deposits with maturity more than  
   three months (30) (30) - -

Cash and cash equivalents 705 552 20 10

 Deposits, cash and bank balances are mainly deposits with banks with high credit ratings assigned by 
international credit rating agencies.

 Deposits with licensed banks of the Group and of the Company have an average maturity periods of 32 days 
(2019: 33 days) and 15 days (2019: 18 days) respectively as at the financial year end. They are held in short-term 
money market and fixed deposits. Bank balances are deposits held at call with banks.
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27 DEPOSITS, CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)

 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: 

Group

Non-cash changes

2020
RM’million

 2019, as 
previously 

reported
RM’million

Adoption 
of IFRIC 

AD - Lease
RM’million

Cash 
flows(1)

RM’million

Interest 
expense

RM’million

Fair value 
changes

RM’million

Non-cash 
settlement
RM’million

Additions
RM’million

Terminations
RM’million

Remea- 
surement

RM’million

Borrowings 7,839 - (361) 343 - - - - - 7,821

Lease liabilities 1,108 977 (347) 106 - (29) 153 (38) 12 1,942

Derivative financial liabilities held 
to hedge borrowings 6 - - - 11 - - - - 17

8,953 977 (708) 449 11 (29) 153 (38) 12 9,780

Group

Non-cash changes

2019
RM’million
(Restated)

2018
RM’million
(Restated)

Adoption 
of IFRIC 

AD - Lease
RM’million

Cash 
flows(1)

RM’million
(Restated)

Interest 
expense

RM’million
(Restated)

Fair value 
changes

RM’million

Non-cash 
settlement
RM’million
(Restated)

Additions
RM’million
(Restated)

Terminations
RM’million
(Restated)

Remea-
 surement
RM’million
(Restated)

Borrowings 7,639 - (157) 357 - - - - - 7,839

Lease liabilities  1,111 917 (353) 120 - (26) 316 - * 2,085

Derivative financial (assets)/
liabilities held to hedge 
borrowings (1) - - - 7 - - - - 6

8,749 917 (510) 477 7 (26) 316 - * 9,930

Notes:
(1) Excluding interest paid on payables under deferred payment schemes.
* Less than RM1 million.
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28 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Group Note

Site
rectification

and
decommissioning

works
RM’million

Staff 
incentive 

scheme
RM’million

Total 
RM’million

2020

At 1 January 320 118 438

Capitalised 12 - 12

Changes in cost estimates:

- included in profit before tax 11 (2) - (2)

- included in property, plant and equipment 15 * - *

Charged to statement of profit or loss:

- included in profit before tax 11 2 102 104

- included in finance costs 10(b) 11 - 11

Paid (2) (105) (107)

At 31 December 341 115 456

Represented by:

 Non-current liabilities 323 3 326

 Current liabilities 18 112 130

341 115 456

2019

At 1 January 322 106 428

Capitalised 27 - 27

Changes in cost estimates:

- included in finance costs 10(b) (8) - (8)

- included in property, plant and equipment 15 (31) - (31)

(Credited)/charged to statement of profit or loss:

- included in profit before tax 11 (10) 105 95

- included in finance costs 10(b) 21 - 21

Paid (1) (93) (94)

At 31 December 320 118 438

Represented by:

 Non-current liabilities 306 5 311

 Current liabilities 14 113 127

320 118 438

Descriptions of the above provisions are as disclosed in Note 3(r) to the financial statements.
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28 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES (CONTINUED)

Site decommissioning works

 As at 31 December 2020, a non-current provision of RM323 million (2019: RM306 million) has been recognised 
for dismantling, removal and site restoration costs. The provision is estimated using the assumption that 
decommissioning will only take place only upon the expiry of the lease terms (inclusive of secondary terms) of 
15 to 30 years (2019: 15 to 30 years).

29 PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Note

Group Company

31.12.2020
RM’million

31.12.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

1.1.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Non-current

Trade payables 172 277 154 - -

Other payables and accruals (a) 16 1 1 - -

188 278 155 - -

Current

Trade payables and accruals 2,538 2,537 2,183 - -

Other payables and accruals (a) 348 784 925 1 1

Deposits and advanced payments 
from customers 186 165 164 - -

Contract liabilities (b) 388 376 384 - -

Government grant 537 461 364 - -

3,997 4,323 4,020 1 1

4,185 4,601 4,175 1 1

(a) Other payables and accruals

 Included within other payables and accruals are deferred contingent considerations in relation to the 
business combinations mentioned in Note 16 amounting to RM19 million payable upon achievement of 
certain targets in year 2021 to 2023.
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29 PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

(b) Contract liabilities

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

At 1 January 376 384

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance 
at 1 January (373) (384)

Increases due to cash received, excluding amounts recognised as 
revenue during the year 385 376

At 31 December 388 376

 Current trade and other payables of the Group and of the Company carry credit periods of up to 210 
days and 90 days respectively (2019: 180 days and 90 days). The Group’s current and non-current trade 
payables include payables under deferred payment schemes that carry interest rates ranging from 3.05% 
to 4.30% (2019: 4.09% to 4.57%) per annum as at the reporting date. Details of these payables are as 
follows:

Group

Balance outstanding

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Currency
denomination Repayment terms

729 765 RM
Repayable on a quarterly basis in 8 equal instalments 

from the contract start dates.

- 56 USD

Fully paid during the financial year and was repayable on 
a half-yearly basis in 11 equal instalments commencing 
from 36 months from the contract start dates.

 As disclosed in Note 22 to the financial statements, certain USD denominated payables amounting to 
USD11 million (2019: USD27 million) are hedged against exchange rate fluctuations using forward foreign 
exchange contracts for which no hedge accounting is applied.
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30 BORROWINGS

Note

Group

31.12.2020
RM’million

31.12.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

1.1.2019
RM’million
(Restated)

Non-current

Secured

Lease liabilities 1,687 1,834 1,802

Unsecured

Term loans (a) 1,192 1,000 1,000

Islamic Medium Term Notes (b) 3,838 3,639 4,144

Commodity Murabahah Term Financing (c) 2,293 2,295 2,295

Business Financing-i (d) 498 - -

9,508 8,768 9,241

Current

Secured

Lease liabilities 255 251 226

Unsecured

Islamic Medium Term Notes (b) - 504 -

Revolving credit (e) - 401 200

255 1,156 426

9,763 9,924 9,667

(a) Term loans 

(i) RM1.0 billion term loan

 This term loan facility carries a term of up to 7 years and is repayable in one lump sum on its maturity 
date, 27 December 2022. 

 As disclosed in Note 22 to the financial statements, the Group has entered into an IRS contract to 
partially hedge the floating interest rate of this term loan facility against the Kuala Lumpur Interbank 
Offered Rate.

(ii) RM600 million term loan

 The total facility amount is RM600 million of which the Group had drawndown RM200 million during 
the current financial year to refinance its borrowings. This 7-year facility will expire on 29 December 
2027, with 50% of the outstanding facility repayable in 3 equal semi-annual instalments commencing 
on 29 June 2026 and 50% repayable upon maturity.
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30 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b) Islamic Medium Term Notes - Sukuk Murabahah

 The Group has established an Unrated Islamic Medium Term Notes (“Sukuk Murabahah”) Programme 
with an aggregate nominal value of up to RM10.0 billion, based on the Islamic principle of Murabahah 
(via a Tawarruq arrangement) (“Unrated Sukuk Murabahah Programme”). The Unrated Sukuk Murabahah 
Programme has a tenure of 30 years from its first issuance and the Sukuk Murabahah to be issued shall 
have a tenure of more than 1 year and up to 30 years. All series of the Sukuk Murabahah are redeemable 
on their respective maturity dates. The profits are payable semi-annually.

During the current financial year, the Group:

(i) issued the fifth series for a nominal value of RM500 million with a 7-year tenure maturing on  
27 October 2027 to refinance its borrowings; 

(ii) redeemed the second series that carried nominal value of RM500 million; and 
(iii) repurchased the fourth series that carried nominal value of RM300 million.

 As at the reporting date, the total outstanding nominal value of the Sukuk Murabahah amounted to RM3.79 
billion (2019: RM4.09 billion) with a tenure of six to nine years.

 Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the Group partially repurchased its third series Sukuk 
Murabahah that carried nominal value of RM400 million.

(c) Commodity Murabahah Term Financing (“CMTF”)

 The Group has a CMTF facility of up to RM2.3 billion based on the Islamic principle of Murabahah and had 
fully drawn down the facility. This facility expires on 7 April 2024 and is repayable in one lump sum on its 
expiry date.

(d) Business Financing-i (“BF-i”)

 The Group entered into an agreement for a BF-i facility based on the Islamic principle of Murabahah (via 
a Tawarruq arrangement) of up to RM500 million, which was fully drawndown during the current financial 
year. This 7-year facility will expire on 4 June 2027, with RM125 million repayable on 4 June 2026 and the 
balance repayable upon maturity.

(e) Revolving credit (“RC”)

 The Group’s RC facility of up to RM500 million is based on the Islamic principle of Murabahah (via a 
Tawarruq arrangement), of which the Group repaid the outstanding balance in full during the current 
financial year. This facility expires on 31 October 2021 and is repayable on demand.

All borrowings are denominated in Ringgit Malaysia which is the functional currency of the Group.
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30 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Contractual terms of borrowing

Group

Contractual
 interest/

profit rate
at reporting

 date
(per annum)

Total 
carrying
amount

RM’million

Maturity profile

< 1 year
RM’million

1-2 years
RM’million

2-5 years
RM’million

>5 years
RM’million

At 31 December 2020

Secured

Lease liabilities 4.18% 1,942 255 237 616 834

Unsecured

Term loans 0.75%+COF(1) 1,000 - 1,000 - -

0.85%+KLIBOR(2) 192 - - - 192

Islamic Medium Term Notes 3.35%-5.40% 3,838 - 2,494 841 503

CMTF 0.70%+COF(1) 2,293 - - 2,293 -

Business Financing-i 0.70%+COF(1) 498 - - - 498

9,763 255 3,731 3,750 2,027

At 31 December 2019 
(Restated)

Secured

Lease liabilities 5.20% 2,085 251 246 641 947

Unsecured

Revolving credit 0.50%+COF(1) 401 401 - - -

Term loan 0.75%+COF(1) 1,000 - - 1,000 -

Islamic Medium Term Notes 4.70%-5.40% 4,143 504 - 2,798 841

CMTF 0.70%+COF(1) 2,295 - - 2,295 -

9,924 1,156 246 6,734 1,788

Notes:
(1) COF denotes Cost of Funds.
(2) KLIBOR denotes Kuala Lumpur Interbank Offered Rate.
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31 SHARE CAPITAL 

(a)  LTIP

 The Company’s LTIP is governed by the By-Laws which was approved by the shareholders on 28 April 
2015 and is administered by the Remuneration Committee which is appointed by the Board of Directors 
of the Company, in accordance with the By-Laws. The Remuneration Committee may from time to time, 
offer LTIP to eligible employees (including executive director) of the Group and includes any person who 
is proposed to be employed as an employee of the Group (including executive director).

 The LTIP comprises a Performance Share Grant (“PS Grant”) and a Restricted Share Grant (“RS Grant”). The 
salient features of the LTIP are as follows:

(i) The maximum number of new shares which may be made available under the LTIP and/or allotted 
and issued upon vesting of the new shares under the LTIP shall not, when aggregated with the total 
number of new shares allotted and issued under the existing ESOS, exceed 250,000,000 shares at 
any point of time during the duration of the LTIP. The ESOS has since expired in 2019;

(ii) The Remuneration Committee shall decide from time to time at its discretion to determine or vary 
the terms and conditions of the offer, such as eligibility criteria and allocation for each grant (i.e. 
the entitlement to receive new shares under the LTIP), the timing and frequency of the award of the 
grant, the performance target and/or performance conditions to be met prior to offer and vesting of 
the grant and the vesting period; 

(iii) The total number of new shares that may be offered under the LTIP shall be at the discretion of the 
Remuneration Committee;

(iv) In the event of any alteration in the capital structure of the Company except under certain 
circumstances, the Remuneration Committee may make or provide for alterations or adjustments to 
be made in the number of unvested new shares and/or the method and/or manner in the vesting of 
the new shares comprised in a grant;

(v) The LTIP shall take effect on the effective date of the implementation of the LTIP and shall be in force 
for a period of 10 years, expiring on 31 July 2025;

(vi) The new shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the LTIP shall, upon allotment and issuance, 
rank equally in all respects with the then existing issued shares and the grant holders shall not be 
entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments, entitlements and/or any other distributions, for which 
the entitlement date is prior to the date of issue of the shares; and

(vii) The share grants will only be vested to the eligible employees of the Group (including an executive 
director) who have duly accepted the offer of grants under the LTIP, on their respective vesting 
dates, provided the following vesting conditions are fully and duly satisfied:

• eligible employees of the Group (including an executive director) must remain in employment 
with the Group and shall not have given notice of resignation or received a notice of termination 
of service as at the vesting dates or have left the Group before time of vesting except on a 
“Good Leaver” basis.
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31 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(a)  LTIP (continued)

(vii) The share grants will only be vested to the eligible employees of the Group (including an executive 
director) who have duly accepted the offer of grants under the LTIP, on their respective vesting 
dates, provided the following vesting conditions are fully and duly satisfied: (continued)

• eligible employees of the Group (including an executive director) having achieved his/her 
performance target and/or performance condition as stipulated by the Remuneration Committee 
and as set out in their offer of grants.

 During the financial year, 8,877,300 (2019: 7,489,800) PS Grant under the LTIP were granted to the eligible 
employees of the Group. Subject to the terms and conditions of the By-Laws governing the LTIP, the 
employees shall be entitled to receive new ordinary share in the Company, to be allotted and issued 
pursuant to the LTIP (“new shares”), upon meeting the vesting conditions as set out in the letter of offer 
for the new shares.  The vesting conditions comprising, amongst others, the performance targets and/
or conditions for the period commencing from 1 January 2020 and ending on 31 December 2022, as 
stipulated by the Remuneration Committee. The vesting date is on 30 June 2023, subject to meeting such 
performance targets.

Movement in the number of PS Grant under the LTIP is as follows:

Number of share grants over ordinary shares in the Company (‘million)

Grant date Vesting Date

Outstanding
as at

1 January Granted Vested Forfeited

Outstanding
as at

31 December

2020

4 December 2017 30 June 2020 5 - (3) (2) -

27 December 2018 30 June 2021 7 - - * 7

16 December 2019 30 June 2022 8 - - (1) 7

7 September 2020 30 June 2023 - 9 - (1) 8

20 9 (3) (4) 22

2019

1 July 2016 30 June 2019 5 - (4) (1) -

4 December 2017 30 June 2020 6 - - (1) 5

27 December 2018 30 June 2021 8 - - (1) 7

16 December 2019 30 June 2022 - 8 - - 8

19 8 (4) (3) 20

* Less than 1 million

 The weighted average fair value of share grants under the PS Grant based on observable market price 
was RM5.10 (2019: RM5.36).
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31 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(a)  LTIP (continued)

Value of employee services received under the LTIP:

Group Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Share-based payment expense 18 18 18 18

Capitalised as investments in 
subsidiaries for share-based 
payments allocated to the 
employees of the subsidiary - - (18) (18)

Total expense recognised as share-
based payments 18 18 - -

(b) Incentive arrangement

 Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the incentive arrangement which forms part of the employment 
contract which an eligible key management personnel had entered into with the Group, the cash incentives 
payable to the eligible key management personnel were used to acquire shares of the Company from the 
open market. During the financial year, 2,205,000 shares of the Company were acquired from the open 
market and are currently held by CIMB Commerce Trustee Berhad or its nominee. Subject to fulfilment of 
the vesting conditions and the terms of the incentive arrangement, these shares will vest on the eligible 
key management personnel on a deferred basis. In addition to the eligible key management personnel’s 
interest in these shares, the eligible key management personnel is also deemed interested in such 
additional number of shares in the Company which shall only be determinable in the future, to be acquired 
using future cash incentives payable to the eligible key management personnel, pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of such incentive arrangement.

Movement in the number of shares under the incentive arrangement was as follows:

Group

‘million

2020

At 1 January -

Acquired 2

At 31 December 2

 The weighted average fair value of shares acquired under the incentive arrangement based on observable 
market price was RM5.32.

The value of employee services received under the incentive arrangement was RM2 million (2019: Nil).
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31 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(c)  ESOS

 The ESOS was implemented on 17 September 2009 and was in force for a period of 10 years until 16 September 
2019. All outstanding share options lapsed and were forfeited on the same date.

 The ESOS was for the benefit of eligible employees and eligible directors (executive and non-executive) of 
the Group. The ESOS was governed by the ESOS Bye-Laws as set out in the Company’s Prospectus dated  
28 October 2009 issued in relation to its initial public offering.

The Remuneration Committee comprising Directors of the Company administered the ESOS. 

The salient features of the ESOS were as follows:

(i) The total number of shares which may be issued under the ESOS shall not exceed in aggregate 
250,000,000 shares during the existence of the ESOS/LTIP save and except for any circumstances which 
may be specified in the Bye-Laws;

(ii) Subject to the discretion of the Directors, any employee of the Company and its subsidiaries who has 
a written employment contract and any director (executive or non-executive) of the Company, shall be 
eligible to participate in the ESOS;

(iii) The number of new shares that may be offered under the ESOS shall be at the discretion of the Directors 
after taking into consideration the performance, seniority and number of years of service as well as the 
employees’ actual or potential contribution to the Group;

(iv) In the event of a change in the capital structure of the Company except under certain circumstances, 
the Directors may make or provide for adjustments to be made in the share options price and/or in the 
number of shares covered by outstanding share options as the Directors at their discretion, may in good 
faith determine to be equitably required in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of the 
optionee or provide for adjustments in the number of shares to give the optionee the same proportion of 
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company to which the optionee was previously entitled;

(v)  The subscription price upon the exercise of the share options under the ESOS shall be the weighted 
average market price quoted for the five market days immediately preceding the date on which the share 
options are granted;

(vi) The ESOS had a contractual term of 10 years. All share options shall become exercisable to the extent 
of one-third of the share options granted on each of the first three anniversaries from the date the share 
options were granted provided the optionee had been in continuous service with the Group throughout 
the period;

(vii) Subject to paragraph (vi) above, an optionee may exercise share options in whole or part in multiples of 
100 shares only at such time in accordance with any guidelines as may be prescribed by the Directors 
from time to time; and

(viii) The optionees have no right to participate by virtue of the share options in any share issue of any other 
company. However, shares issued upon the exercise of the share options shall rank pari passu in all 
respects with the then existing issued shares save that they will not entitle the holders thereof to receive 
any rights or bonus issues or dividends or distributions, the entitlement date of which precedes the date 
of issue of the shares.



198

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(c)  ESOS (continued)

Movement in the number of share options outstanding and their exercise prices is as follows:

Number of options over ordinary shares in the Company (‘million)

Grant date Expiry Date

Exercise 
price

RM/share

Outstanding
as at

1.1.2019 Exercised
Forfeited/

expired

Outstanding
as at

31.12.2019

Exercisable
as at

31.12.2019

2019

1 July 2011 16 September 2019 5.45 3 * (3) - -

1 July 2012 16 September 2019 6.41 8 - (8) - -

1 July 2013 16 September 2019 6.78 6 - (6) - -

1 August 2015 16 September 2019 6.53 50 - (50) - -

67 * (67) - -

Weighted average exercise price (RM per share) 6.49 5.45 6.49 - -

* Less than 1 million.

 The share options exercised in the previous financial year had resulted in 33,000 shares being issued and 
the related weighted average share price at the date of exercise was RM5.58 per share. 

32 RESERVES

(a) Merger relief

 The merger relief was created prior to the listing and quotation exercise of the Company’s shares on 
the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad in 2009 (“Listing”) where Maxis Communications 
Berhad (“MCB”) implemented a restructuring exercise to consolidate its telecommunications operations 
in Malaysia under the Company (“Pre-Listing Restructuring”). The Company acquired the entire issued 
and paid-up share capital of the subsidiaries held by MCB. Pursuant to Section 60(4)(a) of the Companies 
Act, 1965, the premium on the shares issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition of the 
subsidiaries is not recorded as share premium. The difference between the issue price and the nominal 
value of shares issued is classified as merger relief.

(b) Reserve arising from reverse acquisition

 The reserve arising from reverse acquisition was created during the Pre-Listing Restructuring exercise 
where MMSSB was identified as the accounting acquirer in accordance to MFRS 3 “Business Combination”. 
The difference between the issued equity of the Company and issued equity of MMSSB together with the 
deemed purchase consideration of subsidiaries other than MMSSB and the cash distribution to MCB, is 
recorded as reserve arising from reverse acquisition.
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32 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Other reserves

Group Note

Share-
based

payments
RM’million

Cash flow
hedging

RM’million
Total 

RM’million

2020

At 1 January 76 (9) 67

Net change in hedging:

- fair value losses - (11) (11)

- reclassified to finance costs 10(b) - * *

LTIP:

- share-based payment expense 18 - 18

- shares issued (15) - (15)

Incentive arrangement:

- share-based payment expense 2 - 2

- shares acquired (12) - (12)

At 31 December 69 (20) 49

2019

At 1 January 118 1 119

Net change in hedging:

- fair value losses - (10) (10)

- reclassified to finance costs 10(b) - * *

ESOS and LTIP:

- share-based payment expense 18 - 18

- shares issued (23) - (23)

- share options lapsed/expired (37) - (37)

At 31 December 76 (9) 67

* Less than 1 million
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32 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Other reserves (continued)

Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Share-based payments

At 1 January 76 118

ESOS and LTIP:

- share-based payment expense 18 18

- shares issued (15) (23)

- share options lapsed/expired - (37)

At 31 December 79 76

The share-based payments reserve as at financial year end comprised of:

(a) discount on shares issued to retail investors in relation to the Listing;

(b) fair value of shares grants less any shares issued under the LTIP; and

(c) fair value of share less any shares acquired under the incentive arrangement.
 

 The cash flow hedging reserve represents the deferred fair value gains/(losses) relating to derivative 
financial instruments used to hedge certain borrowings and forecast transactions of the Group.

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 The Group’s and the Company’s activities expose them to a variety of financial risks, including market risk 
(interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk. The Group’s and the 
Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s and the Company’s financial performances. The Group 
uses derivative financial instruments to hedge designated risk exposures of the underlying hedge items and 
does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

 The Group and the Company have established financial risk management policies and procedures/mandates 
which provide written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, 
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and use of derivative financial instruments. 
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of the financial instruments that will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. The various components of market risk that the Group and the 
Company are exposed to are discussed below.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

 The objectives of the Group’s and of the Company’s currency risk management policies are to allow 
the Group and the Company to effectively manage the foreign exchange fluctuation against its 
functional currency that may arise from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and 
liabilities. Forward foreign exchange contracts are used to manage foreign exchange exposures 
arising from all known material foreign currency denominated commitments as and when they arise 
and to hedge the movements in exchange rates by establishing the rate at which a foreign currency 
monetary item will be settled. Gains and losses on foreign currency forward contracts entered into 
as hedges of foreign currency monetary items are recognised in the financial statements when the 
exchange differences of the hedged monetary items are recognised in the financial statements.

 The currency exposure of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company 
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the respective companies are set out below. 
There is no currency risk in respect of intragroup receivables and payables since they are all 
denominated in the functional currency.

Currency exposure at 31 December

Group
SGD

RM’million
USD

RM’million
SDR(1)

RM’million
Others

RM’million

In functional currency  
Ringgit Malaysia

2020

Receivables and deposits - 30 25 *

Deposits, cash and bank 
balances - 33 - -

Payables * (118) (33) *

Amounts due to related parties, 
net - (8) * -

Gross exposure * (63) (8) *

Forward foreign exchange 
contracts:

- payables - 45 - -

Net exposure * (18) (8) *
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Currency exposure at 31 December

Group
SGD

RM’million
USD

RM’million
SDR(1)

RM’million
Others

RM’million

In functional currency  
Ringgit Malaysia

2019

Receivables and deposits - 1 59 -

Deposits, cash and bank 
balances - 25 - -

Payables (1) (155) (45) (6)

Amounts due to related parties, 
net - (8) * -

Gross exposure (1) (137) 14 (6)

Forward foreign exchange 
contracts:

- payables - 59 - -

Net exposure (1) (78) 14 (6)

Notes:
( 1 ) SDR, i.e. Special Drawing Rights represents international accounting settlement rate with 

international carriers.
* Less than RM1 million.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

 The sensitivity of the Group’s profit before tax for the financial year and equity to a reasonably 
possible change in the USD exchange rate against the functional currency, RM, with all other factors 
remaining constant and based on the composition of assets and liabilities at the reporting date are 
set out as below.

Impact on profit before tax for 
the financial year Impact on equity(1)

Group
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

USD/RM

- strengthened 5% (2019: 5%) (1) (4) 6 5

- weakened 5% (2019: 5%) 1 4 (6) (5)

Note:
(1) Represents cash flow hedging reserve

 The impacts on profit before tax for the financial year are mainly as a result of foreign currency 
gains/losses on translating of USD denominated receivables, deposits, bank balances and unhedged 
payables. For USD payables in a designated hedging relationship, as these are effectively hedged, 
the foreign currency movements will not have any impact on the statement of profit or loss.

(ii) Interest rate risk

 The Group’s interest rate risk arises from deposits with licensed banks, deferred payment creditors 
and borrowings carrying fixed and variable interest rates and for the Company, from its deposits with 
licensed banks. The objectives of the Group’s interest rate risk management policies are to allow 
the Group to effectively manage the interest rate fluctuation through the use of fixed and floating 
interest rates debt and derivative financial instruments. The Group adopts a non-speculative stance 
which favours predictability over interest rate fluctuations. The interest rate profiles of the Group’s 
borrowings are also regularly reviewed against prevailing and anticipated market interest rates to 
determine whether refinancing or early repayment is warranted. 

 The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using interest rate swap contract. Such swap 
has the economic effect of converting certain borrowing from floating rate to fixed rate.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

 The net exposure of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company 
to interest rate risk (before and after taking effect of IRS contract) and the periods in which the 
borrowings mature or reprice (whichever is earlier) are as follows:

Group

Weighted
average
effective
interest/

profit rate 
at reporting 

date
(per annum)

%

Total
carrying
amount

RM’million

Floating
interest/

profit rate
RM’million

Fixed interest/profit rate

< 1 year
RM’million

1-2 years
RM’million

2-5 years
RM’million

> 5 years
RM’million

At 31 December 2020

Deposits with licensed 
banks 1.98 547 - 547 - - -

Trade payables 3.56 (729) - (565) (164) - -

Lease liabilities 4.18 (1,942) - (255) (237) (616) (834)

Term loans 2.87 (1,192) (1,192) - - - -

Islamic Medium Term 
Notes 4.87 (3,838) - - (2,494) (841) (503)

CMTF 2.85 (2,293) (2,293) - - - -

Business Financing-i 2.85 (498) (498) - - - -

Gross exposure (9,945) (3,983)

IRS:

- term loan 4.69 500 - (500) - -

Net exposure (3,483)
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

 The net exposure of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company 
to interest rate risk (before and after taking effect of IRS contract) and the periods in which the 
borrowings mature or reprice (whichever is earlier) are as follows: (continued)

Group

Weighted
average
effective
interest/

profit rate 
at reporting 

date
(per annum)

%

Total
carrying
amount

RM’million

Floating
interest/

profit rate
RM’million

Fixed interest/profit rate

< 1 year
RM’million

1-2 years
RM’million

2-5 years
RM’million

> 5 years
RM’million

At 31 December 2019
(Restated)

Deposits with licensed 
banks 3.17 445 - 445 - - -

Trade payables 4.12 (821) (56) (488) (277) - -

Lease liabilities 5.20 (2,085) - (251) (246) (641) (947)

Revolving credit 4.00 (401) (401) - - - -

Term loan 4.26 (1,000) (1,000) - - - -

Islamic Medium Term 
Notes 5.03 (4,143) - (504) - (2,798) (841)

CMTF 4.17 (2,295) (2,295) - - - -

Gross exposure (10,300) (3,752)

IRS:

- term loan 4.69 500 - - (500) -

Net exposure (3,252)
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

 The net exposure of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company 
to interest rate risk (before and after taking effect of IRS contract) and the periods in which the 
borrowings mature or reprice (whichever is earlier) are as follows: (continued)

Company

Weighted
average 

effective
interest rate
at reporting

date
(per annum)

%

Total carrying
amount

RM’million

Fixed interest
rate

< 1 year
RM’million

At 31 December 2020

Loans due from a subsidiary 4.19 227 227

Deposits with licensed banks 1.90 14 14

241

At 31 December 2019

Loans due from a subsidiary 4.66 222 222

Deposits with licensed banks 3.20 8 8

230

 The sensitivity of the Group’s profit before tax for the financial year and equity to a reasonably 
possible change in RM (2019: RM and USD) interest rates with all other factors held constant and 
based on composition of liabilities with floating interest rates as at the reporting date are as follows:

Impact on profit before tax for 
the financial year Impact on equity(1)

Group
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

RM

- increased by 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) (17) (16) 2 5

- decreased by 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) 17 16 (2) (5)

USD

- increased by 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) - * - *

- decreased by 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) - * - *

Notes:
(1) Represents cash flow hedging reserve.
*  Less than RM1 million.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

 The impact on profit before tax for the financial year is mainly as a result of interest expenses on 
floating rate borrowings not in a designated hedging relationship. For borrowings in a designated 
hedging relationship, as these are effectively hedged, the interest rate movements will not have any 
impact on the statement of profit or loss.

(b) Credit risk

 The objectives of the Group’s and of the Company’s credit risk management policies are to manage 
their exposure to credit risk from deposits, cash and bank balances, receivables and derivative financial 
instruments. They do not expect any third parties to fail to meet their obligations given the Group’s and 
the Company’s policies of selecting creditworthy counterparties.

Trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets

 Credit risk of trade receivables is controlled by the application of credit approvals, limits and monitoring 
procedures. Credit risks are minimised and monitored via limiting the Group’s dealings with creditworthy 
business partners and customers. Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis via the Group’s 
management reporting and dunning procedures.

Concentration of credit risk

 The Group has no significant exposure to any individual customer, geographical location or industry 
category. Significant credit and recovery risks associated with receivables have been provided for in the 
financial statements. 

Impairment of trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets

 The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. To measure the ECL, trade receivables and 
contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

 The Directors are of the view that the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on economies worldwide has 
caused a significant increase in credit risk. Consequently, the expected loss rates which was previously 
determined based on historical ageing profile and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced 
in the past 5 years are now revised and based on similar data observed since the outbreak of the COVID-19 
pandemic. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information on macroeconomic 
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. Some of the factors which the 
Group has identified include unemployment rate, interbank lending rate, Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) 
and annual Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth and has adjusted the historical loss rates based on 
expected changes in such factors.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets (continued)

 On that basis, the loss allowance was determined as follows for trade receivables, finance lease receivables 
and contract assets:

Group
Current

RM’million

1 to 
30 days

past due
RM’million

31 to 
60 days

past due
RM’million

61 to 
90 days

past due
RM’million

91 to 
120 days
past due

RM’million

> 120 days
past due

RM’million
Total

RM’million

31 December 2020

Expected loss rate(1) 0.6%-11.9% 2.9%-20.8% 12.0%-69.0% 30.9%-88.5% 46.0%-100% 64.0%-100%

Gross carrying amount:

Trade receivables 1,154 70 43 25 14 75 1,381

Finance lease 
receivables 30 - - - - - 30

Contract assets 207 - - - - - 207

1,391 70 43 25 14 75 1,618

Loss allowance:

Trade receivables (53) (16) (15) (13) (10) (64) (171)

Finance lease 
receivables (1) - - - - - (1)

Contract assets (9) - - - - - (9)

(63) (16) (15) (13) (10) (64) (181)

Note:
(1) The expected loss rate comprises of customers with different risk profiles and excludes individual 

specific loss rate.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets (continued)

Group
Current

RM’million

1 to 
30 days

past due
RM’million

31 to 
60 days

past due
RM’million

61 to 
90 days

past due
RM’million

91 to 
120 days
past due

RM’million

> 120 days
past due

RM’million
Total

RM’million

31 December 2019

Expected loss rate(1) 1.3%-8.5% 2.9%-13.5% 7.1%-54.1% 16.0%-73.7% 33.3%-86.3% 44.1%-100%

Gross carrying amount:

Trade receivables 1,418 89 31 17 12 66 1,633

Finance lease 
receivables 40 - - - - - 40

Contract assets 202 - - - - - 202

1,660 89 31 17 12 66 1,875

Loss allowance:

Trade receivables (38) (13) (9) (11) (8) (65) (144)

Finance lease 
receivables (1) - - - - - (1)

Contract assets (3) - - - - - (3)

(42) (13) (9) (11) (8) (65) (148)

Note:
(1) The expected loss rate comprises of customers with different risk profiles and excludes individual 

specific loss rate.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets (continued)

Movement on the Group’s loss allowances for receivables and contract assets is as follows:

Trade receivables
Finance lease

receivables Contract assets Total

Group Note

2020
RM’

million

2019
RM’

million

2020
RM’

million

2019
RM’

million

2020
RM’

million

2019
RM’

million

2020
RM’

million

2019
RM’

million

1 January 144 108 1 1 3 6 148 115

Charged to statement 
of profit or loss 11 367 154 3 * 9 * 379 154

Reversed from 
statement of profit 
or loss 11 (58) (10) (3) * (3) (3) (64) (13)

Amount written off (282) (108) - - - - (282) (108)

31 December 171 144 1 1 9 3 181 148

Deposits, cash and bank balances

 For deposits, cash and bank balances, the Group and the Company seek to ensure that cash assets are 
invested safely and profitably by assessing counterparty risks and allocating placement limits for various 
creditworthy financial institutions. 

 While deposits, cash and bank balances are also subject to the impairment requirements, the identified 
impairment loss was immaterial.

Derivative financial instruments

 The Group enters into the contracts with various reputable counterparties to minimise the credit risks. 
The Group considers the risk of material loss in the event of non-performance by the above parties to 
be unlikely. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of those financial 
instruments.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

 Other financial assets at amortised cost include other receivables and deposits. The movement on Group’s 
loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised cost is as follows:

Group

Note
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

1 January 36 42

Charged to statement of profit or loss 11 16 31

Reversed from statement of profit or loss 11 (24) (25)

Amount written off * (12)

31 December 28 36

* Less than RM1 million.

(c) Liquidity risk

 The objectives of the Group’s and of the Company’s liquidity risk management policies are to monitor 
rolling forecasts of the Group’s and of the Company’s liquidity requirements to ensure they have sufficient 
cash to meet operational and financing needs as and when they fall due, availability of funding via credit 
lines, whilst meeting external debt covenant compliance. Surplus cash held is invested in interest bearing 
money market deposits and time deposits. The Group and the Company are exposed to liquidity risk 
where there may be difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.

 As at 31 December 2020, the Group has RM6.2 billion that is available for issuance under the Unrated 
Sukuk Murabahah Programme and available credit facilities of RM0.9 billion as disclosed in Note 30 to 
the financial statements. The Group is able to issue new Sukuk and/or drawdown the available credit 
facilities to finance its capital expenditure, working capital and/or other funding requirements. There is no 
restriction under the terms of the Unrated Sukuk Murabahah Programme and the available credit facilities 
for such intended purposes. 
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

 The undiscounted contractual cash flow payables under the financial instruments as at the reporting date 
are as follows:

Group
Total(1)

RM’million
< 1 year

RM’million
1-2 years

RM’million
2-5 years

RM’million
> 5 years

RM’million

At 31 December 2020

Payables and accruals(1) 3,019 2,825 185 9 -

Amounts due to related parties 17 17 - - -

Lease liabilities 2,483 351 319 795 1,018

Borrowings(2) 8,631 298 3,644 3,434 1,255

Net settled derivative financial 
instruments (IRS contract) 21 13 8 - -

14,171 3,504 4,156 4,238 2,273

At 31 December 2019 
(Restated)

Payables and accruals(1) 3,109 2,812 297 - -

Amounts due to related parties 25 25 - - -

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries * * - - -

Lease liabilities 2,809 374 346 868 1,221

Borrowings(2) 8,950 1,258 321 6,509 862

Net settled derivative financial 
instruments (IRS contract) 8 4 2 2 -

14,901 4,473 966 7,379 2,083

Notes:
(1) Foreign currency denominated financial instruments are translated to RM using closing rate as at the 

reporting date.
(2) As the amounts included in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, these amounts will 

not reconcile with the amounts disclosed in the statements of financial position.
*  Less than RM1 million.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

 The undiscounted contractual cash flow payables under the financial instruments as at the reporting date 
are as follows: (continued)

Total < 1 year

Company RM’million RM’million

At 31 December 2020

Payables and accruals 1 1

Amount due to a subsidiary * *

1 1

At 31 December 2019

Payables and accruals 1 1

Amount due to a subsidiary * *

1 1

* Less than RM1 million

(d) Capital risk management

 The Group’s and the Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s and the 
Company’s abilities to continue as a going concern while at the same time provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of 
capital. 

 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group and the Company may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or return capital to shareholders. 

 Under the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Practice Note No. 17/2005, the Company is 
required to maintain a consolidated shareholders’ equity of more than 25% of the issued and paid-up 
capital (excluding treasury shares) and maintain such shareholders’ equity of not less than RM40 million. 
The Company has complied with this requirement.

 The external lenders require its borrower, MBSB, to maintain financial covenant ratios on its net debt to 
EBITDA and EBITDA to interest expense. These financial covenant ratios have been fully complied with by 
MBSB for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(d) Capital risk management (continued) 

 The Group also monitors capital which comprise of borrowings and equity on the basis of the gearing ratio. 
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total interest bearing 
financial liabilities (include current and non-current borrowings and derivative financial instruments 
designated in hedging relationship on borrowings on a net basis as shown in the statements of financial 
position but exclude payables under deferred payment schemes as disclosed in Note 29 to the financial 
statements) less deposits, cash and bank balances. Total equity is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the 
statements of financial position. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Group

Note

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million
(Restated)

Total interest bearing financial liabilities 9,780 9,930

Less: Deposits, cash and bank balances 27 (735) (582)

Net debt 9,045 9,348

Total equity 7,050 7,001

Gearing ratio 1.3 1.3

(e) Fair value estimation

 Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the 
valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value estimation (continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at amortised cost

 The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group at the reporting date 
approximated their fair values except as set out below measured using Level 3 valuation technique:

2020 2019

Group Note

Carrying
amount

RM’million
Fair value

RM’million

Carrying
amount

RM’million
Fair value

RM’million

Financial liability:

 Borrowings

- Islamic Medium  
Term Notes 30 3,838 3,911 4,143 4,199

 The valuation technique used to derive the Level 3 disclosure for financial asset is based on the 
estimated cash flow and discount rate of the underlying counterparty while financial liability is based 
on the estimated cash flow and discount rate of the Group.

(ii) Financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss

 The following table represents the financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value, 
using Level 2 valuation technique, at reporting date:

Group

Note
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

Derivative financial instruments:

- Assets 22 - *

- Liabilities 22 (22) (9)

(22) (9)

* Less than RM1 million.

 The fair value of the IRS contract is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flow 
using an appropriate market-based yield curve. The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts 
are determined using forward exchange rates as at each reporting date.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value estimation (continued)

(ii) Financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

 The following table represents the financial liabilities measured at fair value, using Level 3 valuation 
technique, at reporting date:

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

At 1 January - -

Additions 18 -

Accretion of finance cost 1 -

At 31 December 19 -

 The fair value of financial liabilities is calculated based on the estimated cash flow discounted at the 
incremental borrowing rate.

(iii) Financial instruments carried at FVOCI

 Financial assets at FVOCI comprise equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the 
Group and Company have elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category. 

 The Group and Company hold investments that are unlisted securities, and measured at fair value, 
using Level 3 valuation technique, at reporting date:

Group Company

Note
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

Financial assets at FVOCI 20 4 4 4 4

 The valuation technique used to derive the Level 3 disclosure for financial asset is based on the 
estimated cash flow and discount rate of the underlying counterparty.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(f) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Financial assets

 The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements 
and similar arrangements.

Group

Gross 
amounts

 of recognised 
financial 

assets
RM’million

Gross
amounts of
recognised 

financial 
liabilities 
set-off in 

the
statement 

of financial
 position

RM’million

Net 
amounts of 

financial 
assets 

presented in 
the 

statement 
of financial 

position 
RM’million

Net 
amount

RM’million

Related amounts not off-set 
in the statement of financial 

position

Financial
instruments

RM’million

Cash
collateral
received

RM’million

At 31 December 2020

Receivables and 
deposits 528 (56) 472 - (26) 446

Amounts due from 
related parties 14 (10) 4 - - 4

542 (66) 476 - (26) 450

At 31 December 2019

Receivables and 
deposits 571 (39) 532 - (22) 510

Amounts due from 
related parties 11 (4) 7 - - 7

582 (43) 539 - (22) 517
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(f) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities

 The following financial liabilities are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements 
and similar arrangements.

Group

Gross 
amounts

 of recognised 
financial 
liabilities

RM’million

Gross
amounts of
recognised 

financial 
assets 

set-off in 
the

statement 
of financial

 position
RM’million

Net 
amounts of 

financial 
liabilities 

presented in 
the 

statement 
of financial 

position 
RM’million

Net 
amount

RM’million

Related amounts not off-set 
in the statement of financial 

position

Financial
instruments

RM’million

Cash
collateral
received

RM’million

At 31 December 2020

Payables and accruals 209 (56) 153 (26) - 127

Amounts due to 
related parties 20 (10) 10 - - 10

229 (66) 163 (26) - 137

At 31 December 2019

Payables and accruals 240 (39) 201 (22) - 179

Amounts due to 
related parties 25 (4) 21 - - 21

265 (43) 222 (22) - 200

* Less than RM1 million.

34 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

Group

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Property, plant and equipment 171 323



FINANCIAL STATEMENTSIntegrated Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements

219

35 RELATED PARTIES

 In addition to related party disclosures mentioned elsewhere in the financial statements, set out below are 
other significant transactions, balances and commitments. The related party transactions described below were 
carried out on agreed terms with the related parties. None of these balances are secured.

Transaction value Balance outstanding Commitments

Total balance 
outstanding, including 

commitments

Group
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

Sales of goods and services:

- MEASAT Broadcast 
Network Systems Sdn. 
Bhd.(1)

 (telephony and 
connectivity services to 
co-market and distribute 
content products) 61 52 4 6 - - 4 6

- Saudi Telecom Company(2)

 (roaming and international 
calls) 4 - - - - - - -

- MEASAT Broadband 
(International) Ltd(3)

 (revenue share on 
bandwidth) 3 - - - - - - -

- Maxis Communications 
Berhad(4)

 (corporate support 
services) 2 2 - - - - - -

Purchases of goods and 
services from:

- MEASAT Broadcast 
Network Systems Sdn. 
Bhd.(1)  

(customer acquisition and 
installation charges) 11 - - - - - - -

- Saudi Telecom Company 
(“STC”)(2)  

(roaming and international 
calls) 4 - * - - - * -

- MEASAT Global Berhad 
Group(3)

 (transponder and teleport 
lease rental) 31 50 (1) (7) (55) (26) (56) (33)



220

Notes to the Financial Statements

35 RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

Transaction value Balance outstanding Commitments

Total balance 
outstanding, including 

commitments

Group
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million
2020

RM’million
2019

RM’million

Purchases of goods and 
services from: (continued)

- Tanjong City Centre 
Property Management 
Sdn. Bhd.(5)

 (rental, service charge, 
property service and  
other utility charges) 40 35 - - (147) (171) (147) (171)

- UTSB Management Sdn. 
Bhd.(5)

 (corporate management 
services) 29 29 (5) (7) (50) (79) (55) (86)

- SRG Asia Pacific Sdn.  
Bhd.(6)

 (call handling and 
telemarketing services) 23 19 (5) (6) - - (5) (6)

- Sri Lanka Telecom PLC(7)

 (roaming and international 
calls) 2 - * - - - * -

Notes:
 The Group has entered into the above related party transactions with parties whose relationships are set out 

below.

 Usaha Tegas Sdn. Bhd. (“UTSB”), Saudi Telecom Company and Harapan Nusantara Sdn. Bhd. are parties 
related to the Company, by virtue of having joint control over Binariang GSM Sdn. Bhd. (“BGSM”), pursuant to a 
shareholders’ agreement in relation to BGSM. BGSM is the ultimate holding company of the Company.

 The ultimate holding company of UTSB is PanOcean Management Limited (“PanOcean”). PanOcean is the 
trustee of a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are members of the family of Ananda Krishnan 
Tatparanandam (“TAK”) and foundations including those for charitable purposes. Although PanOcean is deemed 
to have an interest in all of the shares of the Company in which UTSB has an interest, PanOcean does not have 
any economic or beneficial interest in the shares of the Company, as such interest is held subject to the terms 
of the discretionary trust.

(1) Subsidiary of a company which is an associate of UTSB
(2) A major shareholder of BGSM, as described above
(3) Indirect subsidiary of a company in which TAK has a 100% direct equity interest
(4) Subsidiary of BGSM
(5) Subsidiary of UTSB
(6) Subsidiary of a company whereby a person connected to TAK has a deemed equity interest
(7) Associate of UTSB 
* Less than RM1 million.
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35 RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

Company

2020
RM’million

2019
RM’million

Management fees charged by a subsidiary 3 4

Payment on behalf of operating expenses for subsidiaries 1 *

* Less than RM1 million.

36 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES UPON ADOPTION OF IFRIC AGENDA DECISION

 During the financial year, the Group has adopted the IFRIC November 2019 Agenda Decision on “Lease Term 
and Useful Life of Leasehold Improvement” (“IFRIC AD - Lease”) that was published in December 2019. IFRIC 
AD - Lease gives additional clarification on the definition of a “penalty”. It clarifies that in determining the 
enforceable period of the lease, the Group considers:

(i) the broader economics of the contract, and not only contractual termination payments. If either party has 
an economic incentive not to terminate the lease such that it would incur a penalty on termination that is 
more than insignificant, the contract is deemed enforceable beyond the date on which the contract can 
be terminated; and 

(ii) whether each of the parties has the right to terminate the lease without permission from the other party 
with no more than an insignificant penalty. A lease is no longer enforceable only when both parties have 
such a right. Consequently, if only one party has the right to terminate the lease without permission from 
the other party with no more than an insignificant penalty, the contract is deemed enforceable beyond the 
date on which the contract can be terminated by that party.

 Previously, the Group considered penalties based on contractual termination payments when determining 
whether the Group is reasonably certain to extend the lease beyond the date on which the contract can 
be terminated. After considering the broader economics of the lease contracts, and following the additional 
clarification above, some of the lease contracts that were assessed as short-term lease in the past were 
reassessed to have longer lease term upon adoption of the IFRIC AD - Lease. As a result, more lease contracts 
are being recognised as right-of-use assets with corresponding liabilities at the date on which the leased 
assets are available for use by the Group. The IFRIC AD - Lease is adopted retrospectively.

 The following tables show the adjustments recognised in the financial statements of the Group for each 
individual financial statement line item as a result of the adoption of the IFRIC AD - Lease. The adoption of the 
IFRIC AD - Lease has no impact on the financial statements of the Company.

 Line items that were not affected by the changes have been excluded. As a result, the sub-totals and totals 
disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers provided.
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36 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES UPON ADOPTION OF IFRIC AGENDA DECISION (CONTINUED)

(a) Reconciliation of financial position and equity

Statement of financial position (extract)
Group

31.12.2019 
As previously 

reported
RM’million

Effects of 
IFRIC

 AD - Lease 
RM’million

31.12.2019
 Restated

RM’million

Non-current asset

Right-of-use assets 1,032 886 1,918

Total assets 21,437 886 22,323

Current liabilities

Payables and accruals 4,323 * 4,323

Borrowings(1) 1,053 103 1,156

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings(1) 7,894 874 8,768

Deferred tax liabilities 221 (22) 199

Net assets 7,070 (69) 7,001

Reserves(2) 4,538 (69) 4,469

Total equity 7,070 (69) 7,001

Statement of financial position (extract)
Group

1.1.2019 
As previously 

reported
RM’million

Effects of 
IFRIC

 AD - Lease 
RM’million

1.1.2019
 Restated

RM’million

Non-current asset

Right-of-use assets 1,046 835 1,881

Total assets 20,845 835 21,680

Current liabilities

Payables and accruals 4,020 * 4,020

Borrowings(1) 331 95 426

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings(1) 8,419 822 9,241

Deferred tax liabilities 181 (20) 161

Net assets 7,107 (62) 7,045

Reserves(2) 4,598 (62) 4,536

Total equity 7,107 (62) 7,045

Notes:
(1) The adoption of IFRIC AD impacts lease liabilities within ‘borrowings’.
(2) The adoption of IFRIC AD impacts retained earnings within ‘reserves’.
* Less than RM1 million.
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36 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES UPON ADOPTION OF IFRIC AGENDA DECISION (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of profit or loss and comprehensive income

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income (extract)
Group

Year ended 
31.12.2019 

As previously
 reported

RM’million

Effects of 
IFRIC AD - 

Lease
RM’million

Year ended
31.12.2019 

Restated
RM’million

Network costs (688) 158 (530)

Depreciation and amortisation (1,265) (114) (1,379)

Finance costs (469) (53) (522)

Profit before tax 2,036 (9) 2,027

Tax expenses (517) 2 (515)

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the 
Company 1,519 (7) 1,512

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable 
to equity holders of the Company 1,509 (7) 1,502

Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity 
holders of the Company (sen):

- basic 19.4 (0.1) 19.3

- diluted 19.4 (0.1) 19.3
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36 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES UPON ADOPTION OF IFRIC AGENDA DECISION (CONTINUED)

(c) Reconciliation of cash flow

Statement of cash flows (extract)
Group

Year ended 
31.12.2019 

As previously
 reported

RM’million

Effects of 
IFRIC AD - 

Lease
RM’million

Year ended
31.12.2019 

Restated
RM’million

Profit for the financial year 1,519 (7) 1,512

Adjustment for:

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 165 114 279

Finance costs 469 53 522

Tax expenses 517 (2) 515

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 3,957 158 4,115

Working capital changes (58) (26) (84)

Cash flows from operations 3,899 132 4,031

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,379 132 3,511

Repayment of lease liabilities (154) (79) (233)

Payment of finance costs (469) (53) (522)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (1,987) (132) (2,119)

37 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 In the normal course of business, there are contingent liabilities arising from legal recourse sought by the 
Group’s customers or vendors and indemnities given to financial institutions on bank guarantees. There were 
no material losses anticipated as a result of these transactions.

 Maxis Broadband Sdn. Bhd. (“MBSB”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was served with the below 
notices of additional assessment with penalties by Inland Revenue Board (“IRB”). MBSB has appealed and 
initiated legal proceedings to challenge the basis and validity of these additional assessments:

(i) In November 2019, the IRB disallowed MBSB from its entitlement to incremental chargeable income 
exemption for Year of Assessment 2017.  A notice of additional assessment of RM37.4 million was issued 
(“ICI Notice”).   The Kuala Lumpur High Court (“High Court”) had granted and subsequently extended the 
interim stay of the enforcement of the ICI Notice until the hearing of MBSB’s leave application challenging 
the ICI Notice; and

(ii) In the current financial year, the IRB disallowed MBSB’s deduction of interest expenses  incurred 
for the Years of Assessment 2016 and 2017. Notices of additional assessment  totalling RM140 million 
were  issued  (“Notices”). The High Court had granted and subsequently extended the interim stay of 
the enforcement of the Notices until the filing of submissions with the High Court in respect of MBSB’s 
application challenging the Notices.
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37 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

 The Directors are of the view that no provision is required in the financial statements at this juncture based 
on the facts surrounding the above additional assessments received from the IRB and the legal view obtained 
from external legal counsel that there is sufficient evidence and case law to support MBSB’s appeals and 
proceedings against the ICI Notice and Notices.

38 EVENT AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR

 On 19 February 2021, the Government of Malaysia announced its MyDIGITAL initiative and the Malaysia Digital 
Economy Blueprint which includes bringing 5G to Malaysians in stages by the end of 2021.

 The Group is in the process of engaging the Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission (“MCMC”) 
to gather more details and will consider the impact of the above announcement to the Group  once further 
information is available.

39 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 The financial statements have been approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors 
on 26 February 2021.
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Statement by Directors
Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016

We, Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad bin Raja Tun Uda and Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir, being two of the Directors 
of Maxis Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the accompanying financial statements set 
out on pages 118 to 225 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and of their financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution dated 26 February 2021.

RAJA TAN SRI DATO’ SERI ARSHAD BIN RAJA TUN UDA TAN SRI MOKHZANI BIN MAHATHIR
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Kuala Lumpur

Statutory Declaration
Pursuant to Section 251(1) of the Companies Act 2016

I, Norman Wayne Treeby, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Maxis Berhad, do solemnly 
and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 118 to 225 are, to the best of my knowledge and 
belief, correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the 
provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

NORMAN WAYNE TREEBY

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed Norman Wayne Treeby at Kuala Lumpur in Malaysia on  
26 February 2021, before me.

COMMISSIONER FOR OATH
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Maxis Berhad (Incorporated In Malaysia)

(Registration No. 200901024473 (867573-A))

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of Maxis Berhad (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2020, and of their 
financial performance and their cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 
in Malaysia.

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at 31 December 2020 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss, 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group 
and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 118 to 225.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements” section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct 
and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws 
and the IESBA Code.

Our audit approach

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company. In particular, we considered where the Directors made 
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk 
of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was 
evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and of the Company, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group and the Company operate.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters (continued)

Group

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Assessment of carrying value and useful life of intangible 
assets with indefinite useful life

Refer to Note 3(d) - Summary of significant accounting 
policies: Intangible assets, Note 4(a) - Critical accounting 
estimates and judgements: Intangible assets and Note 16 - 
Intangible assets

We focused on this area due to the size of the carrying 
amount of the goodwill and spectrum rights, which 
represented 50% of total assets as at 31 December 2020, 
and the significant assumptions and judgements involved in 
determining the indefinite useful life of the spectrum rights 
and impairment assessment.

The spectrum rights are considered to have an indefinite 
economic useful life as the Directors are of the opinion that 
the spectrum rights can be renewed indefinitely without 
significant cost when compared with the expected future 
economic benefits expected to flow to the Group from the 
renewal and there is no foreseeable limit to the period over 
which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for 
the entity.

Based on the annual impairment test performed, the Directors 
concluded that no impairment is required for goodwill and 
spectrum rights. The key assumptions and sensitivities are 
disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

In respect of the goodwill and spectrum rights, we performed 
the following audit procedures on the value-in-use (“VIU”) 
calculations which were based on cash flow projections that 
cover a period of 5 years comprising the approved financial 
budget for 2021 and projections for the next 4 years:

• Evaluated the reasonableness of the Directors’ 
assessment that the converged telecommunications 
services and solutions is the cash generating unit 
(“CGU”) which represents the smallest identifiable group 
of assets that generate independent cash inflows, by 
understanding the business model of the Group;

• Discussed with management on the key assumptions 
used in the five-year VIU cash flows which include the 
compounded revenue and earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation annual growth rates and 
performed the following:

- Agreed the five-year VIU cash flows to the financial 
budget approved by the Directors;

- Compared historical forecasting for 2020 to actual 
results to assess the reliability of management’s 
estimates;

- Compared the compounded revenue growth rates 
in the projection periods to historical results and 
industry forecasts;

- Assessed the impact of the changes in the key 
assumptions used for the five-year VIU cash flows 
from 2020 which include the expected impact arising 
from the COVID-19 pandemic; and

- Checked the mathematical accuracy of the five-year 
VIU cash flows.

• Agreed the assumption on capital expenditures to the 
approved financial budget for 2021 and projections for 
the next 4 years, discussed with management on the 
capital expenditures required to maintain the network 
performance and assessed the impact on the VIU cash 
flows; and

• Checked the reasonableness of the discount rate 
and terminal growth rate with the assistance of our 
valuation experts by benchmarking to industry reports, 
and checked the sensitivity analysis performed by 
management on the discount rate.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters (continued)

Group (continued)

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Assessment of carrying value and useful life of intangible 
assets with indefinite useful life (continued)

Based on the procedures performed above, we did not find 
any material exceptions to the Directors’ conclusion that 
the goodwill and spectrum rights are not impaired as at  
31 December 2020.

In respect of the useful life of the spectrum rights, we 
checked management’s assessment of the ability to renew 
in perpetuity and the significance of the cost of renewal by 
performing the following:

• Read the latest letters of renewal or offer from the 
Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission 
(“MCMC”) for the respective spectrums to understand 
the terms and conditions of the renewal;

• Discussed with management to understand compliance 
with the conditions of the renewal, for which 
management confirmed that all relevant conditions are 
existing conditions which the Group does not foresee 
having difficulties to continue to comply with, without 
any material or significant disruptions to business 
operations;

• Compared the estimated total renewal costs for all 
spectrum rights against the future estimated revenue 
and net cash flows which we checked as part of our 
audit procedures on impairment assessment; and

• Discussed with management to understand the key 
assumptions used to estimate the total spectrum renewal 
costs, future revenue and net cash flows generated 
by the assets, which we checked as part of our audit 
procedures on impairment assessment.

Based on the procedures performed above, we did not 
find any material exceptions in the Directors’ estimate and 
judgement of the asset’s useful life, specifically on the 
significance of the costs of renewal of the existing spectrum 
rights when compared with the expected future economic 
benefits expected to flow to the Group from the renewals.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters (continued)

Group (continued)

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Determination of lease term of leases 

Refer to Note 3(l) - Summary of significant accounting 
policies: Leases, Note 4(f) - Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements: Determining the lease term where the 
Group acts as a lessee and Note 36 - Changes in accounting 
policies upon adoption of IFRIC Agenda Decision

During the current financial year, the Group adopted the 
IFRIC Agenda Decision on “Lease Term and Useful Life 
of Leasehold Improvement” (“IFRIC AD - Lease”) which 
provides additional clarification on the definition of a 
penalty in a termination clause by considering the broader 
economics of the lease contract and not only contractual 
termination payments when determining the enforceable 
period of the lease. As a result of the adoption of IFRIC AD 
- Lease, some of the lease contracts have been reassessed 
as long term leases. 

Management has adjusted these leases retrospectively 
where the comparative amounts as at 31 December 2019 
have been restated as disclosed in Note 36 to the financial 
statements.

We focused on this area due to the significance of 
the amount recognised as right-of-use assets and the 
judgements involved in determining the lease term and 
applying the additional clarification of IFRIC AD - Lease 
when considering all facts and circumstances that create 
the economic incentive to exercise an extension or a 
termination option.

We performed the following audit procedures for the lease 
contracts:

• Discussed and reviewed management’s estimation 
of penalty costs based on contractual termination 
payments and additional costs arising from exercising 
the termination options;

• Obtained an understanding of management’s rationale 
in determining the lease periods for the respective 
leases;

• Recomputed the depreciation, finance costs, right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities for the selected lease 
contracts and agreed the lease terms to the lease 
contracts on a sampling basis; and

• Reviewed the impact of the restatement and related 
disclosures in the financial statements approved by the 
Directors.

Based on the procedures performed above, we did not find 
any material exceptions to the Directors’ assessment on 
the lease term of leases and the disclosures in the financial 
statements arising from the change in accounting policy.

Notices of additional tax assessments from the Inland 
Revenue Board

Refer to Note 3(x) - Summary of significant accounting 
policies: Contingent liabilities, Note 4(e) - Critical accounting 
estimates and judgements: Income taxes and Note 37 - 
Contingent liabilities

The Group received notices of additional assessments 
during the financial year from the Inland Revenue Board 
(“IRB”) on:

• disallowance of the Group’s entitlement to incremental 
chargeable income exemption for Year of Assessment 
(“YA”) 2017 of RM37.4 million (“ICI Notice”); and

• disallowance of interest expenses deduction for YA 
2016 and 2017 totalling RM140 million (“Notices”). 

We performed the following audit procedures:

• Examined the correspondences between the Group and 
the IRB; 

• Assessed the matters in dispute based on advice 
received from our own tax experts to review the basis of 
application of the relevant tax laws;

• Discussed with the Group’s appointed external legal 
counsel to understand the legal position and any new 
developments up to the date of our report;

• Obtained independent legal confirmation from the 
Group’s appointed external legal counsel; and

• Reviewed the adequacy of disclosures in the financial 
statements.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters (continued)

Group (continued)

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Notices of additional tax assessments from the Inland 
Revenue Board (continued)

The Directors have assessed the impact of the ICI Notice 
and Notices and the corresponding appeals submitted by 
the Group, and are of the view that no provision is required 
in the financial statements at this juncture based on the 
facts surrounding the above additional assessments and 
the legal advice obtained from the external legal counsel 
that there is sufficient evidence and case law to support the 
Group’s appeals against the ICI Notice and Notices.

We focused on this area due to the significant judgement 
exercised by the Group and the inherent uncertainties 
involved in the outcome of the Group’s appeals.

Based on the procedures performed above, we did not 
find any material exceptions to the Directors’ judgement 
in assessing the potential tax liabilities arising from the ICI 
Notice and Notices.

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers

Refer to Note 3(u) - Summary of significant accounting 
policies: Revenue recognition, Note 4(d) - Critical accounting 
estimates and judgements: Revenue recognition for 
contracts with customers and Note 6 - Revenue

The Group’s revenue of RM9.0 billion during the financial 
year ended 31 December 2020 comprised primarily of 
telecommunication services and solutions revenue, and 
devices and related services revenue of RM7.8 billion and 
RM1.2 billion respectively.

We focused on this area because there is an inherent 
risk around the accuracy of revenue recorded given the 
complexity of systems and the impact of changing pricing 
models to revenue recognition. Revenue processed by 
billing systems is complex and involves large volumes 
of data with different products sold, services and price 
changes.

In addition, management exercises judgement in the areas 
below:

• Certain contracts with customers are bundled packages 
that may include sale of products and telecommunication 
services and solutions that comprise voice, data and 
other converged telecommunication services;

• Individual products and services are accounted for as 
separate performance obligations if they are distinct 
promised goods and services. Judgement is involved 
in identifying if products and services with the bundled 
package are distinct as a separate promised products 
and services; and

We performed the following audit procedures:

• Evaluated and tested the IT general controls and key 
controls on material revenue streams over:

- capture and recording of revenue transactions;

- authorisation of rate changes and the input of this 
information to the billing systems; and

- accuracy of calculation of amounts billed to 
customers;

• For material revenue streams, we obtained supporting 
evidence such as customer contracts, invoices and 
relevant supporting documents to test the occurrence 
and measurement on a sampling basis;

• Reviewed management’s assessment of the 
identification of separate performance obligations over 
material customer contracts with bundling arrangements 
and sighted to the customer contracts on a sampling 
basis;

• Reviewed management’s analysis in determining 
whether the Group is acting as a principal or an agent in 
relation to the sale of devices based on the contractual 
terms and conditions in the contracts with customers 
and suppliers; and

• Examined material non-standard journal entries and 
other adjustments posted to revenue accounts.

Based on the procedures performed above, we did not find 
any material exceptions in the revenue recognised during 
the financial year.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Group (continued)

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers 
(continued)

• Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal 
or an agent in relation to the sale of devices.

Assessment of funding requirements and ability to meet 
the short term obligations

Refer to Note 33(c) - Financial Risk Management: Liquidity 
risk

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had short term payables 
and accruals of RM4.0 billion and short term borrowings of 
RM0.3 billion. We focused on the Group’s funding and ability 
to meet its short term obligations due to the significant 
amount of the short term liabilities, which resulted in the 
current liabilities of the Group exceeding current assets by 
RM1.6 billion at that date.

The Group’s ability to obtain funding from existing facilities 
is disclosed in Note 33(c) to the financial statements.

We performed the following audit procedures:

• Checked management’s cash flow forecasts for the 
Group over the period of 12 months from the date of 
the financial statements to the annual budget and cash 
flow projections which includes operating, investing and 
financing cash flows approved by the Directors;

• Discussed with management on key assumptions used in 
the cash flow forecasts including cash collection trends 
which include the expected impact arising from the 
COVID-19 pandemic, payment profiles and significant 
transactions that may occur in developing the cash flow 
forecasts for the Group;

• Checked the borrowing repayment profile of the Group 
against the loan agreements; and

• Checked the extent of debt that the Group can raise 
from its existing facilities.

Based on the procedures performed above, we did not find 
any material exceptions to the Directors’ assessment that 
the Group will be able to meet its short term obligations.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Maxis Berhad (Incorporated In Malaysia)
(Registration No. 200901024473 (867573-A))
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters (continued)

Company

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Recoverability of the carrying amount of cost of 
investments in subsidiaries

Refer to Note 3(g) - Summary of significant accounting 
policies: Impairment of non-financial assets, Note 4(a) - 
Critical accounting estimates and judgements - Company: 
Investments in subsidiaries and Note 18(a) - Investments in 
subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying value of the cost of 
investments in subsidiaries is RM25.1 billion.

The Group performed an impairment assessment on 
the cost of investment in a subsidiary during the year as 
there are indicators of impairment of this subsidiary. The 
recoverable amount of the subsidiary was determined 
by the Directors based on the VIU method. Based on the 
Directors’ assessment, the recoverable amount of the 
subsidiary exceeds the carrying value of the investment in 
the subsidiary and therefore no impairment is required.

We focused on this area due to the estimation of the 
recoverable amounts which is inherently uncertain and 
requires significant judgement on the future cash flow, 
terminal growth rates and discount rate applied.

We performed the following audit procedures on the VIU 
calculations which were based on cash flow projections that 
over a period of 5 years comprising the approved financial 
budget for 2021 and projections for the next 4 years:

• Agreed the 2021 VIU cash flows to the budget approved 
by the Directors;

• Discussed with management on the key assumptions 
used in the five-year VIU cash flows which include the 
compounded revenue and earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation annual growth rates and 
performed the following:

- Agreed the five-year VIU cash flows to the financial 
budget approved by the Directors;

- Compared historical forecasting for 2020 to actual 
results to assess the reliability of management’s 
estimates;

- Compared the compounded revenue annual growth 
rates in the projection periods to historical results 
and industry forecasts;

- Assessed the impact of the changes in the key 
assumptions used for the VIU cash flows from 2020 
which include the expected impact arising from the 
COVID-19 pandemic; and

- Checked the mathematical accuracy of the five-year 
VIU cash flow.

• Checked that the VIU cash flows used to determine the 
recoverable amount has been adjusted for financing 
cash flows forecast of the subsidiary;

• Agreed the assumption on capital expenditures to the 
approved financial budget for 2021 and projections for 
the next 4 years, discussed with management on the 
capital expenditures required to maintain the network 
performance and assessed the impact on the VIU cash 
flows; and

• Checked the reasonableness of the discount rate 
and terminal growth rate with the assistance of our 
valuation experts by benchmarking to industry reports, 
and checked the sensitivity analysis performed by 
management on the discount rate.

Based on the procedures performed above, we did not find 
any material exception to the Directors’ assessment that 
the cost of investment in a subsidiary is not impaired as at  
31 December 2020.
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Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Directors’ Report and Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control, which we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditors’ report, and other sections of the 2020 Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us 
after that date. Other information does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and 
our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Maxis Berhad (Incorporated In Malaysia)
(Registration No. 200901024473 (867573-A))
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued) 

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s and of the Company’s internal control. 

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Directors. 

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s or on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

(f ) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for 
the content of this report.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS PLT SRIDHARAN NAIR
LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146 02656/05/2022 J
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
26 February 2021
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Size of Shareholdings
as at 26 February 2021

Category of Shareholders
as at 26 February 2021

SHARE CAPITAL

Issued  : 7,823,037,410 Ordinary Shares 
Voting Right : One vote per Ordinary Share 

Size of Holdings
No. of 

Shareholders
% of

Shareholders
No. of

Shares Held
% of

Issued Shares

Less than 100 718 1.98 7,147 0.00

100 - 1,000 19,293 53.22 17,227,820 0.22

1,001 - 10,000 13,626 37.59 52,588,670 0.67

10,001 - 100,000 2,024 5.58 58,164,870 0.75

100,001 - 391,151,869(*) 588 1.62 1,258,257,003 16.08

391,151,870 and above(**) 3 0.01 6,436,791,900 82.28

Total 36,252 100.00 7,823,037,410 100.00

* Less than 5% of issued holdings
** 5% and above of issued holdings

Note:
Information in the above table is based on the Record of Depositors dated 26 February 2021.  

Category of Shareholders
No. of 

Shareholders
% of

Shareholders
No. of

Shares Held
% of

Issued Shares

Individuals 31,797 87.71 115,240,116 1.47

Bank/Finance Institutions 43 0.12 1,016,575,175 13.00

Investment Trusts/Foundations/Charities 5 0.01 136,000 0.00

Other Types of Companies 293 0.81 4,885,281,509 62.45

Government Agencies/Institutions 4 0.01 8,114,200 0.10

Nominees 4,110 11.34 1,797,690,410 22.98

Total 36,252 100.00 7,823,037,410 100.00

Note:
Information in the above table is based on the Record of Depositors dated 26 February 2021.
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Directors’ Interests in Shares
as at 26 February 2021

Chief Executive Officer’s Interests in Shares
as at 26 February 2021

Based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings and the Record of Depositors, the interests of the Directors in the 
shares of the Company (both direct and indirect) as at 26 February 2021 are as follows:

Name

Number of Ordinary Shares in 
Maxis (“Maxis Shares”) % of Issued Shares

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Raja Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Arshad bin Raja Tun Uda 750,000 - 0.01 -

Tan Sri Mokhzani bin Mahathir 750,000 1,000(1) 0.01 #

Robert Alan Nason - - - -

Dato’ Hamidah Naziadin - - - -

Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam - - - -

Mazen Ahmed M. AlJubeir - - - -

Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi - - - -

Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi - - - -

Lim Ghee Keong - - - -

Notes:
# Negligible
(1) Deemed interest in shares of the Company held by spouse pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Companies Act 2016.

The interests of the Chief Executive Officer in the shares of the Company (both direct and indirect) as at 26 February 
2021 are as follows:

Name

Number of Ordinary Shares in 
Maxis (“Maxis Shares”) % of Issued Shares

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Gokhan Ogut - 443,600(1) - 0.01

- 1,097,400(2) - 0.01

- 1,107,600(3) - 0.01

Notes:
(1) Deemed interest in the shares of the Company pursuant to an award made to him during his tenure as Chief Operating Officer 

of Maxis in accordance with the terms and conditions of the By-Laws governing Maxis’ Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)(“By-
Laws”). Subject to the terms and conditions of the By-Laws, he shall be entitled to receive such number of new Maxis shares, 
upon meeting the vesting conditions imposed under the said award. These Maxis shares shall, subject to the satisfaction of 
the vesting conditions and the terms and conditions of the By-Laws, vest on 30 June 2021. The vesting conditions comprise, 
among others, the performance targets for the period commencing 1 January 2018 and ending on 31 December 2020, as 
stipulated by Maxis’ Remuneration Committee. 
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(2) Deemed interest and these shares are currently held by CIMB Commerce Trustee Berhad or its nominee pursuant to the 
terms and conditions of a share-based incentive arrangement arising under the employment agreement entered by him, as 
Chief Executive Officer of Maxis, with Maxis Broadband Sdn Bhd (“Employment Agreement”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Maxis. Pursuant to the aforesaid arrangement, a cash incentive was used to acquire shares of Maxis from the open market 
and such shares are currently held by CIMB Commerce Trustee Berhad or its nominee. These Maxis shares shall, subject to 
the satisfaction of the vesting conditions and the terms and conditions of the Employment Agreement, vest in him on 30 June 
2022. The vesting conditions comprise, amongst others, the performance targets for the financial years 2019, 2020 and 2021, 
as stipulated by Maxis’ Remuneration Committee. 

(3) Deemed interest and these shares are currently held by CIMB Commerce Trustee Berhad or its nominee pursuant to the 
terms and conditions of a share-based incentive arrangement arising under the employment agreement entered by him, as 
Chief Executive Officer of Maxis, with Maxis Broadband Sdn Bhd (“Employment Agreement”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Maxis. Pursuant to the aforesaid arrangement, a cash incentive was used to acquire shares of Maxis from the open market 
and such shares are currently held by CIMB Commerce Trustee Berhad or its nominee. These Maxis shares shall, subject 
to the satisfaction of the vesting conditions and the terms and conditions of the Employment Agreement, vest in him on 30 
June 2023. The vesting conditions comprise, amongst others, the performance targets for the financial years 2020, 2021 and 
2022, as stipulated by Maxis’ Remuneration Committee.

Chief Executive Officer’s Interests in Shares
As at 26 February 2021
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30 Largest Shareholders
as at 26 February 2021

No. Name No. of Shares Held %

1 BGSM Equity Holdings Sdn. Bhd. 4,875,000,000 62.32

2 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Employees Provident Fund Board

932,343,500 11.92

3 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
Amanah Saham Bumiputera

629,448,400 8.05

4 Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan) 114,548,500 1.46

5 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
Urusharta Jamaah Sdn. Bhd. (1)

99,958,200 1.28

6 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
Amanah Saham Malaysia 2 - Wawasan

60,783,300 0.78

7 Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
Exempt AN for State Street Bank & Trust Company (West CLT OD67)

50,713,742 0.65

8 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
Amanah Saham Malaysia 3

42,363,000 0.54

9 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
JPMCB NA for Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund

37,822,560 0.48

10 Cartaban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
PAMB for Prulink Equity Fund

35,100,000 0.45

11 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
JPMCB NA for Vanguard Total International Stock Index Fund

34,215,161 0.44

12 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
Amanah Saham Bumiputera 2

33,614,700 0.43

13 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Maybank Trustees Berhad for Public Regular Savings Fund 
(N14011940100)

28,413,400 0.36

14 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad (Par 1)

27,452,900 0.35

15 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
Amanah Saham Bumiputera 3 - Didik

23,919,375 0.31

16 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Maybank Trustees Berhad for Public Ittikal Fund (N14011970240)

21,750,000 0.28

17 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
Public Islamic Dividend Fund

20,276,600 0.26

18 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
Amanah Saham Malaysia

19,989,800 0.26

19 Permodalan Nasional Berhad 17,260,500 0.22
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30 Largest Shareholders
as at 26 February 2021

No. Name No. of Shares Held %

20 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad (Par 3)

15,948,000 0.20

21 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
BNYM SA/NV for People’s Bank of China (SICL Asia EM)

15,424,300 0.20

22 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
JPMCB NA for Blackrock Institutional Trust Company, N.A. Investment 
Funds for Employee Benefit Trusts

13,974,700 0.18

23 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
Public Islamic Equity Fund

12,643,100 0.16

24 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Exempt AN for AIA Bhd.

10,611,900 0.14

25 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
JPMCB NA for Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company Institutional Total 
International Stock Market Index Trust II

10,450,800 0.13

26 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
J.P. Morgan Securities PLC

10,437,507 0.13

27 Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
GIC Private Limited for Government of Singapore (C)

8,820,800 0.11

28 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
BNY Mellon for TD Global Low Volatility Fund

8,632,100 0.11

29 Pertubuhan Keselamatan Sosial 8,335,000 0.11

30 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
Legal & General Assurance (Pensions Management) Limited  
(A/C 1125250001)

7,749,010 0.10

Note:
Information in the above table is based on the Record of Depositors dated 26 February 2021.
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Information on Substantial Shareholders 
as at 26 February 2021

The shareholders holding more than 5% interest, direct and indirect, in the ordinary shares in Maxis Berhad (“the 
Company”) (“Shares”) based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders of the Company as at 26 February 2021 are 
as follows:

Name of Substantial Shareholder

Direct Indirect

No. of
Shares Held %

No. of
Shares Held %

BGSM Equity Holdings Sdn. Bhd. (“BGSM Equity”) 4,875,000,000 62.32 - -

BGSM Management Sdn. Bhd. (“BGSM Management”)(1) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Binariang GSM Sdn. Bhd. (“BGSM”)(2) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Usaha Tegas Equity Sdn. Bhd. (“UTE”)(3) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Usaha Tegas Sdn. Bhd. (“Usaha Tegas”)(4) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Pacific States Investment Limited (“PSIL”)(5) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Excorp Holdings N.V. (“Excorp”)(6) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

PanOcean Management Limited (“PanOcean”)(6) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Ananda Krishnan Tatparanandam (“TAK”)(7) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Harapan Nusantara Sdn. Bhd.  
(”Harapan Nusantara”)(8)

- - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Tun Haji Mohammed Hanif bin Omar(9) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Dato’ Haji Badri bin Haji Masri(9) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Mohamad Shahrin bin Merican(9) 11,000 * 4,875,000,000 62.32

STC Malaysia Holding Ltd (“STCM”)(10) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

STC Asia Telecom Holding Ltd (“STCAT”)(11) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Saudi Telecom Company (“Saudi Telecom”)(12) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

Public Investment Fund (“PIF”)(13) - - 4,875,000,000 62.32

AmanahRaya Trustees Berhad (“ARB”)
- Skim Amanah Saham Bumiputera

629,448,400 8.05 - -

Employees Provident Fund Board (“EPF”)(14) 932,343,500 11.92 3,236,200 0.04

Notes:
* Negligible

(1) BGSM Management’s deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of BGSM Management holding 100% equity interest in 
BGSM Equity.

(2)  BGSM’s deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of BGSM holding 100% equity interest in BGSM Management. See Note 
(1) above for BGSM Management’s deemed interest in the Shares.

(3)  UTE’s deemed interest in the Shares arises through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely, Wilayah Resources Sdn. Bhd., 
Tegas Puri Sdn. Bhd., Besitang Barat Sdn. Bhd. and Besitang Selatan Sdn. Bhd. which hold in aggregate 37% equity interest 
in BGSM. See Note (2) above for BGSM’s deemed interest in the Shares.

(4)  Usaha Tegas’ deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of Usaha Tegas holding 100% equity interest in UTE. See Note 
(3) above for UTE’s deemed interest in the Shares.

(5)  PSIL’s deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of PSIL holding 99.999% equity interest in Usaha Tegas. See Note (4) 
above for Usaha Tegas’ deemed interest in the Shares.
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Information on Substantial Shareholders 

(6)  PanOcean holds 100% equity interest in Excorp which in turn holds 100% equity interest in PSIL. See Note (5) above for PSIL’s 
deemed interest in the Shares. PanOcean is the trustee of a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are members of the 
family of TAK and foundations including those for charitable purposes. Although PanOcean is deemed to have an interest in 
such Shares, it does not have any economic or beneficial interest in such Shares, as such interest is held subject to the terms 
of such discretionary trust.

(7)  TAK’s deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of PanOcean’s deemed interest in the Shares. See Note (6) above for 
PanOcean’s deemed interest in the Shares. Although TAK is deemed to have an interest in such Shares, he does not have any 
economic or beneficial interest in such Shares, as such interest is held subject to the terms of a discretionary trust referred 
to in Note (6) above.

(8)  Harapan Nusantara’s deemed interest in the Shares arises through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely, Mujur Anggun 
Sdn. Bhd., Cabaran Mujur Sdn. Bhd., Anak Samudra Sdn. Bhd., Dumai Maju Sdn. Bhd., Nusantara Makmur Sdn. Bhd., Usaha 
Kenanga Sdn. Bhd. and Tegas Sari Sdn. Bhd. (collectively, “Harapan Nusantara Subsidiaries”), which hold in aggregate 30% 
equity interest in BGSM. See Note (2) above for BGSM’s deemed interest in the Shares. The Harapan Nusantara Subsidiaries 
hold their deemed interest in such Shares under discretionary trusts for Bumiputera objects. As such, Harapan Nusantara 
does not have any economic interest in such Shares as such interest is held subject to the terms of such discretionary trusts.

(9)  His deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of his 25% direct equity interest in Harapan Nusantara. However, he does 
not have any economic interest in such Shares as such interest is held subject to the terms of the discretionary trusts referred 
to in Note (8) above.

(10)  STCM’s deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of STCM holding 25% equity interest in BGSM. See Note (2) above for 
BGSM’s deemed interest in the Shares.

(11)  STCAT’s deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of STCAT holding 100% equity interest in STCM. See Note (10) above 
for STCM’s deemed interest in the Shares.

(12)  Saudi Telecom’s deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of Saudi Telecom holding 100% equity interest in STCAT. See 
Note (11) above for STCAT’s deemed interest in the Shares.

(13)  PIF’s deemed interest in the Shares arises by virtue of PIF holding 70% equity interest in Saudi Telecom. See Note (12) above 
for Saudi Telecom’s deemed interest in the Shares.

(14)  EPF is deemed to have an interest in 3,236,200 Shares held through nominees.
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List of Properties Held

Item Postal Address

Approximate 
Age of the 
Building

Tenure/ Date of
Acquisition

Remaining 
Lease Period 
(Expiry of 
Lease) Current Use

Land 
Area 

(Sq.metre)

Build-up 
Area 

(Sq.metre)

Net Book 
Value as at

31 Dec 
2020

(RM’million) 

1 Plot 12155 (Lot 13)
Jalan Delima 1/1
Subang Hi-Tech 
Industrial Park
40000 Shah 
Alam Selangor

25 years Freehold
9 May, 1994

- Telecommunication 
operations
centre and office

11,235 10,061 17

2 Lot 4059, Jalan 
Riang 20
Taman Gembira 
Industrial Estate
81100 Johor 
Bahru
 
Lot 4046, Jalan 
Riang 20
Taman Gembira 
Industrial Estate
81100 Johor 
Bahru

28 years Freehold
21 July, 1994
 
 
 
 

Freehold
21 July, 1994

- Telecommunication 
operations
centre and office 
 
 
 

Telecommunication 
operations
centre and office

2,201
 
 
 
 
 

2,041

2,531
 
 
 
 
 

1,546

4

3 Lot 2537 & 2538, 
Lorong Jelawat 
6, Kawasan 
Perusahaan 
Seberang Jaya
13700 Seberang 
Jaya  
Pulau Pinang

24 years Leasehold
5 January, 1995

53 years
(18 August 
2073)

Telecommunication 
operations
centre and office

3,661 2,259 5

4 PT 31093, Taman 
Perindustrian 
Tago
Jalan KL –  
Sg Buluh
Mukim Batu, 
Gombak

23 years Freehold
2 July, 1996

- Technical 
Operations
Centre

2,830 3,290 2

5 Lot 943 & 1289
(No. Lot Pemaju 
– 46)
Rawang 
Integrated 
Industrial Park
Selangor

23 years Freehold
12 April, 1997

- Technical 
Operations
Centre

10,611 1,535 3



244

Item Postal Address

Approximate 
Age of the 
Building

Tenure/ Date of
Acquisition

Remaining 
Lease Period 
(Expiry of 
Lease) Current Use

Land 
Area 

(Sq.metre)

Build-up 
Area 

(Sq.metre)

Net Book 
Value as at

31 Dec 
2020

(RM’million) 

6 8101, Taman Desa 
Jasmin 
Block 12B, Bandar 
Baru Nilai  
Labu
Negeri Sembilan

23 years Freehold
28 December, 
1996

- Technical 
Operations
Centre

2,378 1,736 1

7 Lot 25, Lorong 
Burung Keleto
Inanam Industrial 
Estate  
Inanam, 88450 
Kota Kinabalu, 
Sabah

20 years Leasehold
11 May, 2000

76 years 
(31 December, 
2096)

Telecommunication 
operations
centre and office

16,149 3,372 8

8 Lot 2323, Off 
Jalan Daya, 
Pending Industrial 
Estate  
Bintawa, 93450 
Kuching, Sarawak

20 years Leasehold 
28 September, 
2000

22 years 
(17 February,
2042)

Telecommunication 
operations
centre and office 

10,122 3,382 15

9 Lot 11301, Jalan 
Lebuhraya 
Kuala Lumpur – 
Seremban
Batu 8, Mukim 
Petaling, 57000 
Kuala Lumpur

21 years Sub-Lease
9 August 1999

5 years
(28 July, 2025)

Telecommunication 
operations
centre and office

11,592 5,634 12

10 No. 26, Jalan 
Perdagangan 10
Taman Universiti
81300  
Skudai Johor

26 years Freehold
2 March, 1995

- Base Transceiver 
Station 

2,294 872 1

List of Properties Held
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Additional Disclosures

TRANSACTIONS THROUGH MEDIA AGENCIES

Some of the media airtime, publications and programme sponsorship arrangements (“Media Arrangements”) of the 
Maxis Group are concluded on normal commercial terms with independent media-buying agencies whose role is to 
secure advertising or promotional packages for their clients. These Media Arrangements may involve companies in 
the Astro Malaysia Holdings Berhad (“AMH”) Group which are licensed to operate satellite Direct-to-Home television 
and FM radio services, and undertake a number of other multimedia services in Malaysia. The transactions between 
the media-buying agencies and the AMH Group are based on terms consistent with prevailing rates within the media 
industry.

For the financial year ended 2020 the value of such transactions, which are not related party transactions entered 
into by the Maxis Group and the AMH Group and excluded from the related party transactions disclosed elsewhere 
in this Annual Report, amounted to approximately RM16.1 million.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION ACT

The Company recognises the importance of protecting and securing the personal data of shareholders, customers, 
employees and other relevant individuals, and has taken steps to be fully compliant with the Personal Data Protection 
Act 2010 (“PDPA 2010”).
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Material Contracts

Material contracts of Maxis Berhad (“Company”) and its subsidiaries, involving Directors’ and Major Shareholders’ 
interests, either still subsisting at the end of financial year 2020 or, if not then subsisting, entered into since the end 
of financial year 2019.

No. Contract Date Parties General Nature

Consideration 
passing to 
or from the 
Company or any 
other corporation 
in the Group

Mode of 
satisfaction of 
consideration

Relationship between 
director or major 
shareholder and 
contracting party 
(if director or major 
shareholder is not 
contracting party)

1. Transponder 
Lease 
Agreement  
(for Measat-3)  
(Note A)

19 June 2020 Maxis 
Broadband 
Sdn. Bhd. 
(“MBSB”)

MEASAT 
Satellite 
Systems Sdn. 
Bhd. (“MSS”)

Leasing of 
transponders 
for Measat-3 by 
MBSB for use 
of bandwidth 
capacity

Rental fee 
payable by MBSB 
to MSS

Cash MBSB is wholly-
owned subsidiary of 
the Company.

Please see Note 1  
on page 249 for 
further details on the 
relationship between 
MBSB and MSS.

2. Teleport 
Services 
Agreement 
(Lease rentals 
of Measat earth 
station facility)

7 December 2017 MBSB

MSS

Lease rentals 
of MSS teleport 
and earth station 
facility by MBSB 

Service fee 
payable by MBSB 
to MSS

Cash Please see Note 1 
on page 249 for 
further details on the 
relationship between 
MBSB and MSS.

3. Agreement for 
the Provision 
of Services for 
Contact Centre

13 March 2018

Supplemental No. 1: 
1 October 2019

Supplemental 
No. 2:
22 Jan 2020

Supplemental 
No. 3: 
13 December 2020

MBSB

SRG Asia 
Pacific Sdn. 
Bhd. (“SRG”)

Procurement 
of inbound 
customer call 
handling and 
telemarketing 
services 
provided by SRG 
to MBSB

Service fee 
payable by MBSB 
to SRG

Cash SRG is a person 
connected to TAK.

TAK is a major 
shareholder of the 
Company.

4. Telesales 
Agreement  
(Note B)

22 January 2020 MBSB

SRG

Procurement 
of outbound 
customer call 
handling and 
telemarketing 
services 
provided by SRG 
to MBSB

Service fee 
payable by MBSB 
to SRG

Cash SRG is a person 
connected to TAK.

TAK is a major 
shareholder of the 
Company.
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Material Contracts

No. Contract Date Parties General Nature

Consideration 
passing to 
or from the 
Company or any 
other corporation 
in the Group

Mode of 
satisfaction of 
consideration

Relationship between 
director or major 
shareholder and 
contracting party 
(if director or major 
shareholder is not 
contracting party)

5. Managed 
Bandwidth 
Services 
Agreement

(a) Letter of 
Agreement 
for 
Additional 
Managed 
Bandwidth 
Services

(b) Letter of 
Agreement 
for 
Additional 
Managed 
Bandwidth 
Services

(c) Letter of 
Agreement 
for 
Additional 
Managed 
Bandwidth 
Services

(d) Letter of 
Amendment 
to insert 
clauses on 
invoices and 
introduction 
of Service 
Orders

(e) Letter of 
Amendment 
to limit 
provision of 
services to 
bandwidth 
capacity on 
Measat-5

1 July 2011

11 November 2014

13 May 2015

8 July 2015

18 January 2016

5 December 2017

MBSB

MEASAT 
Broadband 
(International) 
Ltd. (“MBIL”)

Lease of 
bandwidth 
capacity on 
IPSTAR-1 satellite 
by MBIL

Rental fee 
payable by MBSB 
to MBIL

Cash Please see Note 1  
on page 249 for 
further details on the 
relationship between 
MBSB and MBIL.
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No. Contract Date Parties General Nature

Consideration 
passing to 
or from the 
Company or any 
other corporation 
in the Group

Mode of 
satisfaction of 
consideration

Relationship between 
director or major 
shareholder and 
contracting party 
(if director or major 
shareholder is not 
contracting party)

6. (a) IPTV 
Services 
Agreement 
(as 
amended by 
Termination 
Letter 
dated 27 
September 
2012, 
terminating 
the 
application 
of IPTV 
Services 
Agreement 
with respect 
to AD5SB, 
effective 
from 25 
October 
2012)

(b) Amendment 
to IPTV 
Services 
Agreement 

19 January 2012

3 April 2013

MBSB

Media 
Innovations 
Pty. Ltd. 
(“Media 
Innovations”) 

Astro Digital 
5 Sdn. Bhd. 
(“AD5SB”)

MBSB

Media 
Innovations

Provision of 
IPTV platform 
and customer 
premises 
equipment 
development 
services and 
IPTV related 
services 
including 
operational, 
consultancy and 
project (hardware 
and software) 
services 

Agreement 
to amend the 
scope of services 
of Media 
Innovations 
under the 
IPTV Services 
Agreement

Fees payable by 
MBSB to Media 
Innovations and 
AD5SB 

Cash Please see Note 2  
on page 249 for 
further details on the 
relationship between
MBSB, Media 
Innovations and 
AD5SB.

7. (a) Amended 
and 
Restated 
Fibre Co-
Marketing 
Agreement

(b) Wireless 
and ADSL 
Co-
Marketing 
Agreement

17 January 2020 

30 April 2013

MBSB

MEASAT 
Broadcast 
Network 
Systems Sdn. 
Bhd. (“MBNS”)

MBSB

MBNS

To exclusively 
collaborate 
and co-market 
unique customer 
offers combining 
Astro’s content 
service with 
Maxis’ fibre 
service

To exclusively 
collaborate and 
co-market unique 
customer offers 
combining Astro 
B.yond, IPTV and 
Astro On The 
Go services with 
Maxis’ wireless 
and Internet 
and Asymmetric 
Digital 
Subscriber Line 
(‘ADSL’) services

(a) Set charges 
payable 
by MBSB 
to MBNS 
for Astro’s 
content 
service

(b) Set charges 
payable by 
MBNS to 
MBSB for 
Maxis’ fibre 
service

Charges payable 
by MBNS to 
MBSB

Cash

Cash

Please see Note 2  
on page 249 for 
further details on the 
relationship between 
MBSB and MBNS.

Material Contracts
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Material Contracts

No. Contract Date Parties General Nature

Consideration 
passing to 
or from the 
Company or any 
other corporation 
in the Group

Mode of 
satisfaction of 
consideration

Relationship between 
director or major 
shareholder and 
contracting party 
(if director or major 
shareholder is not 
contracting party)

7. (c) Astro 
B.yond IPTV 
Services 
and Astro 
OTT 
Services 
Dealer 
Agreement

30 April 2013 MBSB

MBNS

Appointment 
of MBSB as 
an authorised 
dealer to sell and 
promote Astro 
B.yond IPTV 
services and 
Astro OTT (over 
the top internet) 
services

Charges payable 
by MBNS to 
MBSB

Cash

Notes:
A. The Transponder Lease Agreement (for Measat-3) dated 19 June 2020 between MBSB and MSS has superseded the 

Transponder Lease (for Measat-3) dated 17 October 2007 and the 14 supplemental letters between MBSB and MSS 
dated 20 May 2009, 9 June 2009, 17 February 2010, 17 June 2010, 20 April 2011, 8 May 2012, 13 July 2012, 4 January 
2013, 8 January 2013, 29 October 2013, 17 March 2014, 14 October 2014, 3 November 2015, and 20 December 2019 
respectively;

B. The Telesales Agreement dated 22 January 2020 between MBSB and SRG has superseded the Agreement for the 
Provision of Services for Contact Centre dated 13 March 2018 and the Supplemental No. 1 dated 1 October 2019 where 
it relates to procurement of outbound customer call handling and telemarketing services provided by SRG to MBSB.

1. MSS and MBIL are the wholly-owned subsidiaries of MEASAT Global Berhad (“MGB”). Ananda Krishnan Tatparanandam 
(“TAK”) who is a Major Shareholder of the Company, is also a major shareholder of MGB. Mohamad Shahrin bin 
Merican, who is a Major Shareholder of the Company, is also a major shareholder of MGB. Lim Ghee Keong (“LGK”), 
who is a Director of the Company and MBSB is also a director of MEASAT Global Network Systems Sdn. Bhd., a major 
shareholder of MGB.

2. AD5SB and MBNS are the wholly-owned subsidiaries of Astro Malaysia Holdings Berhad (“AMH”) whilst Media 
Innovations is wholly-owned by Media Innovations Holdings Pty. Ltd. (“MIHPL”), a 83.84% owned subsidiary of Astro 
Overseas Limited which in turn is wholly-owned by Astro Holdings Sdn. Bhd. (“AHSB”) via Astro All Asia Networks 
Limited. UTSB, PSIL, Excorp, PanOcean and TAK, who are Major Shareholders of the Company, are also major 
shareholders of AMH and AHSB. LGK, who is a Director of the Company and MBSB, is also a director of AMH, MBNS 
and AHSB.
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Bursa Sustainability Content Index

Key Elements Reference Section Page

Governance structure Corporate Governance Overview page 78 and 
Corporate Governance 
Report 2020

Scope and basis for scope About This Report page 3

Materiality sustainability matters Materiality Matrix
Our Top Material Matters

page 72
page 30

How our material matters are identified Materiality Assessment
Stakeholder Engagement

page 72
page 74

ECONOMIC

Material Matter: Sustainable Business

Why are they important Our MAX Strategy
Our Top Material Matters

page 27
page 30

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Management Discussion and Analysis pages 40 to 46

Material Matter: Technology

Why are they important Our Top Material Matters
Our Network and Systems

page 30
pages 58 to 60

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our Network and Systems
Key Business Risks and Opportunities
Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control

pages 58 to 60
pages 31 to 37
pages 101 to 110

Material Matter: Ethical Business Practices

Why are they important Our Top Material Matters
Corporate Governance Overview

page 30
pages 78 to 91

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Corporate Governance Overview
Audit and Risk Committee Report
Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control

pages 78 to 91
pages 96 to 100
pages 101 to 110

Material Matter: Innovation

Why are they important Our MAX Strategy
Our Top Material Matters

page 27
page 30

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our Enterprise Solutions
Our Customers
Our Network and Systems

pages 52 to 55
pages 49 to 51
pages 58 to 60

Material Matter: Indirect Economic Impact

Why are they important Our MAX Strategy
COVID-19 Strategy and Response Plan

page 27
pages 28 to 29

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Chairman’s Statement
Our Community

pages 19 to 21
pages 66 to 68

Material Matter: Responsible Sourcing

Why are they important Corporate Governance Overview pages 78 to 91

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our People
Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control

pages 61 to 65
pages 101 to 110
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Bursa Sustainability Content Index

Key Elements Reference Section Page

ENVIRONMENTAL

Material Matter: Energy and Emissions

Why are they important Our Environment pages 69 to 70

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our Environment pages 69 to 70

Material Matter: Effluents and Waste

Why are they important Our Environment pages 69 to 70

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our Environment pages 69 to 70

SOCIAL

Material Matter: Customer Experience and Satisfaction

Why are they important Our Top Material Matters
Our Customers

page 30
pages 49 to 51

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our Customers
Stakeholder Engagement

pages 49 to 51
page 74

Material Matter: Data Privacy and Protection

Why are they important We Are Maxis
Our Top Material Matters

page 1
page 30

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our Network and Systems 
Audit and Risk Committee Report
Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control
Additional Disclosures

pages 58 to 60
pages 96 to 100
pages 101 to 110

page 245

Material Matter: Empowering Digitalisation

Why are they important Our Top Material Matters
Our Customers
Our Community

page 30
pages 49 to 51
pages 66 to 68

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our Network and Systems
Our Customers
Our Community

pages 58 to 60
pages 49 to 51
pages 66 to 68

Material Matter: Employee Development

Why are they important Our Top Material Matters
Our People

page 30
pages 61 to 65

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our People pages 61 to 65

Material Matter: Occupational Safety and Health

Why are they important Our Top Material Matters 
Our People

page 30
pages 61 to 65

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our People pages 61 to 65
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Bursa Sustainability Content Index

Key Elements Reference Section Page

SOCIAL

Material Matter: Equal Opportunity Workforce and Employment

Why are they important Our People
Corporate Governance Overview

pages 61 to 65
pages 78 to 91

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our People
Corporate Governance Overview

pages 61 to 65
pages 78 to 91

Material Matter: Regulatory and Compliance

Why are they important Our Top Material Matters
Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control

page 30 
pages 101 to 110

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Chairman’s Statement
Management Discussion and Analysis
Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control

pages 19 to 21
pages 40 to 46
pages 101 to 110

Material Matter: Local Communities

Why are they important Chairman’s Statement 
COVID-19 Strategy and Response Plan
Our Community

pages 19 to 21
pages 28 to 29
pages 66 to 68

How are they managed, including details
on policies, initiatives and indicators

Our Community pages 66 to 68
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Glossary

4G LTE: Or Long-Term Evolution; 
the next generation of mobile 
communications networks beyond 3G, 
which will deliver very high bandwidths 
to mobile devices.

5G: Next-generation of mobile 
networks beyond LTE mobile networks. 
According to ITU guidelines, 5G 
network speeds should have a peak 
data rate of 20Gb/s for the downlink 
and 10Gb/s for the uplink. Beyond 
connecting people, 5G will connect 
devices.

Apps: Or Applications, which are 
software programmes that can 
be downloaded and used on 
smartphones, tablets and computers. 
Popular Apps include Facebook, 
Twitter, Waze, WhatsApp, etc.

ARPU: Average Revenue Per User 

BTS: Base Transceiver Station, which 
provides cellular coverage and 
capacity. 

Bursa Securities: Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad 

Cloud Solutions: Refers to cloud 
computing services or computing 
resources that are delivered over the 
Internet for usage as and when they 
are needed. 

CMCO: Conditional Movement Control 
Order

Corporate Governance Report 2020: 
Detailed application of the Principles 
and Recommendations of MCCG 2017 
during the financial year 2020.

GWh: Or gigawatt hours, a unit to 
measure energy consumption

ICT: Information and Communications 
Technology; an umbrella term that 
includes any communications device 
or application, encompassing radio, 
television, cellular phones, computer 
and network hardware and software, 
satellite systems as well as various 
services and applications associated 
with them, such as video conferencing 
and distance learning.

IoT: Internet of Things; is the 
internetworking of physical devices, 
vehicles, buildings, and other items 
which are embedded with electronics, 
software, sensors, actuators and 
network connectivity that enable these 
objects to collect and exchange data.

IP: Internet Protocol; a standard that 
keeps track of network addresses 
for different nodes, routes outgoing 
messages, and recognises incoming 
messages.

IPTV: Internet Protocol television

LTE: Long-Term Evolution 

Maxis or the Company: Maxis Berhad 
[Registration No. 200901024473
(867573-A)]

Mbps: Megabits per second

MCCG 2017: Malaysian Code on
Corporate Governance 2017

MCMC: Malaysian Communications 
and Multimedia Commission 

MCO: Movement Control Order

MHz band: A megahertz band that 
is a small section of the spectrum of 
radio communication frequencies. In 
Malaysia, GSM frequency bands or 
ranges, are the cellular frequencies 
designated by the ITU for the 
operation of GSM mobile phones.

MMLR: Main Market Listing
Requirements of Bursa Securities

NB-IoT: NarrowBand - Internet of 
Things, a technology that is designed 
to enable connectivity to “things” 
using mobile networks. It improves 
the power of consumption of user 
devices, system capacity and spectrum 
efficiency, especially in deep coverage.

RAN: Radio Access Network; which 
comprises the base station technology 
and air interface of a cellular network.

RMCO: Recovery Movement Control 
Order

SD-WAN: Software-Defined networking 
in a Wide Area Network.

SME: Small and Medium Enterprises 

SMS: Short Message Service 
Spectrum: Or a spectrum of radio 
communication frequencies that is sold 
or licensed to operators of cellular 
telephone services. For example, 
Malaysia’s telecommunications 
industry utilises the spectrum 
frequencies of 900MHz, 1800MHz, etc. 
for provision of cellular services. 

UN SDGs: United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals

USP: Universal Service Provision; an 
initiative to promote the widespread 
availability and usage of network 
and/or applications services by 
encouraging the installation of network 
facilities and the provision of network 
and/or applications services in 
underserved areas.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Twelfth (12th) Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of MAXIS BERHAD (“Maxis” or “the 
Company”) will be conducted on a fully virtual basis for the purpose of considering and if thought fit, passing with or without 
modifications the resolutions set out in this notice.

Online Meeting Platform : https://web.lumiagm.com/
Day and Date : Thursday, 22 April 2021
Time : 3.00 p.m.
Broadcast Venue : Auditorium, Level 3A Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5 Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13,
  46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Mode of Communication : 1) Typed text in the Online Meeting Platform. The messaging window facility will be opened
   concurrently with the Virtual Meeting Portal, one (1) hour before the 12th AGM, that is from 
   2.00 p.m. on Thursday, 22 April 2021
  2) E-mail questions to ir@maxis.com.my prior to the Twelfth Annual General Meeting.

NO.
1

2

3

4

5

6

AGENDA
To receive the Audited Financial Statements of the Company and of the Group for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2020 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon. 
Please refer to Note A. 

To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Rule 131.1 of the Company’s Constitution 
and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:
a)  Robert Alan Nason 
b)  Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi
c)  Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi
Please refer to Note B.

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees and benefits to the Non-Executive Directors of the 
Company from the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting up till the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2022.
Please refer to Note C.

To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146) (“PwC”) as Auditors of 
the Company to hold office from the conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. 
Please refer to Note D.

As Special Business 
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Resolutions:

To approve Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam to continue to act as Independent Non-Executive 
Director from 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2022.
Please refer to Note E.

Renewal of the Authority to Allot and Issue Shares Pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the 
Companies Act 2016. 

“THAT, the Directors be and are hereby empowered, pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the 
Companies Act 2016, to allot and issue shares in the Company, at any time, to such persons and 
upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute 
discretion, deem fit including in pursuance of offers, agreements or options to be made or 
granted by the Directors while this approval is in force and that the Directors be and are hereby 
further authorised to make or grant offers, agreements or options in respect of shares in the 
Company including those which would or might require shares in the Company to be issued 
after the expiration of the approval hereof provided that the aggregate number of shares to be 
issued pursuant to this approval does not exceed ten (10) percent of the total number of issued 
shares of the Company for the time being and that the Directors be and are also empowered to 
obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued on Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and that such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, subject always to the Companies Act 2016, 
the Constitution of the Company, the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing 
Requirements (“MMLR”) and the approvals of all relevant regulatory bodies being obtained  
(if required).” 
Please refer to Note F.

ORDINARY 
RESOLUTIONS

Resolution 1
Resolution 2
Resolution 3

Resolution 4

Resolution 5

Resolution 6

Resolution 7

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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To obtain shareholders’ mandate for the Company and/or its subsidiaries to enter into recurrent 
related party transactions (“RRPTs”) of a revenue or trading nature with:
a) Astro Malaysia Holdings Berhad and/or its affiliates;
b) Usaha Tegas Sdn. Bhd. and/or its affiliates;
c) MEASAT Global Berhad and/or its affiliates;
d) Maxis Communications Berhad and/or its affiliates;
e) Saudi Telecom Company and/or its affiliates; 
f ) SRG Asia Pacific Sdn. Bhd.; and
g) Malaysian Landed Property Sdn. Bhd. and/or its affiliates.

The details of such RRPTs and the full text of Ordinary Resolution 8 to Ordinary Resolution 14 
are set out in Appendix I and Appendix VI respectively of the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 
March 2021 issued together with this Notice of Annual General Meeting.

To transact any other business that may be transacted at the Twelfth Annual General Meeting 
of which due notice shall have been given in accordance with the Companies Act 2016 and the 
Constitution of the Company.

Resolution 8
Resolution 9
Resolution 10
Resolution 11
Resolution 12
Resolution 13
Resolution 14

7

8

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

DIPAK KAUR
SSM PC No. 201908002620
LS 5204
24 March 2021
Kuala Lumpur

EXPLANATORY NOTES

A. This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as under the provisions of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 
and the Company’s Constitution, the audited financial statements do not require the formal approval of shareholders 
and hence, the matter will not be put forward for voting.

B.  Robert Alan Nason, Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi and Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi (“the retiring Director” or 
collectively “the retiring Directors”) are standing for re-election as Directors of the Company.

 For the purpose of determining the eligibility of the each of the retiring Directors to stand for re-election at the Twelfth 
AGM, the Board through its Nomination Committee (“NC”) had assessed each of the retiring Directors, and considered 
the following:

(i) performance and contribution based on the Self-Assessment (“SA”) results of the Board Effectiveness Evaluation 
(“BEE”) 2020;

(ii) level of contribution to the Board and deliberations through their skills, experience and strength in qualities; and
(iii) level of objectivity, impartiality and their abilities to act in the best interests of the Company.

 The retiring Directors met the performance criteria required of an effective and a high-performance Board based on the 
Directors’ SA results of the BEE 2020. 

 The NC and Board of Directors of the Company (“the Board”) have considered the results of the assessment conducted 
on these Directors and collectively agree that they meet the criteria of character, experience, integrity, competence 
and time required to effectively discharge their respective roles as Directors, as prescribed by Paragraph 2.20A of the 
MMLR. The Board approved the NC’s recommendation that the Directors who retire in accordance with Rule 131.1 of 
the Constitution namely, Robert Alan Nason, Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi and Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi are 
eligible to stand for re-election. These three (3) retiring Directors had abstained from deliberations and decisions on 
their own eligibility and suitability to stand for re-election at the relevant Board meetings. The profiles of these retiring 
Directors are set out on pages 7, 8 and 9 of the Company’s Integrated Annual Report for the financial year ended  
31 December 2020. These retiring Directors do not hold any shares in Maxis Berhad, have no family relationship with 
any Director and/or major shareholder of Maxis Berhad, have no conflict of interests with Maxis Berhad and have not 
been convicted of any offence within the past five years and have not been imposed with any penalty by the relevant 
regulatory bodies during the financial year ended 2020.

 The retiring Directors referred to in Resolutions 1 to 3 will abstain from voting on the resolution in respect of their  
re-election at the Twelfth AGM.
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C. Payment of Directors’ Remuneration to the Non-Executive Directors from the conclusion of this meeting up till the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company in 2022

 Pursuant to Section 230(1) of the Companies Act 2016, fees and benefits (“Remuneration”) payable to the Directors 
of the Company are required to be approved by the shareholders at a general meeting. The Company is requesting 
shareholders’ approval for the payment of Remuneration to Non-Executive Directors for the period commencing from 
the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting up till the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
in 2022 in accordance with the remuneration structure set out below. The Remuneration comprises fees and other 
benefits-in-kind (“BIK”) payable to the Chairman and members of the Board, and the Chairmen and members of Board 
Committees.

 The remuneration structure which is being proposed for shareholders’ consideration and approval at this Annual 
General Meeting was arrived at after taking into account the findings and insights received from Willis Towers Watson 
(“WTW”) following its assessment and benchmarking exercise carried out in 2019/2020. 

 WTW’s exercise took into account factors such as the Directors’ existing remuneration structure and the demands, 
complexity, time commitment, accountability and responsibilities expected of the Directors. WTW’s assessment 
involved a benchmarking exercise carried out against remuneration structures adopted by local and regional companies 
(“comparators”). 

 Based on the assessment and review of the comparators, the Chairmen and members of certain committees should be 
compensated for the time and effort required for their performance of such roles, in discharging their respective roles. 
The structure of the Directors’ fees takes into account their time commitment for scheduled meetings and unscheduled 
matters, accountability, responsibilities, expertise, experience and the independent and objective judgment they bring 
to the Board and the oversight role that they play in respect of the execution by management of its initiatives during 
these increasingly complex macro-economic times resulting from, among other things, the risks and challenges of the 
operations and the overall regulatory and markets that the Maxis Berhad and subsidiaries (“Maxis Group”) operates 
in. The Board Committees, operating with their respective Chairmen and members with the appropriate skill sets, 
facilitate the Board’s efficiencies by having specific oversight over matters coming within their respective Terms of 
References. Meanwhile, the Board as a whole retains collective responsibility for decisions on recommendations made 
by Committees.

 The Remuneration and the Nomination Committees are responsible for conducting an annual review of the Board 
remuneration policy and the specific expertise and skill sets of the Directors with a view to ensuring that the current 
remuneration for the members of the Board and Board Committees of the Maxis Group remain competitive and 
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate individuals with strong credentials and high calibre to serve on the Board of 
the Company and steer Maxis’ ambition to be Malaysia’s leading converged solutions company. The Board of Directors, 
following the review and recommendations from the Remuneration and the Nomination Committees, has recommended 
the following remuneration structure:

• The payment of a fee for the Chairman and members of the Government and Regulatory Affairs Committee (“GRAC”) 
who are not presently remunerated. The members of GRAC have been performing their respective roles since the 
formation of this committee in 2019 but have not been remunerated since then. The Chairman and members of 
GRAC play a significant role in advising the management team on government policies and regulations that have 
significant material impact to Maxis. As such, the following remuneration is being put forward for shareholders’ 
approval at this Twelfth Annual General Meeting:

Description of Fees/ BIK or Position Held

Current monthly
 remuneration 

approved by 
shareholders at 

the Eleventh AGM 
(RM)

Proposed monthly
 remuneration for 

which
shareholders’ 

approval is being 
sought at this 
Twelfth AGM 

(RM)

Change 
in monthly 

Remuneration 
(RM)

Chairman of Government and Regulatory Affairs 
Committee - 4,167

Introduction of a 
new fee of 4,167

Member of Government and Regulatory Affairs 
Committee - 1,667

Introduction of a 
new fee of 1,667
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• An increase in the fees of the Chairman and members of the Audit and Risk Committee as the existing remuneration 
quantum (which covers both the audit, risk and compliance functions) is below the market median of the comparators 
and is not reflective of the level of workload and responsibilities assumed by them. As such, the following revised 
remuneration is being put forward for shareholders’ approval at this Twelfth Annual General Meeting: 

Description of Fees/ BIK or Position Held

Current monthly
 remuneration 

approved by 
shareholders at 

the Eleventh AGM 
(RM)

Proposed monthly
 remuneration for 

which
shareholders’

approval is being 
sought at this 
Twelfth AGM 

(RM)

Change 
in monthly 

Remuneration 
(RM)

Chairman of Audit and Risk Committee 8,334 10,000 Increase of 1,666

Member of Audit and Risk Committee 1,667 4,167 Increase of 2,500

• An increase in the fees of the Chairman and members of the Business & IT Transformation Committee as the existing 
remuneration quantum does not commensurate with the significant expertise being contributed by the members of the 
Committee in advising and having oversight of technology matters, information technology transformation, digitalisation, 
innovation, structural business options and strategic matters involving the Maxis Group. As such, the following revised 
remuneration is being put forward for shareholders’ approval at this Twelfth Annual General Meeting:

Description of Fees/ BIK or Position Held

Current monthly
 remuneration 

approved by 
shareholders at 

the Eleventh AGM 
(RM)

Proposed monthly
 remuneration for 

which
shareholders’ 

approval is being 
sought at this 
Twelfth AGM 

(RM)

Change 
in monthly 

Remuneration 
(RM)

Chairman of Business & IT Transformation 
Committee 4,167 10,000 Increase of 5,833 

Member of Business & IT Transformation 
Committee 1,667 4,167 Increase of 2,500

• The overall remuneration structure for the Board and Committees for shareholders’ approval at the Twelfth AGM is 
as follows:

Remuneration Structure Monthly Fees/BIK (RM)

Chairman's Fees 33,334

Director’s Fees 20,834

Chairman of Audit and Risk Committee 10,000

Chairman of Remuneration Committee 4,167

Chairman of Nomination Committee 4,167

Chairman of Business & IT Transformation Committee 10,000

Chairman of the Government and Regulatory Affairs Committee 4,167

Member of Audit and Risk Committee 4,167

Member of Remuneration Committee 1,667

Member of Nomination Committee 1,667

Member of Business & IT Transformation Committee 4,167

Member of Government and Regulatory Affairs Committee 1,667

Chairman BIK 5,350

 Note: If approved by shareholders, the total increase in annual fees compared to that in the previous year, would be circa 
  RM440,000 per year (2020/2021: RM3.0m; 2021/2022 : RM3.4m)
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 Shareholders’ approval is being sought under Resolution 4 for the payment of Remuneration to Non-Executive Directors 
from the conclusion of the Twelfth Annual General Meeting up till the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company in 2022, in accordance with the remuneration structure set out above. If passed, this will allow the 
Company to make payment of Remuneration to Non-Executive Directors on a monthly basis up till the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2022.

D. The Audit and Risk Committee (“ARC”) and the Board have considered the re-appointment of PwC as Auditors of the 
Company and collectively agree that PwC meets the criteria of the adequacy of resources and experience prescribed 
by Paragraph 15.21 of the MMLR.

 The ARC at its meeting held on 22 February 2021 has made an assessment of the suitability and independence of the 
external auditors, PwC in accordance with the External Auditor Independence Policy of the Group, and the criteria 
under Paragraph 15.21 of the MMLR. In its assessment, the ARC considered several factors which include the following:

(a) Quality of PwC’s performance and their communications with the ARC and Maxis Group, based on feedback obtained 
via assessment surveys facilitated by the Maxis Group Internal Assurance function that gathered responses from 
the ARC members and management who had substantial contact with PwC throughout the year;

(b) Adequacy of experience and resources provided to the Maxis Group by PwC, in terms of the firm and the professional 
staff assigned to the audit; and

(c) Independence of PwC and the level of non-audit services rendered by PwC to the Maxis Group in financial year 
ended 2020 and the services to be rendered for the financial year ended 2021.

 The ARC also took into account the professionalism and transparency in communication and interaction with the 
lead audit engagement partner and engagement team through discussions at the ARC meetings, engagements with 
the Chairman and members of the ARC and at the ARC private meetings, which demonstrated their independence, 
objectivity and professionalism.

 The ARC was satisfied with the suitability of PwC based on the quality of audit, performance, competency and sufficiency 
of resources the external audit team provided to the Maxis Group. The ARC was also satisfied in its review that the 
provisions of non-audit services by PwC to the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 2020 did not in 
any way impair their objectivity and independence as external auditors of the Maxis Group.

 The Board at its meeting held on 24 February 2021 approved the ARC’s recommendation for shareholders’ approval 
to be sought at the Twelfth AGM on the appointment of PwC as external auditors of the Company for the financial year 
ended 2021, under Resolution 5 in accordance with Rule 90 of the Company’s Constitution, Sections 340(1)(c) and 
274(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016.

E.  Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam (“AMH”) was appointed as Independent Director on 30 August 2012 and will exceed the 
cumulative tenure of nine years after 30 August 2021. In accordance with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 
2017, the Board, through the NC, has undertaken relevant assessments and recommended for AMH to continue to serve 
as Independent Non-Executive Director for a further one (1) year period from 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2022 based 
on the following justifications:

(a) AMH has fulfilled the criteria of an Independent Director as stated in the MMLR.
(b)  AMH has demonstrated his objectivity and independence when providing his contribution as member of the Board 

in considering Board-related matters and in discharging his responsibilities as Director.
(c)  The length of time that he has remained in office does not interfere with his ability to exercise independent 

judgment as Independent Director.
(d) AMH, together with the other Independent Directors, each function as a check and balance to the Board and 

exercise objectivity as Directors.
(e)  AMH has vast experience, knowledge and skills in a diverse range of businesses and therefore provides constructive 

opinion, counsel, oversight and guidance as Director. His insights and guidance provide impartiality to matters 
considered at Board and Committee levels.

(f ) AMH has devoted sufficient time and attention to his professional obligations to Maxis required for informed and 
balanced decision making.

 The NC and the Board are satisfied that AMH is able to exercise independent judgment and has the ability to act in 
the best interests of the Company. AMH has continued to exercise his independence and due care during his present 
tenure as an Independent Non-Executive Director and has contributed in his role as a member of the NC and Business 
& IT Transformation Committee. AMH has abstained from all deliberations and voting at the NC and Board in relation to 
the recommendation of Resolution 6 to the shareholders.

 The profile of AMH is set out on page 8 of the Company’s Integrated Annual Report for the financial year ended  
31 December 2020. AMH does not hold any shares in Maxis Berhad, has no family relationship with any Director and/or 
major shareholder of Maxis Berhad, has no conflict of interests with Maxis Berhad and has not been convicted of any 
offence within the past five years and has not been imposed any penalty by the relevant regulatory bodies during the 
financial year ended 2020.
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F. Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016. The Ordinary Resolution 
proposed under Resolution 7 of the Agenda is for the purpose of renewing the general mandate for issuance of shares 
by the Company pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016.

 The Company did not issue any shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 under the general 
mandate sought at the Eleventh Annual General Meeting held on 15 June 2020, which will lapse upon the conclusion 
of the forthcoming Twelfth Annual General Meeting to be held on 22 April 2021.

 The proposed Resolution 7, if passed, will give authority to the Directors of the Company, from the date of this Annual 
General Meeting, to allot and issue shares or to make or grant offers, agreements or options in respect of shares to 
such persons, in their absolute discretion including to make or grant offers, agreements or options which would or 
might require shares in the Company to be issued after the expiration of the approval, without having to convene a 
general meeting, provided that the aggregate number of shares issued does not exceed 10% of the total number of 
issued shares of the Company for the time being. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will 
expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

 The general mandate sought will enable the Directors of the Company to allot and issue shares, including but not 
limited to making a placement of shares for the purposes of raising funding for investment(s), working capital and 
general corporate purposes as deemed necessary.

Notes: 

1. Fully Virtual AGM 
(i) The Twelfth Annual General Meeting (“Twelfth AGM”) shall be held as fully virtual meeting where members are 

only allowed to participate remotely via live streaming and online voting using Remote Participation and Electronic 
Voting (“RPEV”) facilities which are available on Boardroom Smart Investor Portal at https://web.lumiagm.com/. 
Please follow the procedures provided in the RPEV Administrative Details for the Twelfth AGM in order to register, 
participate and vote remotely via RPEV facilities.

(ii) With RPEV facilities, a member may exercise his/her right to participate (including to pose questions to the 
Company) and vote at the Twelfth AGM. Members may use the query box facility to submit questions real time 
during the Twelfth AGM or e-mail questions to ir@maxis.com.my prior to the meeting in line with the Guidance and 
Frequently Asked Questions on the Conduct of General Meetings for Listed Issuers (“SC Guidance Note”) released 
by Securities Commission Malaysia (“SC”) on 18 April 2020 and revised on 5 March 2021.

(iii) The venue of the Twelfth AGM is strictly for purposes of complying with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 
2016 which requires the Chairman of the Meeting to be at the main venue (“Broadcast Venue”) and to facilitate 
the conduct of the fully virtual meeting. No shareholders or proxies will be allowed to be physically present at the 
Broadcast Venue.

2. Proxy
(i) Since the Twelfth AGM will be conducted as a fully virtual meeting, members wishing to participate in the meeting 

would be required to register yourselves through Boardroom Smart Investor Portal, https://boardroomlimited.my in 
order to participate remotely in the Twelfth AGM.

(ii) A member of the Company entitled to participate and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies 
to participate and vote in his stead subject to the following provisions:

(a) Save as provided for in Note 2(iv), the Companies Act 2016 and any applicable law, each member shall not be 
permitted to appoint more than two (2) proxies; and

(b) Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the 
proportion of the member’s shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

 The members or their proxies may submit questions to the Company at https://web.lumiagm.com/ prior to the 
Twelfth AGM or use the query box to transmit questions via RPEV facilities during live streaming of the Twelfth AGM.

(iii) If a member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is not able to participate 
the Twelfth AGM via RPEV facilities on 22 April 2021, in line with the SC Guidance Note, we strongly encourage 
members to appoint the Chairman of the meeting as his/her proxy and indicate the voting instructions in the 
instrument appointing a proxy (“Proxy Form”).

(iv) For the avoidance of doubt, and subject always to Note 2(ii)(b), the Companies Act 2016 and any applicable laws: 

(a) Where a member is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple 
beneficial owners in one securities account (omnibus account), there is no limit to the number of proxies which 
the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. 

(b) Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee, it may appoint at least one proxy in respect of each 
securities account it holds to which ordinary shares in the Company are credited. Each appointment of proxy by 
an authorised nominee may be made separately or in one instrument of proxy and shall specify the securities 
account number and the name of the beneficial owner for whom the authorised nominee is acting.

(c) A member who is a substantial shareholder (within the meaning of the Companies Act 2016) may appoint up to 
(but not more than) five (5) proxies.
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(v) A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the 
proxy.

(vi) Proxy appointment may be made via hardcopy proxy form pursuant to Rule 111 of the Company’s Constitution or 
electronically pursuant to Rule 89 of the Company’s Constitution. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be as 
follows:

(a) In Hardcopy Form

 The Proxy Form in hardcopy shall be in writing under the hands of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly 
authorised in writing or if the appointor is a corporation either under its common seal, or the hand of its officer 
or its duly authorised attorney. An instrument appointing a proxy to vote at a meeting shall be deemed to 
include the power to demand or join in demanding a poll on behalf of the appointor.

 The Proxy Form shall be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar of the Company at Boardroom Share 
Registrars Sdn Bhd, at Ground Floor or 11th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 
13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia no later than Wednesday, 21 April 2021 at 3.00 p.m.,

(b) By Electronic Means

 The Proxy Form may be submitted:

(i) to the Share Registrar of the Company, Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn Bhd via e-mail to  
bsr.helpdesk@boardroomlimited.com, no later than Wednesday, 21 April 2021 at 3.00 p.m.,

(ii) via electronic means (“e-Proxy”) through the Boardroom Smart Investor Portal at https://boardroomlimited.my  
by logging in and selecting “E-PROXY LODGEMENT” no later than Wednesday, 21 April 2021 at 3.00 p.m.  
(please refer to the RPEV Administrative Details and the Annexure to the Proxy Form available at  
https://maxis.listedcompany.com/ar2020.html for further information on electronic submission). 

3. Voting
(i) Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the MMLR of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all the resolutions at the Twelfth 

AGM of the Company shall be put to vote by way of poll. 
(ii) If no name is inserted in the space provided for the name of your proxy, the Chairman of the meeting will act as 

your proxy.
(iii) The lodging of a proxy form does not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting should the 

member subsequently decide to do so. 
(iv) Please refer to the voting procedures as specified in the RPEV Administrative Details for the Twelfth AGM. 
(v) Upon completion of the voting session for the Twelfth AGM, the Independent Scrutineers will verify and announce 

the poll results followed by the Chairman of the meeting’s declaration whether the resolutions are duly passed. 

Members Entitled to Attend

For purposes of determining the entitlement of a member to attend the Twelfth AGM, the Company shall be requesting 
Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. Bhd., in accordance with Rule 92 of the Company’s Constitution and Section 34(1) of the 
Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, to issue a General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 13 April 2021. 
Only a depositor whose name appears on the General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 13 April 2021 shall be entitled to 
attend the said meeting or appoint a proxy(ies) to attend and/or vote on such depositor’s behalf.
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Personal Data Protection Measures

Please refer to the Company’s Compliance with the Personal Data Protection Act 2010 statement as found on page 245 of 
Maxis Integrated Annual Report 2020. 

By attending the AGM and/or registering for the remote participation and electronic voting meeting and/or submitting the 
instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), a member of the Company: (i) consents to the processing of the 
member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the AGM and matters related thereto, including but not limited 
to: (a) for processing and administration of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM; (b) for preparation and 
compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (which includes any adjournments 
thereto); and (c) for the Company’s (or its agents’) compliance with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations, codes and/
or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) undertakes and warrants that he or she has obtained such proxy(ies)’ and/or 
representative(s)’ prior consent for the Company’s (or its agents’) processing of such proxy(ies)’ and/or representative(s)’ 
personal data for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will fully indemnify the Company for any penalties, liabilities, 
legal suits, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s failure to provide accurate and correct 
information of the personal data or breach of the member’s undertaking and/or warranty as set out herein.

NOTE: the term “processing” and “personal data” shall have the same meaning as defined in the Personal Data Protection 
Act 2010.

Maxis Integrated Annual Report 2020, Circular to Shareholders, Corporate Governance Report 2020 and queries related 
to Twelfth AGM 

1. Maxis Integrated Annual Report 2020, Circular to Shareholders and Corporate Governance Report 2020 may be 
downloaded at https://maxis.listedcompany.com/ar2020.html 

2. Members are advised to refer to the Company’s announcements on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s website and 
Company’s website at www.maxis.com.my from time to time for any updates on the Twelfth AGM subsequent to the 
issuance of this Notice. 

3. Any queries relating to the Twelfth AGM including the lodgment of proxy form and the RPEV procedures may be directed to  
bsr.helpdesk@boardroomlimited.com. For the avoidance of doubt, save for making the foregoing queries, you may not 
use the said email address to communicate with the Company for any other purposes.

4. Please refer to the RPEV Administrative Details available at https://maxis.listedcompany.com/ar2020.html for further 
details of the Twelfth AGM.
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*I/*We *NRIC (new and old)/*Passport/*Company No 
(FULL NAME OF A MEMBER IN BLOCK LETTERS AS PER *IDENTITY CARD/*PASSPORT/*CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION) (COMPULSORY: NEW AND OLD)

of 
 (ADDRESS)

telephone no. and email address being a member of Maxis Berhad (“the Company”), hereby appoint 

 *NRIC/*Passport No 
 (FULL NAME OF A PROXY IN BLOCK LETTERS AS PER *IDENTITY CARD/*PASSPORT) (COMPULSORY)

of 
 (ADDRESS)  

and/or *NRIC/*Passport No 
 (FULL NAME OF A PROXY IN BLOCK LETTERS AS PER *IDENTITY CARD/*PASSPORT) (COMPULSORY)

of 
 (ADDRESS)

or failing *him/her, THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the Twelfth Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be conducted fully virtual on our following Meeting Platform on Thursday, 22 April 2021 at 3.00 p.m. and at any 
adjournment thereof.

Online Meeting Platform : https://web.lumiagm.com/
Day and Date : Thursday, 22 April 2021
Time : 3.00 p.m.
Broadcast Venue : Auditorium, Level 3A Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5 Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, 
  Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Mode of Communication : 1) Typed text in the Online Meeting Platform. The messaging window facility will be opened concurrently with the Virtual 
   Meeting Portal, one (1) hour before the 12th AGM, that is from 2.00 p.m. on Thursday, 22 April 2021 
  2) E-mail questions to ir@maxis.com.my prior to the Twelfth Annual General Meeting.

*I/We indicate with an “√“ or “X“ in the spaces below how *I/we wish *my/our vote to be cast:

AGENDA
1 To receive the Audited Financial Statements and the Reports of Directors and Auditors thereon.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST
2 Re-election of the following Directors who retire pursuant to Rule 131.1 of the Company’s 

Constitution:
(a) Robert Alan Nason Resolution 1
(b) Mohammed Abdullah K. Alharbi Resolution 2
(c) Abdulaziz Abdullah M. Alghamdi Resolution 3

3 Approval for Directors’ Remuneration Resolution 4
4 Re-Appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146) (“PwC”) as 

Auditors of the Company
Resolution 5

5 Approval for Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam to continue to act as Independent Non-Executive 
Director from 30 August 2021 to 29 August 2022

Resolution 6

6 Renewal of Authority to allot and issue Shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies 
Act 2016

Resolution 7

7 To obtain shareholders’ mandate for the Company and/or subsidiaries to enter into recurrent 
related party transactions (“RRPTs”) of a revenue or trading nature with:
a) Astro Malaysia Holdings Berhad and/or its affiliates Resolution 8
b) Usaha Tegas Sdn Bhd and/or its affiliates Resolution 9
c) MEASAT Global Berhad and/or its affiliates Resolution 10
d) Maxis Communications Berhad and/or its affiliates Resolution 11
e) Saudi Telecom Company and/or its affiliates Resolution 12
f) SRG Asia Pacific Sdn Bhd Resolution 13
g) Malaysian Landed Property Sdn Bhd and/or its affiliates Resolution 14

Subject to the above stated voting instructions, *my/*our proxy may vote or abstain from voting on any resolution as *he/*she/*they may think fit.

Members Entitled to Attend
For purposes of determining the entitlement of a member to attend the Twelfth AGM, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. Bhd., in accordance with Rule 
92 of the Company’s Constitution and Section 34(1) of the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, to issue a General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 13 April 2021. Only a 
depositor whose name appears on the General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 13 April 2021 shall be entitled to attend the said meeting or appoint a proxy(ies) to attend and/or vote 
on such depositor’s behalf.

Personal Data Protection Act 2010
Please refer to the Company’s Compliance with the Personal Data Protection Act 2010 statement as found on page 245 of Maxis Integrated Annual Report 2020. 

By attending the AGM and/or registering for the remote participation and electronic voting meeting and/or submitting the instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), a 
member of the Company: (i) consents to the processing of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the AGM and matters related thereto, including but not limited 
to: (a) for processing and administration of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM; (b) for preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents 
relating to the AGM (which includes any adjournments thereto); and (c) for the Company’s (or its agents’) compliance with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations, codes and/or 
guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) undertakes and warrants that he or she has obtained such proxy(ies)’ and/or representative(s)’ prior consent for the Company’s (or its agents’) 
processing of such proxy(ies)’ and/or representative(s)’ personal data for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will fully indemnify the Company for any penalties, liabilities, legal 
suits, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s failure to provide accurate and correct information of the personal data or breach of the member’s undertaking 
and/or warranty as set out herein. 

NOTE: the term “processing” and “personal data” shall have the same meaning as defined in the Personal Data Protection Act 2010.

Maxis Integrated Annual Report 2020, Circular to Shareholders, Corporate Governance Report 2020 and queries related to Twelfth AGM 
1. Maxis Integrated Annual Report 2020, Circular to Shareholders and Corporate Governance Report 2020 may be downloaded at this link https://maxis.listedcompany.com/ar2020.html
2. Members are advised to refer to the Company’s announcements on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s website and Company’s website at www.maxis.com.my from time to time for 

any updates on the Twelfth AGM subsequent to the issuance of this Notice. 
3. Any queries relating to the Twelfth AGM including the lodgment of proxy form and the RPEV procedures may be directed to bsr.helpdesk@boardroomlimited.com. For the avoidance 

of doubt, save for making the foregoing queries, you may not use the said email address to communicate with the Company for any other purposes.
4. Please refer to the RPEV Administrative Details at this link https://maxis.listedcompany.com/ar2020.html for further details of the Twelfth AGM.

Notes: 
1. Fully Virtual AGM

(i) The Twelfth Annual General Meeting (Twelfth AGM) shall be held as fully virtual meeting where members are only allowed to participate remotely via live streaming and online voting 
using Remote Participation and Electronic Voting (RPEV) facilities which are available on Boardroom Smart Investor Portal at https://web.lumiagm.com/. Please follow the procedures 
provided in the RPEV Administrative Details for the Twelfth AGM in order to register, participate and vote remotely via RPEV facilities.

(ii) With RPEV facilities, a member may exercise his/her right to participate (including to pose questions to the Company) and vote at the Twelfth AGM. Members may use the query box 
facility to submit questions real time during the Twelfth AGM or e-mail questions to ir@maxis.com.my prior to the meeting in line with the Guidance and Frequently Asked Questions 
on the Conduct of General Meetings for Listed Issuers (SC Guidance Note) released by Securities Commission Malaysia (SC) on 18 April 2020 and revised on 5 March 2021.

(iii) The venue of the Twelfth AGM is strictly for purposes of complying with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 which requires the Chairman of the Meeting to be at the main venue 
(Broadcast Venue) and to facilitate the conduct of the fully virtual meeting. No shareholders or proxies will be allowed to be physically present at the Broadcast Venue.

 
2. Proxy

(i) Since the Twelfth AGM will be conducted as a full virtual meeting, members wishing to participate in the meeting would be required to register yourself through Boardroom 
Smart Investor Portal at https://boardroomlimited.my in order to participate remotely in the Twelfth AGM.

(ii) A member of the Company entitled to participate and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to participate and vote in his stead, subject to the following provisions:
(a) save as provided for in Note 2(iv), the Companies Act 2016 and any applicable law, each member shall not be permitted to appoint more than two (2) proxies; and
(b) where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of the member’s shareholdings to be represented 

by each proxy.
 The members or their proxies may submit questions to the Company at https://web.lumiagm.com/ prior to the Twelfth AGM or use the query box to transmit questions via RPEV 

facilities during live streaming of the Twelfth AGM.
(iii) If a member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is not able to participate the Twelfth AGM via RPEV facilities on 22 April 2021, in line 

with the SC Guidance Note, we strongly encourage members to appoint the Chairman of the meeting as his/her Proxy and indicate the voting instructions in the instrument 
appointing a Proxy (Proxy Form).

(iv) For the avoidance of doubt, and subject always to Note 2(ii)(b), the Companies Act 2016 and any applicable laws:
(a) Where a member is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (omnibus 

account), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.
(b) Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee, it may appoint at least one proxy in respect of each securities account it holds to which ordinary shares in 

the Company are credited. Each appointment of proxy by an authorised nominee may be made separately or in one instrument of proxy and shall specify the securities 
account number and the name of the beneficial owner for whom the authorised nominee is acting.

(c) A member who is a substantial shareholder (within the meaning of the Companies Act 2016) may appoint up to (but not more than) five (5) proxies.
(v) A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.
(vi) Proxy appointment may be made via hardcopy proxy form pursuant to Rule 111 of the Company’s Constitution or electronically pursuant to Rule 89 of the Company’s 

Constitution. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be as follows:
(a) In Hardcopy Form
 The Hardcopy Proxy Form shall be in writing under the hands of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly authorised in writing or if the appointor is a corporation either 

under its common seal, or the hand of its officer or its duly authorised attorney. An instrument appointing a Proxy to vote at a meeting shall be deemed to include the power 
to demand or join in demanding a poll on behalf of the appointor.

 
 The Proxy Form shall be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar of the Company at Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn Bhd, Ground Floor or 11th Floor, Menara 

Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia no later than Wednesday, 21 April 2021 at 3.00 p.m.,
(b) By Electronic Means
 The Proxy Form may be submitted:

(i) to the Share Registrar of the Company, Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn Bhd via e-mail to bsr.helpdesk@boardroomlimited.com, no later than Wednesday, 21 April 
2021 at 3.00 p.m or

(ii) via electronic means (“e-Proxy”) through the Boardroom Smart Investor Portal at https://boardroomlimited.my by logging in and selecting “E-PROXY LODGEMENT” 
no later than Wednesday, 21 April 2021 at 3.00 p.m. (please refer to the RPEV Administrative Details and the Annexure to the Proxy Form available at  
https://maxis.listedcompany.com/ar2020.html for further information on electronic submission).

3. Voting
(i) Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the MMLR of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all the resolutions at the Twelfth AGM of the Company shall be put to vote by way of poll.
(ii) If no name is inserted in the space provided for the name of your proxy, the Chairman of the meeting will act as your proxy.
(iii) The lodging of a proxy form does not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting should the member subsequently decide to do so.
(iv) Please refer to the voting procedure as specified in the RPEV Administrative Details for the Twelfth AGM.
(v) Upon completion of the voting session for the Twelfth AGM, the Independent Scrutineers will verify and announce the poll results followed by the Chairman of the meeting’s 

declaration whether the resolutions are duly passed.

If appointment of proxy is under hand

 
Signed by *individual member/*officer or attorney of 
member/*authorised nominee of

(beneficial owner)

If appointment of proxy is under seal
The Common Seal of 

was hereto affixed in accordance with its Constitution 
in the presence of:

Director *Director/*Secretary 

in its capacity as *member/*attorney
of member/*authorised nominee of

(beneficial owner)

No. of shares held:

Securities Account No.:
(CDS Account No.) (Compulsory)

Date:

Seal

No. of shares held:

Securities Account No.:
(CDS Account No.) (Compulsory)

Date:

The proportions of *my/*our holding to be 
represented by *my/*our proxies are as follows:

First Proxy
No. of Shares:

Percentage: %

Second Proxy
No. of Shares:

Percentage: %

Proxy Form
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